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Financial Summary/Financial Review

BZ12B31HILEE
For the year ended 31 December
20245 2023% 20224 20214 20205
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARETR AREFT AREFT ARETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
£ RESULTS
WA Revenue 89,226,520 119463530 116,540,630 169,537,320 146,118,718
BRETSRBIFIE Profit before income tax 4,193,946 5,019,671 3,694,506 21,397,129 26,385,564
FEHAX Income tax expense (3,511,848) (5,486,705) (2,951,802) (8,036,135)  (10,267,182)
EEFE Profit for the year 682,098 784,572 742,704 13,360,994 16,118,382
FEEEEFE - Profit for the year attributable to:
ADAEERFBA Equity holders of the Company 491,312 879,296 280,673 8,590,624 10,178,247
IR Non-controlling interests 190,786 (94,724) 462,031 4,770,370 5,040,135
682,098 784,572 742,704 13,360,994 16,118,382
ARRESEHEEA Earnings per share for profit
FE(E & attributable to equity holders
FREM of the Company
BA Basic AEH0.07T AR®O0.1270 ARM0.04m  ARE139T  AR¥165T
RMB0.07 RMBO.12 RMB0.04 RMB1.39 RMB1.65
s Diluted AE#007TT AREO127T  AREK0MT AR¥138T  ARE165T
RMB0.07 RMBO.12 RMBO.04 RMB1.38 RMB1.65
EERER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEGE Total assets 309,124,937 377,088,556 463473896 540,108,900 544,488,072
BlEEE Total liabilities 222,335,178 286579215 370,459,555 442,689,564 463,018,100

86,789,759 90,509,341 93,014,341 97,419,336 81,469,972

APTHEREBA  Capital and reserves attributable

JE(RRRAR N 845 - to equity holders of the Company:
WA EfE Share capital: nominal value 5,822 5,822 5,822 5,081 5,081
EhiE Reserves 46,348,002 45,866,173 44,747,790 42,154,256 35,763,189

46,353,824 45,871,995 44,753,612 42,159,337 35,768,270

IR Non-controlling interests 40,435,935 44,637,346 48,260,729 55,259,999 45,701,702

86,789,759 90,509,341 93,014,341 97,419,336 81,469,972
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ20245
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
FMNRE RIS E TR BN F=E BT 107,578 66,334
Changzhou Wuijin Seazen Luijin Xi'an Yunai Changzhou City  Residential Completed
Garden
BMRERIHME TR FMm F=E %I 120,851 120,761
Changzhou Wujin Seazen Heyu Yunjingyuan Changzhou City  Residential Completed
BN AL AR AR AP A bl FaR R 1,383,945 904,346
Changzhou Xinbei Seazen Green City Changzhou City  Complex Under development
Wanhecheng
BMNRERIMPIE R FMm F=E %T 200,883 198,439
Changzhou Tianning Seazen Mendi Jingyuan ~ Changzhou City ~ Residential Completed
BRI ETEREER BN FE ®T 196,263 183,803
Changzhou Xinbei Seazen Huayu Yunjing Changzhou City  Residential Completed
Huayuan
N BRI ESEE BN fF=E ®T 140,075 125,335
Changzhou Jintan Seazen Cuijun Garden Changzhou City  Residential Completed
BT ERTERETEE FMm FE %I 153,304 132,541
Changzhou Jintan Seazen Xijun Garden Changzhou City  Residential Completed
BNF IR B A i wibr wm = R 253,591 17,580
Changzhou Xinbei Seazen Logan Black Peony ~ Changzhou City ~ Residential Under development
Pinyueshangyuan
SEEEN FMm F=E fge 31,841 -
Jintan Wanjian City Changzhou City  Residential Proposed for
development
BMeEINA=H wim F= e 23,953 -
Changzhou Golden Seazen West Phase Il Changzhou City  Residential Proposed for
development
BNFHERERE FMm F=E ade 236,610 -
Changzhou Eastern Area of Seazen Long Island  Changzhou City ~ Residential Proposed for
development
FMNFETHRAEEE FMm FE geg = 445,860 299,888
Taizhou Taixing Seazen Danxia Garden Taizhou City Residential Under development
FMEEAHBKFRS T F= Jig 259,866 184,618
Taizhou Taixing Seazen Riverbank Jiayuan Taizhou City Residential Under development
TN BEIER FME e e = 568,088 329,499
Taizhou Hailing Project Taizhou City Complex Under development
FMEYLIAR FMT maR %®T 623,747 504,095
Taizhou Xinghua Project Taizhou City Complex Completed
FMNREIRE FMT ek %®T 462,220 316,854
Taizhou Taixing Project Taizhou City Complex Completed
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ20245
12A31H
EH il HEER EEME THERRE R ENER
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(F7XK) (FHXK)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
BERR BRI REN EEET FE R 168,207 168,145
Lianyungang Donghai Seazen Donghaifu Lianyungang City Residential Under development
ERBER RIS EEEW F= T 107,247 107,247
Lianyungang Ganyu Seazen Haiyue Mingzhu Lianyungang City Residential Under development
EH A GBI S AR Vil F= %T 339,302 307,968
Yancheng Dafeng Seazen Yuejun Mingdli Yancheng City ~ Residential Completed
BRI SRR il FE BT 219,231 212,936
Yancheng High-tech Zone Seazen Yuejun Yancheng City ~ Residential Completed
Shidai Garden
B R TR AT R AT il Fx %T 224,503 203,455
Yancheng High-tech Zone Seazen Jinyuefu Yancheng City ~ Residential Completed
BB A [ T SR Vil FE Geg = 259,811 190,348
Yancheng Economic Development Zone Yancheng City ~ Residential Under development
Seazen Dongyuefu
BB = 0 R AT IR AT il F= 2 110,653 59,977
Yancheng Tinghu Seazen Langyuefu Yancheng City ~ Residential Under development
B EHETAEEEE L Vil F= = 197,887 85,390
Yancheng Economic Development Zone Yancheng City ~ Residential Under development
Seazen Yuntu Garden
ERERBAMRIE ELT F= BT 459,711 455,736
Huai’an Huaiyin Seazen Yuejun Huai’an City Residential Completed
ERERE RN ERT F=E %I 201,173 174,030
Huai’an Huaiyin Tianruifu Huai'an City Residential Completed
ELZB BRI AT ERT FE geg = 143,658 129,856
Huai’an Qingjiangpu Seazen Jinyuefu Huai’an City Residential Under development
ERBLAR IS ELT F= g 82,974 72,348
Huai’an Qingjiangpu Seazen Qingheyin Huai’an City Residential Under development
EZBLRREREE ERT F=E EE 619,224 74,198
Huai’an Qingjiangpu Haishang Fenghua Huai’an City Residential Under development
LR KGR AT ERT F= i 142,261 65,150
Huai’an Lianshui Seazen Heyuefu Huai’an City Residential Under development
EZEKIAR ERT e TR 613,506 462,086
Huai’an Lianshui Project Huai’an City Complex Under development
ERITRIER ERT GAE i< 364,598 311,504
Huai’an Xuyi Project Huai’an City Complex Under development
BRI ERT Fat geg = 200,933 94,628
Lianshui Binhe Project Huai’an City Complex Under development
EHBILEITRK—#E EHT FE ®T 332,016 326,278
Wuxi Huishan Seazen Tianyi Xinzhu Wuxi City Residential Completed

i85 B £ IR B R 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 7
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Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ20245F

12A31H

HH il B 5 HE R AHERE R BNEE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FH%) (%)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
FINABRTHRIEERF MM F=E BT 101,276 91,671
Suzhou Taicang Seazen Huayu Jing'an Suzhou City Residential Completed
EM R T R g Fx i 158,635 79,652
Suzhou Xiangcheng Seazen Lakeview Chunxiao  Suzhou City Residential Under development
FMNRIEIBBKERS #Mm FE Ged= 688,594 574,720
Suzhou Wujiang Seazen Linshuiwan Jingyuan ~ Suzhou City Residential Under development
#NRLRINRITIAR B FE e 116,369 -
Suzhou Wuijiang Waiguoyu Project Suzhou City Residential Proposed for
development
HFNRIBTRAEE MM Fx %I 64,738 62,212
Suzhou Wujiang Seazen Jiuyuwan Suzhou City Residential Completed
HMEILTRREE EMm F= R 194,818 120,454
Suzhou Kunshan Seazen Beautiful Harbour Suzhou City Residential Under development
HNARTEERERE B FE ®T 109,457 97,186
Suzhou Taicang Yuncui Jingyuan Project Suzhou City Residential Completed
MR AT RIRAEEE g Fx T 164,477 143,812
Suzhou Zhangjiagang Seazen Heyue Garden Suzhou City Residential Completed
HMRFK BT EN R IEE #Mm F= %®T 56,632 44,647
Suzhou Zhangjiagang Seazen Yunyue Suzhou City Residential Completed
Shiguang Garden
FMRFAEM I EELE MW FE R 72,739 28,548
Suzhou Zhangjiagang Seazen Jiangyue Suzhou City Residential Under development
Fenghua Garden
RSB R TR IR E MM FE BT 101,585 94,549
Suzhou Xiangcheng Seazen Yayue Lanting Suzhou City Residential Completed
EHMMOCT I ETE B — & Em FE ®T 61,361 61,361
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part |l Suzhou City Residential Completed
FHIMMOCTEHIEIEE =5 MM Fx i< 234,706 100,503
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part Il Suzhou City Residential Under development
#HMMOCEHIEIA B T Em F= BT 130,427 130,080
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part V Suzhou City Residential Completed
ENMOCT I IE TR B 733D EINm Fx g 88,204 79,103
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part VI Suzhou City Residential Under development
#HMNMOCE M IETE B 58 MM Fx e = 170,740 -
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part VII Suzhou City Residential Under development
EINMOCT IIETR B \ 3D BN FE T 220,349 155,491
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part VIII Suzhou City Residential Under development
ENMOCT BIIE TR B S8 ENm Fx g 79,407 64,867
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part IX Suzhou City Residential Under development
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Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ2024F

12A31H

HH i HE R HE R AHEEE R BHERE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(%) (FH%)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
#IMOCIIHEIE B + 26 MM F=E BT 39,836 39,836
Suzhou MOC Xinchenghui Project Part X Suzhou City Residential Completed
H BB N R LR el Fx % T 240,884 193,501
Nantong Tongzhou Seazen Shang Yuecheng ~ Nantong City Residential Completed
HEAREIIN AR R miEm FE TR 714,445 541,671
Nantong Gangzha Seazen Future France Nantong City Residential Under development
BBMRTHHE RS il F=E BT 156,865 150,985
Nantong Rugao Seazen Yunjing Yayuan Nantong City Residential Completed
BRI E B A5 el Fx 2 395,259 221,637
Nantong Qidong Seazen Yuntu Yayuan Nantong City Residential Under development
HRBMRTRERSE miEm FE %T 85,855 67,310
Nantong Rugao Chenxing Yayuan Nantong City Residential Completed
BER) B E31E miEm F=E BT 184,160 154,559
Nantong Chongchuan Seazen Latitude 31 Nantong City Residential Completed
Degree North
HAT ORI EENER Ezehil F=E %I 143,294 130,482
Nantong Rudong County Seazen Zhaoshang Nantong City Residential Completed
Yonghuafu Project
HEAM=EEERNERIER Eaehil Fx i 153,055 -
Nantong Haimen Sanxing Town Zhenmeng Nantong City Residential Under development
Avenue East Project
HREMRINAERELR Ezehil EE G 124,233 78,693
Nantong Haimen Seazen Daye Fenghua Nantong City Residential Under development
Huayuan
HEEBRITBEENS s3] F=E BT 48,373 48,373
Shanghai Qingpu Seazen Puyue Mendi Shanghai City Residential Completed
HEEREAR AL LHim FE %T 73,858 58,606
Shanghai Qingpu Seazen Glorious Century Shanghai City Residential Completed
PERRMRINARAE bm F=E BT 160,117 141,733
Shanghai Pudong New District Seazen Xi'an Shanghai City Residential Completed
Park
PEBLEFRER M am F= g 198,681 87,922
Shanghai Baoshan Seazen Yunluzhicheng Shanghai City Residential Under development
EEMIERILE iiip] Fx %T 145,544 109,229
Shanghai Songjiang Sheshanwang Shanghai City ~ Residential Completed
BT IRITRR i Bmim fF=E BT 55,140 54,558
Yangzhou Hanjiang Seazen Shiguangyue Yangzhou City ~ Residential Completed
BTN RAL LA HIH FE ®T 147,831 139,348
Zhenjiang Runzhou Seazen Jiangshanyue Zhenjiang City ~ Residential Completed

i85 B £ IR B R 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 9
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ2024%F
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
BIHTHRNEER BIm F=E ER 247,812 222,266
Zhenjiang Yangzhong Seazen Jiuli Xiangpan Zhenjiang City ~ Residential Under development
BT IR THESE HIm FE %T 88,638 84,859
Zhenjiang Dingmao New District Seazen Zhenjiang City ~ Residential Completed
Junhe Yayuan
HNBBIER BN mae geg e 734,917 583,806
Yangzhou Gaoyou Project Yangzhou City ~ Complex Under development
AIHTIER B ek 2 601,101 256,152
Zhenjiang Yangzhong Project Zhenjiang City ~ Complex Under development
BRNGEE BEM FEE T 887,432 745,472
Sugian Siyang Project Sugian City Complex Under development
HMNFOIER il meaR R 839,429 476,507
Xuzhou Xinyi Project Xuzhou City Complex Under development
RENHIER =il ek 2 851,617 697,642
Sugian Sihong Project Sugian City Complex Under development
EELCHARNR T 28 32l F=E %I 276,525 272,249
Sugian Economic Development Zone Seazen  Sugian City Residential Completed
Shili Jinyue
EREARIBESIL TBBM F=E R 213,327 157,620
Sugian Sucheng Seazen Yunyu Jiangshan Sugian City Residential Under development
HRLERMNERET il FE % T 119,133 109,989
Nanjing Jiangning Seazen Yunyang Binjiang Nanjing City Residential Completed
ERIERITH ERER BRm FE BT 126,548 115,529
Nanijing Jiangning Seazen Shangchen Yuniji Nanijing City Residential Completed
ARIERFHERETI 0 R F=E R 155,514 99,557
Nanjing Jiangning Seazen Yunyang Binjiang Nanjing City Residential Under development
Phase Il
B LERIMHERERR R F=E %I 111,257 74,564
Nanjing Jiangning Seazen Mingzhu Fenghua Nanjing City Residential Completed
Project
BRI R BT E 1 KBS GO 1 B R FE R 19,515 6,069
Nanjing Jiangbei New District Seazen Xingyue  Nanjing City Residential Under development
Tiandi Plaza GO1 Project
BRI 3R ATk E SR il Fx %I 66,649 55,037
Nanijing Jiangbei New District Seazen Riverbank Nanjing City Residential Completed
Yuniji
BIARHAAN BIm F=E BT 110,479 109,930
Zhenjiang Jurong Seazen Tianyuefu Zhenjiang City ~ Residential Completed
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Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ2024F

12A31H

HH i HE R HE R AHEEE R BHERE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(%) (FH%)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
BRI R STRAIER 2R fF=E KR 202,815 149,740
Nanjing Jiangbei New District Yuejiang Shidai  Nanjing City Residential Under development
Project
MRRERIINISENE il EE g 74,542 64,536
Nanjing Qinhuai Seazen Feili Bowan Nanjing City Residential Under development
A E RN S LT i FE BT 160,973 140,573
Nanjing Qixia Seazen Yunyue Guanshanfu Nanjing City Residential Completed
SN R AR = ME T 2 FE %I 200,340 155,652
Bozhou Qiaocheng Seazen Bozhou Xiyuefu Bozhou City Residential Completed
MR GHREIRIEE eyl F=E %I 149,525 129,981
Chuzhou Lai'an Seazen Yijing Garden Chuzhou City Residential Completed
RN EF R B L L FE Geg e 490,696 417,231
Fuyang Yingzhou Seazen Jingshi Guofu Fuyang City Residential Under development
EGEMNBRHREERS Ll F=E R 166,175 149,192
Fuyang Yingzhou Seazen Yunyu Dongfang Fuyang City Residential Under development
B RIAR JELT GRE E# 664,098 453,770
Huaibei Duji Project Huaibei City Complex Under development
BINARIEE BN e %®T 607,864 449,627
Chuzhou Tianchang Project Chuzhou City Complex Completed
sfE e A B b e %®T 525,500 358,743
Tongling Tongguan Project Tongling City Complex Completed
Ef55%8 FAR &M GaE EE 899,166 419,960
Fuyang Yingshang Project Fuyang City Complex Under development
BEREMEE Ll At geg = 450,262 315,286
Fuyang Yingzhou Project Fuyang City Complex Under development
wNEHIEAR HMm e 2 910,247 700,955
Xuzhou Feng County Project Xuzhou City Complex Under development
HMNETIER HMm GAE EE 1,023,598 619,198
Xuzhou Jiawang Project Xuzhou City Complex Under development
RN E BRI (BC) T F= i 128,927 83,050
Xuzhou Yunlong Seazen Puyue Yulonghu (BC) ~ Xuzhou City Residential Under development
MR R AR (A fRNT F= T 210,348 117,839
Xuzhou Yunlong Seazen Puyue Yulonghu (A) Xuzhou City Residential Under development
RINZB N AT B E ®wMm Fx i< 538,982 538,982
Xuzhou Pizhou Seazen Pizhou Country Garden  Xuzhou City Residential Under development
TRINERM TR BB M ER BT (7557 #0358 ) ®mMm FE ®T 182,360 157,376
Xuzhou Pizhou Seazen Pizhou Xiyuefu Xuzhou City Residential Completed

(Land Parcel No. 75)
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ20245
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
FRETHTIRERE ] F=E BT 192,474 188,717
Jiaxing Pinghu Seazen Yuechenli Jiaxing City Residential Completed
BETRTHRE A Fx %T 54,265 48,952
Jiaxing Pinghu Yuechenting Jiaxing City Residential Completed
FRBHER REM ma %®T 436,352 239,657
Jiaxing Haiyan Project Jiaxing City Complex Completed
MNFBIER M mae BT 660,299 433,016
Huzhou Nanxun Project Huzhou City Complex Completed
HMNREIER AN ek % T 503,339 305,491
Huzhou Wuxing Project Huzhou City Complex Completed
HEEBER =il maR ged= 451,671 272,392
Nanchang Jinxian Project Nanchang City ~ Complex Under development
NIRERFTBRETRLE bl F=E BT 202,664 194,812
Jiujiang Lianxi Seazen Yuejun Central Park Jiujiang City Residential Completed
HEEEFEINEE e 2K =Ll FE i = 118,850 43,079
Nanchang Nanchang Seazen Gaosu e Yujianglai Nanchang City ~ Residential Under development
BRI AR maTm FE R 513,159 251,576
Nanchang High-tech Zone Seazen Hucheng Nanchang City ~ Residential Under development
Dajing
e EFRIM A Ham FE i 321,125 -
Nanchang Nanchang Seazen Tianyucheng Nanchang City ~ Residential Proposed for
development
FEEERIEEE LeEm F=E Gad= 209,627 165,694
Shangrao Guangxin Seazen Taolijun Shangrao City ~ Residential Under development
AMEETEHXE R BN F=E BT 185,275 141,282
Taizhou Wenling Yunyuetianjing Xiaoqu Taizhou City Residential Completed
BT ERE RS o FTIERE BT FE %T 237,515 189,407
Wenzhou Longwan Kaidi ® Seazen Boke Park  Wenzhou City Residential Completed
RN AR RIER BN AR BT 294,086 265,628
Wenzhou Future Community Project Wenzhou City ~ Complex Completed
AMRETIH MRS AMTm F=E BT 302,305 171,407
Taizhou Wenling Seazen Yunyue Dongfang Taizhou City Residential Completed
SMERNEBG aMm FE %T 180,376 166,481
Taizhou Yuhuan Jinlinfu Taizhou City Residential Completed
BN RET EHEREEN =Hiibil FE %®T 32,739 31,521
Taizhou Wenling Yunyue Longwanyuan Taizhou City Residential Completed
BNDRAERRELE BT fF=E BT 423,575 372,497
Wenzhou Dongtou Seazen Oujiang Bay Wenzhou City Residential Completed
1 #4052 R AR A =) SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ2024%F
12A31H
EH il HEER EEME THERRE R ENER
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(%) (FH%)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
BN /EERTEEE BN fF=E KR 408,247 134,565
Wenzhou Jinhai Lake District Jianghai Mingdi ~ Wenzhou City Residential Under development
BB EMAR amm Fx ®T 107,696 81,085
Wenling Seazen Yunyuejiuxi Taizhou City Residential Completed
BN EIER =] At geg = 507,415 164,739
Fuzhou Pingtan Project Fuzhou City Complex Under development
BMNEZRIBEEREESE =] F=E BT 93,583 80,678
Fuzhou Jin’an Seazen Zhuoyue Rongyu Fuzhou City Residential Completed
Fenghua
EMEESER EM T reE g 468,861 112,529
Zhangzhou Longwen Project Zhangzhou City ~ Complex Under development
REMHERITBART REm fF=E BT 132,459 113,624
Shaoxing Yuecheng Seazen Jiushangfu Shaoxing City Residential Completed
SERETAREV RN LEM F= BT 194,169 168,602
Jinhua Lanxi Seazen Xiangyue Lancheng Jinhua City Residential Completed
TN R T AR BRI AT T Fx G 179,667 -
Hangzhou Jiande Seazen Zhenlongfu Hangzhou City ~ Residential Under development
ARRBIEE AfEm e & 608,780 132,128
Rizhao Donggang Project Rizhao City Complex Under development
HIERT IR REALE T F= 2 491,008 241,498
Weifang Zhucheng Seazen Rongyue Daduhui -~ Weifang City Residential Under development
BRI AR HEAE SN M Fx g 434,329 -
Weifang Zhucheng Seazen Rongyue Daduhui  Weifang City Residential Proposed for
Phases IV &V development
BRI E R g™ F=E Geg e 235,777 226,707
Weihai Rongcheng Seazen Yuejun Mansion Weihai City Residential Under development
ERERBRITMEEEZ Eam EE 2 153,680 63,216
Yantai Zhifu Seazen Puyue Yuanzhu Yantai City Residential Under development
BEBM MR &M FE geg = 622,634 329,445
Qingdao Jiaozhou Seazen Xiyue Qingdao City Residential Under development
BEERERINFER TR =0 (GRS ge 106,696 -
Qingdao Chengyang Seazen Wool Beach Land  Qingdao City Commercial Proposed for
Parcel No. 1 development
EERGRIMNASE « B Eiohil Fx ®T 235,432 233,355
Qingdao Chengyang Seazen Hongdaowan e Qingdao City Residential Completed
Langjun
B BB AT BB fF=E Geg e 538,157 118,348
Qingdao Jiaozhou Yuefu Qingdao City Residential Under development
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ2024%F
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
B EER A E &M F=E BT 385,239 354,359
Qingdao High-tech Zone Seazen Yunyue Qingdao City Residential Completed
Xiaoyuan
BEERGRRNFEET IR Eiohil [GES ER 167,031 49,014
Qingdao Chengyang Baoli Wool Beach Land Qingdao City Commercial Under development
Parcel No. 5
EERERRTILSE &M F=E EE 289,144 113,231
Qingdao Chengyang Baoli Hongdaowan Qingdao City Residential Under development
HEERGERAIFEHTI0R El-nil [EES age 186,728 -
Qingdao Chengyang Rongchuang Wool Beach  Qingdao City Commercial Proposed for
Land Parcel No. 2 development
BEEVETHRIEANE &M FE g = 121,686 109,600
Qingdao Pingdu Seazen Yuejun Daduhui Qingdao City Residential Under development
BEEXATHMUNELEE BEM FE g3 152,117 141,443
Qingdao Laixi Seazen Yuejun Gongyuanli Qingdao City Residential Under development
EE TR EAHE —H EE5M Fx %T 129,490 125,204
Qingdao Pingdu Seazen Yuejun Daduhui Qingdao City Residential Completed
Phase Il
B R E S &ty AR F=E BT 208,855 206,368
Rizhao Ju County Seazen Jinyuefu Rizhao City Residential Completed
ARRBRER 2K AR FE % T 107,363 105,681
Rizhao Donggang Time Glory Rizhao City Residential Completed
EamiEE Eam A T’ 513,720 42,880
Yantai Hi-Tech Project Yantai City Complex Under development
EaZRER Eam maR R 527,605 125,717
Yantai Zhifu Project Yantai City Complex Under development
ARRBRAMIEE N R FE e = 119,876 18,174
Rizhao Donggang Seazen Feili Glory Rizhao City Residential Under development
BN GREE(EER ) &Mm FE Gad= 231,905 184,985
Dezhou Qihe Seazen Xiyue (Asset Package ) Dezhou City Residential Under development
ENE G R ER(EER D) ™ F=E R 559,523 25,789
Dezhou Qihe Seazen Xiyue (Asset Package I) ~ Dezhou City Residential Under development
BB ESERE BB FE %T 201,394 173,837
Jinan Licheng Feili Mansion Jinan City Residential Completed
WIS S PR A 58 e B FE R 230,790 221,797
Liaocheng Resort Huyu Shangyuan Liaocheng City  Residential Under development
EEEARNBRRTRRE L AT F=E ER 407,527 330,961
Zibo Zhoucun Seazen Yuejun Jiangshan Zibo City Residential Under development
1 #4052 R AR A =) SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ2024F

12A31H

HH i HE R HE R AHEEE R BHERE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(F7XK) (FHXK)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
REREER REm e 2 676,905 305,762
Dongying Dongying Project Dongying City Complex Under development
HIBERIER kil ey 2 872,260 343,506
Zibo Zhoucun Project Zibo City Complex Under development
BMNERIER BN At geg = 667,229 376,619
Binzhou Bincheng Project Binzhou City Complex Under development
RRNERTBDERE FREM F=E R 581,294 408,408
Tai'an Daiyue Seazen Wuyue Fenghua Tai'an City Residential Under development
RLSEEFNDEERN RLM Fx %T 174,522 147,169
Tai’an Daiyue Seazen Wuyue Capital Tai’an City Residential Completed
RRISEBRNBDERS RLM F= = 111,569 64,154
Tai’an Daiyue Seazen Wuyue Xihu Tai'an City Residential Under development
RLHRIER RLW e i 678,182 531,405
Tai’an Xintai Project Tai'an City Complex Under development
RLIEHIER LM e = 754,399 245,693
Tai'an Feicheng Project Tai'an City Complex Under development
BEXBHIER BEM At geg = 577,359 434,145
Jining Taibai Lake Project Jining City Complex Under development
RORDEHHAE =34 F=E BT 217,011 173,613
Changsha Changsha Seazen Langjun Changsha City ~ Residential Completed
RAORDGHREERE =] FE %I 113,209 95,474
Changsha Changsha Seazen Huijun Fenghua ~ Changsha City ~ Residential Completed
HENERITMIEE HE™ FE g 664,935 388,481
Xiangtan Jiuhua Seazen Jingjun Xiangtan City Residential Under development
PR R BT BMm F=E BT 251,088 219,828
Zhuzhou Hetang Seazen Yuefu Zhuzhou City Residential Completed
RO EBERIMIDRHEKE AT Fx BT 623,299 496,713
Changsha Yuelu Seazen Meixi Lake Jinmaowan Changsha City ~ Residential Completed
ROEERITMIEZNER =S/ FE %T 169,359 169,317
Changsha Yuelu Seazen Meixi Lake Xiyue Changsha City ~ Residential Completed
Y EBEIMAGRER =34 F=E BT 249,317 237,067
Changsha Yuelu Seazen Meixi Huafu Changsha City ~ Residential Completed
RO EBEIME L RO Fx T 492,383 309,298
Changsha Yuelu Seazen Guanshanyin Changsha City ~ Residential Under development
RORDEHBAZRS =20l F= g 307,669 290,338
Changsha Changsha Seazen Mingyu Dongfang  Changsha City ~ Residential Under development
BEAKNRER '2AM mae R 601,000 336,134
Huangshi Daye Project Huangshi City Complex Under development
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ20245
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
SBINSEEIA B Sl mae ER 1,222,807 361,292
Ezhou Echeng Project Ezhou City Complex Under development
EHILEFEIMER S FET FE %T 466,498 369,527
Wuhan Hongshan Wuhan Seazen Yuejingtai Wuhan City Residential Completed
RERPSIEMAEE RN « EHHE  HEm T BT 537,018 459,427
Wuhan Donghu High-tech Zone Wuhan Wuhan City Residential Completed
Seazen ¢ Puyue Mendi
REERETRANER HEM F= T’ 240,468 51,540
Wuhan Hannan Seazen Tianyue Guanlan Wuhan City Residential Under development
EMEMRERBEETEE I « & =il F=E ER 201,260 167,920
Huanggang Huangzhou Huanggang Country Huanggang City  Residential Under development
Garden Seazen Yangguangcheng e Chengpin
BATEEFREANEATE BAM F= i 300,344 224,679
Huangshi Xialu Seazen Huangshi Yuejun Huangshi City Residential Under development
Daduhui
g EIER FUEM e e = 341,749 56,354
Wuhan Caidian Project Wuhan City Complex Under development
AN EFREIER KM mae geg = 883,680 170,830
Yongzhou Lingling Project Yongzhou City ~ Complex Under development
RAOEHIAR =il ek %®T 596,432 435,568
Changsha Ningxiang Project Changsha City ~ Complex Completed
ERE£1EH KM maR e = 740,921 433,103
Loudi Louxing Project Loudi City Complex Under development
FERHIEAR wiEm mae EE 1,153,954 286,646
Changde Dingcheng Project Changde City Complex Under development
EEARIER EEM ma BT 382,870 219,745
Yichang Xiling Project Yichang City Complex Completed
BEN LI B BEN T ma e = 671,200 489,295
Suizhou Zengdu Project Suizhou City Complex Under development
2 R AT R R B 2 AT ZRT FE geg = 383,151 304,601
Xiaogan High-tech Zone Xiaogan Seazen Xiyue ~ Xiaogan City Residential Under development
ZREFFBLEAERZBERENINER  ZRD i ®T 251,901 232,369
Xiaogan Xiaonan Economic Development Zone  Xiaogan City Residential Completed
Xiaogan Country Garden Seazen Huafu
RETEREEINN « 270 BET FE BT 71,471 49,308
Wuhan Jiangxia Wuhan Seazen ¢ Jinjun Wuhan City Residential Completed
FERT AR IETA I FE HEM F= i 664,984 505,421
Wuhan Dongxihu Wuhan Seazen Taolijun Wuhan City Residential Under development
1 #4052 R AR A =) SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ2024%F
12A31H
EH il HEER EEME THERRE R ENER
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(F7XK) (FHXK)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
fliskEEsmIE B HEE et i 924,001 481,577
Xiantao Nancheng Project Provincial Complex Under development
municipality
BRI SRR RS i/l £ T 250,195 115,053
Changsha Seazen Yuejun International Plaza Changsha City ~ Residential Under development
S 6K 5 TR i B M FE R 1,310,627 733,539
Zhengzhou Xingyang Seazen Shangjun Zhengzhou City  Residential Under development
BMEREAMET K ENREFE 0 (BE) N F=E BT 159,614 138,522
Zhengzhou Guancheng Seazen Shiguang Zhengzhou Residential Completed
Yinxiang Land Parcel No. 5 (High-rise) City
FON 5K 5 TR R A M FE g 147,430 28,861
Zhengzhou Xingyang Seazen Haitang Xiaoyue ~ Zhengzhou City ~ Residential Under development
EINEW RIS R IR AT FE) ENTH F=E ®T 80,857 80,801
Zhengzhou Guancheng Seazen Shiguang Zhengzhou City  Residential Completed
Yinxiang Land Parcel No. 4 (House)
B 5251 B BT ey %T 266,657 104,968
Zhengzhou Xingyang Project Zhengzhou City ~ Complex Completed
FE LU B AL R 3R AT EIlm FE ®T 526,243 476,134
Tangshan Lubei Seazen Lanyuefu Tangshan City ~ Residential Completed
E LR m R IR EIlm F=E %I 146,199 137,699
Tangshan Lunan Seazen Ruifu Tangshan City ~ Residential Completed
RESLRITPEHER RE™ Fx ®T 196,691 173,217
Baoding Lianchi Seazen Jinyue Wanxiang Baoding City Residential Completed
RESDREF R REM F= i 282,950 -
Baoding Lianchi Shuangcheng Jiayuan Baoding City Residential Under development
TERARLBRFHIEER I} FE %I 659,241 499,500
Beijing Shijingshan Seazen Wulichungiu Beijing City Residential Completed
BMNETRIRERER BT Fx ®T 168,288 137,084
Cangzhou Yunhe Seazen Xiyuechunaiu Cangzhou City  Residential Completed
BNFERTRTERE BT FE ®T 315,846 266,706
Cangzhou Xinhua Seazen Yuejun Fenghua Cangzhou City  Residential Completed
BMFERAMR B BT fF=E %I 133,603 117,561
Cangzhou Xinhua Seazen Yuejun Shidai Cangzhou City  Residential Completed
R R AT A E T il F= %®T 172,013 139,546
Tianjin Jinnan Seazen Hexingfu Tianjin City Residential Completed
REBGMRI T RRARE RET F= i 233,888 158,677
Tianjin Binhai New Area Seazen Zhongliang Tianjin City Residential Under development

Changfeng Yazhu
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Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ20245F

12A31H

HH il B 5 HE R AHERE R BNEE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
REABEREN AR REM F=E BT 118,578 108,542
Tianjin Xiging Jingwu Town Land Parcel Tianjin City Residential Completed
REREHMBRER REN ey ER 468,359 303,262
Tianjin Binhai New Area Project Tianjin City Complex Under development
BINENIEE BT A ®T 453,343 295,038
Cangzhou Yunhe Project Cangzhou City ~ Complex Completed
RENBERIBRERE RAEM F=E BT 263,628 225,988
Tianjin Wuging Seazen Yuejun Yangzhu Tianjin City Residential Completed
RERBBAMMREFE RET FE i = 92,771 79,681
Tianjin Wuging Seazen Yuejun Nianhua Tianjin City Residential Under development
RERERITREMER REM F=E ®T 169,340 142,351
Tianjin Wuging Seazen Xiyue Xitang Tianjin City Residential Completed
RERE R IR EEER RAEM F=E Geg e 285,911 123,591
Tianjin Wuging Seazen Xiyue Chungiu Tianjin City Residential Under development
RERBBAMREFE_H KT FE g 104,090 54,494
Tianjin Wuging Seazen Yuejun Nianhua Phase Il - Tianjin City Residential Under development
KEBERSUITHAR REM FE ®T 576,479 531,409
Tianjin Baodi Jindi Seazen Dajing Tianjin City Residential Completed
RER R H S REN F=E BT 572,720 450,766
Tianjin Beichen Seazen Yuefenghua Tianjin City Residential Completed
REET BRI ELE RET FE e = 358,539 220,989
Tianjin Ninghe Seazen Yuejun Mansion Tianjin City Residential Under development
REEH BRI ELE (95 40) REM FE R 107,962 95,504
Tianjin Ninghe Seazen Yuejun Mansion Tianjin City Residential Under development
(Land Parcel No. 9)
R REF EREE o B R FE ®T 167,359 113,814
Tianjin Beichen Seazen Yuejun Fenghua Tianjin City Residential Completed
Yuecheng
R REFHERE o B REM F=E Gag= 70,542 21,171
Tianjin Beichen Seazen Yuefenghua e Longyue  Tianijin City Residential Under development
REBERIT « JBH] REM F=E BT 85,642 79,146
Tianjin Baodi Seazen ¢ Boyue Tianjin City Residential Completed
REEIRIEAR REM ek i = 271,286 140,413
Tianjin Baodi Project Tianjin City Complex Under development
RESREFBEHARE REM FE ®T 86,428 62,726
Tianjin Beichen Seazen Yunyue Jiuzhang Tianjin City Residential Completed
REEE RS EEAS REM F=E R 289,072 88,124
Tianjin Baodi Seazen Xiyue Chaoming Tianjin City Residential Under development
1 #H5 R 2RER A =) SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ2024%F
12A31H
EH il HEER EEME THERRE R ENER
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(%) (FH%)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
REEIAE RET FE 2 159,339 29,564
Tianjin Ninghe Project Tianjin City Residential Under development
REEEEHHRES o A2 RET Fx ®T 62,539 53,371
Tianjin Baodi Seazen Wanging ¢ Shiguangli Tianjin City Residential Completed
RELREIRITERE REM FE %I 146,875 135,740
Tianjin Beichen Seazen Yuejun Fenghua Tianjin City Residential Completed
HEZLRIRRAE R ] F=E R 172,048 155,138
Handan Congtai Seazen Gongyuan Shangfu Handan City Residential Under development
AFEEETE F#IE 5L AR Fx 2 174,701 128,437
Shijiazhuang Zhengding Seazen Zhenghongfu  Shijiazhuang City Residential Under development
B REREREE BT FE TR 236,895 85,229
LLuohe Yuanhui Xihe Celestial Mansion LLuohe City Residential Under development
HERLETEE HFEM FE 2 463,866 266,473
Xuchang Jian'an Jinyutang Xuchang City Residential Under development
HEMGIEE BEM FEE T 780,170 425,282
Shanggqjiu Suiyang Project Shangqiu Gity ~ Complex Under development
ZENIEER Zi5H At TR 761,806 571,961
Anyang Wenfeng Project Anyang City Complex Under development
ELEERAEIAR ] F=E R 193,454 -
Tangshan Lunan Xiezhuang Project Tangshan City ~ Residential Under development
EILEREEA —H EILm FE R 133,168 -
Tangshan Aiminli Project Phase Il Tangshan City ~ Residential Under development
EZERIEE = e T 646,815 244,872
Yunfu Yuncheng Project Yunfu City Complex Under development
REARBENEEHIEE REm fF=E BT 78,576 63,204
Dongguan Shijie Seazen Yunyue Garden Dongguan City ~ Residential Completed
B8 S S A EET EE = 1,020,181 552,742
Shanwei Haifeng Seazen Heyue Shanwei City Residential Under development
HH RS 3l FE %T 109,270 106,145
Seazen Yanlan Heming Shenzhen City  Residential Completed
SHMIEAER BiHm F=E R 885,286 399,432
Jinyue Jiangnan Garden Huizhou City Residential Under development
EStE BMm FE ®T 574,057 501,622
Yunyu Garden Huizhou City Residential Completed
BMNEESRES FREhR BNm FE i 201,311 67,689
Huizhou Boluo Luoyang Shangtoutang Land Huizhou City Residential Under development
Parcel
HEEERARIERMA HEM = 2 101,029 72,555
Nanning Yongning Zhaoshang Seazen Nanning City Residential Under development

Zhenyuefu
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ20245
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
plicEiiv=3r]= g™ etk %®T 460,916 304,129
Beihai Yinhai Project Beihai City Complex Completed
S#B1ER g8 FeE ®T 589,104 456,025
Guigang Gangbei Project Guigang City Complex Completed
EE) ST EARE EZ il £ T’ 198,574 81,496
Guilin Lingchuan Seazen Ansha Daduhui Guilin City Residential Under development
HETEEIAS AT HEN fFE #T 115,960 104,212
Nanning Jiangnan Seazen Jinyuefu Nanning City Residential Completed
FLEERSREE LT FE % T 527,454 495,503
Foshan Nanhai Yiming Garden Foshan City Residential Completed
ERAEE LT Fx BT 303,259 201,056
Xingsheng Garden Foshan City Residential Completed
TP eRNREERSRERAR skl F=E R 165,580 126,648
Jiangmen Xinhui Seazen Bofu Linghui Jiangmen City  Residential Under development
International Mingyuan
PILEF AT LT FE %I 224,946 181,724
Zhongshan Lancai Mingyuan Zhongshan City ~ Residential Completed
BMNTAERNABEBER BT FE g e 176,617 34,243
Guangzhou Baiyun Seazen Feili Yunjing Guangzhou City  Residential Under development
EABEREAINEERDAKER BT F=E R 549,229 98,949
Kunming Jinning Languang Seazen Country Kunming City Residential Under development

Garden Gudian Shuiyuncheng
EREHRT AU EM E#m FE yeg e 181,372 134,759

Kunming Economic Development Zone Kunming City Residential Under development
Zhongnan Seazen Yunyue

RILEFRIER Rl ek R 1,121,681 391,525
Baoshan Longyang Project Baoshan City Complex Under development

ERZEIER =22 hil ma %I 771,720 636,096
Kunming Anning Project Kunming City Complex Completed

ERBEEIER E#m maR T 1,100,401 392,558
Kunming Jinning Project Kunming City Complex Under development

REESIER BREm et ®T 751,310 620,870
Zhaotong Zhaoyang Project Zhaotong City ~ Complex Completed

ERATIER BE#Hm FEE yig = 1,175,928 176,089
Kunming Taiping Project Kunming City Complex Under development

BROCHERIANERE BET FE geg = 152,121 113,865
Zunyi Honghuagang Seazen Yuejun Fenghua ~ Zunyi City Residential Under development

2 i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




FEVEAH

Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ2024F

12A31H

HH i HE R HE R AHEEE R BHERE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(%) (FH%)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
BG5BT RE AT VEhkkEk T i 241,474 37,853
graM
Guiyang Longli Seazen Longyuefu Qiannan Buyei  Residential Under development
and Miao
Autonomous
Prefecture
i SN VEhkkEk T i 282,492 -
BraM
Guiyang Longli Seazen Longyuefu Qiannan Buyei  Residential Proposed for
Phases V & VI and Miao development
Autonomous
Prefecture
EGEEER =G hil mae 2 709,034 221,412
Guiyang Yunyan Project Guiyang City Complex Under development
B5EHEE ={hil FEE T 1,448,397 358,317
Guiyang Economic Development Zone Project  Guiyang City Complex Under development
BEAICEER BET At geg = 598,987 437,592
Zunyi Honghuagang Project Zunyi City Complex Under development
e BES SRR fF=E Geg e 733,693 358,388
Seazen e Fenghuangtai Liupanshui City ~ Residential Under development
BILCSSHRHEXRN B FE %I 178,763 168,481
Meishan Renshou Seazen Yuejun Tianfu Meishan City Residential Completed
REBEEIRENFHAERT %l FE ®BT 210,281 158,007
Chengdu Chingbaijiang Meidi Seazen Gongyuan Chengdu City Residential Completed
Tianxia
FCERE BT R 3T S A AR F= g 425,082 352,449
Chengdu Chingbaijiang Seazen Yuejun Glorious  Chengdu City Residential Under development
Century
PEDR TR FT AR %0l FE ®BT 47,503 37,914
Chengdu Wenjiang Seazen Linyuxi Chengdu City Residential Completed
Bt RIHIEARERE AT fF=E BT 60,003 49,136
Chengdu Jinniu Seazen Deshang Rongyu Chengdu City Residential Completed
Tianjiao
PEDRT R R FT 2 AT — =5 P& Fx %T 140,328 121,805
Chengdu Xinjin Seazen Jinyuefu Phases 1 & Il Chengdu City Residential Completed
EERFIER HEM Fat geg = 448,839 233,366
Yibin Cuiping Project Yibin City Complex Under development
WIImHIAR )] e 2 521,861 326,682
Neijiang Shizhong Project Neijiang City Complex Under development
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Breakdown of Major Properties

BZ2024%F
12A31H
EH il HE &5 EEME THERR RIBNEE
Accumulated
contracted area
Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(FF7XK) (F7XK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
EFRIIAR EEM FE gz 417,419 83,000
Chongging Yubei Project Chongging City  Residential Under development
ERMTERAZELE BEM Fx %T 251,169 207,247
Chongging Shapingba Xizhu Qili Chongging City  Residential Completed
BEEREDEFHRMIL BEEM £ T’ 451,084 355,876
Chongging Dadukou Seazen Langyue Chongging City  Residential Under development
Jiangshan
ERERTRIANEHE EEM fF=E R 474,325 376,462
Chongging Shuangfu New District Seazen Heyu Chongaqing City ~ Residential Under development
Linyun
BEE LA E LB BEM Fx Gag= 376,398 240,709
Chongging Bishan Seazen Daishandao No. 8 ~ Chongging City ~ Residential Under development
ERTIERITMRE EEM F=E R 163,404 144,254
Chongaing Jiangbei Seazen Langcui Chongaing City  Residential Under development
EREMNEEL LS BEM FE i = 349,880 104,374
Chongaing Wanzhou Yongjiang Shangjing Chongaing City  Residential Under development
EEEMREM LR BEM Fx Geg= 107,921 41,402
Chongging Wanzhou Yunyue Shangjing Chongging City  Residential Under development
EETHER EEM mae R 649,068 348,513
Chongaing Jiangjin Project Chonggaing City ~ Complex Under development
BRELER BZm ek i = 602,931 400,494
Guang’an Guang’an Project Guang’an City ~ Complex Under development
BEILREIER BEM AR T’ 332,395 160,155
Chongging Beibei Project Chongging City ~ Complex Under development
EFARIER EEM mae EE 945,901 590,650
Chongaing Dazu Project Chongaing City ~ Complex Under development
A R E R AT E T ikl FE %T 172,266 170,586
Xian Lintong Seazen Xiyuelifu Xi'an City Residential Completed
RGHBER R FE Gag= 353,997 18,345
Xianyang Seazen Yunjing Xianyang City Residential Under development
RSZEIER Rif5TH F=E R 206,302 185,236
Xianyang Qindu Project Xianyang City Residential Under development
ZREERR el ek e = 653,784 501,037
Ankang Hanbin Project Ankang City Complex Under development
EHmiEE BHm AR %®T 540,854 379,873
Baoji Hi-Tech Project Baoji City Complex Completed
LR EIEIAE i} et %®T 485,834 344,340
Yan’an Baota Project Yan’an City Complex Completed
SERAEERIER SRAEM Fet e = 841,377 407,907
Urumgji Huizhan Project Urumgi City Complex Under development
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Breakdown of Major Properties

HZ2024F

12A31H

HH i HE R HE R AHEEE R BHERE
Accumulated

contracted area

Leasable and as of 31
Projects City Project Type Project Status sellable area  December 2024
(%) (FH%)
(sa.m.) (sa.m.)
SERAEKRIER SEAET mae EE 849,335 343,211
Urumai Midong Project Urumai City Complex Under development
SEARESIER BEAEM et 2 469,268 310,261
Urumai Hi-Tech Project Urumgi City Complex Under development
5 EILER e nil FaE geg = 971,304 703,599
Shenyang Shenbei Project Shenyang City ~ Complex Under development
BEFIER B5ETM FaE ®T 570,251 381,933
Baotou Donghe Project Baotou City Complex Completed
BERILIER B £ ®T 129,664 116,317
Baotou Kunbei Project Baotou City Residential Completed
BEERER 250l GRE %T 577,695 360,943
Baotou Kunqu Project Baotou City Complex Completed
WML EIAR BT e %®T 421,328 219,527
LLanzhou Anning Project Lanzhou City Complex Completed
FEHILIEE FEM FEE T 573,930 358,999
Xining Chengbei Project Xining City Complex Under development
iR EEIER B GRE g 599,832 436,141
Yinchuan Xingaing Project Yinchuan City Complex Under development
ARERMEE NG e R 835,099 274,101
Datong Yungang Project Datong City Complex Under development
AREMBHIER NGl e = 892,059 615,017
Taiyuan Wanbailin Project Taiyuan City Complex Under development
ARAHIEIER NGl F= g 194,708 193,650
Taiyuan Dajingyu Project Taiyuan City Residential Under development
BN ] mae R 775,639 596,983
Yuncheng Yanhu Project Yuncheng City ~ Complex Under development
&it Total 110,450,898 67,091,828
BERAARN Attributable to the Company 58,922,407 35,445,174
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E 3 JE) -
EERE S

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Development Business

EHZE2024F 12 A31HIEFE - KEBESREME  For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from sale of properties
HEWANAAREIS0MBEET  XNWHE by the Group was approximately RMB76,041 million. Properties with a
warE AT RS ([REEEM ) 49,854,354 5K  total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 9,854,354 square meters
([FAK]) o 2024 FEXTRIERAEENME  (“sq.m.”) were delivered. Average selling price of properties delivered and

FHHEBE AT T RARKET 7167 ¢ recognized as sales was RMB7,716 per sq.m. in 2024,
R1 REE2024 F Y HE WA B Table 1: Details of revenue from sale of properties of the Group in
2024
N EEmE T9EE
Average
A1 Province Revenue GFA selling price
(AREEET) (FFHK) (AREEFHXK)
(RMB million) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
IERE Jiangsu Province 15,550 1,775,320 8,759
MEIEEES) Henan Province 6,347 810,228 7,833
A Shandong Province 6,011 917,886 6,548
Vi) Hunan Province 5,751 805,298 7,141
ERAE Guangdong Province 5,629 489,504 11,498
AR Tianjin City 5,499 416,813 13,194
pAE=) Zhejiang Province 4,538 458,717 9,892
ks Hubei Province 3,931 766,668 5,127
M=) Shanxi Province 3,412 496,860 6,866
=VAES) Guizhou Province 2,662 384,637 6,921
EEAE Yunnan Province 2,461 545,092 4,515
LA Hebei Province 2,458 250,389 9,818
[Py Shaanxi Province 2,396 309,917 7,730
EE™ Chongging City 2,000 318,847 6,271
) Anhui Province 1,212 229,530 5,282
BEE Fujian Province 1,159 74,294 15,606
584 Qinghai Province 1,115 95,989 11,619
FiEEERE e Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region 914 156,579 5,836
DPIIES Sichuan Province 814 125,298 6,495
NEER=RE Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region 681 109,428 6,226
STPEE Jiangxi Province 611 121,131 5,041
EHAtb Others 892 195,927 4,550
76,041 9,854,354 7,716

#H=E2024F12A318 -

HE1251BF A K

REBPRABELEME  As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s pre-sold but yet to be delivered
BEHARKET9,427H  (including joint ventures and associates) properties had a total GFA of

ETLNMELCEEESEMNAIT(EAXRERESE  approximately 12.51 million with value of approximately RMB79,427

ENBETRE)

million.
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20244 + AEBMAELHEELHARE40,171
BT AHHERELAEBEAS38.828F
Ko 2FRFAHNHEEBR(TEEMEE) A
BE¥HRARKQ,B32TT °

®2:2024F A EBEEHNHEEHMA

TREIIN2024F R EEAWHE TN R,
DHEES

In 2024, the Group recorded contracted sales of approximately
RMB40,171 million. Contracted sales was approximately 5,388,239
sg.m. in GFA. The aggregate contracted selling price (excluding carparks
sales) for the year was RMB9,832 per sg.m..

Table 2: Details of contracted sales of the Group in 2024

The following table sets out the geographic breakdown of the Group’s
contracted sales in 2024:

ERHE EBHHE
EBEmE ot
Contracted Contracted
60 & Province/Region GFA sold sales
(FFK) (AEBRE&ET)
(sg.m.) (RMB million)
R=AE Yangtze River Delta Area
STERE Jiangsu Province 1,413,142 13,126
HTHE Zhejiang Province 239,413 2,149
A Anhui Province 125,831 481
gm Shanghai City 40,079 243
Rt E Central and Western China Area
iRl Hubei Province 408,557 2,049
EIEES) Henan Province 239,723 1,174
=EM Chonggaing City 171,916 838
ViIEZES) Hunan Province 133,704 748
m)lla Sichuan Province 191,266 873
EgERARR Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region 292,480 2,225
EEA Yunnan Province 134,995 571
STPRE Jiangxi Province 79,714 550
MG Shanxi Province 182,003 766
=VAES) Guizhou Province 76,119 680
[ PiE Shaanxi Province 82,037 378
EfitikEaE Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region 38,498 215
HE4E Gansu Province 23,247 166
584 Qinghai Province 27,197 269
FEEKERR Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region 539 1
NE=I=pEl Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region 4,056 8
REHE Bohai Rim Area
135 Shandong Province 507,976 3,009
KEM Tianjin City 406,196 3,924
B =) Hebei Province 88,038 716
B4 Beijing City 65,753 1,557
BEE Liaoning Province 8,826 12
REERHAMME Greater Bay Area and Other Areas
ERE Guangdong Province 311,625 2,341
BEs Fujian Province 95,309 1,101
=X Total 5,388,239 40,171
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AHEE L HER Rentable and Saleable Land Resources

REFM2024512 A1 A A FAE L& R The geographic spread of the rentable and saleable land resources of the
o  ERaARRKEEHEENLH  Group as at 31 December 2024 was as follows, among which the area

BIR#I3 1448 F K for future residential sales is about 31.44 million sg.m.:
R3: AEEMTHEE T ERAMA Table 3: Details of rentable and saleable land resources of the
Group
B ZE20245F
12A31H

HREEE RETBHOER

Accumulative

contracted
area as at
Rentable and 31 December
& Province/Region saleable area 2024
(FFFHK) (FFFAK)
(sq.m.) (saq.m.)
R=EAE Yangtze River Delta Area

IERE Jiangsu Province 24,133,623 17,226,401
WTE Zhejiang Province 4,524,840 3,051,932
A Anhui Province 4,153,626 2,849,443
i==nil Shanghai City 626,573 445,863

Rt E Central and Western China Area
ikl Hubei Province 7,260,725 4,309,188
VEZES) Hunan Province 6,713,451 3,821,331
EFEE Yunnan Province 5,651,642 2,450,846
BEM Chongqing City 4,518,965 2,652,642
EME Guizhou Province 4,166,199 1,527,426
MRS Henan Province 4,207,922 2,435,636
pIIES Sichuan Province 2,635,590 1,848,334
EmitiEEEE Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region 1,465,582 1,018,417
Pt Shaanxi Province 2,413,038 1,599,417
L7EE Shanxi Province 2,697,501 1,679,751
FEfERARR Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region 2,159,979 1,061,380
IEE Jiangxi Province 1,817,096 927,553
REF=I=hE Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region 1,277,609 859,194
BEERKERE Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region 599,832 436,141
F84 Qinghai Province 573,930 358,999
HEE Gansu Province 421,328 219,527
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B ZE2024%F
12A31H
AHREEE Rt #EHEE
Accumulative
contracted
area as at
Rentable and 31 December
B Province/Region saleable area 2024
(FFFK) (FFHXK)
(sq-m.) (sq.m.)
RDEHHE Bohai Rim Area
=) Shandong Province 13,058,202 6,530,598
KET Tianjin City 4,863,355 3,358,872
s dbE Hebei Province 2,896,535 1,887,014
bl Beijing City 659,241 499,500
HEE Liaoning Province 971,304 703,599
REERHMEE Greater Bay Area and Other Areas
BRE Guangdong Province 4,913,352 2,974,879
eEE Fujian Province 1,069,858 357,946
a5 Total 110,450,898 67,091,828
REMYE Investment Properties

REEKEYHETRMNEE2024F12A318
BEREMI7T3ETIHES - FHEEE1,601.07
BFHK -

The Group’s investment properties were mainly deduced from the
173 Wuyue Plazas in operation as of 31 December 2024, with area in
operation amounted to 16.0107 million sg.m..

R4 2024FAEBMBREYEHEREEENR

Table 4: Details of rental and management fee income from

A B4 investment properties of the Group in 2024
2024FHER  2023FHE &
“ Province ESHE Hia= BEEBWA EIRBIA
Rental and Rental and
management management
Number of Occupancy fee income fee income
plazas rate for 2024 for 2023
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JLER Jiangsu 43 98.24% 3,335,528 3,218,292
peiipan Zhejiang 18 98.63% 1,507,338 1,465,220
Z Anhui 14 98.36% 883,395 779,560
g Shaanxi 7 99.26% 627,085 578,968
i) Shandong 14 98.97% 745,515 599,032
R Hunan 6 95.47% 408,094 301,964
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2024 &R 2023FfHEE N
“6 Province ESgE HE EEEWA =EEE-T PN
Rental and Rental and
management management
Number of Occupancy fee income fee income
plazas rate for 2024 for 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& Guangxi 5 99.06% 263,652 248,002
£M Yunnan 6 99.28% 332,477 316,038
b Hubei 8 99.50% 544,970 410,802
panii} Jiangxi 4 98.17% 266,820 258,958
al Sichuan 6 96.54% 294,224 259,322
H Jilin 2 100.00% 182,747 177,995
i) Hainan 1 100.00% 169,172 169,294
xiE Tianjin 4 97.19% 254,433 226,900
Tk Hebei 2 99.91% 177,851 172,787
! Shanghai 3 88.00% 163,470 139,106
=gl Guizhou 2 100.00% 116,819 109,258
55 Qinghai 2 100.00% 115,637 80,946
ANEH Inner Mongolia 2 94.68% 79,060 74,016
by Fujian 3 100.00% 161,355 85,136
Pt Liaoning 3 98.81% 212,472 168,441
A Henan 4 82.05% 167,102 124,408
w8 Ningxia 1 98.17% 78,426 80,989
5B Chongaing 5 92.98% 161,026 140,586
BR Guangdong 3 98.35% 159,357 109,259
1| Shanxi 3 99.22% 216,089 80,058
HE&E Gansu 1 100.00% 113,090 97,380
EE Xinjiang 2 99.09% 212,671 99,389
N Notes:

1.

2

LEEE EEMRNERKEBERAELAE
e

HeWAREHEe EHE . 225 ZEK
ENHMTEEBEWA -

2024 F A NFIEHEBEEBWRARBARE128.08
BL(MEHBETEA) - B85 AHLEYT
SEEE  ERE  FH5  ZELEREM
ZETRERA - RLIER18% -

HRZ A2024F12 A1 B E B EH AR
;R °

2024%F - T BB RHETEARKSET (R
SEMHEE)  FHIER19% -

i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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1.

The data of Shanghai includes the occupancy of the offices of Shanghai
Seazen Holdings Tower B.

Rental income includes rentals, management fee, carpark, various operation
and other sporadic management income.

The Company’s total commercial operating income for 2024 was RMB12.808
billion (i.e. tax-included rental income), including: rentals, management fee,
carpark, various operation and other sporadic management income from
shops and shopping centres, representing an increase of 13% year-on-year.

The occupancy rate represents the occupancy of the commercial property on
31 December 2024.

In 2024, the retail sales of Wuyue Plazas was RMB90.5 billion (excluding
vehicle sales), increased by 19% year-on-year.
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Bf 7% [C 8 FINANCIAL REVIEW
R Revenue

REBRESEBEBDEREWMESEE - WETET  The Group’s revenue comprises income from sale of properties, property
2 e URRENEHAEMIBEREMEE  management, rental and other related services earned during the year.
MU A BiZE2024F12A31HIEEE » A"&E  The Group’s revenue amounted to RMB89,226.5 million for the year
Mg EmEA AR 80226 5BE T  ALEZE  ended 31 December 2024. Such year-on-year decrease compared to the
2023F 12 A3 HILFEEAHNEREEMETT  year ended 31 December 2023 was attributable to shrinking of property
ENTEUBEESULE - business due to downturn of the real estate industry.

BZ12A31BILEE
For the year ended
31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥EERL ARBEET
RMB million RMB million

PIZESHE WA Revenue from sale of properties 76,041.0 107,336.4
PEEMEETIERIFWA Revenue from commercial property management services 5,476.8 4,865.1
iEE N Rental income 6,556.2 5,697.5
HAb YA Other income 1,152.5 1,664.5

89,226.5 119,463.5
SHEN R K A Cost of Sales and Services

MENRER AT EaEAEBRTEYEREZE  Cost of sales and services consists primarily of the costs the Group

& HEMYESENEMERPEEZESLE  incurred directly in relation to property development activities, leasing and

HIR AN o $5E RERIER A BRI A - 1 property management and other businesses. Cost of sales and services

ERARER A - e RHmeE - EREF| B8 KE  includes construction costs, land use rights costs, tax and surcharges,

M TR - NEBE E2024F12 A31H F4  capitalized interest and other business costs. The Group’s cost of

BRNE BRI ARET74242 1EE T o Sales and services for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately RMB74,242.1 million.
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TREIIIRFEEBAEBRBEERANRE The following table sets forth information relating to the Group’s cost of

=t sales for the years indicated:
R®5 ' AEBHERRERAHA Table 5: Details of the Group’s cost of sales and services
#2023F
BZ12A31HILLEE Giisd=42)
Details of the Group’s cost of For the year ended Year-on-
AEBEHEERRIEKAHA sales and services 31 December year change
20244 2023%  compared to
2024 2023 2023
ARETR ARETT %
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
3 AR A Land use rights costs 23,395,605 35,054,596 -33
BEEMY Construction costs 41,175,629 51,716,408 -20
BAREF B Capitalised interest 5,489,351 7,679,296 -29
e M meE Tax and surcharges 1,088,135 1,267,759 -14
STLAFENMEEEEMERE Provision for impairment of properties held
B or under development for sale 1,635,020 5,348,186 -69
HAibBAs Other expenses 1,458,374 2,229,298 -35
=18 Total 74,242,114 103,295,543 -28
EXNREEEAE(THK) Total GFA delivered (sq.m.) 9,854,354 13,002,807 24
BEEGFIRFHIMAR Average cost per sq.m. sold (RMB) et
(AR#) i) 7,110 7,264 -2
EEFEHKELEE Average selling price per sg.m. sold (RMB)
(AR¥) 7,716 8,255 -7
TR A E S EBRE S, Average cost as percentage of average
selling price 92.14% 87.99% 5

Mzt BESFAKOTFHRAERAEZYENE  Note:  Average cost per sg.m. sold refers to the average cost of the Group’s

HEERA(TEEAEENHERMEE property sales (excluding the Group’s leasing and property management
BEESE)  UWFEARNTERERAE - EE operations, etc.) and is derived by dividing the sum of land use rights
RS REREFBEAMGAFAD X MRS costs, construction costs and capitalized interest by the total GFA
HEERRESED - delivered in that year.

REBIRTIFENERBEMENKARS The Group makes provision for impairment based on the difference
NET IR FEMN IR RERE - I8 between the cost of properties held or under development for sale and
BEEARBERIMAIBCHEBRE XL B s net realisable value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
AT EE BB ERTIEEE4AME  price in the ordinary course of business as determined with reference
MR AR IEERTEANEHEMRARTE - &K to the prevailing market conditions, less further costs expected to be
EEARETIAENERINEMERMERB A incurred to completion and selling and marketing costs. The Group’s
R#1635.0E8 &7 & EFHEBEAD ARE  provision for impairment of properties held or under development for sale
3,713.2H&ETT ° was RMB1,635.0 million, representing a decrease of RMB3,713.2 million
from the previous year.
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SR

HZE2024F12A31HIEFE - AEEEHBEF
HAR®E14,084.48 8T EFE16.8% ° E
FER EFH13.5%E=3.3MEHF 2 ' I2ah
FERARENERSHEEMEET R
AMBAERATE LA R OELLE EFIRE ©

REVMELAREEEE

AEEMBEYFEA TEEME  URIES
WA S BB AIE(E - By ES MEE
% AEBMREMES T RBILYEMHER
HEITHHE - AREREVENABERZESD
RAEBAHEBEERPERABAABERER
B8 - Bl E2024F12A31BILFE - EWE
HERABEAHAREI0EET  TEHR
ETHOITMENBLREMESTHHF INE
M & - BEHERSE -

TREERERSFE
HZE2024F12A31HILFE - e EERER

BFEAHARBEISIAE T 0 RLLEZE2023
F12A31BIEFERI242%  TEXEH N

HABMURH - (A58 E SRR Bl A
GARE -

THE R E A AREAEE2023F12 A31HILFE
HARHES5,200.38 BT TFE22.6% =& F2024
F12A31ALFEHARKAL02ABET

TEAREEEEESRND -

Hit(B518), W

HE2024F12A31BIEFE - HMEEFELY
ARE1258F 8L  TERABEETRAINE
ESHEE - BEIE2023F12 A31HILFEE
U F RO AR E439.38 B LR D W EH L
ARB6516ETL TEAABEEARAT
DRBEMGIREWRSHD

Gross Profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB14,984.4 million
with a gross profit margin of 16.8% for the year ended 31 December
2024. The gross profit margin increased by 3.3 percentage points
compared to 13.5% of the last year, mainly attributable to a higher
proportion of the revenue from commercial property management service
and rental income with higher gross profit margin to the total revenue.

Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

The Group develops and holds certain of its commercial properties
such as shopping malls and carparks for rental income or capital
appreciation. The Group’s investment properties are appraised annually
by an independent property valuer. Any appreciation or depreciation in
the Group’s investment property value is recognized as fair value gains
or losses in the Group’s consolidated statements of profit or loss. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, valuation loss on investment properties
was approximately RMB39.0 million before tax, mainly attributable to the
slight decrease in valuation of certain investment properties under certain
segment due to intensified market competition.

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net impairment losses
on financial assets amounted to approximately RMB908.1 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 24.2% compared to the year
ended 31 December 2023, mainly attributable to the combined effect
of the scale and recoverability of trade and other receivables and debt
investment.

Selling and Marketing Costs

Selling and marketing costs decreased by 22.6%, to approximately
RMB4,032.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB5,209.3 million for the year ended 31 December
20283, which was primarily attributable to the decrease in advertising and
publicity costs etc.

Other (Losses)/Gains — Net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, net other losses amounted
to approximately RMB125.8 million, mainly derived from losses from
disposal of subsidiaries and assets, representing a decrease of gains of
approximately RMB565.1 million as compared to the net other gains of
approximately RMB439.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to decrease in one-off gains from disposals of assets of the
subsidiaries of the Company.
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THFX

THF X M2023F12 A31 B IEFEHARE
4,149.8H BT Nf#23.0% £ & £ 2024F12 A
S1BILFEHAREKS1936EETL TERR

HEBRDREBHFEX -

FrigBip

REBEMEHEAXBET A LIS ER
&~ PEDEMEHRAMELTAHERH - #22024
F12A31HIEFE - AEBSGERASL
ARM3511.8F 8L - HILE E2023F12 A
S1BILFEHARES486.7AE LK NERE
ERRFTS BRI R R L -

FENHE

HZE2024F 12 A31B I FE - BERARQRE
HRAEANFFEOAREINIEETL [
LB Z=2023F12 A1 B IFFE (N §44.1% @ &
PEEXEET  HERRBAAE - HERE
SHRCAR ~ TTE RS - @R EERERIEFE -
FriSHi i 2 SR 2k B A2 R4S & E TS R B SRV 4R

A=A
A= °

HE2024F12A31HIEFE - BENALQFE
HEAANZOLBFHAREE322BETT
BLEFNAE—EEETEUKREENNE &
BFHE A ERIZ L EB S BENIMIERE - Hith
NAEIFTARELAE AT e 2 HZIER B R
ERAGTEETREE °

L ENEDFNERRERERENERSBRE
EAREBRRGHER  BERREREESR
B ARERIMNERGIBE R R L EFRROR
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 23.0% from approximately
RMB4,149.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB3,193.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, mainly because of the decrease in the number of employees and
reduction of expenses.

Income Tax Expense

The Group’s income tax expense includes provisions made for land
appreciation tax, PRC corporate income tax and deferred income tax
during the year. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded an income tax expense of approximately RMB3,511.8 million,
the reason for the decline compared to approximately RMB5,486.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 is the decrease in profit
before income tax.

Profit for the Year

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB491.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 44.1% compared to the year
ended 31 December 2023, the change was mainly due to the combined
effect of revenue, cost of sales and services, selling and marketing costs,
administrative expenses, net impairment losses on financial assets,
income tax expenses and profit from discontinued operation, etc.

Core earnings* attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB632.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. Core earnings is a non-HKFRS measure for facilitating the
evaluation of financial performance of the Group’s core operations. Such
non-HKFRS measure may be defined differently from similar terms used
by other companies.

*  Core earnings equal to net profit less after-tax fair value gains or losses on
investment properties and financial assets, and unrealized foreign exchange
gains or losses relating to borrowings and financial assets and gain or loss
after tax on the disposal of subsidiaries.
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the Group amounted
to RMB57.73 billion and cash on hand amounted to RMB10.62 billion*.
Net debt-to-equity ratio*™ was 53.8%, and the debt-to-asset ratio™*
excluding advances received was 65.7%.

As of 31 December 2024, the proportion of long-term borrowings to total
borrowings of the Group was 72.2%, ensuring the healthy and stable
future cash flow of the Group. The Board believes that the continuous
optimisation of the Group’s debt level and financial structure has laid a
solid foundation for the resilience to the market fluctuations and mitigation
of financial risks.

The weighted average borrowing cost of the Group’s bank borrowings,
senior notes, corporate bonds, medium-term notes and other financial
instruments was 5.88% per annum, with an average loan term of 5.4
years; the proportion of unsecured debt to total debt was 12.6%.
Secured debt amounted to RMB50.09 billion. Secured debt were secured
by one or a combination of the following methods: property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, property held or under development
for sale and right-of-use assets. The Group’s bank borrowings are from
major commercial banks, all of which are independent third parties.

Debts due within one year amounted to RMB16.07 billion, accounting for
27.8% of the total debt. The maturity groupings of the borrowings are as
follows:

M12A31H

As at 31 December
202445 20234
BERER Borrowing terms 2024 2023
AREBEER ARBHET
RMB million RMB million
1FAR Within 1 year 16,071.4 24,755.7
1A L BRBR2EF Over 1 year but within 2 years 9,911.1 14,199.4
2FE A HBRBIBSF Over 2 years but within 5 years 12,272.7 13,985.2
5% Over 5 years 19,477.9 10,229.3
57,733.1 63,169.6

© HRERESHARKSTORET  TERAEE
EEED  BBENRERS -

o/

o FEEERR=(RPIRFEE A ER)"
100% » FRE=REFR-(BHNE R KRB
SEHEEY  ZRHBE )

- GIRERTRERNEERER=(RBE-TALR
B-AREE)(REE-TAERE-4RAEE)"
100% -

Among which, the restricted funds amounted to RMB3.70 billion, which
mainly comprises pre-sale regulatory funds and security for mortgage loans.

** Net debt-to-equity ratio = (net debts/total equity at the end of the
period)*100%. Net Debts = total borrowings — (the sum of interests payable,
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash).

The debt-to-asset ratio excluding advances received = (total debt-advances—
contract liabilities)/(total assets—advances—contract liabilities)*100%.
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202445 - REEESEANKINETHIT AR  In 2024, the Group successfully issued domestic medium-term notes

2028 THHIZERE ZENF32%E3.5% 2  totaling RMB2.92 billion, with coupon rates ranging from 3.2% to 3.5%
fE - AR FIE54F o and maturity periods ranging from 3 to 5 years.

MR2024% 128318 » AEESEHRSEHIBEN  As at 31 December 2024, the cash balances held by the Group are as

mr follows:
M12831H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
Beates Cash balances 2024 2023
AREBEERT AREBEETL
RMB million RMB million
IAAREEEHE Denominated in RMB 10,317.0 19,385.3
PAZETEHE Denominated in USD 207.2 97.7
LABHEEHE Denominated in HKD 94.1 16.9

10,618.3 19,499.9
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Other fund raising activities and use of proceeds
Use of net proceeds from the Rights Issue

On 2 December 2021, the Company proposed the rights issue on the
basis of one (1) rights share for every twenty-one (21) existing shares
held on 4 January 2022, being the record date, at the subscription
price of HKD5.30 per rights share on a non-underwritten basis (the
“Rights Issue”). For details of the Rights Issue and the resulting
adjustments relating to the share options of the Company, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 2 December 2021, 10
January 2022 and 26 January 2022, respectively, and the Rights Issue
prospectus of the Company dated 5 January 2022 (the “Rights Issue
Prospectus”).

The Rights Issue was completed on 27 January 2022, and 295,715,521
rights shares in total were allotted and issued by the Company to the
Qualifying Shareholders (as defined in the Rights Issue Prospectus).
The net proceeds raised from the Rights Issue were approximately
HKD1,559.79 million. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has utilised
approximately HKD623.92 million of such net proceeds according
to the purpose disclosed in the Rights Issue Prospectus, whereas
the remaining HKD935.87 million of such net proceeds, which were
allocated for acquisition of lands in Sichuan Province and Hubei Province
(the “Acquisition of Lands”), remained unutilised. Considering the
condition of the land market in the PRC, the Group had adopted a more
prudent approach with regards to the Acquisition of Lands, with a view
to ensure that any such acquisition is only made after more careful
consideration and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as a whole. As a result, the
progress of acquisition of lands has fallen short of expectations, and
the Board considered that it is not likely for the Company to be able to
apply the funds originally allocated for the above purpose by the original
timeline or in a timely manner. As a result, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board has resolved that the net proceeds originally
allocated for the Acquisition of Lands to be re-allocated and fully used
for repayment of offshore loans of the Group (the “Re-allocation of
Net Proceeds”), which would enable the Group to deploy its financial
resources more efficiently, strengthen the financial health of the Group,
and improve the quality of the Group’s services, thereby creating long
term value to the Shareholders. The aforesaid Re-allocation of Net
Proceeds had taken effect and fully implemented during the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the entire amount of the
net proceeds from the Rights Issue had been fully utilised.
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The Re-allocation of Net Proceeds had no material adverse effect on
the existing business and operation of the Group, but rather improved
the utilisation efficiency of the net proceeds and further enhanced the
Company’s operating capabilities, which was in line with the Company’s
development plan and long-term interests. For the reasons stated above,
the Board is of the view that the Re-allocation of Net Proceeds was in the
best interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Details of the Re-allocation of Net Proceeds together and the actual use
of the net proceeds from the Rights Issue are set out as follows:

REHIR
fth H2023% H2023% FrgsR
g5 12A318 12A318 BETIE FEAR
b il iR AE Bt Fifgsua FEBRM *ER
(AMER FEFE FERE FEN EBARE figsuE  BERED
HRFEHERERR ERFE) CBALE FBALH FBALH AR FEGH BORBER
Utilised Unutilised Utilised
Planned use of  amountofthe  amount of the net proceeds
netproceeds  netproceeds  net proceeds during the
raised from the raised from raised from Revised Reporting
Rights Issue the Rights the Rights allocation of Period
(as set out in Issue as at Issue as at Unutilised  following the Balance of  Expected
Use of net proceeds from the Rights Issue 31 December 31 December  amountofthe  Re-allocation  unutilised net  timeline for the
the Rights Issue Prospectus) 2023 2023  netproceeds of net proceeds proceeds intended use
YRR |14 Rt & 130 #1935.87 - 4193587 - - - TR
BEAT BEAT
Acquisition of lands in Sichuan Province Approximately - Approximately - - - Not applicable
and Hubei Province HKD935.87 HKD935.87
million milion
ERREER 423,92 41623.92 - . - - B289F
BEAT BEAT
Repayment of a syndicated loan Approximately ~ Approximately - - - - Fully utilised
HKD623.92 HKD623.92
million million
ERRSENFIER - - - 41935.87 41935.87 - B289F
BEAT ey
Repayment of offshore loans of the Group - - - Approximately  Approximately - Fully utilised
HKD935.87 HKD935.87
million million
@3t #1,559.79 #623.92 #1935.87 #)935.87 #)935.87 - -
BEETL BEER BEET BEER BEET
Total Approximately ~ Approximately ~ Approximately  Approximately  Approximately - -
HKD1,559.79 HKD623.92 HKD935.87 HKD935.87 HKD935.87
million million million million million
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Contingent Liabilities

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, banks require the Group to
guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans. The Group’s guarantee period
typically starts from the date of the grant of the mortgage. Guarantees
for mortgages on pre-sold residential properties are generally discharged
at the earlier of: (i) the issue of the real estate ownership certificate
by government authorities to the purchasers; or (ii) the satisfaction of
mortgage loans by the purchasers of the properties. The Group has
provided guarantees to financial institutions for mortgage loan facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s contingent liabilities in respect
of the guarantees given to the financial institutions for mortgage loan
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties amounted
to approximately RMB21,775.3 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB33,026.3 million).

As at 31 December 2024, there were certain corporate guarantees
provided by the Company’s subsidiaries for each other in respect of
borrowings. The Directors considered that the Company’s subsidiaries
are sufficiently and financially resourceful to settle their obligations.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided pledge guarantee for the
borrowings of such joint ventures and associates with equity held by the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantee with the amount
of RMB2,751.6 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB3,142.0 million) to
its joint ventures and associates.

Save as those disclosed in this annual report, the Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.
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Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisition and
Disposal

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investments.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or assets.

Future Plans for Material Investment or Capital Assets

The Directors confirmed that as at the date of this annual report, there
are no current plans to acquire any material investment or capital assets
other than in the Group’s ordinary business of property development.

Employees and Compensation Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 20,243 full-time employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong, 19,935 of which worked in the property
development operations and management of commercial complexes and
308 were engaged in other operations.

The Group determines the remuneration packages of all employees
(including the Directors) based on their performance, work experience
and the prevailing market wage level, and provides promotional
opportunities for them with reference to their individual strengths and
potentials. The remuneration package of the employees consists of
basic salary, cash bonus and share-based payments. The Group has
established a performance appraisal system so as to evaluate the
performance of its employees on an annual basis and use the evaluation
results to determine their salary increment or promotion accordingly.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lv Xiaoping (“Mr. Lv”), aged 63, joined the Group in 2001. Mr.
Lv was appointed as a non-executive Director from November 2012
and redesignated as our executive Director and chief executive officer in
January 2016. He was also appointed as a member of the environmental,
social and governance committee of the Company (the “ESG
Committee”) in November 2020. Mr. Lv has served as the vice president
of Seazen Holdings Co., Ltd.* (¥iZREBE RN ER A7) (“Seazen
Holdings”) between September 2001 and August 2004, the general
manager of Seazen Holdings between March 2015 and December 2015
and has served as a director of Seazen Holdings since March 2015.
Mr. Lv also served as a director and the president of Jiangsu Seazen
Co., Ltd* (LER¥TMMER M AR A F) (‘Jiangsu Seazen”) between
August 2004 and January 2013, during which Mr. Lv was principally
responsible for the overall management of the Group’s residential
property development business carried out by Jiangsu Seazen. Since
February 2013, Mr. Lv has been the vice chairman of Jiangsu Seazen.
Seazen Holdings is currently listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(the “SSE”) (stock code: 601155) and Jiangsu Seazen was previously
listed on the SSE (stock code: 900950), both of which are subsidiaries
of the Company. Since April 2018, Mr. Lv has served as a non-executive
director of S-Enjoy Service Group Co., Limited, a listed company on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 1755) (“S-Enjoy”). Mr. Lv graduated from
Naval University of Engineering with a bachelor’s degree in engineering
in 1983 and later graduated from China Europe International Business
School with a master’s degree in business administration in 2007. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Lv worked in Changchai Company Limited* (& 42
A% 15 B BRA 7)), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000570) between 1987 and 2001 and served as the secretary to
the board of directors and head of investment department, where he was
responsible for business development and investment strategies.
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Mr. Lu Zhongming (“Mr. Lu”), aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director and a member of the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) in January 2016, and was appointed
as a member of the ESG Committee in November 2020. He is currently
the chief financial officer of the Company, overseeing the accounting and
finance functions of the Group. Mr. Lu joined the Group in 2001 after
Jiangsu Seazen acquired its listing status on the SSE and has served as
the finance general manager of Jiangsu Seazen since 2002, a director
of Jiangsu Seazen and a vice president of Future Land Wanbo Property
Co., Ltd. since 2010, the vice president of Seazen Holdings between
2011 and December 2014 and a supervisor of Seazen Holdings since
December 2015 and served as the chairman of supervisory committee
in April 2018. Since April 2018, Mr. Lu has served as a non-executive
director of S-Enjoy. Mr. Lu completed his accounting study in Nanjing
Institute of Finance & Economics (# R BT 4L E85%) in 1999, and obtained
his master’s degree in business administration from Tongji University ([7]
K E2) in 2013, Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lu served as the deputy
head of finance and audit department of Jiangsu Wuling Diesel Engine
Holdings Co., Ltd* (T#k =5 m#Ax 7 B R A 7)) (acquired by Seazen
Holdings in 2001) between 1998 and 2001.
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Mr. Zhou Fudong (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 45, was appointed as the
executive Director and a member of the ESG Committee on 1 April 2025.
Mr. Zhou has nearly 20 years of experience in financial management. Mr.
Zhou has served in the Company since June 2013, and has consecutively
served as the assistant general manager, deputy general manager and
general manager of the Financial Management Department. Since 2022,
Mr. Zhou has been serving as the assistant president of the Company.
He is also currently a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou successively served as the auditor,
the senior auditor and the audit manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers
Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company (& #xEF X &R ARA
7)) from August 2005 to October 2012, and the senior audit manager at
the Shanghai branch of Baker Tilly China Certified Public Accountants (&
BBIR st E AT (@A %) H)8 9B from November 2012
to May 2013. Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering
from Tongji University in the PRC in 2002, and subsequently a master’s
degree in engineering from the same university in 2005. Mr. Zhou has
been a certified public accountant in the PRC since December 2009.

Mr. Zhou obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 26 March 2025 and confirmed that he understood his obligation
as a Director.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Xiaosong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 37, was appointed as a
non-executive Director in October 2013, chairman of the Board in July
2019 and the chairman of the ESG Committee in November 2020. Mr.
Wang joined Jiangsu Seazen in 2009 as civil engineer and subsequently
as project manager. Between November 2011 and January 2013, Mr.
Wang became the vice president and general manager of the marketing
department of Jiangsu Seazen where he was responsible for and gained
valuable experience in sales and market research. Mr. Wang has served
as a director of Jiangsu Seazen since April 2013. In February 2013, Mr.
Wang was appointed as the president of Jiangsu Seazen, and has been
responsible for its general management; and from 14 December 2015 to
26 October 2016, he served as the general manager of Seazen Holdings.
In addition, since March 2015, Mr. Wang has been a director of Seazen
Holdings, and was appointed as the chairman of Seazen Holdings in July
2019. He served as the President of Seazen Holdings from 24 August
2018 to January 2021 and was appointed as the President of Seazen
Holdings on 19 January 2023. Since July 2019, Mr. Wang acted as a
non-executive director of S-Enjoy. Mr. Wang graduated from Nanjing
University (7 =R AZ2) with a bachelor’'s degree in Environmental Sciences
in 2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Zengjin (“Mr. Zhu”), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the
Audit Committee in November 2012. Mr. Zhu joined the Group in
November 2012. He graduated from Nanjing University (F 52 K& with
a bachelor’s degree in law in 1985 and from Beijing University (3t Rk
&) with an EMBA degree in 2005. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhu
has successively served as the head of the business department, the
deputy head and partner of Jiangsu C&T Partners Law Firm (T&xtt 42 [
{ZZEMEREFR) from July 1985 to the present. Mr. Zhu was also a listing
committee member of the GEM Board of the China Securities Regulatory
Commission between August 2009 and August 2011.

Mr. Zhong Wei (“Mr. Zhong”), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
in December 2014 and on 1 April 2025, ceased to be a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Zhong has been a professor at the Business
School, Beijing Normal University (1t RET#5AE2) since July 2003. Mr.
Zhong was appointed as an independent non-executive director of China
Resources Land Limited, a listed company on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1109) in April 2017. He was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of China Jinmao Holdings Group
Limited, a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 817), in August 2020 and an independent non-executive director
of Yunnan Water Investment Co., Limited* (EmE/KEEERNDBRA
7)), a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6839), in November 2020. Mr. Zhong received his doctorate’s
degree in 1999 from Beijing Normal University (1t R Ef#5 A £2) majoring
in international economics. Between September 2001 and July 2004,
Mr. Zhong engaged in postdoctoral research in management science at
Tongji University ([R5 AZ).
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Ms. Wu Ke (“Ms. Wu”), aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a
member of the Remuneration Committee in June 2024 and as a member
of the Nomination Committee on 1 April 2025. Ms. Wu is currently a
partner and senior manager of Changzhou Huifeng Certified Public
Accountants Co., Ltd. (B /NEZ 5= AR A A]), where she
has joined since October 1999. Prior to that, between July 1995 and
October 1999, Ms. Wu served as a project manager at Changzhou New
District Accounting Firm (& M #T& € 5HAT E AT (previously known
as Changzhou New District Audit Firm (&% /¥R 25T =75 FT) and
Changzhou High-tech Industrial Development Zone Audit Firm (%05
i E R R ETENE AT, which was merged to Changzhou
Huifeng Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd. upon enterprise
restructuring in October 1999. Ms. Wu qualified as an intermediate
accountant by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Personnel of
the People’s Republic of China in May 2000, and she has been a certified
public accountant in the People’s Republic of China since July 2000.
Ms. Wu has also been a registered expert consultant in Jiangsu Province
(TERE T ME A5 R) certified by the Jiangsu Provincial Department
of Science and Technology and Jiangsu Association for Science and
Technology Consulting since December 2016. Ms. Wu has been
appointed as an investment accreditation expert of Changzhou (&1
KEFEFTER) since December 2024 and her term of office will expire in
November 2026. Ms. Wu graduated from Jiangsu Radio and Television
University* (T & E3&E B AR AE2), now known as Jiangsu Open University
(I &R R EE) majoring in foreign trade accounting in July 1995, and
subsequently graduated from Jiangsu University majoring in accounting
in July 2002.

Ms. Wu obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 14 June 2024 and confirmed that she understood her obligation
as a Director.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
investment and commercial property management in China.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2024 by principal activities is set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS

Review and Prospects

In 2024, the national commercial housing sales amount reached RMB9.7
trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.1%; the sales area
amounted to 970 million sg.m., representing a year-on-year decrease of
12.9%. China’s real estate industry is still in the bottoming-out phase,
with market supply and demand under ongoing adjustment. In 2024,
stimulus policies have been frequently introduced, setting a firm tone
for stabilising the future property market. Looking forward to 2025,
real estate policies are expected to be optimised and improved on the
existing relaxed basis, and market supply and demand are expected to
reach a new stage of equilibrium. The Company’s real estate business is
expected to achieve growth in sales revenue and enhance the efficiency
of asset operation.

Looking back at 2024, Seazen actively responded to the national call,
adhering to its corporate mission of “making happiness simple”, and
made every effort to guarantee house delivery, stabilise credit and
preserve value. Throughout the year, the aggregate residential units
delivered exceeded 100,000 units, 15 new Wuyue Plazas were opened,
and the new property management area exceeded 25 million sg.m..
Amid the ongoing industry adjustments, all members of Seazen stood as
determined trailwalkers. Each successful delivery of a residential unit and
each grand opening of Wuyue Plaza represented our solemn fulfillment of
commitments.

i85 B £ IR B R 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

45




EEg®RE
Report of the Directors

BEE o ST BRISERERS R - HEEER
IREANSITEEENETER  TH¥E
B ERERHM c THEEREE2IEG - 1255
EEEELEEE NN —BRE  AHER
MYEmERENRERENR - HE2024FK -
AEBTE2ERAEREENTRESWH ML
BEEE200  CHEHSE17IE - BHEX
HQ7.97% - 2FEHFEBERWNAHARKE
128.08187L - BE— BN ELNRE 8% -
#HEEE - EFEE  BBREERMEE
RS BB TEERRNRRKESR T E
HAOE LR o

2024%F - FTHIFEEITESGIE S - BRI IHEE
BEABBREL - HE2024F K  FHEFER
EREEMNGEBESXRER100% - RFTERS
BATEE NIMF BRE - 100 B IR EHESSE
WA FAE BB - 20244F - ¥ EIMSCI
ESGET R (R$BBB# °

* HEBESBRA - BERS  BogREDT
SEHEE  ERE  FH5  ZELERAMD
ZETREKA -

i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

46

Strategically, Seazen adhered to its dual-drive strategy, offering premium
housing products for society in residential operations, and continuing to
deepen its efforts in commercial operations. The newly launched Wuyue
Business Management brand marked another milestone in terms of the
professionalisation of commercial operations and reflected our long-term
aspirations for commercial development. By the end of 2024, 200 Wuyue
Plazas urban complexes were either opened or under construction,
with 173 already opened with an occupancy rate of 97.97%. Annual
commercial operating income* was approximately RMB12,808 million.
Each high-quality launch of a Wuyue Plaza represented a fusion of
local culture, lifestyle sentiments, social gathering scenarios and brand
ecosystems, revitalising urban commercial landscapes while driving local
economic development.

In 2024, Seazen continued to put ESG principles in place, integrating
sustainable development into its daily operations. By the end of 2024,
100% of Seazen’s newly constructed projects and projects under
construction met green building standards, with a total of 64 domestic
and international green certifications obtained, and 100 Wuyue Plazas
were awarded the title of green malls at the provincial level or above. In
2024, Seazen maintained its MSCI ESG rating of BBB.

*

Represents tax-included rental income, including rentals, management fee,
carpark, various operation and other sporadic management income from
shops, office buildings and shopping centres.
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Seazen adheres to a bottom-line mindset, ensuring that every debt is
repaid either in advance or at maturity. The Group has received strong
supports from financial institutions with respect to financing to ensure a
smooth provision of financial facilities. In May 2024, Seazen Holdings,
a subsidiary of the Group, successfully issued middle term notes of
RMB1.36 billion, followed by another successful issuance of middle term
notes of RMB1.56 billion in November. In November 2022, the People’s
Bank of China (“PBOC”) and the CBIRC jointly issued the Notice on
Providing Quality Financial Services to Promote the Stable and Healthy
Development of the Real Estate Market (B8R 41 & Bl & b L 5 E #iAE ™
5 R R RE TER A (the “16 Financial Measures”). In January
2024, the General Office of the PBOC and the General Office of the
National Financial Regulatory Administration jointly issued the Notice on
the Management of Commercial Property Loans (B3R AT 48 & 1 1) 2 &
HREIBEBEN (together with the “16 Financial Measures”, the “Two
Policy Documents”). In September 2024, the Two Policy Documents
originally due to expire by the end of 2024 were extended until the end
of 2026. Benefitting from the support of this policy, the Group will further
enhance its efforts in commercial property loans financing while actively
pursuing domestic and international public market financing in response
to market conditions. Moving forward, Seazen will continue to improve
and optimise its capital structure, steadily strengthening its robust
financial fundamentals.

We gather momentum for innovation to achieve long-term success
with our steadfast efforts. We would like to express our gratitude to our
partners for their trust and support in 2024. As the Company embarks on
its 32nd year in 2025, facing numerous market challenges, Seazen will
set sail once again with even greater determination, firmer conviction and
a more pragmatic approach. Seazen will grow with resilience and move
forward with unwavering determination!
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KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The financial key performance indicators of the Group for the year are set
out in the sections of “Financial Summary/Financial Review” of this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The business review and outlook of the Group for the year is set out in
the sections of “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 17 and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties the Group is facing.
It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and uncertainties
further to the key risk areas outlined below.

Risks Pertaining to the Property Market and Operation

The Group’s businesses and prospects are largely dependent on the
performance of the property market in mainland China. The property
market in mainland China is affected by a number of factors, including
changes in social, political, economic and legal environment, as well as
changes in the government’s financial, economic, monetary, industrial
and environmental conservation policies. The Group is also susceptible
to changes in economic conditions, consumer confidence, consumption
spending, and changes in consumption preferences. The Group cannot
predict whether any of the aforesaid changes in the PRC’s economic,
political and social conditions and in its laws, regulations and policies
will have any adverse effect on the Group’s current or future business,
financial condition or results of operations.
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The PRC property market is volatile and may experience undersupply or
oversupply of property units and significant property price fluctuations.
The Group’s business depends and will continue to depend on the
growth of the economy in the PRC. A significant downturn in the PRC’s
economy could adversely affect the demand for commercial and
residential properties. In addition, the Group’s operation is subject to
a number of risk factors distinctive to property development, property
investment and property related businesses, such as default on the part
of our buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, inadequacies
or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other external
factors which may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
operations.

The management will adhere to the principle of prudent operation,
actively assess policy changes and adjust supply structures and
marketing strategies, to mitigate the impact of the aforementioned
factors.

Liquidity Risk

The Group is facing liquidity pressure. In light of the current liquidity
position, the Group has undertaken a number of plans and measures to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of the
Group, details of which are set out in notes 2 and 3 to the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” in this report.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is engaged in the development, sale and management of
properties solely in the PRC with almost all the transactions denominated
in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the
exposure of U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars against Renminbi as a
result of certain cash balances and the settlement of certain general and
administrative expenses and other loans (such as the issuance of senior
notes) in U.S. dollars or Hong Kong dollars.

Cash and borrowings not denominated in functional currency is subject
to foreign exchange risk. Fluctuations in the exchange rates of HKD and
USD against RMB will affect the Group’s result of operations. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management has closely monitored the scale of assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies to minimise the foreign exchange exposure, and will
take actions when necessary.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The PRC property market is heavily regulated. The PRC government
exerts considerable direct and indirect influence on the growth and
development of the PRC property market through industry policies and
other economic measures such as setting interest rates, controlling
the supply of credit by changing bank reserve ratios and implementing
lending restrictions/encouragement, increasing/sticking to tax and duties
on property transfers.

The PRC government introduced a series of regulations and policies,
including, among others, strictly enforcing the idle land related laws and
regulations; restricting the grant or extension of revolving credit facilities
to property developers that hold a large amount of idle land and vacant
commodity properties; prohibiting commercial banks from lending funds
to real estate developers with an internal capital ratio of less than a
certain prescribed percentage; and restricting PRC commercial banks
from granting loans to property developers for the purpose of paying
land grant premiums; limiting the maximum amount of monthly mortgage
and the maximum amount of total monthly debt service payments of
an individual borrower; imposing tax levy on the sales proceeds for
second-hand transfers subject to the length of holding period and type
of properties; increasing the minimum amount of down payment of the
purchase price of family residential property; tightening the availability of
individual housing loans in the property market for individuals and their
family members with more than one residential property; and limiting the
availability of individual housing provident fund loans for the purchase
of second (or more) residential properties by labourers and their family
members.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Property developers in the PRC are subject to a number of environmental
laws and regulations including the Environment Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({##E AR EMBIRIFIREEL) ), the
Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({FZE A RHEFNEIBIEIRE 5 20758:%) ), the Environmental
Impact Assessment Law (CIRIBFZZFTE)A)), and Administrative
Regulations on Environmental Protection in Relation to Construction
Projects ((E:RX1E B RBREEIEEM)). The Group is subject to
these laws and regulations concerning the protection of health and
environment. The local authorities may request a developer to submit
the environmental impact documents, issue orders to suspend the
construction and impose a penalty for a project where environmental
impact assessment documents have not been approved before
commencement of construction. The Group is in compliance in all
material respects with applicable environmental laws and regulations in
the PRC.

For further details, please refer to the environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) report of the Company, which will be reported
separately from this report and will be published at the same time with
this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group has maintained good relationships with its customers and
suppliers. The major suppliers of the Group are construction material
suppliers and construction contractors. The Group engages third-
party contractors to carry out various services for most of its property
development projects, including design, pile setting, foundation building,
construction, equipment installation, electromechanical and pipeline
engineering, elevator installation and landscaping. The Group generally
selects third-party contractors through a tender process and endeavors
to engage companies with good reputation and track record, high
performance, reliability and adequate financial resources.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group recognises that employees are its most important and
valuable assets. While striving to develop a fair, respectful, diversified,
cooperative and friendly corporate culture and working environment. With
a view to enhancing the satisfactory level of the staff, the Group provides
the staff with competitive remuneration packages and implementing a
sound performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and
offer comprehensive training programmes, so as to encourage the staff
to reach their full potential and contribute their talents.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. In
recommending dividends to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits, the Board would also ensure that the Company has
adequate reserves for future growth. The Board’s decision to declare or
to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations,
financial condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group, as well as dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries,
which in turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year is subject
to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any applicable restrictions
under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s articles of
association and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the declaration of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December
2023: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

A financial summary and a financial review of the Group’s results, assets
and liabilities for the last five financial years are set out on page 5 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for 10.06% (for the year ended 31 December
20283: 7.77%) of the Group’s total purchases and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
purchases in the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s sales to its five
largest customers accounted for 0.69% (for the year ended 31 December
2023: 0.35%) of the Group’s revenue and the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue in the
year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out on pages 118 to
119 in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Companies
Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands (the “Companies Act”), amounted to approximately
RMB9,859.12 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB9,741.03 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lv Xiaoping
Mr. Lu Zhongming
Mr. Zhou Fudong (appointed on 1 April 2025)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaosong
Mr. Zhang Shengman (resigned on 1 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Zengjin

Mr. Zhong Wei

Ms. Wu Ke (appointed on 28 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Huakang (retired on 28 June 2024)

In accordance with articles 16.2 and 16.18 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Lu Zhongming, Mr. Zhong Wei, Ms. Wu Ke and Mr.
Zhou Fudong shall retire from office as Directors and being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual
general meeting will be set out in the circular for the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 39 to 44 of this
annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) from each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the Company considers such Directors to
be independent for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Lv Xiaoping and Mr. Lu Zhongming have entered into appointment
letters respectively with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 7 January 2025, and may be terminated in
accordance with the terms of the appointment letter. Mr. Zhou Fudong
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
3 years commencing from 1 April 2025, and may be terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service contract.

Mr. Wang Xiaosong has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 18 October 2024,
and may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment
letter.

Mr. Zhu Zengjin have signed a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from 6 November 2024. Mr. Zhong
Wei has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for term of
two years commencing from 3 December 2024. Ms. Wu Ke has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two years
commencing from 28 June 2024.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not terminable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction and
Continuing Connected Transactions” in this Report of the Directors, there
was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting
during or at the end of the financial year with any member of the Group,
other company under control of the Company’s holding company, or
the Company’s holding company, as the contracting party, in which
a Director or an entity connected with the Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong) where the Report of the Directors prepared by the Directors
is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

The Group has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) as incentive to eligible employees, details of the Share Award
Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” below.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no changes to
information which are required to be disclosed and had been disclosed
by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules.

On 4 June 2024, Ms. Wu Ke was proposed to be appointed as
independent non-executive Director of the Company, subject to the
approval by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 28
June 2024 (“AGM”). Her appointment was approved by the Shareholders
at the AGM.

Mr. Chen Huakang retired at the AGM in order to maintain good
corporate governance practices of the Company as he had served on
the Board for more than eleven years and to devote more time to his
personal endeavors.

For details of the appointment and retirement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 4 June 2024, and the circular of
the Company dated 6 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register maintained by the Company, or (iii) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) were as follows:

(i) Interest in Shares of the Company

1R IR BERY

EEnA EmtE FrEBERZHAO BYBEH
Number of Approximate

ordinary shares percentage of

Name of Directors Nature of interest held™ shareholding

=RSE BmEEA 14,500,000 (L) 0.21%
Lv Xiaoping Beneficial owner
TR EmlEAA 6,000,000 (L) 0.08%
Wang Xiaosong Beneficial owner
e 5B BEHEEAA 7,000,000 (L) 0.10%
Lu Zhongming Beneficial owner
EREN EnEEA 1,200,000 (L) 0.02%

Zhang Shengman® Beneficial owner

Notes:

BEE
The letter “L” denotes the long position in Shares.

1. FELRFRARGZHA - 1.

2. BRESEAN2025F4A1BE T AENTTEE . 2.

Mr. Zhang Shengman resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
April 2025.
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(ii) Interest in Associated Corporations

REBEAFTEIAT
BEZRO® 1EIRBERY
EEnA HEEE AR EmtE HBEROEE BROBEDE
Number of
shares or
underlying
shares held Approximate
Name of Associated under equity percentage of
Name of Director Corporation Nature of interest derivatives shareholding
FEBER AR BEREAA 500,000 (L) 0.02%

Wang Xiaosong Seazen Holdings
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Beneficial owner

Note:

The letter “L” denotes the long position in Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded in the register of
the Company and kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, for the year ended 31
December 2024, there were no such rights to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of Shares or debentures of the Company granted to any
Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company and any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors,
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire
such rights in any other corporation.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

1R RERI B
FrisEE R Ba
ZEBM  Approximate
TEREER Number of percentage of
Name of Substantial B REmtE ordinary shareholding
Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest shares held™® interest
FirEEe sy ZREFENEIBA 4,474,549,274 (L) 63.33%
Wang Zhenhua@ 3 and4) Founder of a discretionary trust
BB HE RO 101,065,905 (L) 1.43%
Interest of spouse®
EEE R AR S 101,065,905 (L) 1.43%
Chen Jing® Interest in a controlled corporation
[ 4,474,549,274 (L) 63.33%
Interest of spouse
Chen Ting Sen (PTC) Limited“ ZEEA 4,474,549,274 (L) 63.33%
Trustee
Infinity Fortune Development Limited® RZEHEE S 4,474,549,274 (L) 63.33%
Interest in a controlled corporation
First Priority Group Limited® REESEEE R 4,474,549,274 (L) 63.33%
Interest in a controlled corporation
EEHEEREBRAFO BEmEAA 4,474,549,274 (L) 63.33%

Wealth Zone Hong Kong Investments
Limited®

Beneficial owner
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Notes:
(1)  The letter “L” represents the long position in Shares.

(2) Mr. Wang Zhenhua is the founder of the Hua Sheng Trust, through which
Chen Ting Sen (PTC) Limited held long position in 4,474,549,274 Shares
through its controlled corporations in its capacity as trustee.

(8) Ms. Chen Jing, spouse of Mr. Wang Zhenhua, held 100% of Set Hero
Developments Limited, which in turn held the 101,065,905 Shares. Ms. Chen
Jing was deemed under SFO to be interested in the shares of Mr. Wang
Zhenhua and vice versa.

(4) Chen Ting Sen (PTC) Limited, as trustee of the Hua Sheng Trust, which
was established by Mr. Wang Zhenhua as the settlor in favour of his
family members, held 100% of the issued share capital of Infinity Fortune
Development Limited, which in turn held 100% of the issued share capital of
First Priority Group Limited.

(6) Wealth Zone Hong Kong Investments Limited is held as to 100% of its issued
share capital by First Priority Group Limited.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction and
Continuing Connected Transactions” in this Report of the Directors, no
controlling Shareholders or its subsidiary had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether for the
provision of services or otherwise, to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company purchased the senior notes issued by
the Company with a total principal amount of USD908,000 on the open
market which were outstanding as of 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2024,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities (including sale of treasury shares (as
defined under the Listing Rules)) of the Company. The Company did not
hold any treasury shares as at 31 December 2024.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
where the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Wang Zhenhua and Wealth Zone Hong Kong Investments
Limited (the “Controlling Shareholders”) has executed a deed of non-
competition through which they have irrevocably and unconditionally
warranted and undertaken to the Company not to, whether directly or
indirectly or as principal or agent, and whether on its/his own account
or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm
or company or through any entities (except in or through any subsidiary
of the Company), engage in businesses that are in competition with the
Group.

The Controlling Shareholders have confirmed in writing to the Company
of their compliance with the deed of non-competition for disclosure in this
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance
by each of the Controlling Shareholders with the undertakings in the
deed of non-competition during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that, as far as they
can ascertain, there is no breach by any of the Controlling Shareholders
of the undertakings in the deed of non-competition given by them.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Board confirmed that none of the related party transactions set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements constituted non-exempt
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed below, for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not entered into any other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the Listing
Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Loan Agreement

Seazen Holdings and S-Enjoy Service entered into a loan agreement
(the “Loan Agreement”) on 30 September 2024 in relation to the
provision of a loan in the principal amount of RMB120.0 million for a term
commencing from the date of actual remittance and up to 29 September
2027 (the “New Loan”).

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, S-Enjoy Service Group Co.,
Limited and its subsidiaries (“S-Enjoy Service”, and together with its
subsidiaries, “S-Enjoy Group”) (the “New Loan Lender”) shall provide
the New Loan in the principal amount of RMB120.0 million to Seazen
Holdings Group (the “New Loan Borrower”). Subject to the fulfillment of
the relevant conditions for remittance, the entire loan shall be remitted to
the New Loan Borrower in one lot. The New Loan shall be used for the
construction of the projects of the New Loan Borrower and replenishment
of its working capital, and shall not be used in the stock market or for any
illegal purpose. The interest rate for the New Loan shall be the higher of:
(i) the LPR for loans of more than one year (inclusive) and less than five
years (if any) published by PBOC applicable on the date of drawdown;
and (i) the fixed lending rate of 6.05% per annum. The interest shall be
accrued daily based on a 360-day year commencing from the relevant
drawdown date, and shall be paid on an annual basis on 30 September
every year. The New Loan shall be secured by the mortgage of the
Property provided by the New Loan Borrowers pursuant to a mortgage
agreement.

S-Enjoy Service is indirectly owned as to 68.86% by Mr. Wang Zhenhua,
a Controlling Shareholder. Accordingly, S-Enjoy Service is an associate
of Mr. Wang Zhenhua and a connected person of the Company and the
entering into of the Loan Agreement constitute connected transactions
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As the New Loan under the Loan Agreement is secured by the assets
of Seazen Holdings Group, the transactions contemplated under the
Loan Agreement, although represented financial assistance provided by
connected persons of the Company for the benefit of the Group, would
not be exempt from the reporting, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements for connected transactions
under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, and thus compliance by the
Company with the Listing Rules in relation to the Loan Agreement shall
be necessary. As the highest percentage ratio (as defined in the Listing
Rules) in respect of the New Loan under the Loan Agreement exceeds
0.1% but is less than 5%, the provision of the New Loan under the Loan
Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but are exempt from the circular and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further information of the Loan Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 September 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Seazen Framework Agreements

The Company has engaged S-Enjoy Group in the ordinary and usual
course of business to provide property management services, and
the property services framework agreement (the “2024 Seazen
Framework Agreement”) was entered into between Seazen Holdings
and S-Enjoy Service on 27 October 2023 in relation to provision of
property management services by S-Enjoy Group for a term of one year
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 subject to the annual cap
of RMB680 million. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees
incurred by the Group for the property management services provided
by S-Enjoy Group were approximately RMB343.15 million. As the 2024
Seazen Framework Agreement had expired on 31 December 2024, the
renewed property services framework agreement (the “2025 Seazen
Framework Agreement”) was entered into between Seazen Holdings
and S-Enjoy Service on 30 October 2024 in relation to provision of
property management services by S-Enjoy Group for a term of 3 years
from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2027 subject to the annual cap of
RMB100 million for each of the three years ending 31 December 2027.

The annual cap of the service fees under the 2024 Seazen Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024 shall not exceed
RMB680 million, which was determined with reference to, among others,
the following factors:

(1) the aggregate amount of approximately RMB489.5 million settled by
the Company for property management services and value-added
services for the nine months ended 30 September 2023;

(2) the Group’s total contracted sales area of approximately 7.53 million
sg.m. for the nine months ended 30 September 2023;

(8) the expected sales scale, area and number of the Group’s property
projects to be managed by S-Enjoy Service, as well as the pre-sale
and delivery time of such property projects;

(4) the estimated demand of the Group for property management
services and the price charged by such services; and

(5) other factors such as the Group’s business plans, inflation and 10%
buffer for all categories of services.

The annual caps of the service fees under the 2025 Seazen Framework
Agreement for each of the three years ending 31 December 2027 shall
not exceed RMB100.0 million, RMB100.0 million and RMB100.0 million,
respectively. The service fees are expected to be satisfied by the internal
resources of the Group.
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The annual caps are determined with reference to, among others, the
following factors:

(@ the estimated decrease in the Group’s demand for property
related services going forward: the Group’s gross floor area under
construction as at 30 June 2024 is approximately 30.7 million sg.m,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 37.7% as
compared with that as at 30 June 2023;

(b) the expected sales scale, area and number of the Group’s property
projects to be managed by S-Enjoy Service. The Company has
noted a decreasing trend of historical amounts for property
management services and value-added services for the three
years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 between Seazen
Holdings and S-Enjoy Service. Further, the utilisation rate of the
annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2024 based on the
actual transaction amount for the nine months ended 30 September
2024 is approximately 39.0% only. The Company also observed
that, as at 30 September 2024, the actual transaction amount per
month between Seazen Holdings and S-Enjoy Service has dwindled
since the beginning of 2024; and

(c) other factors such as our Group’s business plans and inflation, as
well as to cater for unexpected increase in demand for any of the
S-Enjoy Service and/or unexpected increase in the cost of supply of
such services.

S-Enjoy Service is indirectly owned as to 68.86% by Mr. Wang Zhenhua,
a Controlling Shareholder. Accordingly, S-Enjoy Service is an associate
of Mr. Wang Zhenhua and a connected person of the Company and
the entering into of the 2024 Seazen Framework Agreement and the
2025 Seazen Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the 2024 Seazen Framework Agreement is more
than 5%, the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27
October 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 4 December 2023.

As the highest applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the 2025 Seazen Framework Agreement exceeds
0.1% but is less than 5%, the transactions contemplated thereunder are
subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but
are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 30 October 2024.
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In order to ensure that the terms of the property management services
provided by S-Enjoy Service are not less favourable than those available
from independent third parties, the Group has adopted, among others,
the following measures:

i.  the pricing policies for all the continuing connected transactions of
the Group will be supervised and monitored by the management and
relevant personnel of the Group to ensure the relevant continuing
connected transactions are conducted on normal commercial terms
and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole;

i. before entering into any subsidiary agreement in connection
with the 2025 Seazen Framework Agreement, the management
and relevant personnel of the Group will compare a preliminary
quotation based on the pricing policies as described above with
those provided by independent third parties (if any) and market
quotations for comparable services, so as to ensure that the service
fees of the property management services and other value-added
services under the 2025 Seazen Framework Agreement are fair and
reasonable;

ii. as part of the internal control procedures, the implementation of
the 2024 Seazen Framework Agreement and the 2025 Seazen
Framework Agreement and the actual number and amount of
services provided by S-Enjoy Service will be monitored and reviewed
by the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors)
and the senior management on a regular basis, with reference to
terms of similar transactions with the independent third parties, so
as to ensure the actual transaction amount does not exceed the
annual cap of the service fees under the 2025 Seazen Framework
Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2027;

iv. the Director(s) and/or the Shareholder(s) with an interest in the
relevant transaction(s) shall abstain from voting in respect of the
resolution(s);

v. the Group shall use the best endeavour to comply with the relevant
reporting, annual review, and announcement requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the continuing connected
transactions;

vi. the Company will engage its external auditor to review the
transactions between the Group and S-Enjoy Service under the
2025 Seazen Framework Agreement, to ensure that the transactions
amount are within the annual cap and the transactions are
conducted in accordance with the terms set out in the 2025 Seazen
Framework Agreement and the Listing Rules; and
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vii. the Group will duly disclose in the annual reports and accounts the
transactions of provision of property management services by S-Enjoy
Service during each financial period, together with the conclusions
(with basis) drawn by the independent non-executive Directors
whether the transactions are conducted on normal commercial
terms, fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Group has followed the pricing policies and payment terms, as
disclosed in the announcement published by the Company on 27
October 2023, of the continuing connected transactions conducted
pursuant to the 2024 Seazen Framework Agreement, during the year.

For further information in relation to the 2024 Seazen Framework
Agreement and the 2025 Seazen Framework Agreement, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 27 October 2023 and 30
October 2024, respectively.

Loan Framework Agreement

Seazen Holdings and S-Enjoy Service entered into a loan framework
agreement (the “Loan Framework Agreement”) on 30 September 2024
in relation to the provision of a loan in the aggregate principal amount of
RMB1,000.0 million (the “Loan”) during the period commencing from
the effective date of the Loan Framework Agreement and ending on 29
September 2027. The effective date of the Loan Framework Agreement
was the date which the conditions in the Loan Framework Agreement
have been satisfied and that the Loan Framework Agreement has been
approved by the shareholders of S-Enjoy Services and the Company,
respectively. The Loan Framework Agreement has been approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 9 December 2024.

Pursuant to the Loan Framework Agreement, S-Enjoy Group (the
“Lender”) shall provide the loan in the aggregate principal amount of
RMB1,000.0 million to Seazen Holdings Group (the “Borrower”). Subject
to the terms of the Loan Framework Agreement, and upon fulfilment
of the underlying conditions for drawdown thereunder, the Borrower
may drawdown the Loan in several tranches within the term of the Loan
Framework Agreement. The Lender and the Borrower shall separately
enter into specific agreements and security documents for the relevant
drawdowns. The Loan is a one-time line of credit, and any repaid
principal amount of the Loan under the relevant specific agreements to
be entered into pursuant to the Loan Framework Agreement shall not
refresh the total amount available for drawdown within the term of the
Loan Framework Agreement. Loan shall be used for the construction of
the projects of the Borrower and replenishment of its working capital. The
Borrower shall provide its assets as approved by the Lender as credit
enhancement measures of the Loan.



EEgRE
Report of the Directors

EHEZEFNEE LR AEFERBZREAT
B FRAE SR 17 7 22 B HARR (BN &L 220265 12 A
31 B IEREFE RN RR2024F930H =
2024412 H31 B #ifE 220271 H1 B £2027
FOAH M) JHIERMN EE AL BETSE
BidARKE1,000068 T °

BERZETNFE LRASZEUTEIBERE ¢

() EFERBZE A HIERNZERLS
W

(i) FrmAREERE A BRI AR EER
(i) FrIMER RN EEM BT E

(v) TXFFAHRI S EFERBHE NS o

et RFBIHEE A MRTEBEELELER
MMEESERISHER KB RUVESER
o mMELREZERE  RERS - BER
% BERERAKBEGER - I ERS
1006F R —HAASBEREMEEERS - I
HAEEEYRPREBENAIERE - BHE
HABTEBRESTERTE  HERITTER
BREARRET  REMESEINREREE
EBERNERS R REAEBRBLEEE
HER o

B RAE 2R t0m % O 15K R 0 Y30 2R o BT 8 450 R 75
RATERRETE  BERZERNNERER
WL BEBENEREELEX - HEFWER
SEEF=THEBIRGHRELER -

MRS AR R TIRECERESRS
68.86% M ° FIL + ¥R ARTS B EIRESL A
BB ARARARIMEEAL - MREEWR
AIZE+IHAE - Ml Y EFIERBGZEREET
BHETHRSBAANRNFERERS -

The annual caps in respect of the Loan will be the maximum aggregate
principal amount available for drawdown under the Loan Framework
Agreement which, for the entire term of the Loan Framework Agreement
(i.e. over the two years ending 31 December 2026, and the period
from 30 September 2024 to 31 December 2024 and the period from
1 January 2027 to 29 September 2027) shall not exceed RMB1,000.0
million.

The annual caps in respect of the Loan were determined with reference
to:

(i) the total principal amount of the Loan available for drawdown under
the Loan Framework Agreement;

(i) S-Enjoy Group’s internal financial resources currently available;
(i) the potential financial needs of Seazen Holdings Group; and

(iv) the benefits of entering into the Loan Framework Agreement as
detailed below.

Considering that S-Enjoy Group is an experienced property management
services provider in the PRC engaging in the provision of property
management services, such as property and equipment maintenance,
security services, cleaning services, gardening services and public area
maintenance. S-Enjoy Group has been providing property management
services to the Group since 1996, and had formed a long and stable
cooperative relationship with the Group. The property development
industry is a capital intensive industry. Under the current overall weak
industry environment, sufficient capital is conductive to meeting the actual
needs for the Group’s business development, ensuring the realisation of
the Group’s long term business strategies.

The terms of the Loan Framework Agreement were determined between
Seazen Holdings and S-Enjoy Service after arm’s length negotiation,
including the interest rate of the Loan and the loan-to-value ratio with
respect to the value of the charged assets, which are within the range
of the historical financing obtained by Seazen Holdings Group from third
party institutions.

S-Enjoy Service is indirectly owned as to 68.86% by Mr. Wang Zhenhua,
a Controlling Shareholder. Accordingly, S-Enjoy Service is an associate
of Mr. Wang Zhenhua and a connected person of the Company and the
entering into of the Loan Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute the continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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As the Loan under the Loan Framework Agreement is contemplated to
be secured by the assets of Seazen Holdings Group, the transactions
contemplated under the Loan Framework Agreement, although
represented financial assistance provided by connected persons of
the Company for the benefit of the Group, would not be exempt from
the reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements for connected transactions under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing
Rules, and thus compliance by the Company with the Listing Rules in
relation to the Loan Framework Agreement shall be necessary. As the
highest percentage ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) in respect of the
proposed annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Loan
Framework Agreement exceeds 5%, the provision of the Loan under
the Loan Framework Agreement and the proposed annual caps are
subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review, circular (including
independent financial advice) and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 September
2024 and the circular of the Company dated 22 November 2024.

In order to ensure the terms of the relevant specific agreements and
security documents under the Loan Framework Agreement are on
normal commercial terms and fair and reasonable to the Company
and Shareholders and are no less favourable to the Group than terms
offered available to or from independent third parties, the Company
has formulated the following internal control policies and adopted the
following internal control measures:

() with regard to any amount drawdown which is secured by
assets of Seazen Holdings Group, the Company expects that the
corresponding total value of the Charged Assets shall maintain at
similar level as the unpaid principal amount of the Loan divided by
the loan-to-value ratio of 60%, and the Company will monitor any
repaid Loan principal and apply to the Lender to release the Charged
Assets thereto on a timely basis;

(i) the finance department of the Company will closely monitor the
outstanding Loan balances to be repaid and report the latest status
of the Loan granted to the finance department of the Company on
a monthly basis to ensure that the outstanding loan balances will
not exceed the proposed annual caps. In the event the aggregated
principal amount of the Loan is expected to exceed the proposed
annual caps, the responsible staff would escalate the issue to the
Board forthwith, and the Company would timely re-comply with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules;
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(i) the finance department of the Company will, before the signing of
each specific agreement under the Loan Framework Agreement: (a)
check the loan prime rate published by PBOC; and (b) compare the
interest rate of the Loan with at least two major commercial banks
or financial institutions to confirm the interest rate charged is in line
with or better than the market rates and the specific agreements are
entered into on normal commercial terms;

(iv) the Company’s external auditor will conduct an annual review of the
transactions entered into under the Loan Framework Agreement to
ensure that the transaction amount is within the proposed annual
caps and the transactions is in accordance with the terms set out in
the Loan Framework Agreement; and

(v) the independent non-executive Directors will conduct an annual
review of the status of the transactions contemplated under the Loan
Framework Agreement to ensure that the Company has complied
with its internal approval process and the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The Group has followed the repayment terms as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company on 30 September 2024 of the continuing
connected transactions conducted pursuant to the Loan Framework
Agreement.

For further information in relation to the Loan Framework Agreement,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 September
2024 and the circular of the Company dated 22 November 2024.

The internal audit department of the Company reviewed the continuing
connected transactions and the adequacy and effectiveness of
the internal control procedures, and provided the findings to the
independent non-executive Directors to assist them in performing their
annual reviews. The independent non-executive Directors also made
appropriate enquiries with the management to ensure that they have
sufficient information to review the transactions and the internal control
procedures. All independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the
transactions were conducted:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. under normal commercial terms or not less favourable terms that the
Group receives or provides services from an independent third party
or obtains from an independent third party; and

3. in accordance with the agreements related to the above continuing
connected transactions, the terms of which are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the Shareholders as a whole.

i85 B £ IR B R 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

69




EEg®RE
Report of the Directors

RATEREEZEEMRE ETHRIE14A.56
R ANEBEH E2024F12A31 B ILFEREDN
BEMERHEITRE -

RBAGETO T - ARRZBEMAEESHE

R BEEREAERFRET R ER

BRS

1. REESSIE

2. BAKEREERIRBILIRNRS
EREBEART B EIR RS BHE BRR
LT

3. EMBAEATH  AMREBEREZEXZN
MERRHZERI L &

4. DHBFELR -

RATHER » ENEZE2024F12 A31 B ILFE
BB FHRAETIUAZIE FAIRERTE -

% 7 32 B 5+ &l

R2019F 11 A1 8 - EFSRF RN 5 1EE)
st -

1. R

7

B REEENRER - (VB EARANE
B([EEBDMIFLOER R EREE SR
SEARRNEMEREBELESATR
R (i) 5l Ko ¥ B I g A SR A R BB R
BmmEHEER -

BB

Pt 2=t & b E B AR R AD B2 BT &
MEAI(TEHBIRA ) EE -

i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

The Company has engaged its auditor to report on the disclosed
continuing connected transactions of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company confirmed to
the Board that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions:

1. have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

3. were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

4. have exceeded the annual cap as set.

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 1 November 2019, the Board has resolved to adopt the Share Award
Scheme.

1. Objectives

The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are: (i) to recognize
the contribution of employees of the Company (the “Employees”)
and to provide incentives for the Employees to continuously make
substantial contributions for the Group’s long-term growth in the
future; and (i) to attract and retain talented Employees who may be
beneficial to the growth and development of the Group.

2. Administration
The Share Award Scheme is subject to the administration of the

Board in accordance with the rule of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme Rules”).
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Participants of the Share Award Scheme

The Employee(s) was selected by the Board pursuant to the rules of
the Share Award Scheme to participate in the scheme.

Scheme Limit

The aggregated maximum number of Shares that the trustee (who
is an independent third party) appointed by the Board to manage
the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”) may purchase must not
exceed 0.5% of the total share capital in issue of the Company on 1
November 2019, i.e. 29,495,000 Shares (representing approximately
0.42% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Award Scheme

There is no limit of maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Award Scheme.

Grant Price of Awarded Shares

The grant price of the Award Shares (if any) shall be determined
by the Board at its sole discretion, and shall be set out in the grant
notice issued to the grantees.

Voting Rights

The Trustee, the Board and the authorised representatives
appointed by the Board by passing ordinary resolutions delegated
with authority to give instructions or notices to the Trustee on all
matters in connection with the Share Award Scheme and other
matters in the routine administration of the Trust (the “Authorised
Representatives”) shall not exercise any voting rights attached
to any Shares held on the Trust constituted by the Trust Deed (the
“Trust”).
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8. Restrictions

The Awarded Shares awarded to the Employee(s) selected by the
Board pursuant to the Scheme Rules to participate in the Share
Award Scheme (the “Selected Employee(s)”’) under the Share
Award Scheme shall be personal to such Employee and are not
transferable. Each of the Selected Employees shall not sell, transfer,
pledge or create any encumbrance by any means in respect of
the unvested Awarded Shares. The Selected Employees are not
entitled to any rights attached to such number of unvested Shares
awarded by the Board pursuant to the Scheme Rules (the “Awarded
Shares”), including but not limited to any voting right and entitlement
to dividends that have accrued prior to the vesting of such Awarded
Shares. If any Director or Authorised Representatives possesses
unpublished inside information in relation to the Company, or where
dealings by Directors are prohibited under any code or requirement
of the Listing Rules or any applicable laws from time to time, no
payment shall be made to the Trustee and no instructions to acquire
Shares shall be given to the Trustee under the Share Award Scheme.
Further, the Board shall not award any Awarded Shares to any
Director during the periods in which dealing in Shares is prohibited
pursuant to the Listing Rules or any corresponding code or securities
dealing restrictions adopted by the Company.

Operation

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Board or the Authorised
Representatives may from time to time instruct the Trustee to
purchase the existing Shares in the open market, and determine,
among other things, the timing of awards, list of Selected Employees,
number of the Awarded Shares, vesting dates and conditions of
vesting mainly based on the overall results and performance of the
Group and contributions made by the Employees. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board at its discretion, the Trustee shall hold
the Awarded Shares until such Shares are vested in the Selected
Employees in accordance with the Scheme Rules.

10.Vesting and Lapse

Unless otherwise determined by the Board at its discretion, the
relevant Awarded Shares held by the Trustee on behalf of the
Selected Employees on Trust shall not vest in the relevant Selected
Employee in the following circumstances: (i) the Selected Employee
ceases to be a Selected Employee for whatever reason; or (ii)
other circumstances as provided for in the Scheme Rules. Upon
occurrence of any of the above circumstances, any Awarded Shares
awarded but have not been vested in the Selected Employee will
be returned to the Trust in accordance with the Scheme Rules. In
respect of a Selected Employee who retires at his normal retirement
date at any time prior to a vesting date, all the Awarded Shares of
such Selected Employee shall be deemed to be vested on the day
immediately prior to his/her retirement at his/her normal retirement
date.
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Unless early terminated by the Board, the Share Award Scheme
shall be effective for ten years from the adoption date of 1 November
2019 and up to 31 October 2029. As at the date of this report, the
remaining life of the Share Award Scheme was around four years
and seven months.

The following table discloses movement in the Company’s Awarded
Shares which were granted under the Share Award Scheme during
the reporting period. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
Awarded Shares were granted, vested, or lapsed under the Share
Award Scheme.

SREBRN 120245 REESR REEDR R04E
EfiRFER 1818 BEN RNM O REEHREE 12A31H
(B70) (a1) RERE  XERHYE CRLEABE  RBROHE  RBRHHEE  REROER CRUEXER
Grant price Granted but Number of Number of Number of Granted but
payable per unvested  vested Award  lapsed Award  cancelled Award unvested
Awarded Number of asat  Sharesduring  Sharesduring  Shares during asat
Shares Awarded fJanuary  thereporting  thereporting  thereporting 31 December
S0EN% Name of Participant (HKD) (Note 1) Date of Grant Shares 2024 period period period 2024
) EZ (a)  Directors
a M. Lv Xiaoping 2059418
1 Septermber 2020 2,500,000
UiE2) (f3k3)
431 (Note 2) (Note 3) 0 0 0 0 0
(it Mr. Lu Zhongming A20F9A1R
1 September 2020 2,000,000
(hzk2) (f3ka)
43 (Note 2) (Note 3) 0 0 0 0 0
ERERE M. Zhang Shengman 22059418
(Rista) (Note 4) 1 September 2020 2,000,000
() (f3k3)
431 (Note 2) (Note 3) 0 0 0 0 0
(b) SEHEA (b)  Tophighest paid A20%9A1R
(FafiE individual (excluding 1 September 2020 1,000,000
g Directors) UiE2) (H3ka)
431 (Note 2) (Note 3) 0 0 0 0 0
ait Total 7,500,000
(Hf3ka)
(Note 3) 0 0 0 0 0
PE - Notes:
1. BRHEEEREEEBROEER - 1. The grant price shall be payable upon the vesting of the relevant Award
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Shares.

Subject to the fulfilment of the relevant performance targets set by the Board,
40% of the Award Shares shall be vested on 31 October 2020, 30% of the
Award Shares shall be vested on 31 October 2021, and 30% of the Award
Shares shall be vested on 31 October 2022.

All such Awarded Shares granted had been fully vested.

Mr. Zhang Shengman resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
April 2025.
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As at the date of this report, the remaining number of Shares which may
be purchased by the Trustee pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
was 2,995,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.04% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report. The total number of
Award Shares available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share
Award Scheme was 22,158,258 Award Shares as at 1 January 2024, 31
December 2024 and the date of this report (representing approximately
0.3% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report,
respectively).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group made charitable
and other donations of approximately RMB10.25 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2023: RMB42.02 million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditor the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The Group issued a tranche of four-year-and-six-month USD300 million
4.45% senior notes in January 2021 (the “Notes”). Pursuant to which
the Company will make an offer to repurchase all outstanding Notes at a
purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the repurchase
date, upon the occurrence of, among other things, the Permitted Holders
(as defined below) are the beneficial owners of less than 50.1% of the
total voting power of the voting stock of the Company accompanied by
a rating decline. Such requirements as to the maintenance of the level of
ownership in and composition of the members of the Board result in the
disclosure obligation under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules.
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In this paragraph, the “Permitted Holders” means any or all of the
followings:

(i) Mr. Wang Zhenhua;
(ii) any affiliate of Mr. Wang Zhenhua;

(iii) the trust, estate and any immediate family member (if applicable)
of Mr. Wang Zhenhua or the legal representative thereof; and

(iv) any legal person of both the capital stock and the voting stock of
which (or in the case of a trust, the beneficial interests in which)
are owned 80% or more by Mr. Wang Zhenhua or any of his
affiliates.

On 12 August 2024, the Company has fully repaid the tranche of four-
year USD250 million 6.00% senior notes. The said notes has been
cancelled and delisted from the official list of the Singapore Stock
Exchange.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries with all the
Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he has complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted
the code provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Company will continue to review and
monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with
the CG Code.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital, being the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules,
are held by the public at all times as of the date of this annual report.

Fi 3% R 2R B PR 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

75




EEgRE
Report of the Directors

M

202411 F26H - ENAHMHBNES @ &
REERE - WA EBEARRIRA EHEKR
MR RBAREN TR - ARREHFIRZ
HAD - WHEHEERKESHMESM([BE
RKE ) ER%  BEBKEREFHEIART
BN ([ 8ET ) - Bt - BERBUKEERE
RN E EE ERUKGB R IR 2 B EED
B2024F11 A25 B84 -

REEZZBEEE  BRE(FE) SFMER
IBRAREESTE R T A/IZHEED - 52024
FUA26AAER - IR E KRUKGERH TR
WERRZR - THEEARR TERRAFK
SRR/ -

% LR REES - B F L EE R
Al o
BEHAERSZE

HEBERRAR AR BT

MR2024F3F28H © AR AIEMBHEEFTAR
RIABERRARAE - LN(HERaE))EH
REARQNRERRBENE = NEET REYA
BERRMRMBRFTEEBERNERLE LT
&R ETEIT ALAE T 5 2 B A R ALY &%
HELERT - AR E20235F12 A31 BB WA
EMRAAEREER  RMAETREEES
B ([ERBT)) - ZERBHTEBEARFRN
20246 A28 A RITHIR B F RNy FEMRE
HEfE ©

BEHREE
BARERBESN  RBEWREARE R
8 AEELWEAEAE -

REREZFS

EER
TEMREE
FHB - 202553 A28H

7 i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

AUDITOR

On 26 November 2024, the Company announced that, in view of recent
market information, based on principle of prudence, and taking into
account the Company’s current business development plan and the
future needs of audit services, the Company proposed to change the
auditor, and after communication with PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”),
PwC agreed to resign as the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”).
In this connection, PwC has tendered its resignation as the Auditor
with effect from 25 November 2024 pursuant to the consensus of the
Company and PwC.

With the recommendation of the Audit Committee, Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited has been appointed by the Board as the new Auditor
with effect from 26 November 2024 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of PwC until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company.

Save as the above, there was no change in Auditor during the past three
years.

MATERIAL EVENTS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association

On 28 March 2024, the Company announced the proposed amendments
to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company for the
purposes of, among others, (i) updating and bringing the then existing
third amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
of the Company in line with the latest regulatory requirements in
relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect
from 31 December 2023; and (ii) incorporating certain housekeeping
changes (the “Proposed Amendments”). The Proposed Amendments
were subsequently approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any significant
events as at the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this
report.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Wang Xiaosong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report in the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted
the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance. The Company
has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The Company will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance
with the CG Code.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established four Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the ESG Committee (together, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of
the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify
the Group’s Directors for their liability arising from corporate activities.
The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr. Lv
Xiaoping, Mr. Lu Zhongming and Mr. Zhou Fudong, one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wang Xiaosong (who is also the chairman of the
Board), and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhu
Zengjin, Mr. Zhong Wei and Ms. Wu Ke. The biographies of the Directors
are set out under the section headed “Directors” of this annual report.
The details of the service contracts of the Directors are set out in the
Report of the Directors of this annual report.
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As disclosed in this annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Board met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise and Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, issuers are required to appoint
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of
the Board. As disclosed in this annual report, the Company has three
independent non-executive Directors currently representing one-third of
the Board and therefore the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code, if all the independent
non-executive Directors have served on the Board for more than nine
years, a new independent non-executive Director should be appointed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Ms. Wu Ke was
appointed at the annual general meeting held on 28 June 2024 to satisfy
the code provision.

Listed issuers are required to adopt a board diversity policy. The
Company has adopted a board diversity policy and therefore complied
with this code provision. A summary of the board diversity policy is set
out under “Board Committees — Nomination Committee” below.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors has any
personal relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) with any other Director.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

In regards to the CG Code provision requiring Directors to disclose to
the issuer the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments, as well as their identity
and an indication of the time involved, all the Directors have agreed to
disclose their commitments and any change to the Company in a timely
manner.
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Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company ensures independent views and input are available to the
Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors should be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee on an annual basis, in particular the independence of
some of the independent non-executive Directors who has served
for more than nine years;

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors in relation to his independence to the Company. The
Company considers all its independent non-executive directors to be
independent;

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid
conflict of interests, the Directors who are also directors and/or
senior management of the Company’s controlling shareholders
and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling shareholders, would
abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions in relation to the
transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates;

4. The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent non-
executive Directors at least once annually; and

5. All members of the Board can seek independent professional advice
when necessary to perform their responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and
input are available to the Board on an annual basis, whether in terms
of the proportion, recruitment and independence of independent non-
executive Directors, and ensures them to make contribution and have
access to external independent professional advice.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

To assist the Directors in discharge of their duties, each newly appointed
Director will be provided with necessary induction and information
to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as their responsibilities under relevant
statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular
seminars to provide all Directors with updates on latest development
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. The joint company secretaries, from time to time, update and
provide written training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties
of Director.

During the year, each of the Directors, namely Mr. Lv Xiaoping, Mr. Lu
Zhongming, Mr. Wang Xiaosong, Mr. Zhang Shengman, Mr. Zhu Zengjin,
Mr. Zhong Wei and Ms. Wu Ke, received and studied these training
materials. The Company has received confirmation from all Directors of
their respective training records for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Mr. Zhou Fudong as a newly appointed director has received director’s
training on 26 March 2025. Mr. Zhou Fudong has confirmed he
understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals. The positions of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are segregated and are held by Mr. Wang Xiaosong and Mr. Lv
Xiaoping respectively. The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wang Xiaosong, is
responsible for material matters such as business strategies and overall
development of the Company. With the assistance of the joint company
secretaries, the Chairman draws up the agenda for each Board meeting,
ensures that good governance practices and procedures are complied
with and that all the Directors are provided with sufficient and reliable
information in a timely manner required for necessary analysis based on
their expertise, encourages all Directors to make an active contribution
to the Board'’s affairs and take the lead in ensuring that the Board acts in
the best interests of the Company.

The chief executive officer, Mr. Lv Xiaoping, is responsible for managing
the day-to-day operations of the Group’s business.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer are separate and
independent, with clear division of responsibilities.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaosong has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 18 October 2024,
and his appointment may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the appointment letter.

Mr. Lv Xiaoping has entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 7 January 2025, and his
appointment may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letter.

Mr. Lu Zhongming has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 7 January 2025,
and his appointment may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the appointment letter.

Mr. Zhou Fudong has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 1 April 2025 and his service
may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the service contract.

Mr. Zhu Zengjin entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of two years commencing from 6 November 2024.

Mr. Zhong Wei entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of two years commencing from 3 December 2024.

Ms. Wu Ke entered into an appointment letter with the Company, for a
term of two years commencing from 28 June 2024.

None of the Directors has entered into with the Group any service
agreement which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall
submit himself/herself for election by Shareholders at the first annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment and new Directors
appointed in addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-
election by Shareholders at the next following annual general meeting of
the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles of association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment, re-election and succession
planning of Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopted the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and
committee meetings, a reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda
and accompanying Board papers are despatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure
that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the joint
company secretaries with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail including the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, and any concerns raised by the
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee meeting
are sent to the Directors for consideration within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting was held. The minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

The chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without presence of other Directors during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held 6 Board
meetings, 1 annual general meeting (held on 28 June 2024) and
1 extraordinary general meeting (held on 9 December 2024). The
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in the
table below:

BHRERE W HRERE
BE= Directors Attended/Eligible to attend
EEggR BRFRBERE BREBFRARE
Annual Extraordinary
Board Meeting General Meeting General Meeting
TREMEA Mr. Wang Xiaosong 6/6 1/1 1/1
=N E Mr. Lv Xiaoping 6/6 11 11
P BB A& Mr. Lu Zhongming 6/6 1/1 1/1
ERERE Mr. Zhang Shengman
(7220254 A1 BEHE) (resigned on 1 April 2025) 6/6 1/1 1/1
FREERR S A& Mr. Chen Huakang
(FA2024F6 A28HEE)  (retired on 28 June 2024) 2/6 1/1 0/0
RIGHE S Mr. Zhu Zengjin 6/6 1/1 1/1
EERE Mr. Zhong Wei 4/6 1/1 1/1
REZt Ms. Wu Ke
(20244 (appointed on 28 June 2024)
6A28HEZT) 2/6 0/0 1/1
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Mr. Lv Xiaoping, the executive Director who took the chair of the 2024
annual general meeting and the extraordinary general meeting, together
with other members of the Board who attended that meeting, were of
sufficient calibre for answering, and had competently answered, the
questions raised at those meetings.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors, each
of the Directors has confirmed that he has complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has also adopted
its code of conduct regarding employees’ securities transactions on
terms no less exacting than the standards set out in the Model Code
for compliance by its relevant employees who are likely to own inside
information of the Company in respect of their dealings in the Company’s
securities.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflicts of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of Directors and delegated the corporate governance duties
to the Nomination Committee which include:

(i) to develop, review and implement the Company’s policy and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

(vi) to develop, review and monitor the implementation of the
Shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its effectiveness, and
make recommendations to the Board where appropriate to enhance
Shareholders’ relationship with the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors. It
is chaired by an independent non-executive Director. The members
of the Nomination Committee are Mr. Zhu Zengjin (chairman), Mr. Lu
Zhongming and Ms. Wu Ke, the majority of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

e to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assist the Board in maintaining a board skills matrix, and make
recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

e to identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors and
develop the Company’s Board and employee diversity policies;

e to make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of and succession planning for Directors; and

e to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
e to support the regular evaluation of the Board’s performance.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations
of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.
Their written terms of reference are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The nomination policy of the Company will
be further discussed in the paragraph headed “Nomination policy” below.

With a view to enhance Board effectiveness and corporate governance,
the Board should include a balanced composition of executive and
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgment.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with measurable objectives. The Nomination Committee
evaluates the balance and blends of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives of the Board. Selection of candidates is based on a range
of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to age, cultural and
educational background, professional and industry experience, skKills,
knowledge, ethnicity and other qualities essential to the Company’s
business, and merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board. The Board will review such measurable objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.
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The Company also recognises the importance of gender diversity
and recruits employees at all levels based on merits and regardless of
gender in order to ensure there is a pipeline of male and female potential
successors to the Board and the senior management. The Company
appointed Ms. Wu Ke as an independent non-executive Director on 28
June 2024.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Group aims to maintain at
least one female representation in the Board and the current composition
of the Board satisfies this target. Going forward, the Board will strive to
maintain or improve this proportion of female representation.

As at 31 December 2024, the ratio of women to men in the workforce
(excluding Directors) was 35:65. For details of gender distribution, please
refer to the ESG Report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024. The Group strives to increase the ratio of females in the workforce
to the extent possible going forward, with gender diversity factor taking
into account by the management during the recruitment process.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, two Nomination Committee
meeting was held and the attendance record of the Nomination
Committee members is set out in the table below:

EHERETHERE
5= Directors Attended/Eligible to attend
RIS A Mr. Zhu Zengjin 2/2
S vl ) Mr. Zhong Wei Mot 2/2
PR E A Mr. Lu Zhongming 2/2
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Note: With effect from 1 April 2025, Mr. Zhong Wei ceased to be a member of the
Nomination Committee, and Ms. Wu Ke has been appointed as a member
of the Nomination Committee.

During the year 2024, the Nomination Committee has, among others,
reviewed and assessed the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
reviewed and implemented the Company’s policy and practices on
corporate governance, reviewed and monitored Company’s compliance
with the corporate governance codes under the Listing Rules and
the relevant disclosure in the corporate governance report, assessed
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors.
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(iv)

Nomination Policy

This nomination policy adopted by the Company aims to set out the
approach to guide the nomination committee of the Company in relation
to the election, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors. It
aims to ensure that the Board has the skills, experience, knowledge
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The relevant provisions of the Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Company are regarded as the key nomination
criteria and principles of the Company for the nomination of Directors,
and these provisions, as set out below, constitute the nomination policy
of the Company:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge, experience and gender) of the Board on a regular basis
at least annually, assist the board in maintaining a board skills matrix,
and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
change to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i) to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the qualifications
of and evaluating candidates for directorship, including but not limited
to evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the
Board, and in the light of this evaluation prepared a description of the
role and capabilities required for a particular appointment; develop
the Company’s Board diversity in the member selection process
and employees (including senior management) diversity policy in
the employees selection process, which include but not limited to
the following factors: gender, age, culture, perspectives, education
background, and professional experience, review and update the
objects that the Board has set for implementing such policies,
monitor the progress made and the gender diversity targets annually;

(i) to identify individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a
member of the Board and to select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships,
having due regard to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company’s
constitution, the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations,
and the relevant candidates’ contributions to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experiences, independence and gender diversity;

(iv) to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors
to determine their eligibility with reference to the factors set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and any other factors deemed
appropriate by the Nomination Committee or the Board. If a
proposed independent non-executive director will be holding their
seventh (or more) listed company directorship, to assess his/her
ability to devote sufficient time to the Board matters;
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Nomination procedures for Directors

The Nomination Committee shall call a meeting, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members (if any) for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee
may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members;

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information, together with their written consent to be appointed as a
director of the Company. The Nomination Committee may request
candidates to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

The Nomination Committee shall evaluate the proposed candidate’s
suitability with reference to the information and aspects stated above and
make recommendation(s) to the Board’s consideration and approval.

In the case of the re-election of a Director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution of the
Directors to the Company and their services, their participation and
performance within the Board, and whether such Director still meets the
needs to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Zhu Zengjin (chairman), Mr. Zhong Wei and Ms. Wu Ke, three
of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving/determining the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for formulating such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance
of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions. Their written terms of reference are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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RIS Mr. Zhu Zengjin 2/2
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During the year 2024, the Remuneration Committee discussed and
reviewed the service agreements, appointment letters and remuneration
policy for Directors and senior management of the Company, and made
recommendations to the Board on the service agreements, appointment
letters and remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had no senior
management other than the Directors which received remuneration.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises all three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wu Ke (chairman), Mr. Zhu Zengjin
and Mr. Zhong Wei. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

e to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the internal audit division or the
external auditor before submission to the Board;

e to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor; and

e to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system, and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings of the Audit
Committee were held and the attendance record of the Audit Committee
members is set out in the table below:

B HERE T HERE
) Directors Attended/Eligible to attend
Rzt Ms. Wu Ke
(20246 A28 HEZL L) (appointed on 28 June 2024) 2/2
PREE ST AE Mr. Chen Huakang
(BER2024%F6 A28 HERMT) (retired on 28 June 2024) 2/2
RIGHESTE Mr. Zhu Zengjin 4/4
BREEA Mr. Zhong Wei 4/4
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During the year 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed the financial
reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control (including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions), internal control and risk management systems, the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function and processes
and the re-appointment of the external auditor. The Board had not
deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor.

They also reviewed interim and final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the interim period and the fiscal year as well as the audit
report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting issues and
major findings in the course of auditing. There are proper arrangements
for employees, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control and other matters.
Their written terms of reference are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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ESG Committee

The ESG Committee currently comprises four members, including three
executive Directors and one non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang
Xiaosong (chairman), Mr. Lv Xiaoping, Mr. Lu Zhongming and Mr. Zhou
Fudong.

The main duties of the ESG Committee include: (i) formulating and
reviewing the Company’s ESG responsibilities, vision, strategy,
framework, principles and policies, and strengthening the materiality
assessment and reporting to the Board on a regular basis to ensure the
continued execution and implementation of ESG policies; (i) considering
and approving the Company’s ESG goals, and regularly reviewing the
achievement of ESG goals; (i) monitoring main ESG trends and related
risks and opportunities and evaluating whether the Group’s ESG-related
structure and business model are adequate and effective in this regard,
adopting and updating the Group’s ESG policies when necessary and
ensuring that such policies are up-to-date and comply with applicable
laws, regulations, regulatory requirements and international standards;
and (iv) reviewing the Company’s annual ESG report and recommending
to the Board for approval, at the same time advising action plans or
policies for the Board to consider.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, one ESG Committee meeting
was held and the attendance record of the ESG Committee members is
set out in the table below:

B HERE TR R
55 Directors Attended/Eligible to attend
FREERSEAE Mr. Wang Xiaosong 1/1
B/ N AE Mr. Lv Xiaoping 1/1
ERESEE Mr. Zhang Shengman
(72202554 A1 B&T) (retired on 1 April 2025) 1/1
B FRBR S A Mr. Lu Zhongming 1/1
AER A (R2025F4 818 Mr. Zhou Fudong (appointed on 1 April 2025)
ERE) 0/0
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and the Group’s
results and cash flows.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 109 to 112 of this
annual report.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are provided
to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the
Board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

In preparing financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Directors have (i) selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; (i) made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable; and (iii) prepared financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors noted that the auditor of the Company (the
“Auditor”) has indicated some material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. During the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of the consolidated financial statements, the
Group experienced a year-on-year decline in the collection of property
sales proceeds and pre-sales performance due to the downturn of the
Mainland China property market. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB17,743,103,000.
As at the same date, the Group had current borrowings amounted to
RMB16,071,392,000 in aggregate, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB6,914,613,000 and restricted cash amounted to
RMB3,703,679,000. The Auditor is of the view that these events and
conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Auditor’s opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Save as aforesaid and as disclosed under the section headed “(iii) Going
concern basis” in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Board, having made all reasonable enquiries, is not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions that may cause
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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In view the above circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group, its
available sources of financing, past performance of management and
policy trend in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
sources to continue as a going concern. With the efforts made in the past
year, the Group fully capitalised on the policy support to optimise facility
line and structure and reduce financing costs, ensuring the full payment
in the open market when maturity. The following measures are formulated
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of
the Group:

1) further enhancing the Group’s advantages in commercial operation
management and increasing the commercial operation revenue as a
major source of funds for repayments of principals and interests of
interests-bearing liabilities;

2) continuing to leverage financial policy support to increase operating
property loan financing, increase open market bond financing,
actively promote the registration and issuance of consumer
infrastructure REITS, actively participate in real estate related
innovative financing, and at the same time actively promote equity
financing to increase capital and funding, adjust the gearing structure
and reduce the gearing ratio. Seizing the opportunity of market
stabilisation to restore and enhance principal credit financing to
complement asset credit financing;

3) seizing the opportunities of implementing resumption policy and
adopting various methods to revitalise existing assets to increase
cash sources;

4) continuing to enhance communications with major constructors
and supplier, amicably negotiating the proper arrangements of
payment schedules and methods to smooth out the payments for
project costs and materials and keep the constructions of projects
proceeding as scheduled.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management, which cover a period of not less than twelve months
from the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements. In view
of the recovery of industry and market confidence, comprehensive policy
support, extensive experience in liquidity management, continuous
availability of financing resources, the Boards are of the opinion that, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve
months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the Board are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of
the Group on a going concern basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board, the Audit Committee, the senior management and the internal
audit department are the four levels of structure and main features of risk
management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
maintaining adequate risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the investments of the Shareholders and the assets of the
Company and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an annual
basis. Risk management and internal control systems were designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

As disclosed in its terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the
Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
oversees the risk management process and reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting the
following procedures:

e reviewing the Company’s risk management process and policy;

e reviewing with senior management at least annually the reports
demonstrating the compliance with the risk management policy;

e discussing with senior management at least annually the Company’s
major risk exposures and the steps senior management has taken or
should take to assess and treat such exposures; and

e reviewing the ongoing effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management practices.

Senior management is responsible for administering the Company’s risk
management process, and for ensuring that the Company’s business
operations are conducted in compliance with our risk management
policy after taking into consideration changes in the environment and the
Company’s risk tolerance.
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Responsibilities of the Company’s senior management include:

designing and implementing a Company-wide risk management
policy;

reviewing and updating the risk management policy on a timely
basis, ensuring it remains relevant and adequate, taking into account
changes in the environment, industry and the Company’s operations
and risk profile and, where necessary, recommending changes to
the risk management policy for the Audit Committee to review;

ensuring that the Company’s risk management process is aligned
and integrated with the annual strategic and business planning
process and vice versa;

designing and establishing a risk management methodology which
provides the appropriate tools to identify, evaluate, and manage
business exposures;

establishing a Company-wide risk reporting process to ensure
that the Company’s senior management, the Audit Committee
and the Board are apprised of all material risk issues and business
exposures;

ensuring necessary management controls and oversight processes
are in place to monitor compliance with the risk management policy
and the risk management methodology;

approving and monitoring key risk positions and exposure trends,
risk management strategies and risk management priorities;

reviewing and discussing the Company’s overall risk profile, key and
emerging risks and risk management activities through periodic risk
discussions among senior management; and

reviewing the key business strategies and initiatives to assess their
impact on the Company’s overall risk position.
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Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks and to resolve material internal control defects (if any).
Senior management, through the Company’s internal audit department, is
responsible for the annual risk reporting process. Members of the internal
audit department meet with various members of the senior management
to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to address material
internal control defects (if any), including any changes relevant to a given
year. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are
documented. The risk assessment is reviewed by certain members of
senior management and presented to the Audit Committee and the
Board for their review. No major deficiencies were identified in the reviews
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on (i)
the severity of the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial results,
(i) the probability that the risk will occur, and (iii) the velocity or speed at
which the risk could occur.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has ensured
that the risk management and internal control provisions under the CG
Code have been complied with. The Board, during its annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems, has confirmed the
adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the issuer’s accounting, internal audit,
financial reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting.

Inside Information

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may have impact on the price of the shares or their trading
volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered as
inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably
practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and
the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. Executive
Directors and the joint company secretaries of the Company also may
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or circulars
to be issued by the Company as authorised by the Board from time to
time.
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Internal Audit Department

The Group’s internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring
the internal governance of the Company. The major responsibilities of
the internal audit department are reviewing the financial conditions and
internal control of the Company, and conducting comprehensive audits
of all branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Annual audit fee of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
payable to the Company’s external auditor is approximately RMB1.2
million. In addition, there are fees incurred in 2024, including fees of
approximately RMB3.2 million for annual audit of Seazen Holdings
charged by its external auditor, and fees of approximately RMB0.9 million
for non-audit services including tax consulting.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Zhang Wanling and Ms.
Ng Sau Mei were the joint company secretaries of the Company.

Ms. Zhang Wanling is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and procedures,
and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
also engages Ms. Ng Sau Mei, director of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a
company secretarial services provider), as its Joint Company Secretary to
assist Ms. Zhang Wanling to discharge her duties as company secretary
of the Company. The primary corporate contact person at the Company is
Ms. Zhang Wanling, the joint company secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Zhang Wanling and
Ms. Ng Sau Mei have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training, respectively, in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The
Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable the Shareholders and
investors to make informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman
of the Company, and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend
the annual general meeting to answer the Shareholders’ questions.
The external auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence. The Company held the annual general
meeting for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 on 28 June
2024.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship, communicate between the Company and its
Shareholders and maintains a website at www.seazengroup.com.cn,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access.

In light of the above policies and communication channels already in force
as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “Shareholders’ Rights”
below, the annual general meeting held during the year which enabled
the Directors to exchange views with the Shareholders and answer their
questions, the Board has reviewed and considered that the Company’s
shareholder’s communication policy has been appropriately implemented
and remains effective during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

On 28 March 2024, in light of the latest regulatory requirements in
relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect from
31 December 2023, the Board has amended the existing third amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
For further details, please refer to the paragraph headed “Changes to the
Memorandum and Articles of Association” below.
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting according to the Companies Ordinance and the Company’s
articles of association. As regards proposing a person for election as a
Director, the procedures are available on the Company’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times
Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (email address:
ir@xincheng.com).

Changes of the Memorandum and Articles of Association

On 28 March 2024, the Board proposed to amend the Existing
Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purposes of, among
others, (i) updating and bringing the Existing Memorandum and Articles
of Association in line with the latest regulatory requirements in relation to
the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic dissemination
of corporate communications by listed issuers and the relevant
amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect from 31
December 2023 and (i) incorporating certain housekeeping changes (the
“Proposed Amendments”). Accordingly, the Board proposed to adopt
the fourth amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
which consolidates the Proposed Amendments in substitution for, and to
the exclusion of, the Existing Memorandum and Articles of Association in
its entirety (the “New Memorandum and Articles of Association”).

The Proposed Amendments and the adoption of the New Memorandum
and Articles of Association were approved by the Shareholders by way
of a special resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company and
became effective after the annual general meeting of the Company.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 28 March 2024.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Seazen Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set
out on pages 113 to 300, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that as at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB17,743,103,000. As at the same date, the Group had current
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB16,071,392,000
in aggregate, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately RMB6,914,613,000 and restricted cash amounted to
approximately RMB3,703,679,000. These events and conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related
to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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Fair Value of Investment Properties

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BRETEE
Key audit matter

2R AHIEREMNT2.2.4 - MizT4.5 M H7E7 o
Refer to note 2.2.4, note 4.5 and note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

20245128310 - EEEREMERBENRARK
122,852B @B - BEZBILFE @~ EXRERRREME
ARABEERHAREIBET -

As at 31 December 2024, carrying amount of investment
properties of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB122,852 million. For the year then ended, the Group
recognised fair value losses on investment properties of
approximately RMB39 million.

EREENBUREXAERLEMEHNMEZERETR
BMENDAEE - 2ABENEEYRERGTTHE R
fhET - BIEMETARE R E A B (Fa03REHE
- HEFREES  HEWEE BEREREX 2RIHN
TR A RFERFAEBEENYEERTAFHMET
FEE)EER -

The Group determined fair value of the investment properties
based on the results of valuations done by independent
professional qualified valuers. The determination of fair value
involved significant accounting judgements and estimates,
including selection of valuation method, and usage of key
inputs, such as current rental, estimated future rental, term
yield, reversionary yield, estimated construction costs to
completion, and estimated profit margin required to hold
and develop property to completion.

i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

10

M EtnAEEERETSR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B NITATERT ¢
We performed the following audit procedures:

() BMEBERTGEEBEREME L AABE LM
WERES - WAIRIREYME QR BEMT A ARS8
BRI

(1) Understood and evaluated the internal controls over the
management’s estimation of fair value of investment
properties and tested the effectiveness of key controls
over the fair value estimation of investment properties.

Q) DUSIREMEAMBERISE  WHBETEMMRE - U
MEANZERELHE T IREMENLEBIFR -

(2) Obtained list of investment properties with detailed
information and performed site-visit in person to verify
the current lease situation of investment properties
under lease arrangement, on a sampling basis.

IMEEEEERMETMN BERERES -
(8) Assessed the independence, professional qualification
and competence of the management expert.

&)



BB EN RS
Independent Auditor’s Report

Q Grant Thornton
2=

BARE SR (E)
REMEN D A EE )

Fair Value of Investment Properties (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BRETEEGE

Key audit matter (continued)

HRKREMENGEY BX£EaHMBEIRKMERR
BEEERTE RAUEMEREDENDABERERHA
REFTEE - NP RERAE R - BREMELR
BEAENEFRRERRBEKX -

We consider fair value of investment properties as a Key
Audit Matter because the valuation of the investment
properties has a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial position and financial performance.
The inherent risk in relation to the fair value of investment
properties is considered significant due to the significant
judgement and estimates involved.

B Ft A ESERETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

(4) BERRNGVAPTERAMETENREN - WEBANIER
HEHETFRAGERE BRRR2HBNSEN -

(4) Understood and assessed the appropriateness of the
valuation method adopted and engaged our internal
expert to review the reasonableness of valuation
methodologies, assumptions and parameters applied in
the valuation.

6) UGB AR EANERESREEARIEE
B REITELE o

(6) Compared the actual rents applied in the valuation
assessment against the lease register and lease
agreements, on a sampling basis.

REZRMEATHETRRF  RARREEBEHREMER
R EENEET RAEER PP RN BT SF -

Based on our audit procedures performed, we consider
management’s estimates and judgements on fair value of
investment properties were supported by the evidence we
gathered.
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Classification of Subsidiary, Joint Venture and Associate

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BRETEEGE

Key audit matter (continued)

2R A HMEHRENTE2.2.1  fizE4.6 ~ BIFEQ ~ FE10K
BitEE40 ©

Refer to note 2.2.1, note 4.6, note 9, note 10 and note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.

EXERFEHEREXBEAMERBAE - BIE2024F12
A31HE  REtERRIRAERENRENETED AL R
AR#10,460B 8T RHARKE10,648FETT - A - 1
2024F12A31H - EEEEAAREBIEZEFAR @ FE
RAES RN/ ARE40,436B 8T °

The Group co-operated with other entities in property
development business. As of 31 December 2024, carrying
amounts of investments in associates and joint ventures
amounted to approximately RMB10,460 million and
approximately RMB10,648 million respectively. At the
same time, the Group had a large number of non-wholly
owned subsidiaries with total non-controlling interests of
approximately RMB40,436 million as at 31 December 2024.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

BIETATERET ¢
We performed the following audit procedures:

() E@mEE EREEYHTFAR aECERBMERAS
BN EBE S - IORH T AR A BB R IT A L
1 o

(1) Understood and evaluated the internal controls over
the Group’s classification of subsidiary, joint venture
and associate and tested the effectiveness of the
corresponding key control execution.

Q) BMEELEEHTRKREMBREEXXY  BERES
A WIRE R ARARER R EMRREE - LART
AR - WERBTRIBARE REEZNREN A
FHEE SRR DKL - RE RIS -

(2) Examined, on a sampling basis, the legal documents
associated with investments, including investment
contracts, investee company’s articles of association
and other relevant legal documents, to assess the key
terms, with a particular focus on governance structure,
rights of the investors, decision making mechanism,
profit-sharing arrangements, exit and termination, etc.

AHE WSS B IR E T N RIS B S IR -
(8) Assessed the reasonableness of the consideration paid
or received in acquisition or disposal of investment.

&
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Classification of Subsidiary, Joint Venture and Associate (continued)

BRETEEGE

Key audit matter (continued)

EEBRERESD  WREATNEBERRAMEE
XA N RBMERERESERTAR - 88D
EREERTE] e FRARIGHARKR BIREEE  BERX
2R EEENMBHRE  MRBEQRFTREED
FREBEUNEEREINTIRA MUK - BNER
WA EHE2FHEE TR -

The Group classified the investments into subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates based on the power and
return terms specified in the investment contracts, articles
of association of the investee companies and other legal
documents. Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means
each asset, liability and transaction are shown in the
Group’s financial statements, whereas investments in
associates and joint ventures are shown as a single line item
in the consolidated statement of financial position with a
single item of income/loss for their net results.

BREEESERTAR G2 CEIWMERTPRERKX
BEtHE  BZOBRETEOEE £ S5EN
BEMATE BEESE WA BAKRAXEFEATE -
HILHE M FRR - &ERENBE QTN ARTE R
RESTEE -

We consider classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates as a Key Audit Matter because the classification
of an investment as a subsidiary, joint venture or associate
involves significant accounting judgements and the
classification determines consolidation scope which further
significantly affects the Group’s total assets, total liabilities,
revenue, costs and expenses.

B Ft A ESERETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

() EREEREXHARSRHBEEERYE
SHEDEHH MBI -

(4) When there have been subsequent changes to the
existing legal documents or transaction arrangements,
assessed whether these changes would lead to a
change of classification.

SPlEE

6) HHMEELER BEERENSERFSKERNEEER -
INHERBSIER - BIBIREE - REBVERN - RE
IS o

(5) Sought for confirmations or phone calls on a sampling
basis from the Group’s co-operating parties to confirm
key terms, including governance structure, rights of the
investors, decision making mechanism, etc.

6 » BEEEHTRAR aERERBMEQRZELE
FREMEN 25| R EREITE M o

(6) Assessed the Group’s presentation and disclosures
in respect of the classification and carrying values of
subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates.

REFRMEATHETRRF  RARREEEHFLR - B
EREINAEEENDERHEER PR ER BT ST -
Based on our audit procedures performed, we consider
management’s judgements on classification of subsidiaries,
associates, and joint ventures were supported by the
evidence we gathered.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Provision for Impairment Loss of Properties Held or Under Development for Sale

BRETEEGE

Key audit matter (continued)

2B A IS RENTE2.2.6 - HizE4.2 RKIFE15 -
Refer to note 2.2.6, note 4.2 and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R2024F12A31H - ESEENTIGFENEREED
FHNRARMBIT0BEET  H1h EXEEEEHATEN
31.4% -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties held or
under development for sale amounted to approximately
RMB97,030 million, representing approximately 31.4% of
the Group’s total assets.

EREN T IFENERHEMENAERFEENES
BENEEERAESEELEE TIEERERHE
MEREEFENET S REAG LG BREAHE
B BELNHER I RERTAIKA

The Group made provision for impairment loss when the net
realisable value of the properties held or under development
for sale is lower than their respective carrying amounts. The
determination of net realisable value of properties held or
under development for sale involves significant accounting
estimate, including the estimated selling price, selling
expenses to be incurred and costs to completion.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

BB PITATEER ¢

We performed the following audit procedures:

(1) BERYFEEREEEGATIHERERHEEYRNA
IR RENREBBELEENONEES - RIS
REEHINERIL -

(1) Understood and evaluated the internal controls over
the management’s estimation of net realisable values
of properties held or under development for sale and
making provisions for impairment loss and tested the
effectiveness of key controls.

Q) HHMHEREESEFGEER SXEERABEMMNEESE
1%/ BEREEIIRITIIGEREITHER -

(2) Compared the estimated selling price to the Group’s
pre-sale price/actual selling price or the prevailing
market price of the project’s units on a sampling basis.

Q) MEEMEERTHMR[AKA  HEEERERTH
AETR AN ERE E AN RE (KR BRELMNK

A& )HEITLLER o

(8) For estimated costs to completion of properties under
development, compared the estimated costs to
completion to the budgets approved by management
after netting actual costs incurred on a sampling basis.
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BARE SR (E)
ST SRR EMEOREREERE )

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Provision for Impairment Loss of Properties Held or Under Development for Sale (continued)

BRETEEGE

Key audit matter (continued)

HREAS NS RN GFHETTFERBIEE NG T E
EM - BT LGSR ERHEMENREBREER
ERBREAFTE BMAZR T IHFENERHEDE
BURE R R AR E A E R -

We consider provision for impairment loss of properties
held or under development for sale as a Key Audit Matter
because of the significance of the amount and the
accounting estimate involved are subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the
provision for impairment loss of properties held or under
development for sale is considered.

B Ft A EEERETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (continued)

@) # BEEFEENMGGHER S EWAR L EMER
THE RS BRI AR L R EFTHERR o

(4) Compared the estimated selling expenses to be incurred
to revenue ratio with the actual selling expenses to
revenue ratio of the Group.

6) HEIHFEXERFEENENEREREERETERER
LEEEREFHETHERLE - LEHEEREEL/
AT FER AR ERM o

(6) Compared, on a sample basis, the actual realisation
of properties held or under development for sale with
management’s estimate made in last year to evaluate
the accuracy of management’s net realisable value
assessment.

6) BVSERERUMNAIFRFEANE  WHEBAMERELES
TR E T IS ERIHEMENREE BB ER
1 o

(6) Obtained the net realisable value calculation prepared by
the management and tested the accuracy by recalculate
the provision for impairment loss of properties held or
under development for sale, on a sampling basis.

BEZMEATHETEF  BMRAEEBH T IHEX
EREEYENREFERBNATERMKENEEX
o

Based on the procedures performed, we consider
management’s estimates on provision for impairment loss
of properties held or under development for sale were
supported by the evidence we gathered.

i85 B £ IR B R 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 1 07
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
the 2024 annual report of the Company but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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Ve O EDRTE » BRI BE A 88 AR BR AL AT 4% AR
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

28 March 2025

Lam Yau Hing
Practising Certificate No.: P06622
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R2024F12A31H
As at 31 December 2024

20245 20234
2024 2023
BT ARET R ARETIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
YE - R NE Property, plant and equipment 6(a) 3,739,661 3,861,304
ERREE Right-of-use assets 6(0) 1,032,060 1,060,960
KBy Investment properties 7 122,852,249 121,088,100
EBREE Intangible assets 8 40,702 284,016
REEE A RIIRE Investments in associates 9 10,460,200 12,854,475
RESDEMIRE Investments in joint ventures 10 10,648,135 11,714,732
BILASFHEE Deferred income tax assets 22 6,125,095 6,607,576
AR EEFEBEED Financial assets at fair value through
SFARHBENSREE profit or loss 12 304,684 366,989
R AT EZ S RVEE Financial assets at amortised costs 13 - 267,411
Bl Goodwil - 777
B 5 N H b U I8 A M Trade and other receivables and prepayments
FERIFIA 16 653 639
ERBEERE Total non-current assets 155,203,439 158,106,979
RBEE Current assets
METHTENZIE Prepayments for leasehold land 14 1,875,460 2,095,610
TIFERFEEEDE Properties held or under development for sale 15 97,029,850 142,531,410
B 5 N H Ao U TR IE A N Trade and other receivables and prepayments
FERIFIA 16 42,366,724 50,928,943
AHEIGHA Contract costs 23 1,475,183 3,336,978
AR EEFTELHEH A Financial assets at fair value through
Hi2mUENerEE other comprehensive income 12 93,805 148,608
AR EEFTEEHEH A Financial assets at fair value through
BHESHNESHEE profit or loss 12 366,874 270,704
BB EZ S RVEE Financial assets at amortised costs 13 95,310 169,410
XREFE Restricted cash 18 3,703,679 6,274,884
HeNE2ZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 18 6,914,613 13,225,030
mEEEARE Total current assets 153,921,498 218,981,577
EERE Total assets 309,124,937 377,088,556
e EQUITY
RAREE AEGRER Equity attributable to owners of the Company
IEA - mE Share capital: nominal value 19 5,822 5,822
G Reserves 46,348,002 45,866,173
46,353,824 45,871,995
FERBRER Non-controlling interests 40,435,935 44,637,346
RS Total equity 86,789,759 90,509,341
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R2024F12 A31H
As at 31 December 2024

20245 20234
2024 2023
MisE ARET T AREFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
af LIABILITIES
*rRBEE Non-current liabilities
B 5 R EM BN IR Trade and other payables 21 193,970 -
BN Borrowings 20 41,661,723 38,413,872
HEAE Lease liabilities B(0) 1,230,236 1,303,788
ELEMEHAE Deferred income tax liabilities 22 7,584,648 8,188,259
FRBaBEEE Total non-current liabilities 50,670,577 47,905,919
RBEE Current liabilities
B o5 NEMENTIE Trade and other payables 21 88,801,722 97,215,279
B U A AR08 Advances from lessees 1,002,453 1,012,257
BHAEE Contract liabilities 23 55,308,646 106,091,241
BIERFTE R E Current income tax liabilities 10,385,529 9,523,320
EEN Borrowings 20 16,071,392 24,755,728
HEAR Lease liabilities 6(b) 94,859 75,471
REBAEEHE Total current liabilities 171,664,601 238,673,296
BEHE Total liabilities 222,335,178 286,579,215
EEkEEEE Total equity and liabilities 309,124,937 377,088,556

il AU R IEEBEN & SIS EREM  The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
F—OFRE - conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

N E113EE3008 2 M B WKL M202553  The financial statements on pages 113 to 300 were approved by the
AosHEESESHE WA THESERRKES  Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

BRE -

-2 fek 8B

Wang Xiaosong Lu Zhongming
0 £

Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HZE2024F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

20244 20234
2024 2023
M5t AR¥T T AREFIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FEREEK Continuing operations
=0 Revenue 23 89,226,520 119,463,530
SHE MRS A AN Cost of sales and services 25 (74,242,114)  (103,295,543)
EF| Gross profit 14,984,406 16,167,987
WEWMENRBME(EGIE),/  Fair value (losses)/gains on investment
W properties 7 (39,030) 23,353
SHE KB AR Selling and marketing costs 25 (4,032,137) (5,209,342)
1TERFSZ Administrative expenses 25 (3,193,640) (4,149,847)
ERMEERESEFRE Net impairment losses on financial assets (908,136) (1,197,403)
HabgA Other income 24 81,305 160,918
=l Other expenses 24 (3,688) (10,037)
Hith(&518), Wz — F58 Other (losses)/gains — net 24 (125,823) 439,325
R Operating profit 6,763,257 6,224,954
BRI A Finance income 26 78,269 297,430
BhE AR R Finance costs 26 (2,982,154) (3,035,696)
BEREK—F5E Finance costs - net (2,903,885) (2,738,266)
il /N E Share of results of associates 9 636,575 692,825
[EIAENEES Share of results of joint ventures 10 (302,001) 840,158
R} AT 15 8¢ AT RIS Profit before income tax 4,193,946 5,019,671
Frigfi st Income tax expense 28 (3,511,848) (5,486,705)
REFELEELN Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations
FIE, (&51E) 682,098 (467,034)
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SHEER
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

202445 2023
2024 2023
BfaE AR%ET ARBT T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
RERLREERNFE Profit from discontinued operation 35 - 1,251,606
FRFH Profit for the year 682,098 784,572
FEEEERE(FE) : Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to:
—RATIEEEAA — Equity holders of the Company 491,312 879,296
— IR AR R — Non-controlling interests 190,786 (94,724)
682,098 784,572
RATEZIEEAEWN Earnings/(Loss) per share for
HEKEERTE, (i) profit/(loss) from continuing operations
WERER,(EHE) attributable to equity holders of the
Company
—ERERRHN(ER) - Basic earnings/(loss) per share 29 AE®0.07 T ARK (0.05) 7T
RMB0.07 RMB(0.05)
—EREERT,(E8) — Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 29 AE®0.07 T AR (0.05) 7T
RMB0.07 RMB(0.05)
RATERTE ARG Earnings per share for profit attributable
FlENESREF to equity holders of the Company
— FIFELA B F| — Basic earnings per share 29 AR 007t ARKEO0127T
RMBO0.07 RMBO0.12
— SRS R T — Diluted earnings per share 29 AR 007t AR®¥0127T
RMBO0.07 RMBO0.12

il EOHEE R BN A MY BHRERMETE—  The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in
BEBIE o conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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BOFEEWRER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
HE2024F12A31BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

20244 20234
2024 2023
BfaE AR%ET ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FRRE Profit for the year 682,098 784,572
Hib2mE(E5E) W Other comprehensive (loss)/income
HignpkER 548518252  Items that may be reclassified subsequently
HH to profit or loss
—EHEE N =R — Currency translation differences (11,434) (62,646)
—UAREBEFEBHESE - Changes in fair value of debt instruments
FFAEM MR at fair value through
BEBIAAREBEE other comprehensive income 12 6,377 (134,501)
B reEZ 25182  Items that will not be reclassified
HH subsequently to profit or loss
— PR A SR A 2R FE (R — Currency translation differences
HHIEH =5 attributable to non-controlling interests (4,948) (30,119
— A ABRM RS — Share of other comprehensive
—FEEE AR EAM income of an associate accounted
e for using the equity method 9 455 (5,668)
—NUAAnBEFEEAEE — Changes in fair value of equity
FTAE M2 IR ER investments at fair value through
RAZE R EEE other comprehensive income 12 (764) (10,533)
— @R  WMENRESE - Revaluation gain on transfer from
HEMENEH R property, plant and equipment to
investment properties 7 - 482,592
—Hith — Others 12 2,403 (57,643)
ERHME2E(EBE) W Other comprehensive (loss)/income
(H0Re#iE) for the year, net of tax (7,911) 181,482
FEZEKNEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 674,187 966,054
EREEREWEE (B5i8) Total comprehensive income/(loss)
A for the year attributable to:
—RAREEFEA — Equity holders of the Company 485,945 1,151,700
— JEEAR AR SR A — Non-controlling interests 188,242 (185,646)
674,187 966,054
RELUTRIEMNAQATELZ Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
BEAEBGLEERZA the year attributable to equity holders
Wz (EE8) of the Company arises from:
—BHEREERS — Continuing operations 485,945 (94,381)
— IR P ETS - Discontinued operation - 1,246,081
485,945 1,151,700

et mbEREEBEN G MBI The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be
FE—OFBIE - read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

i85 B £ IR B R 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 1 1 7
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




EOtEREF R
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2024F12AG1HIEEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

AARREREAEL
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
FER
Bx KRR AtRE  EER  REEA Nt RRBE  BREE
Non-
Share Share Other  Treasury  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserves stock  eamings  Sub-total interests equity

Wit ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR
Nole ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R04E1A1R At1 January 2024 580 3074902  (499,350)  (113816) 43404437 45871995 44,637,346 90,509,341

EmfE Proftfor the year - - }
A2 EER Other comprefensive oss - - [53%0) -

491312 491312 190786 682,098
(5,367) (2,544) (7.911)

HENUE2RNALEE Total comprehensive income for the year
PENREE ended 31 December 2024 - - (5,367)

491312 485045 188,242 674,187

ERNERBIREREAA Transactions with equity holders,

35 recognised directly in equity

SRR ETED Capitalreduction from non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - (1,997471)  (1997471)
Y& Acquistion of subsiciaries 31 - - - - - - 15194 1519
HETF A Disposal of subsidiaries 3 - - - - - - (759,250)  (759,250)
FRERE Dividends of subsidiaries - - - - - - (654371)  (654,371)
BEARBRERNRS Transactions with non-controling inferests 87 - - 268% - - 26856 (1,108,755 (1,076,8%9)
£ Others - - 1648 - wao (3097 - (pogm)
- - B - (AT400) (4116 (4380653 (4393769)
RNUE12R ANLE Balance at 31 December 2024 5802 3074902 (461433  (113816) 43,848,349 46,353,624 40,435,935 86,789,759
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BOEREHR

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HZE2024F12A31BIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

RRAERREARR
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
HiEl
ke BbEE  EtEE  BRR  RERN N BRER  EREE
Non-
Share Share Other  Treasuy  Retained controling Total
captal  premium  reserves stock  eamings  Sub-fofl  interests equity
W ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Note ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB(OOO  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB0O
R2023E181H At1 January 2023 5800 3074902 (138437)  (113816) 42005141 44753612 48060729 93,014,341
ERFE/(5E) Profit/oss) for the year - - - - 879296 879296 (04724) 784572
Eh2mks/(Bi) Other comprehensive income(oss) - - M - - MM (099 181482
HENBE2RNALEE Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
2EhE/ (BE)4E the year ended 31 December 2023 - -4 - 879296  1,151700  (185646) 966,054
ERNERRIREREAA Transactions with equity holders,
LRA recognised directly in equity
FERERZAREN Capital contoutons from non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - 80,245 80,245
SRR EARD Captal reduction from non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - (199,660 (199,660)
HEFAT Disposal of subsidiares 3,38 - - (2,073 - - 201y BT (59,990
Fhaks Dividends of subsidiaries - - - - - (1,601,542 (1, 60 542)
SRR ERNRS Transactions with non-controling interests 37 - - (526%) - - (26%) (1658863 (1,711561)
-0 Others - - 21454 - - 21,454 - 21 ,454
- - (33.317) - - (33317)  (3437,737)  (3.471,084)
ROBE12AN ANLR Balance at 31 December 2023 5800 3014902 (499350)  (113816) 43404437 45,871,095 44,637,346 90,509,341

A O R 2 B D 3R B R BB BT & OF BT TS AR P

6 -

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial

statements.
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BHRERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE2024F12A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

20244 20234
2024 2023
BfaE AR®T T ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

RETBHABRERE Cash flows from operating activities
RETHMFRS Cash generated from operations 32 3,874,767 12,427,954
SRS Interest paid (3,734,415) (4,377,586)
BN BEMEH PRC income tax paid (629,384) (1,244,443)
BT B IR PRC land appreciation tax paid (2,148,050) (809,017)

BeSEE (FTE),Fie Net cash flows (used in)/generated

BEREREE from operating activities (2,637,082) 5,996,908
RETBAERSRE Cash flows from investing activities
#5461 MBWEIRMIESE  Business combination, net of cash 31 84,282 (41,092)
REREWZ Additions of investment properties (1,889,566) (2,200,285)
NEYE  BEMERENAR Additions of property, plant and equipment

JEmBENE TR A and prepayments for non-current assets (48,689) (278,535)
HEWE - BEMRENAR Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

EE ESIIE and equipment and intangible assets 999 871,512
HE TS ARIFTSIE  Proceeds from disposal of an associate - (23,258)
NEEVEE Additions of intangible assets 8 (665) (2,655)
REEE R EIRIRE Investments in associates 9 (7,501) (210,687)
REELENRE Investments in joint ventures 10 (48,800) (15,209)
HEFRRRERS - Disposal of subsidiaries and business,

HRBEELEERS net of cash disposed 35, 38 247,626 1,402,758
=G ) Dividends received 1,176,313 1,321,747
2 W F & Interest received 70,831 319,883
mEgET & Fundings to related parties and

BEPEERAER joint venture partners (6,538,342) (7,984,020)
BEREELT X Repayment of fundings to related parties

BEDEES AR and joint venture partners 7,106,437 8,621,778
HENAREESS A% Proceeds from disposal of financial

S H R ERES assets at falrl valge through other

SRAEFSHE comprehensive income 28,439 93,625
W AN A BEET 2 B & &5t Acquisition of financial assets at fair

AEHERNEHEE value through profit or loss (200,000) (12,150)
HENARBESEZBEEE Proceeds from disposal of financial assets

STAEBEEA at fair value through profit or loss

TREESHIE 13,385 419,675
W B R A AT E 2 Acquisition of financial assets

TREE at amortised costs (165,721) (79,766)
HEREENAGTE 2 Proceeds from disposal of financial

SREESHRE assets at amortised costs 700,444 15,335
EREDEIERNBRIREE Capital reduction and disposal of joint

ventures 10 363,632 1,025,690

BENRzEANRDMEE  Capital reduction and disposal of associates g 1,617,071 413,422
RETEHAE Net cash flows generated from

BEREFE investing activities 2,510,175 3,657,768

1 2 i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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EHEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2024F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

20244 20234
2024 2023
BfaE AR%ET ARBT T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
AETEFBRENRE Cash flows from financing activities
fERPTIS IR Proceeds from borrowings 32(b) 22,867,912 20,110,870
B Repayments of borrowings 32(b) (28,365,675) (36,636,833)
B T IR AT B Interest bearing funds from related parties 36(b) 193,970 -
MR R ER T IR E Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (654,371) (1,601,542)
IR AR R A 2 B ANIE N Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - 80,245
IR AR B A 2 B AN D Capital reduction by
non-controlling interests (1,997,471) (199,660)
REFARIGHERAEFREZA  Fundings from non-controlling
B interests of subsidiaries 2,980,631 3,867,735
EEREFRRIIEZER Payment for fundings from
A% R RE R A B TR non-controlling interests of subsidiaries - (2,660,965)
ERASEIE IR R R AT 5 Transaction with non-controlling interests 37 (1,076,899) (1,711,561)
HENRBH AL H Principal elements of lease payments 6 (77,968) (127,782)
RETEFTAREREFHE Net cash flows used in financing
activities (6,129,871) (18,879,493)
ReRASEEYRD FH Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (6,256,778) (9,224,817)
FHMBRE MRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year 13,225,030 22,435,399
&5 (&518) ek Exchange (losses)/gains (53,639) 14,448
EANRERREZEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 18 6,914,613 13,225,030

Lt AR TREREEEMN A EIHREM  The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
sE— B8 - conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

1

—RE#

i ERIERERAR ([ A2A7])#2010
F4H23AREBEMASES D ANVA(20105FE
IR EHRERSEMK Y AEREBRA
A) o ELEH i3 % iR 3 ik /&3 Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, P.O.
Box 31119, Grand Cayman KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands °

ARRREFAR (GBI AEER]HEE
EBARPEARAMB((HEDKEY
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HEBKREBRRAG([BEHEE]) =2
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Seazen Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 23 April 2010 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (2010 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, P.O. Box 31119, Grand
Cayman KY1-1205, Cayman Islands.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) are property development and property investment in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company’s parent
company is Wealth Zone Hong Kong Investments Limited (“Wealth
Zone Hong Kong”) and the Company’s ultimate holding company
is First Priority Group Limited, both of which are incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is
Mr. Wang Zhenhua (“Mr. Wang” or the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The Company’s shares began to list on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on 29
November 2012 (the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
Renminbi (“RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements set out on pages 113 to
300 have been approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors (the “Board”) of the Company on 28 March 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 BIHEHRE
21 RAEBE

0]

(ii)

(iii)

BTERMBREEN([EEBY
BHREERQ ) REB QA FH
([ &B2REA )

MW BRRZERERAFNEG G
BRERERBEE BV REER
e BTEBRRGRDINER
FE W BB B AP RE S B AR A
(T LR DEERRERE

JE 52 R ASTE

2 GEET RS HR R 1B S A
% WERRAA BEFIEN L
INNTEE e D EDN T

AFAEHRE DN REEE R
RABEFELAEEHTARLM
2HRE(ARAEEFERR
FEARLMEEKE SR
BENREBREYMEROEGBMEHL

A% -
+ 42 4% A 1 3
SFIEKERE

M2024F12 A31H » A& HE
MBBEBERBEENAR
¥ 17,743,103,000 7¢ ° @ H
REBEHERETHARE
16,071,392,0007T * e B2
ZEUERIRHRAESINOAR
#6,014,613,000 7T &2 # A R ¥
3,703,679,0007T °

b EERERRAFHEAEE
PHARERELERNELS
REBNEANTEEME

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements of the Seazen Group
Limited have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS and
comply with the applicable requirements of the HKCO and
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVPL”) and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income ("FVOCI”) and investment
properties, which are carried at fair value.

Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB17,743,103,000. As at the same date, the Group
had current borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB16,071,392,000 in aggregate, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately RMB6,914,613,000
and restricted cash amounted to approximately
RMB3,703,679,000.

The above events and conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SEBRBE(E)

2.1 RBEE(E)
(i) HELEEEE(E)
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Going concern basis (continued)

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance
of the Group, its available sources of financing, past
performance of management and policy trend in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial sources to
continue as a going concern. With the efforts made in the
past year, the Group fully capitalised on the policy support
to optimise facility line and structure and reduce financing
costs, ensuring the full payment in the open market when
maturity. The following measures are formulated to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of
the Group:

1) further enhancing the Group’s advantages in
commercial operation management and increasing
the commercial operation revenue as a major source
of funds for repayments of principals and interests of
interests-bearing liabilities;

2) continuing to leverage financial policy support to
increase operating property loan financing, increase
open market bond financing, actively promote the
registration and issuance of consumer infrastructure
REITS, actively participate in real estate related
innovative financing, and at the same time actively
promote equity financing to increase capital and
funding, adjust the gearing structure and reduce
the gearing ratio. Seizing the opportunity of market
stabilisation to restore and enhance principal credit
financing to complement asset credit financing;

3) seizing the opportunities of implementing resumption
policy and adopting various methods to revitalise
existing assets to increase cash sources;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE2024F 12831 B IEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SEHHREHME(E) 2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

21 RBIEAE(HE) 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) FELEEE(HE) (iii) Going concern basis (continued)

4) HEEENoRER X TR E R R4
EEMBE RUBBEE
ZHNReE - EERA
X o B TRR MR A
St MREEEBRIER
HIT o

ESCENERERENAEH
HeERmETEN - LRBHBAR
AT BHRERRE AT DOR12
EAMERE - ERITEMMISE
DBERE - 2EOBE S
WENTHMEEELR HEN
ARER EFeRAEEAEEK
BEMEGSEMNEEES IME
FOR AR AN &2 B 78 2024F 12 H
31 B & 1218 A ReL 45 B 2 Him
Bl - Bt - EFERARARF
BIREERBUANEENE Y
TBMEZIRER ©

BEMLL - ARBEREDHELE
BORRAKEGE S EEMFREL
EENEIMM - BHERBER
XEBRSHEREES RS
ERV BT UERREBER
REFEEE  MESEBRW
R/ BB IR - AR ERER
MftEmER  ZELBNFE
BT o 5 AR B EE T
PR SRS R R B IS AE AR E - Y
BHARMBRRFELAE - HE
SEEENREEMREEN M
WeHE  BRAURELNMBE
B UHFERBDEERIFRBE
BEOREFDBRARBEERR
PHRE ELARNFEYRR
BRIES BFAFS IR T -

4) continuing to enhance communications with major
constructors and supplier, amicably negotiating the
proper arrangements of payment schedules and
methods to smooth out the payments for project costs
and materials and keep the constructions of projects
proceeding as scheduled.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period
of not less than twelve months from the reporting date of the
consolidated financial statements. In view of the recovery
of industry and market confidence, comprehensive policy
support, extensive experience in liquidity management,
continuous availability of financing resources, the Boards
are of the opinion that, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months
from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the Board are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on a going concern basis.

Nevertheless, the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern is subject to its ability to consolidate its dominant
position in business operations and management, secure
new financing or reach necessary arrangements with
financial institutions by leveraging financial policy support,
capitalize on land acquisition and land bank policies to
revitalize existing assets, meet the terms/financial covenants
of various loans, and communicate with construction
and suppliers to properly arrange payment schedules
and methods. Should the Group be unable to achieve
the above mentioned measures and operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
financial statements and write down the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
recognise for any further liabilities which might arise, and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SEBRBE(E)

21 RBIEXE(E)

(iv) REER2024 FRMBIFER
CHE N E:2

AEBOREBE2024F1A1HH
M EERSHEE NERILT
BRI :

- HARESBERRDNIERY
REEZRBESSFOBBERT
AR (2020%F ) —&H B G LR
EALACCHIRN)

- MEXFENFRBDAB-F
B EFTERIE1FR(EETA)

- EREENHERE-FR
M REEAFE 165 (ER]
)

- HEARELHE-BAES
ERE7HRNB B EREE
AISE 7SR (ERTA)

ESCFRHME R AN A I RE R Y &
BUYEELTMNZEAENTE

HAHIRRAFBERNEAE
@,

1 2 i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New standard, amendments and interpretation
adopted by the Group in 2024

The Group has applied the following amendments for the
first time for their annual reporting period commencing
1 January 2024

— Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) — Amendments to HKAS 1

— Non-current Liabilities with Covenants — Amendments
to HKAS 1

— Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments
to HKFRS 16

— Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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HZE2024F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SETBRBE(E)

21 RBIEE(HE)
(v) MKREABITER R 22
EFHITe LR RS
STARRREDEHEM - 2024

F12 A31 Bk E BRI AR o8 H &
W BAREAREBIRFRN

MER - BETA - RERKE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(v) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2024
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

R BH
HZEBRE
SETHEEXN
Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on

New standards, amendments, interpretation and improvements or after
BRI EERF185% BSRERM 25 R R 20271 A18

HKFRS 18

BAMGHRE 195
HKFRS 19

EBIEHREERFESR K
BB BHRELERETR(EFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

EHBIEHREERE 105 &
BBSFIERIFE28% (185 4N)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BBSHERE215(BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21

EEMBRESTERI(EETA)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards

e ACCHIRN)

Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

B EER - BRI ARRER
AEE SR RFEHE T HA
SERABENARRSELSE
REE -

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027

|ANREEMENTAT : HE 202741 A1H

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures

TR TANSENMTENERT

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

WA H AR E N E
GREPE L EREIEABRE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

TRz Al Kt
Lack of Exchangeability

BEWHRESHENFREUE - F 111

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting

1 January 2027

202651 A1H

1 January 2026

) A FETE

Not yet determined
202551 A1H

1 January 2025

202651 H1H
1 January 2026

Standards — Volume 11

HBHREN 25 —ERAE B EFREKETER 202741 A1H
HEHERN DL

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

1 January 2027

These standards, amendments or interpretations are not
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

2.21 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

U

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (refer
to note 2.2.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This
is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (see (iv) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

221 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(i)

(iv)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of
its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint
ventures.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (iv) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates and
joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

221 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(iv) Equity accounting (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in note 2.2.5.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

221 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

V)

Changes in ownership interests (continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control,
joint control or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate
is reduced but joint control or significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

e fair values of the assets transferred;

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business;

e  equity interests issued by the Group;

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

e consideration transferred,

e amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity, and

e acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquired entity.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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22EREFTHERBE (&) 2.2Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
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2.2.2 Business combinations (continued)
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Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress as described below) are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Various costs incurred
for qualifying assets and borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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22EREFTHERBE (&) 2.2Summary of material accounting policies
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223 Y1% - BMERREE) 2.2.3 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of
leasehold improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

— Buildings 20-30 years
— Transport equipment 3-20 years
— Furniture, fitting and equipment 3-12 years
— Decoration 3-5 years

The assets’ residual value and useful life are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit
or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is group policy to
transfer any amounts included in other reserves in respect
of those assets to retained earnings.

2.24 Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by
the Group, is classified as investment property. Investment
property also includes property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

The Group is the lessor of certain leased properties.
For leased right-of-use assets together with leasehold
improvements leased out, the Group classifies them as
investment properties and measured them at fair value.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.24 Investment properties (continued)

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. After initial recognition, investment property is carried
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised and
presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or
condition of the specific asset. If this information is not
available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods
such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted
cash flow projections. These valuations are performed at
balance sheet date by external valuers.

Property under construction is measured at fair value if the
fair value is considered to be reliably measurable. If the
fair value cannot be reliably determined, the investment
property under construction will be measured at cost until
such time as fair value can be determined or construction is
completed, whichever is earlier. Any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its then carrying
amount shall be recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. Investment property that is being redeveloped
for continuing use as investment property, or for which the
market has become less active, continues to be measured
at fair value.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed when incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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22BE KRS HEME(E) 2.2Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
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2.24 Investment properties (continued)
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When an operating lease contract is entered into with
another party on a property originally held for owner-
occupation and upon the inception of the lease, the
property is transferred from property, plant and equipment
to investment property. The property, plant and equipment
is fair valued at the date of transfer, and any revaluation gain
is credited to other comprehensive income. The revaluation
gain included in equity will be transferred directly to retained
earnings when the revaluation gain is realised, when the
asset is derecognised.

225 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following items are subject to impairment testing:
- Goodwill;
—  Other intangible assets; and

—  Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets).

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.6 Properties held or under development for sale

Properties held or under development for sale are included
in current assets at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The costs of properties held or under development
consist of costs of leasehold land, construction expenditure,
capitalised borrowing costs and other direct costs incurred
during the development period. The costs of properties held
are determined by apportionment of the total development
costs for that development project attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business as determined
by management with reference to the prevailing market
conditions, less further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and selling and marketing costs.

2.2.7 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless as at
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the end of the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered in
classifying loan arrangement with covenants as current or
non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with after the reporting period do not affect the classification.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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(continued)

227 ERRAETKAA (4E) 2.2.7 Borrowings and borrowing costs (continued)
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Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facilities to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period when they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

228 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the year is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluate positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. The deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss, and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property
that is measured at fair value is determined assuming the
property will be recovered entirely through sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

228 BNHI IR PS8 (48) 228 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies the
requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to the lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
or in relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts
for such allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax
expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed
tax credits that are carried forward as deferred tax assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

229 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 SETBRBE(E)

22EREFHERME(E)

2210 WA FERR

(a) TXHRAMALEEEBUWAK

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2210 Revenue recognition

(a) The following is a description of the accounting policy

TR Z SFTEER for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

() HEYE () Sales of properties
RIEFTEYERERHE Control of the property under all the property
ARSI SRR K development and sales contract is transferred
—BEER  MIRARE at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
PEMERSIEEAS L the property is accepted by the customer, or
WREEEERM(BIRP deemed as accepted according to the contract,
BRENIETRERYE B which is the point in time when the customer has
BRZYELT A FISHH the ability to direct the use of the property and
BRI RARERHS obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
U BT SR A 2R B A ) K2 AT the property, and the Group has present right to
BEWEUR (BB T LARERR © payment and the collection of the consideration is

probable.

EEXSERE  A&EFH In determining the transaction price, the Group
TR E Rk D s 2 R R adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
RENEHE - the effect of a financing component.

(i) BEYEEERE (i)  Commercial property management service
AREBREEEMESE The Group provides commercial property

ARTS o REREIRG UK
AR RS 2 5T HIR]

management services. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered.

TEEMEEERERSEM For commercial property management services,
s AEEFAHAERME the Group billed a fixed amount each month for
B AR 7% B 2 R R services provided and recognised as revenue in the

B WHAKEAERMTL
HREAEDTRHENE
BEEZRCAZ SRBERS
YA o

amount to which the Group has a right to invoice
and corresponds directly with value of performance
completed.

Fi 3% R 2R B PR 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 1 43
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




BB R R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 SEBRBE(E)

22BE KD HEME(F) 2.2Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
2210 A TR (4]) 2210 Revenue recognition (continued)
@ (&) (@) (continued)

(i) BFEYREERE (&)

(i)  Commercial property management service (continueq)

s & #0352 TR BR#5 HO 35
g RZEBHBRER
HEBIMNEBLEES
BREOEME - WELEE
EXEEER  AefT
EEARSERER £
SELEDZ NI BN EF S
HE 2 TIGHERETTR
ate

FEURIRA AN SR B A 1R
ERAK 18 ) 2 fER1F 4 ) B
AR o W5 EE—BKE
RSB REHIME— AT
' AR EREN S E
fieF o

(i) AR

AEBZEE L ISR
AEFREZBIRE -
HAREBRE  RIAKH
HETEARBMAEE M

(i)

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services,
the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. If the standard-alone
selling prices are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus a margin or
adjusted market assessment approach, depending
on the availability of observable information.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has
an unconditional right to consideration. A right
to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Other services

The Group provides various services to its
customers at fixed or variable amounts. If the
consideration is variable, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled

s\ Al 75 1 A REUCER 2 AR in exchange for the promised goods or services.
BEE8 o ATEREMET The estimated amount of variable consideration is
SRETEERZFA included in the transaction price only to the extent
ST KAIRE g n] & that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
REBAEHTEEAZE in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
1B BRI R IR E AR O A will not occur when the uncertainty associated

BRT » TEHARSE
R o fi 5 P RIS ES K
BB RS EPTEEAF)
& NEAKEENBE
syl R SEEE

with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group recognises revenue
associated with fixed fees over time where the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group or when the

Ef R E E B AR B Group’s performance do not create an asset with
25 TERKR B XS R 08 alternative use and the Group has an enforceable
BB TE RIS - AEE right to perform completed to date, by reference
EREEREERAESL to completion of the specific transaction assessed

BEERAEEDEKZE
ERTRARZ Bt iR Y
HER HTHRIZE BRFE
pER AR RE T ERE
BRI

on the basis of the actual costs incurred up to the
end of the reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract.
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2 FEBERBME(E) 2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
22E RS HEME(E) 2.2Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

2210 WA TR (48]) 2210 Revenue recognition (continued)

(o) BEHIKA —EEA K Z KA (b) Contract cost — cost to obtain a contract
HEREHKLODREFEESE The Group recognises the incremental costs of
BHMIEERA - QRS obtaining a contract with a customer as an asset if the
B2 AR EBEE - ES entity expects to recover those costs. The incremental
BHMIEEKR K AER A costs of obtaining a contract are the costs that the
BREAHNENEHAEE Group incurs in its efforts to obtain a contract that
KA - HAREREAE 4 - 8l would not have been incurred if the contract had not
TEEEZKA ° been obtained.

) EHEaERY (c) Presentation of contract liabilities
BREFHELANEESR Advanced proceeds received from customers are
Bl o presented as contract liabilities.

(d) ERBEKD 2 TR (d) Accounting for significant financing component
RN E BB SR EERE Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, the amount
15551 - MEZHEBEEE AR of revenue recognised exceeds the amount of cash
B BIERWAE &5 received from the customers when an arrangement
MBBRAEFPREZESEHE - contains a significant financing component.

21 HE 2211 Leases

HEEAEERFRHEHEEEY Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a

HEMREERAEESERBES corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is

& ° available for use by the Group.

BB EHERIFMEI D - Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease

AREEZRAE NRIFFHEZHE components. The group allocates the consideration in the

FERBLER  BEOREDE contract to the lease and non-lease components based on

ZHERIIEHEZ D - A > © their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real

REBEARBANEMERE estate for which the group is a lessee, it has elected not

ms @ EERETESHEENIE to separate lease and non-lease components and instead

MEHD  MEEZEHEEAR accounts for these as a single lease component.

RE—REED -
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2211 Leases (continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the group under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 SETBRBE(E)

22BE KRS HEME(E) 2.2Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
2211 FHE (4E) 2211 Leases (continued)

RETEEEZNE - KAEH - To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o TER[EENERT - {2 A (&R e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
HARTESNE=Z7TRE received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
ABHEELAE - AR adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since
BEESE=ZFRENRRE third party financing was received;

ESEaEop=d
o FHEIZE BHAMALEE e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free

A HENEERR (&K interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
WEE = F &) FARER R the Group, which does not have recent third party
= R financing, and

e FHAERTEWNAE - flu e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
HARR « BR - B IR - country, currency and security.

P EBIRA GBIBI R A R
BB AR SR HH R
RS BB - Al
TR DA B B
B R RRIE -

AR B R SR P] BE T B B X FE Bk
) 2= ] 2 AR B FRE 0 H AL
B - 1A BR 8 BN R 7 A AT
TEHAHERE - EREBER
HAEEEENRELNAEL
My HERBRSREERESE
EETEN L LA -

HEMNRRAE RBEKA ZH
DB > MEKARERHAE AR
& W EMORSR A ERRE
HEREE R BHIA K o

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take effect.
When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or
rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted
against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2211 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
amortised over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the
Group revalues its land and buildings that are presented
within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to
do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment
and small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position based on their nature.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 g%-i_ﬁk mg(mﬁ)

23 HMEHBEME 2.3 Summary of other accounting policies

231 BB ISRk

2.3.1 Separate financial statements

RF RRZEE T AR A ER B
BAK RABRRENEEE
HRA - FRBZEEREWE
FEM A BEF AR R ZBRA -

BWEIRERFRENRE - M
ZEBHBE T ARAES KRS H
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%&#Rlﬁﬁﬁvﬁ&ﬁ R
REEBGCHBEERTIERLER
RE HITHER  BEVBEE
R E R BILIRAR

I]]]

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

2.3.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker.

The board of the Company has appointed a strategic
steering committee which assesses the financial
performance and position of the Group, and makes
strategic decisions. The steering committee, which has
been identified as being the chief operating decision maker,
consists of the chief executive officer, the chief financial
officer and the manager for corporate planning.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.3 Foreign currency translation

U)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). Since the majority
of the assets and operations of the Group are located
in the PRC, the financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the functional currency of the Company
and the presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they
relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the statement of profit or loss within
‘finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within ‘other gains or losses
—net’.
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2 SETBRBE(E)

23HME
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated
(i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the
transaction date). Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such
as equities held at FVPL are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as financial assets at FVOCI are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position of the Group entities are translated at the
closing date of that statement of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income
of the Group entities are translated at average
exchange rate; and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated as
a separate component of equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

2.3.4 Discontinued Operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale. The results of discontinued operation are
presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

235 Intangible assets

U)

(i)

(i)

Trademarks, patent and client resources

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licences and
client resources acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They
have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Computer software

Computer software of the Group comprises acquired
computer software which is capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software.

Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited

useful life using the straight-line method over the
following periods:

Trademarks 10 years
Computer software 5 years
Patent 10 years
Client resources 10 years

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives,
are tested for impairment as described below in note
2.2.5.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.6 Investments and other financial assets

@ »nia (@) Classification

REEEBEESREEILR The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

FFEERSHE ¢ measurement categories:

o HERAREEFENS e those to be measured subsequently at fair value
BEEGIAHMZEEW (either through other comprehensive income, or
wmEkEt ABR) & through profit or loss), and

o HEIHENAGENTHRE e those to be measured at amortised cost.

o

DEETEEESESMEE The classification depends on the entity’s business

MEBEARRSRENS model for managing the financial assets and the

AERMIE contractual terms of the cash flows.

AR BEISENEEM For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses

T WEREERERIBED will either be recorded in profit or loss or other

E2EREREEE - stIr3E comprehensive income. For investments in equity

HBIEEEmMIRATEREM instruments that are not held for trading, this will

5 AR T AREER VL RE depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable

REEE S EL Tl B0 Ay ® election at the time of initial recognition to account for

B BRAEEZUNARE the equity investment at FVOCI.

BEEAEZHTAEME

AR T RALR ©

BEHEEAEBREEZE The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only

ENEBEANRER g when its business model for managing those assets

HEBREETENDE - changes.

(b) Fr= (o) Measurement

RIS R AEEIRE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial

AREEMNE(WEeERmEEL asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
FURARBEFEEHEES asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
HATHEBER)NESHEE attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

EERRENRZIRATFES
MEE - RUAREBENE
BHEHFTAZHIERTER
MEREENRXIRARE

PFRIARP I ©

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.6 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(b)

Measurement (continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses), net, together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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(continued)
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2.3.6 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

b) t=(48) (o) Measurement (continued)

EFETAE) Debt instruments (continued)
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses), net. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses), net and
impairment loss are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises. Dividend
income from these financial assets is included in
other income.



B OB R EE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SETBRBE(E)

2.3 Hftb ST BUERME (&)

236 RERHMERMEE (H)

(b)

tE(&)

p=1113

KATA

AEBHERRAABENE
FRBEBRARE - HAKEE
BEECEZENEME2E KR
2IRARENR A EERK
R - BIR R TR
BRER  AnEERSR
ERTBEHOBEERS -
7R 5 B U ER A R A ) B
VE RERENRBHEE
KBz HERREMUA -

KRR BEFERBEZH
ANERERNEMEENE
BRAestEaR(ER) H
e as (B 1R) F 8 P i
ReUAnrBEFEARE
By 5t A\ H i 2 1 U A B9 AR AR
BEMREER(RERR
‘o) reEAn EENEMD

BB -

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.6 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(b)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in
other gains/(losses), net in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.6 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(©

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instrument carried at amortised cost and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note
3.1.2 details how the Group determines whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

For other receivables, financial assets at amortised
cost and financial assets at FVOCI, the Group applies
the general model for expected credit loss prescribed
by HKFRS 9, since credit risk has not significantly
increased after initial recognition, the loss allowance
recognised was therefore limited to 12 months
expected losses.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2.3.7 Trade and other receivables

When a trade and other receivable is uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account for trade and other
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are included in current assets,
except for those maturing more than twelve months after
the reporting period (or out of the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer) which are classified as non-current
assets.

See note 16 for further information about the Group’s
aging for trade and other receivables and note 3.1.2 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.3.8 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Restricted cash is excluded from
cash and cash equivalents.

239 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months after the reporting period (or out of the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

239 Trade and other payables (continued)

Debt restructuring is a transaction in which, without
changing the counterparty, a new agreement is reached
between the creditor and debtor, or ruled by a court,
regarding the time, amount, or method of debt repayment.

As a debtor, if the Group repay the debts by transferring
assets, the relevant assets and debts should be
derecognised when meeting the conditions of derecognition.
The difference between the book value of settled debts and
transferred assets shall be recognised in the profit and loss.

In addition, if debt restructuring is carried out by modifying
other terms which resulting in the derecognition of
the original debt, the Group shall initially measure the
restructured debt at fair value according to the modified
terms. The difference between the initially measurement
amount of the restructured debt and the book value of
the original debt on the date of derecognition shall be
recognised in the profit and loss. If the modification of other
terms does not result in the derecognition of the original
debt, the original debt shall continue to be measured
according to its original classification, and the gains or
losses arising from the modification shall be recognised in
the profit and loss.
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(continued)
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23 HMETBERME(E) 2.3Summary of other accounting policies

(continued)

2310 ETER 2310 Employee benefits
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In accordance with the rules and regulations of mainland
China, the mainland China based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit
plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the mainland China under which the Group
and the mainland China based employees are required to
make monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to a certain
ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired mainland China based employees payable
under the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits of
its employees. The assets of these plans are held separately
from those of the Group in independently administrated
funds managed by the municipal and provincial
governments.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(@) when the group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2311 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of

e the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based
on the present value of the difference in cash flows
between the contractual payments required under the
debt instrument and the payments that would be required
without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would
be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part
of the cost of the investment.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

23.12 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, by

e the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury stock.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic earnings per share to take into

account:

e the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential

ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

23Summary of other accounting policies
(continued)

2313 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting
period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

2314 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets, see note 12
below.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see note 11 below. Any other
interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1.1 Market risk

M

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is engaged in the development, sale and
management of properties solely in the PRC with
almost all the transactions denominated in RMB,
except for certain borrowings from banks and issuance
of senior notes which are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar (“HKD”) or United States Dollar (“USD”). As of
31 December 2024 and 2023, majority of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB except
that certain cash and borrowings are denominated in
HKD or USD.

Cash and borrowings not denominated in functional
currency is subject to foreign exchange risk.
Fluctuations in the exchange rates of HKD and USD
against RMB will affect the Group’s result of operations.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management closely monitors
the foreign exchange exposure and will take actions
when necessary.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5%, against HKD and USD with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the
year would have been RMB362,847,000 (2023:
RMB190,916,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
net foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD
and USD denominated bank deposits and borrowings.
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3 EREERESRTE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (continued)

(i)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because of
investments held by the Group and classified on the
consolidated statement of financial position either as
FVPL (note 12) or FVOCI (note 12). In the opinion of
the directors, the Group’s exposure to price risk with
regard to its investments is not significant since it is
the Group’s policy not to invest significant amounts
that might have a detrimental impact to the Group’s
financial results. All investments must be approved by
the Chairman of the Board before they may be entered
into.

The following table summarises the impact of increase/
(decrease) of fair value of the financial assets with all
other variable held constant on net profit and other
comprehensive income.

A Hi2EhE
Net profit Other comprehensive income
BZ12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 2023%F 2024 2023F
2024 2023 2024 2023

ARBTR  ARMTE ARBTR ARWTE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000

— 5% ~ 5 percent higher
— 5% - 5 percent lower

33,578 31,885 4,690 7,430
(33,578) (31,885) (4,690) (7,430)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Except for cash deposits in the bank and certain
balances in trade and other receivables and financial
assets at amortised cost, the Group has no other
significant interest-generating assets.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is
mainly attributable to its borrowings. Borrowings at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. The Group has not
hedged its cash flow or fair value interest rate risk. The
interest rate and terms of repayments of borrowings are
disclosed in note 20.

Management does not anticipate significant impact
to interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes
in interest rates, because the interest rates of bank
deposits and certain balances in trade and other
receivables are not expected to change significantly.
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3 EREERESRTE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31 mEEEE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
311 iE RS (&) 3.1.1 Market risk (continued)
iy WEREMARLEBEFER (i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

B (48)

72024 F K 2023 F 12 A 31 As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, if interest rates on
B WZEERMELR borrowings with floating rates had been 50 basis points
THAB0MEER - mTAE 1t higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the
AEREERFTE  BIRE post-tax profit and capitalised interest of the Group for
B & 22024 F N 2023F 12 A the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 would
STHIEFEBRBEFER have changed as follows:

BEREMBEBIT

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 20234F
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BREEFIECRA), /1IN Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase

— 50 EEE, - 50 basis points higher (56,572) (34,595)
— T FA50E A2, - 50 basis points lower 56,572 34,595

BAEFBIEIN, (R4 ) Capitalised interest increase/(decrease)
— EFA50 EE 2, - 50 basis points higher 23,938 56,180
— T FA50 R A2 - 50 basis points lower (23,938) (56,180)
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3 EREEREMITE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3 1 Ejﬁ&ﬂﬁli(mﬁ)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

M2 EERK 3.1.2 Credit risk
AREEHGHEAEEZ S REMER The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade

IR SRITREFR  REHAX
A EZERMEE  UAREE
AAEREZFHTAEHERNS
BMEE - UAABEAEEEE
P ARMEEKRENEREE
MBI BRERENERRR -

B 5 K E A MR - 128 H K
AAEBZEMEE - U EBE
n‘l—iﬂﬁ Ejjn‘l’kﬁ{ﬂiﬁj‘lyﬁ_:&
NEMEE  XBRHBRSAKRER
EhRLFEYNRREREAE

EpeRmEEMAERNRAEER
}_wuu o

EERREERIAZISHTF
RERBEEMTAZGRETHE
fEﬁﬁ AEERZMBERZ
c REERMTEREER
%J’ELZ’JZT%’IE TR & &S
HREFEFEEERRETEE
g REEERRIETRE
BB - KB BRERE A R )
FHERBARZENRR - HEE
ARZAEMAXF N ZAENE
BR REMANLTIER

MEE RRFAR
o HMBIERFTAR

o TEHIKEHERAEERES

BRE NELEBREL 2 BIE
HEREHOER - MK
OB BRI &

s EBRANKEXEEREL
HIEHRELEBARES

s FA—fERANEMERTA
EERRAEE L

and other receivables, cash deposits with bank, financial
assets at amortised cost, financial assets at FVPL, financial
assets at FVOCI and financial guarantee.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables,
financial assets at amortised costs, financial assets at
FVOCI, restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge the obligation
under the terms of financial instrument and cause a financial
loss to the Group. The Group considered the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an on-
going basis throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there’s a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

* internal credit rating

e external credit rating

e actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the

borrower’s ability to meet its obligations

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the borrower

Risk management

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and buyers. The maximum extent of the
Group’s credit exposure in relation to financial assets is
represented by the aggregate balance of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivable,
financial assets at FVPL and derivative financial
instruments included in the consolidated statement
of financial position and financial guarantees provided
to related companies and guarantees on mortgage
facilities.

Cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality
banks. The Group has policies in place to ensure
that sales of properties are made to customers with
an appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payment. Credit is granted to
customers with sufficient financial strength. It also
has continuous monitoring procedures to ensure the
collection of the receivables as scheduled and follow up
action is taken to recover overdue debts, if any.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(@)

Risk management (continued)

Certain customers of the Group have arranged
bank financing for their purchases of the properties.
The Group typically provides guarantees to secure
obligations of such customers for repayments,
normally up to the time when the customers obtain the
legal certificates of the property ownership. Detailed
disclosure of these guarantees is made in note 34.

Cash in banks (included restricted cash)

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited with state-owned banks and
other medium or large size listed banks. Management
does not expect that there will be any significant losses
from non-performance by these counterparties.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. To measure the ECL, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The ECL also
incorporate forward looking information.
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3 EREEREMITAE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
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2024 F K 2023 F 12 A 31
B B 5EWRIEZ BB

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)
(c) Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance
was determined as follows for trade receivables:

HBEEWT
B
Current
AR¥ET T
RMB’000
72024512831H As at 31 December 2024
BRI B2 Individual basis
BERIEREZESERFIEZ Gross carrying amount of trade receivables for
HERTE individual items 1,826
A IE =R Expected loss rate 100%
B e Loss allowance (1,826)
2 5 WA Trade receivables .
7A2024F12831H As at 31 December 2024
EREE Collective basis
B S EIWFIE 2 BMREE Gross carrying amount of trade receivables
(ERIIE B BR M) except individual items 606,607
TEHRES I X Expected loss rate 2.28%
BB BE Loss allowance (13,809)
B S EWGRIA Trade receivables 592,798
72023%12A31H As at 31 December 2023
KREE Collective basis
B S EWGIA  BRTEE Gross carrying amount of trade receivables
(A58 B KM except individual items 710,778
TEHRETIE = Expected loss rate 2.25%
EER A Loss allowance (16,021)
5 W EIE Trade receivables 694,757
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3 BIKEREERERMTA(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31 BREREE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
M2 EERB(E) 3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)
() EBSEizmE(E) () Trade receivables (continued)
M12A31H - BHEWFIA The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31
ZEERERBEYEEERE December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as
HIRWT - follows:

HZ12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
M1B1H At 1 January 16,021 15,075
FARBERER B Increase in loss allowance recognised
I AN in profit or loss during the year 77,801 946
FAME 2 Amount written off during the year (78,187) -
W12831H At 31 December 15,635 16,021
BEEAIETEHI A YR [T A - Trade receivables are written off when there is no
B 5 EW IR iy - & reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
EAIBTEEAR RO 2 HEEE S there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
WEEB AR BN E EER amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
BREEIE - repayment plan with the Group.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(d)

Other receivables

The Group uses three categories for other receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision
is determined for each of those categories. These
internal credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit
ratings.

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the

PRV BBt T - Group’s expected credit loss model is as follows:

W] AEBHEZEIZESR BRAPEEFEREZEE STEFERAZEE
Group definition of Basis for recognition of Basis for calculation

Category category expected credit loss provision of interest revenue

E—H EPELHREREBBEER®E 12 AEHEE - WEE2EEEF SREE

NEEBHNERZRER

Customers have a low risk
of default and a strong
capacity to meet
contractual cash flow

Stage one

BYIFHERAREERRE
E 02 FEWGRIE
Receivables for which there
is a significant increase
in credit risk since initial
recognition

ER

Stage two

BYISERENE FEERRE
FEW R IE

Receivables for which
there is a credit risk
since initial recognition

FE=R

Stage three

ARmBEBMERERER
HEFIRBEESEEERR
Al - RETEBRBEEBR
R AREEEZEEER
EWHRAZELBRE I
BhATEE M A R BRI BRI
HAFHE -
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BHE12[EA 2R - RITREIEIE
REBMTERHE

12 months expected losses. Where

Gross carrying amount

the expected lifetime of an asset
is less than 12 months, expected
losses are measured at its
expected lifetime

FERAHEE

Lifetime expected losses

FERREEE

Lifetime expected losses

HERmEE

Gross carrying amount

BEIEARBRENE (05
EERHE)

Amortised cost carrying
amount (net of credit
allowance)

The Company accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected losses on a timely
basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates,
the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category of receivables and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.
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3 BIKEREERERMTA(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31 BKEREE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
M2 EERB(E) 3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)
o) EfpElizoa(E) (d) Other receivables (continued)
1R 2024 F K 2023 F 12 A 31 As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance
B+ E b fE U SRIB A B 1B 5 was determined as follows for other receivables:
HEEWT :
BH  EfbEWFE Hit
Bl GEBERZ BEEE BERE BRHE-FE
Gross carrying
Expected amount of Other
credit other Loss receivables -
Category lossrate  receivables allowance net

ARBTR  ARWTR  ARMTR
RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000

2024128318 As at 31 December 2024

MR Receivables from government E—H
TREFIE related bodies Stage one 0.43% 2,246,962 (9,701) 2,237,261

FENBE R TUE Due from related parties E—H
Stage one 2.28% 4,696,963 (106,919) 4,590,044

Hit Others -3
Stage one 2.28% 22,777,993 (518,422) 22,259,571

FEURERE TR Due from related parties E=R
Stage three 31.62% 5,793,260 (1,831,802) 3,961,458

Hitr QOthers E=H
Stage three 100.00% 206,250 (206,250) -

35,721,428 (2,673,094) 33,048,334

2023128318 As at 31 December 2023

MBI Receivables from government F—R
TR related bodies Stage one 0.54% 3,656,110 (19,706) 3,636,404

TEURERE TR Due from related parties E—1k
Stage one 2.25% 4,863,846 (109,640) 4,754,206

£ Others F—R
Stage one 2.25% 24,907,272 (561,410) 24,345,862

FEURERE TR Due from related parties E=R
Stage three 24.47% 5,701,966 (1,395,175) 4,306,791

A Others F=H
Stage three 100.00% 400 (400) -

39,129,694 (2,086,331) 37,043,263
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3 UIBEMREERSMIEA(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
A BKEREZE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
M2 EERERE () 3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)
o) EfhElzria (&) (d) Other receivables (continued)
M12A318 + HEUsIE The loss allowances for other receivables as at 31
BB E R EERE December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as
HERINT - follows:
BZE12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR%ET AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A2024F1H1H At 1 January 2024 2,086,331 1,381,769
FARIBRERZ Increase in loss allowance recognised
TR I N in profit or loss during the year 936,236 772,329
FAD MBS Amount written off during the year (9,093) -
BEIARBANIEA Unused amount reversed (340,380) (67,767)
MA2024F12831H At 31 December 2024 2,673,094 2,086,331
LS ETEB A K ER - Other receivables are written off when there is no
H b pE sk B B T hgY - = reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
EAIBTEEA UG O 2 EEE there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
FREB A EL AN E BERK amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
BIETEIZ o repayment plan with the Group.
() HHEBEKAFTEZETRMEE (e) Financial assets at amortised cost
MEEK A E ZERIRE Debt investment at amortised cost mainly include listed
TEREFTERES o AN debt securities. The Group calculates the expected
EEREBEKRENE  KEHE credit loss based on the default risk exposure and
HMEeEFRFERE - ERE the ECL rate within the next 12 months or the entire
2B K A AR 1218 A 2k B[ duration according to the nature of the investment and
MM EEEEEEX - 5t the various types of counterparties and risk exposures.
HEMBEERBE -
17 #% RIZ IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

®

Financial assets at FVOCI

Debt investments at FVOCI mainly include listed debt
securities. The loss allowance for debt investments
at FVOCI is recognised in profit or loss and reduces
the fair value loss otherwise recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation
to debt investments that are measured at FVPL. The
maximum exposure at the end of the reporting period is
the carrying amount of these investments.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(h)

Financial guarantee

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to purchasers with an appropriate financial
strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group has arranged bank financing
for certain purchasers of the Group’s property units
and provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser defaults
on the payment of its mortgage loan during the
guarantee period, the bank holding the guarantee may
demand the Group to repay the outstanding principal
of the loan and any interest accrued thereon. Under
such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the
customer’s deposit and resell the property to recover
any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. In this
regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group also provides guarantees to certain related
parties of the Group to obtain borrowings after
assessing the credit history and pledge information of
these related parties. The Group closely monitors the
repayment progress of the relevant borrowings by these
related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the
Group, the related party transactions were carried out
in the normal course of business and at terms mutually
negotiated between the Group and the respective
related parties. The directors consider that the likelihood
of default in payments is not material, as all the related
parties are engaged in property development with solid
financial position.
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3 BIKEREERERMTA(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31 BREREE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
MIRBEES R 3.1.3 Liquidity risk
AEEEBRESENANIHEEM Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
EHRBERAENEGEZEERE S cash through internally generated sales proceeds and an
BERARSIUNEEMEEEN adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet its
LB KIS o operation needs and commitments in respect of property
projects.

TR Th AR 45 1 2024 4F 2 2023 FF The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
12831 B &4 42 H B By FI64H1 relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
A LA R AR s IT AL E as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 to the contractual
SHEBE RABPBENLSEALAS maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
KIRBIRBERE © contractual undiscounted cash flows.

- -FE@ME WEELRE RENE I

Between Between
Within 1and2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5years Total

ARRTR ARBTR ARRTR ARRTR ARETR
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R20245127831H As at 31 December 2024
&3 Borrowings 18,747,685 11,917,625 16400585  24,835459 71,901,354
BHREMEMTIE(TEE  Trade and other payables (excluding

ERTERESTE) tax payable and accrued payrol) 82,120,302 11,735 202,715 - 82,334,752
HEAR Lease liabilities 99,002 122,999 402,364 1,487,650 2,112,015

BAEEMEERERLE  Guarantees in respect of mortgaged
BEELMER(FFE34) facilties granted to purchasers of

the Group’s properties (note 34) 21,775,253 - - - 21,775,253
BALMERBANAERE  Guarantees for joint ventures and
fEFRER (Mi7E36(0)) associates in respect of borrowings
(note 36(d) 442,024 341,247 1,051,572 916,741 2,751,584

123,184,266 12,393,606 18,057,236 27,239,850 180,874,958
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3 EREERESRTE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 BEREE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
MIRBESEK(E) 3.1.3 Liquidity risk (continued)
—5N  —FE@F WEERE AL fit
Between Between
Within 1and?2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total

AREFT  ARBTT ARETR ARRTT ARETR
RMBOO0 ~ RMBO00  RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMBO0D

202351278318 As at 31 December 2023
&3 Borrowings 27,805,595 14,695,409 15,672,358 15,461,781 73,635,143
B REMERTE(TEE  Trade and other payables (excluding

EAHERETTE) tax payable and accrued payroll) 86,187,949 - - - 86,187,949
HEEE Lease liabilties 77,890 98,724 307489 1,669,144 2,243,247

FREEMEERERZE  Guarantees in respect of mortgaged
BEIELMER(FFE34) facilties granted to purchasers of

the Group’s properties (note 34) 33,026,298 - - - 33,026,298
BASMERBANAIELA)  Guarantees for joint ventures and
fEFER (FiT:36(d)) assoclates in respect of borrowings
(note 36(d)) 427,056 567,673 1,938,996 208,250 3,141,975

147,524,788 15,361,806 18,008,843 17,339,175 198,234,612

MisE : 8 F B8 B E E 5 R KRG Note: The interest on borrowings is calculated based on
;o 3B 5 RIR 2024 F K& borrowings held as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
2023F 12 A31 H T4 & 35 respectively, without taking into account future borrowings.
H o X BHFEHRIEA20245F Floating-rate interests are estimated using the current
K2023F 12 A31 BME B fl X interest rate as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
mE - respectively.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
3.1.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

Due to dynamic nature of the underlying business, the
management of the Group is closely monitoring the risk of
the liquidity and takes the following actions to manage the
liquidity risk:

(i) prepares annual cash flow forecast and updates such
forecast on a monthly basis to reflect the latest changes
and monitor the liquidity risk closely;

(i) maintains strategic cooperation with major banks and
other financial institutions to secure credit facilities
where appropriate;

(i) continues to obtain longer term financing facilities,
mainly issuance of senior notes, project bank loans with
pledge of the Group’s properties or other resources of
funding which the Group considers appropriate; and

(iv) proactively promotes the sales of the Group’s
completed properties and pre-sales of properties under
development. The Group also considers the flexibility of
adjusting the price and volume on sale of properties for
management of liquidity risk.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.14 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings and lease
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as total equity, as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios of the Group at 31 December 2024 and

EFLSEBGBHENT 2023 were as follows:
M12831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEE k] Total borrowings 57,733,115 63,169,600
HEBE Lease liabilities 1,325,095 1,379,259
B RERREEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents (6,914,613) (13,225,030)
B8 Net debt 52,143,597 51,323,829
R ARER Total equity 86,789,759 90,509,341
BN BEE Total capital 138,933,356 141,833,170
BEAELE Gearing ratio 38% 36%

REB/MN2024F 12 A31BEE
B &R 202312 A31 BAELL

2028.
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The Group has no significant change in gearing ratio as at
31 December 2024 as compared with that of 31 December
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation

(a) Financial assets and liabilities

U)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair value

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair value by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3 MBERBEEREHMIAGE)

3.2 g 5 JU 1E{ETE—|_LHE)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

() EMEEREMEE)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

iy AREBEDE (i) Fair value hierarchy
T &P AI25 AR EE 2024
FR2023F 12 A31BIE AR
BEENEMEE - B2
B E7MIZ AR BETED

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2024
and 2023 respectively. See note 7 for disclosures of the
investment properties that are measured at fair value.

EMEFTEN R -
-4 E=R g=4 ait
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
BERLLEETE Recurring fair value measurements RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2024512A318 At 31 December 2024
SREE Financial assets
AR EESSEEEH A Financial assets at FVOC
H2AkanesEE 2,112 - 91,693 93,805
AR BEFEEEEH A Financial assets at FVPL
EHBRNEREE 2,209 237,827 431,522 671,558
SREEAE Total financial assets 4,321 237,827 523,215 765,363
F-0 B E=H At
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AREFTL AREFTL AREFTL AREFTIL
EEHLLEETE Recurring fair value measurements RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
R2023%F12A31A At 31 December 2023
SREE Financial assets
AR BEFEEEEHHA  Financial assets at FVOC
HirEREHEREE 2,823 - 145,785 148,608
AME EirEBEEFH A Financial assets at FVPL
EHBRNEREE 64,828 11,481 561,384 637,693
SREEAE Total financial assets 67,651 11,481 707,169 786,301
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the
beginning of the reporting period.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets (such as listed bond etc.) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (such as restricted listed
equity securities etc.) is determined using valuation
techniques which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case mainly for unlisted
equity securities.
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3 EREERESRTE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32 AREBEMET(E) 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) *WMEEREE(E) (a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(i) FHRERTERHABEZ (i) Fair value measurement using significant unobservable
AREEE inputs
TREVEE2024F12 A31 The following table presents the changes in level 3
BIFFES=HER 2 &F items for the year ended 31 December 2024:

LA R fEE 2R EE
FFEEHSH SEEHESH
FFAEHERE sTAHMERE

MEMEE WENEBMEE

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
FVPL FVOCI
ARBT T ARMET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R20245F1A1H As at 1 January 2024 561,384 145,785
RIEEERR 2 An BERIE Fair value loss recognised in profit
or loss (76,321) -
REM TR A Fair value gain recognised in other
N BEERE comprehensive income - 8,780
TEEMEEEE Expected credit loss - (13,879)
HeE Disposal (37,901) (48,993)
EREE—R Transferred to Level 2 (15,640) -
7420245128318 As at 31 December 2024 431,522 91,693
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3 BIKEREERERMTA(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32 A REBEMEF(E) 3.2Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) *MEEREE(E) (a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(iy FRERATAIEREGAEBZ (i) Fair value measurement using significant unobservable
AREEFEE) inputs (continued)

UAABE —— AAABE
HEEHE® EAHED
HAMEEN  HARMEE

MEMEE KENHEREE

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
FVPL FVOCI
ARETFTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
7A2023F1H1H As at 1 January 2023 702,924 628,215
NE Additions 12,150 -
RIBEER Z A BEEE Fair value loss recognised in profit
or loss (34,500) -
RE M2 E WS FERA Fair value loss recognised in other
AREEEBE comprehensive income - (186,571)
TEEEEEE Expected credit loss - (202,234)
HeE Disposal (230,030) (93,625)
WEREE—N Transferred from Level 1 110,840 -
A2023F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 561,384 145,785
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3 EREERESRTE(E) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32 AREBEMET(E) 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) *WMEEREE(E) (@) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
vy 2rBESE (iv) Fair value hierarchy
HERABEREQ R EED Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (level 3)

BR(E=H)

120245 120235

127318 12A318 TIERBAE
L MAREE  HBnEE HESE TIERBAE TTHERAENEE HALEENBE
Fairvalueat  Fairvalue at Relationship of
31 December 31 December  Valuation Range of unobservable
Description 2024 2023 technique(s) Unobservable inputs unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value

(AR®Tn) (AREFR)
(RMB'00D)  (RMB000)

KOnBEEE 431,522 561,384 MHE R 0.7870- 14635 [ SR
EEFHAES B8R
Financial assets at Market approach  P/B 0.7370-1.4635 The higher the P/B, the
FVPL higher the fair value
FRASRE  HEAEAE 45.8% PERENEES 2
REEHE
Discount cash ~ Option-Adjusted Spread 45.8% The higher the OAS, the
flow (0AS) lower the fair value
WonEEER 91,693 5785 FEEERE  WESENE 10.5% - 123.0% HEALHZES
HEFH AR D BESE
FENENEE
Financial assets at Discount cash ~ Option-Adjusted Spread 10.5% - 123.0% The higher the OAS, the
FvVoc flow (0AS) lower the fair value
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(v) Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group includes a team
that performs the valuation of non-property items
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value. This team reports directly to the chief
financial officer (“CFQ”) and the audit committee (“AC”).
Discussion of valuation processes and results are held
between the CFO, AC and the valuation team at least
once every six months, in line with the Group’s half-
yearly reporting periods.

Changes in level 2 and 3 fair value are analysed at the
end of each reporting period during the half-yearly
valuation discussion between the CFO, AC and the
valuation team. As part of this discussion, the team
presents a report that explains the reason for the fair
value movements.

(b) Non-financial assets and liabilities
The Group’s investment property is measured at fair value

and under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Please see note
7 for details of valuation.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The management makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are outlined below.

4.1 Development costs directly attributable to
property development activities

The Group allocates portions of land and development costs to
properties held and under development for sale. As certain of
the Group’s property development projects are developed and
completed by phases, the budgeted development costs of the
whole project are dependent on the estimate on the outcome of
total development. Based on the experience and the nature of
the development undertaken, the management makes estimates
and assumptions concerning the future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Given the
uncertainties involved in the property development activities, the
related actual results may be higher or lower than the amount
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any change in
estimates and assumptions would affect the Group’s operating
performance in future years.

4.2 Provision for impairment of properties held or
under development for sale

The management makes provision for impairment of properties
held or under development for sale based on the estimate of
the recoverable amount of the properties. Given the volatility of
the property market in the PRC, the actual recoverable amount
may be higher or lower than the estimate made as at the end of
the reporting period. Any increase or decrease in the provision
would affect the Group’s operating performance in future years.
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4 EARGFH AT RHE(E) 4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.3 F B £ B {EH 4.3 Land appreciation tax of the PRC

AEBEFTHATELEER - R
- ARARETENERELEEET
B & TR BAERIS A T
TR BAEREAR G ABEE L
BERNESHE AEEREEEER
HHZ ARG EBEE R RRREN
BRI REMGG - BRESF I
IB(ETR o SRR A BN & 8%
SHeE MABEEZERTERNLT
T 765 14 A e S % S TR TR BRI BV P S A0
FASZ

4.4 B3R SR SE Fr 1S Bt

AEBABMNTBECEMEH - &8
EREMEHNBRERAFHERH
B - EFAEXBREY  ZRIHN
FHEREEERAHNDTIR - fMELE
HEREBIA AR BRERISH TR
BHl AEEZESEREVRETH
RIA PSR -

HEEERAETERUEZELRB
BEEB AR NEHEERERTA
o leERUFEREEE MRS
EBEMARMEEHREE - RBERE
RERSEBATRE -

A5 REYMEN D EE

REMEN AR EEDRAGELE
E o BRAHE RREFBERMETH

%o

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, since the implementation and settlement of the tax
varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC,
significant estimate is required in determining the amount
of the land appreciation tax. The Group recognises the land
appreciation tax based on management’s best estimates
according to its understanding of the interpretation of tax rules
by various tax authorities. The final tax outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and these
differences will impact the income tax expense in the periods in
which such taxes have been finalised with local tax authorities.

4.4 Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for corporate income tax. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
we initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax
expense in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management considers to be
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. The
outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

4.5 Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using
valuation techniques. Details of the judgement and assumptions
have been disclosed in note 7.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.6 Classification of subsidiary, joint venture and

associate

In the normal course of business, the Group develops properties
together with other developers or institutions, through entering
into co-operation agreements with these parties. The rights and
obligations of the Group and the other parties are stipulated by
respective co-operation agreements, articles of associations of
the project companies, etc. Because of the complexity of the
arrangements, significant judgement is needed in determining
whether the project company is a subsidiary, joint venture or
associate of the Group.

The Group makes judgement based on the substance of the
arrangements and the definition of subsidiary, joint venture and
associate as disclosed in notes 2.2.1, 2.2.2 and 2.3.1.

4.7 Impairment of financial assets at amortised

cost and financial assets at FVOCI

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in
the tables in note 3.

4.8 Revenue recognition

Determining whether revenue should be recognised at a point
in time or over time involves judgment. The Group makes
judgements based on the specification in contracts with
customers, as well as relevant laws and regulations.

For contracts with variable amount, the Group estimates the
amount that is highly probable that significant reversal will not

occur for determining transition price.

Details of revenue recognition is disclosed in note 2.2.10.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”)
that are used to make strategic decisions. The board of directors has
been identified as the CODM.

The Group manages its business by two operating segments, which
is consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s CODM for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

e Seazen Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (the “A share company” or “Seazen Holdings”)

e  Other service companies not within the A share company (the
“Non-A share companies”)

The A share company is mainly engaged in development of
residential properties and mixed-use complexes for sale and
investment, while the Non-A share companies are mainly engaged in
services. All the property development projects are in the PRC, and
accordingly majority of the revenue of the Group are derived from the
PRC and most of the assets are located in the PRC.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of revenue and profit before income tax. The
measurement basis excludes the effects of income tax expense.
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5 HEERE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
B2NUF128NALEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

ARAR FARA A&t H AEEAG

Ashare Non-A share Total Total

company companies Segment Elimination Group

ARETT ARETT ARET T ARETT ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

PEA Segment revenue 88,998,583 259,504 89,258,087 (31,567) 89,226,520

-R-BY - Atapoint in time 76,522,035 171,170 76,693,205 (15,070) 76,678,135

-RER - Over time 5,924,385 81,606 6,005,991 (13,756) 5,992,235

e - Rental income 6,552,163 6,728 6,558,801 2,741) 6,556,150

B EREYL D DR Segment profit before income tax expense 4,134,389 71,511 4,205,900 (11,954) 4,193,946

RENELLERER Fair value losses on investment propertes (11,547) (27,489) (39,030) - (39,030)

AR Finance income 70,631 531,400 602,231 (523,962) 78,26

HARE Finance costs (3,207,709) (208,407) (3,506,116) 523,062 (2,982,154)

nERER Depreciation and amortisation (238,366) (20,673) (259,039) - (259,039)

N2 Share of resuls of associates 663,875 (15,346) 648,529 (11,954) 636,575

AP EEE Share of results of joint ventures (307,930) 5,929 (302,001) - (302,001)
ERFBHENT - A reconcliation to profit for the year s as follows:

HEERABRR AR Total segment profits before income

DU EEE tax expense after elimination 4,193,946

FERRY Income tax expense (3,511,848)

EEFE Proft for the year 662,098

1 94 FiF R R A R A T SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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5 oIER(E) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
R2024F12H31H
As at 31 December 2024
ARAE  FARDH ABEE i  AEEEH
Non-
A share A share Total Total
company  companies segment  Elimination Group

ARBTRE ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTR AR®BTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AHEE Segment assets 307,192,788 10,826,877 318,019,665  (8,894,728) 309,124,937
DHBERRE Segment assets include:
REENRIRIRE Investments in associates 10,369,733 1,233,842 11,603,575  (1,143,375)* 10,460,200
NEENENRE Investments in joint ventures 10,621,400 26,735 10,648,135 - 10,648,135
NEFRBEE Additions to non-current assets
(2RIAR (other than financial instruments
ERRIBEERIN) and deferred tax assets) 2,024,790 15,836 2,040,626 - 2,040,626
NEaE Segment liabilities 224,520,068 4,346,498 228,866,566 (6,531,388) 222,335,178
* HIHEZIRRAARA RIFTIES A R IEA *  The elimination represents mainly the Non-A share companies’ associate
ENSIE ) =NCI g 3 interests in companies controlled by the A share company.
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5

19
S

DEER(E) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
HE023F12A31 AL FRE
Year ended 31 December 2023
RELSEK
Continuing Operations
2RI
ARDA FARAR i e BEER % AEEAR
Non-
Ashare Ashare Discontinued
company  companes  Elimination Sub-tota operation  Elimination  Total Group
ARETTE  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
DEMA Segment revenue 119,174,278 375975 (86,723) 119,463,530 1,347,353 (147,168 120,668,720
-R-EY - At apoint in time 107,798,845 181,11 (4,831) 107,975,125 1,347,363 (147,163) 109,175,315
~BER - Over time 5,641,989 189,368 (@04t) 5790946 - - 5,790,946
~fEMA - Rental income 5,733,444 5,496 (41,481) 5697459 - - 5697459
RESHET AR BRI/ (BR) Segment profit(loss) before income tax
expense 6,015,843 (910,401) (85,771 5,019,671 1,415,095 - 6,434,766
RENEMBEEE)/WE  Fairvalue (osses)gains on invesiment
properties (13,087) (35,990) 72,430 23,353 - - 23,358
B Finance income 280,974 467,370 (450,914) 297,430 648 - 298,078
BERK Finance costs (BOB0G6Y) (25949 450914 (3035,69%) (1,339) - (303703
NEREH Depreciation and amortisation (296,194) (189,938 - (486,132) (151,966) - (638,098)
FiEBEAT%E Share of resuls of associates 757,539 (87,969) 8% 69282 - - 69282
BlEAE(E2E Share of results of joint ventures 842,939 (2,781) - 840,158 - - 840,158
BEMLEREREEURMT  Areconcliation to loss for the year from continuing operationsis as follows:
BRERAEREAY Total segment profis from continuing
BREELER T EEE operations before income tax expense
after elimination 5,019,671
fEREY Income tax expense (5,486,705)
REEERRERER Loss for the year from continuing
operations (467,034)
& HES S TREEF BT <A reconcliation to profit for the year from discontinued operation is as folows:
SR FERETMNTAL  Total segment profts from discontinued
mezkrgNBEE operation before income tax expense
after elimination 1,415,095
HEREY Income tax expense (163,489)
B IS EREER|E Profit for the year from discontinued
operation 1,251,606
EEFH Profit for the year 784,572
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5 pa %Bﬁﬂ(mﬁ)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

H2023F12A31H

As at 31 December 2023

AR E] FEAR A F] ak: =1 HiE  AEREER
Non-
A share A share Total Total
company companies segment Elimination Group
ARBFT AREFT AR®FT AR®ETT AR®TRL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
NHEE Segment assets 374,108,790 12,665,187 386,773977  (9,685,421) 377,088,556
NEEERRE - Segment assets include:
Wﬁ%%@ BINRE Investments in associates 12,443,958 1,623,228 14,067,186  (1,212,711)" 12,854,475
REERENRE Investments in joint ventures 11,693,926 20,806 11,714,732 - 11,714,732
ABIRBEE Additions to non-current assets
(&BTER (other than financial instruments
ELERBEERIN) and deferred tax assets) 4,578,057 80,942 4,658,999 - 4,658,999
DEBE Segment liabilities 287,705,381 6,126,579 293,831,960 (7,252,745) 286,579,215

* HIHEZRAHARA
AR A FIHYEE & N BRI o

EEEELIPNSIE B *

interests in companies controlled by the A share company.
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6 ME BEERRBUKRERAE 6
BE

(a) M=% - BERZRE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) Property, plant and equipment

il
B B4R #ERRE kEIR &8 i
Furniture,
Transport  fittingsand ~ Construction

Buildings ~ equipment  equipment  inprogress  Decoration Total

ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR
Eitl Non-current RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R202451A1A At 1 January 2024
A Cost 2,489,404 414,612 890,226 1,235,606 1,014,081 6,043,929
ZitiE Accumulated depreciation (374,405) (202,113) (695,370) - (910,787)  (2,182,625)
FHEFE Net book amount 2,114,999 212,499 194,856 1,235,606 103,344 3,861,304
BZ204%F12A31ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2024
BBEEE Opening net book amount 2,114,999 212,499 194,856 1,235,606 103,344 3,861,304
RE Additions - 2,582 11,742 26,495 93,142 133,961
SN Acquisition of subsidiaries - 14,956 2560 - - 17516
FRIERT Completion of construction in progress - - 75 (75) - -
e Disposals (5,119) (2,840) (6,261) - (62) (14,262
HEFAT Disposal of subsidiaries (63,402) (1,061) (736) - - (65,199)
WERR(Hos) Depreciation charge (note 25) (82,657) (18,502) (10,487) - (81,999) (193,639)
BREEEE Closing net book amount 1,963,821 207,634 191,749 1,262,026 114,431 3,739,661
R2024512A31A At 31 December 2024
AR Cost 2,363,383 388,454 819,249 1,262,026 1,044,124 5,877,236
ESEE Accumulated depreciation (399,562) (180,820) (627,500) - (929,693  (2,137,575)
FHEFE Net book amount 1,963,821 207,634 191,749 1,262,026 114,431 3,739,661
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6 M¥% WMERBHEURGERE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

EE(E) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(a) V% WERRE(E) (a) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
il
BT BHRE RERGR IR £ ait
Fumiture,
Transport fitingsand ~ Construction
Buildings equipment equipment in progress Decoration Total
ARBTL  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETRT ARETR
Ek ) Non-current RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
A2023%1A1H At 1 January 2023
KA Cost 5610972 431,215 1,860,044 1,492,619 1450405 10,854,755
ZihE Accumulated depreciation (834,236) (186675 (1,046,790) - (199,152) (2,866,853
FHFE Net hook amount 4,776,736 244,540 813,754 1,492,619 660,263 7,987,902

BZ2023E12B31ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2023

BEEEE Opening net book amount 4776736 244,540 813754 1,492,619 660253 7987,902
g Additons 373 Iy 12,750 206,724 64,061 308,355
BESREME (7 35)  Transfer to investment properties (note 7, 35) (2,853,022) - - - - R
fERTEAT Completion of construction in progress 40129 - 31,168 (481,143) 30846 -
e Disposals - (1,151) (51,574) - (22,966) (75,691)
HEFAT Disposal of subsidiaries - - (462,103) (2594) (522,336) (987,033)
WERR(H2s) Depreciation charge (note 25) (219.217) (35,337) (149,139) - (115,514) (519,207)
OREEEE Closing net book amount 2,114,999 212,49 194856 1235606 103344 3861304
R2023%127318 At 31 December 2023

s Cost 2,489,404 414,612 800226 1,235,606 1014081 6043929
2itiE Accumulated depreciation (374,405) (202,113) (695,370) - 910737)  (2,182,625)
FEE Net book amount 2,114,999 212,499 194856 1235606 103344 3861304
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6 V¥ BERXEUKMERA#E 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

20

EE(E)
(a) ¥3 ~ B R (&)

AEBMITEE R ARK105,242,000
70 (2023 F A R % 313,866,000
T)ERABEEERRERA AR
#1,199,000 7t (2023 4F : AR
1,258,00070) EETASHE R & HE M
M AR #87,198,0007T (20234 : A
R#204,083,00070) B AT ATTERFISL ©

R2024F12A31H @ EEBEAAR
#1,6387,573,0007C (20234 : AR
1,198,155,0007T) K% ~ BB k&
HE IR EARE B G R @ (K
20) ©

HE2024F12 A3 HILFE - A
FREIBNERCERIALEA
R #11,613,0007T (20234 : AR#
27,5651,0007L) * EA&{ X £6.13%
(20234 : 6.34%) °

HE2023F12 A1 HILFE - B
RS (MI7E35() T E B+ BT
RIFAEWEETIARARINET
MEBYE  BMEREEHEERERE
Y% - &% A AR2853022,000
JC) ° & fh s A R 643,456,000
L) ENBRABECHESRARE
160,864,000701% + MEf 2 HE U+
TR °
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(a) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Group’s depreciation charges of RMB105,242,000
(2023: RMB313,866,000) have been included in cost of
sales and services, RMB1,199,000 (2023: RMB1,258,000) in
selling and marketing expenses and RMB87,198,000 (2023:
RMB204,083,000) in administrative expenses.

Property, plant and equipment with a total carrying amount
of RMB1,537,573,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,198,155,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings (note 20).

Borrowing costs capitalised in construction in progress for
the year ended 31 December 2024 were approximately
RMB11,613,000 (2023: RMB27,551,000) with capitalisation rate
of 6.13% (2023: 6.34%).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain properties
held by Seazen Holdings rent to the “Non-A share companies”
were transferred from property, plant and equipment amounting
RMB2,853,022,000 to investment properties at the date of
the transaction (note 35(i)) completed. The revaluation gain
amounting RMB643,456,000 after netting off the relevant
deferred income tax amounting RMB160,864,000 were
recognized in other comprehensive income.
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6 V¥ BERXEUKRMER#E 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

BE(E) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) HE (b) Leases
A FREAEBEAEABAANHEE This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
B} e lessee.
() REFMERRERPERNEE () Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position

AR R EG| R T EAEE The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
BHENSE - following amounts relating to leases:
M12831H
As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEREEE Right-of-use assets
ME - BB N ERE Property, plant and equipment 16,110 12,686
+ b (E R Land use rights 1,015,950 1,048,274
1,032,060 1,060,960
PEAREYENEE Lease classified as investment property 1,159,339 1,286,647
HEERE Lease liabilities
mE Current
—BEME BEMK - Related to property, plant and equipment 8,686 7,917
—BRAREME - Related to investment property 86,173 67,554
94,859 75,471
IERED Non-current
—BEYE - BMENMK - Related to property, plant and equipment 7,922 6,190
—BRAREME — Related to investment property 1,222,314 1,297,598
1,230,236 1,303,788
1,325,095 1,379,259
MR2024F12A31H « BRELRES Right-of-use assets with a total carrying amount of
A R #838,406,0007T (20234 12 RMB838,406,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
A31H : AR¥S517,149,0007T) 2023: RMB517,149,000) were pledged as collateral for the
RFRREECIEPIERERRE Group’s borrowings (note 20).

O E AR 5 (P EE20)
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6 M¥ - MERBHEUREHRE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

EE(H)
(b) HE (&)

(i) REHHEFERTEANTHE

BHBRRIN T TIEEESRH
HIEHEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Leases (continued)

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

HZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERAEESEITESERA  Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets
ME - B K& Property, plant and equipment (13,006) (17,605)
+ i A E Land use rights (32,325) (30,077)
(45,331) (47,682)
FERYGIARE Interest expense (included in finance
BRAS) (P 3E26) cost) (note 26) (60,172) (50,177)
B EI R REEME  Expense relating to short-term and
AR (G AEE  low-value leases (included in
MARTGEZANLA 27T cost of sales and services and
) (FI5E25) administrative expenses) (note 25) (1,823) (3,608)

AEEMNTEERAARK
24,216,000 7T (20234 = AR ¥
7,055,0007T) B 5F ASEE KR
A - AR#9,636,0007T (2023
F: AR¥27,728,0007T) BT A
THHEYZ - RAR11,479,000
7L (2023 F + A R # 12,899,000
TT)EFFAERETIE -

202 i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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The Group’s depreciation charges of RMB24,216,000
(2023: RMB7,055,000) have been included in cost of sales
and services, RMB9,636,000 (2023: RMB27,728,000)
have been included in administrative expenses and
RMB11,479,000 (2023: RMB12,899,000) in construction in
progress.
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6 ¥ BERZREBURMEAE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
BE (&) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) FHE(E) (b) Leases (continued)

(i) REHBEERTERINESEE)

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

R2024%12 A31H » A&EEHF23
B (20234 : 175) B ESHY)
¥HE - EuE ST HHERETH
BISEEMEETERR - 5tER
EZHESME © &=9.37%(2023
F584% ) MHEENZERE D
N F1%ZE50% (20234 - 1% %
50% ) 3K & R R AT & ST &K o i
AU HERNRRESE -
BRBERLFEHNEERAR
it o BURRIEE M EHEE
MR B Z SN RaIE 4
HIR N IB R ER -

WAEBEF LB EHESL
B AT A G IN10%E &5
HEMRBEBEMHARE
42,986,000 7T (20234 : AR
23,454,0007T) °

R2024%F - FAEMIRES R H AR
A A K # 139,963,000 7T ( 2023
£ AR#131,390,0007T) °

profit or loss (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has property leases
with 23 (2023: 17) Wuyue Plazas with variable payment
terms that are linked to sales generated from a Wuyue
Plaza. For individual Wuyue Plaza, up to 9.37% (2023:
5.84%) of lease payments are on the basis of variable
payment terms with percentages ranging from 1% to 50%
(2023: 1% to 50%) of sales. Variable payment terms are
used for a variety of reasons, including minimising the fixed
costs base for newly established stores. Variable lease
payments that depend on sales are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those
payments occurs.

A 10% increase in sales across all stores in the Group
with such variable lease contracts would increase total
lease payments by approximately RMB42,986,000 (2023:
RMB23,454,000).

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was
RMB139,963,000 (2023: RMB131,390,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

7 BREYx 7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
BT g B
Under

Completed Development Total

AREFT AE®TF T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

202451 81H At 1 January 2024 114,619,100 6,469,000 121,088,100

NE Additions 838,113 1,051,453 1,889,566

e Disposals (45,038) - (45,038)

HE®RT Completion of projects 4,343,263 (4,343,263) -

DN Cost adjustment (47,289) - (47,289)
SABETNFERES Net (losses)/gains from fair value adjustments

BEMNDAEERE included in profit or loss for assets held

(B518), Wz %% » 578 atthe end of the year, under ‘Fair value

[REMELAEE (losses)/gains on investment properties’

(B8),/ Wa=ET 22,160 (61,190) (39,030)
EHEH =5 Currency translation differences 5,940 - 5,940
R2024F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 119,736,249 3,116,000 122,852,249
#2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 100,683,575 12,579,000 113,262,575
NE Additions 775,952 3,571,136 4,347,088
EREME  WEME Transfer from property, plant and equipment 2,853,022 - 2,853,022
EEEYE - BEMRER  Revaluation gain on transfer from property,

S (ffize) plant and equipment (note 6) 643,456 - 643,456
BH%ET Completion of projects 9,870,220 (9,870,220) -
RATHE Cost adjustment (45,715) - (45,715)
FABRTFERESR Net (losses)/gains from fair value adjustments

BENAREERE included in profit or loss for assets held

(B518), /W58 at the end of the year, under ‘Fair value

FIERBMENREE ~ (osses)/gains on investment properties’

(B1]), W ET (165,731) 189,084 23,353
RN £ Currency translation differences 4,321 - 4,321
R2023F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 114,619,100 6,469,000 121,088,100

BZE12A31BLFE
Year ended 31 December

202445 20234

2024 2023

ARET T ARETFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

A (Ff7E23) Rental income (note 23) 6,556,150 5,697,459

EEAS WA Direct operating expenses from

BEEREERY property that generated rental income 555,068 409,834
PBRFER 2 AAEBIE(EIE),/ Fair value (losses)/gains recognised

e in profit or loss (39,030) 23,353
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20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




B OB R EE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F 12831 B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

7 REYE(E) 7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

AEERFANREMETERUNHED
BERYE -

HE2024F12A31HIFFE  NIREWE
E AR E A #) B A R 64,859,000
JC(20234F : AR#408,551,0007T) °

HZE2024F12 A31HILEFE » (BFRE R
R 56.13%(20234F : 6.34%) °

R2024F 12 A31H - FEREAAR
#102,756,910,000 7T (2023 F : AR
78,614,504,0007T ) & & ¥ 3 B IRIER
SEE R REBEER RENE R (T
208%21) o

AEEMBERENENRABEHNAE=
AETE AERTAERBAE-

FAE—  ZREB2FEWMEE -

() AEENLERRE

FT B 1% & ) % 7 2024 F 2 2023 F
12A31EBBILEXE ERAER
B E R T R Y E B M (Cushman
& Wakefield International Property
Advisers) &1 °

765 [ 6 81 75 B0 S & 28 B 9B L (B A
PrErTEVIA(E - 815

s REBIUMEBRTANMBEEER
BAE

o EE—FEHEETRSETLE
PR EED

o BB HERMETRR

Investment properties held by the Group mainly comprise of
commercial properties located in the PRC.

Borrowing costs capitalised in investment properties for the year
ended 31 December 2024 were approximately RMB64,859,000
(2023: RMB408,551,000).

The capitalisation rate of borrowings was 6.13% for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: 6.34%).

Investment properties with a total carrying amount of RMB102,756,910,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB78,614,504,000) were pledged

as collateral for the Group’s borrowings and payables to related
parties (notes 20 and 21).

Fair value of all of the Group’s investment properties are measured at
Level 3, with significant unobservable inputs.
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
(i) Valuation processes of the Group
All investment properties were revalued as at 31 December

2024 and 2023 by Cushman & Wakefield International Property
Advisers, the independent professional qualified valuer.

The Group’s finance team will review the valuation performed by
the independent valuers, including:

e verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;
e assesses property valuation movements when compared to
the prior year valuation report;

e holds discussions with independent valuers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

7 REWE(E)

20

(i) HERE

AEEHRSTHERERREDED
MFRAERLEERRER - HEL
BOETIBREZEVETBRRNRE
HE - BEERMMBNHERS -
BT E A B BRI S
ENMMERBEERENZRIERRE -

REZRFMEEERRERARTRZ
FMBEEBBELNKAARKRERT
MBBEENEE  KEEXEMES
R 9B 7R R 18] A T B B R B B B M IR
T -RERTREVEME @ HER
BREXEBBKARBRNNFE
SWA(RBEEFEDEEREER
MNVBERE - WRBERERTS LH
Al AL ERREDL -

FRBEDELELZLS) -
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7

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(ii) Valuation techniques

For investment properties to be developed and under
development, the Group adopted direct comparison approach
and investment approach, respectively. Direct comparison
approach assumes sale of each of these properties in its
existing status with the benefit of vacant possession. By making
reference to sales transactions as available in the relevant
market, comparable properties in close proximity have been
selected and adjustments have been made to account for the
difference in factors such as locations and property size.

Investment approach has taken into account the construction
costs incurred and the costs that will be incurred to complete the
development to reflect the quality of the completed development
on the basis that the properties will be developed and
completed in accordance with the Group’s latest development
plan. For completed investment properties, valuations were
based on investment approach by capitalisation of the net rental
income derived from the existing tenancy agreements with due
allowance for reversionary income potential of the properties and
by reference to comparable price in an active market.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE2024F12A31 B ILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

7 REYE(E) 7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(i) HEFE(E) (i) Valuation techniques (continued)
BERFERAERTISERGAB(E= Information about fair value measurements using significant
HVET AR BETENER unobservable inputs (Level 3):

1R20245 R2023%
1283186 12A31AM
MEE MEE TUEERAEE
Bt AEBTL  ARMTR  #ERE TIBEALE FIBEHAENEE MABRNEE
Fair value at Fair value at
31December 31 December Relationship of
2024 2023 Valuation Unobservable unobservable inputs
Description RMB’000 RVMB'000  technique(s) inputs Range of unobservable inputs to fair value
BRIARNE 19736249 114619100 HKEE ik ERUALENFNRGERRBAERRE BENGEER AnEE
VREBRANREELOEE  RREER  HE
4%26.5% (20087 : 4%26.5%) ©

Completed Investment Term yield Term yield of 4%-6.5% (2023: 4%-6.5%), The higher the term yield,
commercial approach taking into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
property comparable properties and adjustment to

reflect the certainty of term income secured and
to be received.
G EARUALEMENEREATRRANN  RBLGREE DnEE
REMTHEE  ERUEEAR45%E% A
(2023% : 45%ZT7%) «
Reversionary yield Reversionary yield of 4.5%-7% (2023: 4.5%- The higher the reversionary
7%), teking into account annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
ERBRNE 5883000 REAGIRAI HKREUHE EARTENBNENEEENTEREUAR BEURRER LRER
HIEEAE) ENAGEE RENEEA%RZE%(203  HE
F15%E1%)

Commercial Investment Reversionary yield Reversionary yield of 6%-7% (2023: 5%- The higher the reversionary
property under approach with 79%), taking into account annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
Oevelopment estimated costs rental income and unit market value of the value

to complete comparable properties.
SRINEHERAS  ARBST440TEARK9789200  HEBRNAHR - DAE
(2008 : \RH28,041,274T EARE EH(E
414,640,5347)
Estimated construction RMB85,274,400 - RMBA479,789,293 (2023: The higher the estimated
costs to completion RMB28,041,274 - RMB414,640,534) construction costs, the
lower the fair value
HERRAMESHINT MEBEM%Z15%(2020F  5%25%)  MEERER  LrEE
MG HER A
Estimated profit margin 2% - 15% (2023: 5% - 25%) of property value  The higher the profit margin
required to hold and required, the lower the
develop property to fair value
completion
586000  HELE HEER SERARE 6T EAREA 40T LEETmEYR  DAEE
(0035 : \REOMTEARRS UGT) 5
Sales comparison  Sales price RMBT, 146 - RVB1,340 (2023: RMB2, 134 - The higher the adjusted
RMB3, 145) per square metre market price, the higher
the fair value
RNEFBNHE Rz R &?ﬁi;,%%( The Group considers the market data when estimating the
o BEESAREFRKANEtEEEF yield rate. Construction costs incurred are based on the actual

FﬁLEFEE’J,\EﬁEX$%§/§ i #
?EE’JE REXA DAY S 2 SR B A TR

BRE%E-

costs incurred as reflected in the accounting records, while the
construction costs to incur are based on the most updated
budget for the construction of the properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

7 REWE(E)
(i) fEESEE)

B R e &« B E LR ERK A
Fras A R 8 B 12 B 6914 & 18 hnsk e
10% 7820244 2 2023F 12 A31H
ZIEMERMESZLEOT ¢

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(ii) Valuation techniques (continued)

Were the yield rate, the construction costs to incur and the profit
margin required assumed to increase or decrease by 10% from
management’s estimate, the carrying amount of investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 would have
changed as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REMECKRD), G Investment properties (decrease)/increase
—PTARMEEIEHIN10% — yield rate used 10 percent higher (7,127,583) (7,660,119)
—Fr Al EZER A 10% — yield rate used 10 percent lower 10,020,336 8,618,573
WEWMECRL) g Investment properties (decrease)/increase
— B EER R AR — construction costs to incur
#9110% 10 percent higher (117,444) (199,499)
— B EEE R RRR AR — construction costs to incur
WA 10% 10 percent lower 117,444 199,499
WEMECHD), 1L Investment properties (decrease)/increase
— P A B I110% — profit margin required 10 percent higher (25,007) (45,670)
— FrEs FE R 10% — profit margin required 10 percent lower 25,383 46,278

RERTHEMS - HEEEKKE
RARONFHSWAE R (B &
MEEREERA) RERERLE
% BREEMERRARNRLE
& USEREMMENAIELRHEE
RHEFER -

BE  2EAFABREMEHEN
HHE  REXREANEL

20 i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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For completed properties, valuations were based on either
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with allowance for the reversionary income potential of
the properties or on direct comparison approach assuming sale
of each of these properties in its existing state with the benefit
of vacant possession by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market.

There’s no contractual obligation for purchase, construct or
develop investment property as for repairs, maintenance or
enhancement.
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HE2024F 12831 B IEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8 EREE 8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
N\
[ B LG 57 EFER  HthEE &5
Computer Client
Trademarks software Patent  resources Others Total
AR¥ETT ARETR AR®Tn ARETr ARETT ARET:R
FRBEE Non-current assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2024E1A1R At 1 January 2024
[ Cost 270,000 240,099 180,000 39,619 32,127 761,845
ZEE Accumulated amortisation (148,500)  (198,727) (99,000) (21,791) ©811) (477,829
REFE Net book amount 121,500 41,372 81,000 17,828 22,316 284,016
HZ22024F128318LFE  Yearended 31 December 2024
FUREFE Opening net book amount 121,500 41,372 81,000 17,828 22,316 284,016
AE Additions - 665 - - - 665
LEFLF Disposal of subsidiaries - (1,373) - - (533) (1,906)
HHER Amortisation charges (6,750) (16,140) (4,500) (990) (3,168) (31,548)
A Impairment (114,750) (2,437) (76,500) (16,838) - (210,525)
FREMEE Closing net book amount - 22,087 - - 18,615 40,702
120245123318 At 31 December 2024
AR Cost - 220,142 - - 31,238 251,380
SEEH Accumulated amortisation - (195,618) - - (12,623)  (208,241)
25HRE Accumulated impairment - (2,437) - - - (2,437)
FRFE Net book amount - 22,087 - - 18,615 40,702
20231 51A At 1 January 2023
A Cost 270,800 242,019 180,000 39,619 32,127 764,565
Zitha Accumulated amortisation (122,300) (170,691) (81,000) (17,829 (6,598) (398,418)
EmFE Net book amount 148,500 71,328 99,000 21,790 25,529 366,147
HZ22023F12A31HLLEE  Year ended 31 December 2023
FUEmEE Opening net book amount 148,500 71,328 99,000 21,790 25,529 366,147
NE Additions - 2,655 - - - 2,655
HEFAF Disposal of subsidiaries - (678) - - - (678)
BHER Amortisation charges (27,000) (31,933) (18,000) (3,962) (3,213) (84,108))
EXRERFE Closing net book amount 121,500 41,372 81,000 17,828 22,316 284,016
12023F12A31H At 31 December 2023
A Cost 270,000 240,099 180,000 39,619 32,127 761,845
Z5teE Accumulated amortisation (1485000  (198,727) (99,000) (21,791) ©811) (477,829
FRFE Net book amount 121,500 41,372 81,000 17,828 22,316 284,016

REE R EEE R ARE14,181,0007T
(20234 : AR#28250007T) & A
R #17,367,0007T (2023 4F : AR
81,283,0007T) E 7 Blst A$H & KRS
BRAARITHFY

The Group’s amortisation charges of RMB14,181,000 (2023:
RMB2,825,000), RMB17,367,000 (2023: RMB81,283,000) have
been included in cost of sales and services, and administrative
expenses, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

9 REENTMNKRE 9 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

AR®T T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

FYER Opening balance 12,854,475 12,832,996
NE Additions 7,501 232,141

B ANRIEIEREE Capital reduction and disposal of associates (1,617,071) (413,422)
BN RE AT RAR] Change from associates to subsidiaries (121,377) -
FARE A E AT Change from subsidiaries to associates 54,214 -
JEIE%4E Share of results 636,575 692,825

Hth 2 mBaEsn s Change of other comprehensive income 455 (5,668)

VERIEL Impairment (175,222) (148,596)

g Dividend (910,951) (335,801)
BN Reclassification (268,399) -
FREH Ending balance 10,460,200 12,854,475

AEEPRABEARHR/LERT  HK
X EHIHRE -

REFY ERE S R R IR ERAER M
3B3EY| MAEEAETHEQARMER
IRHIER(FIFE36) o

NE E 20245 % 2023FE 12 A31 A IFE
g AREEBETEERHEREAEEKR

PO AT o

IR EER SRR BEER

All of the Group’s associates are private companies and there are no
quoted market prices available for such equity interests.

The Group’s commitments to its investments in associates are
presented in note 33 and the Group provided guarantees for certain
associates on their borrowings (note 36).

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no associate is

considered to be material to the Group individually.

The following table summarizes financial information of the Group’s

associates:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEIFE AN S ATIEEMAE  Aggregate carrying amount of individually
immaterial associates 10,460,200 12,854,475
AEEEEAT B8 Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:
BBE TSR AE Profit from continuing operations 636,575 692,825
EHith2EWES(BI8)M#E)  Change of other comprehensive income/(loss) 455 (5,668)
e EnTat] Total comprehensive income 637,030 687,157
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

10 REELEENKRE

10 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

AR¥T T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FHER Opening balance 11,714,732 12,958,270

NE Additions 48,800 15,209

SEPEYHEREE Capital reduction and disposal of joint ventures (363,632) (1,025,690)

JEIE %A Share of results (302,001) 840,158

BENEE AT NG Change from joint ventures to subsidiaries

(MF7E31) (note 31) (452,801) (87,269)
EHH Reclassification 268,399

% 2, Dividend (265,362) (985,946)

FAREH Ending balance 10,648,135 11,714,732

IBARENAEEXI/LERR &
PR ETISIRE -

RNEME E NS B D EMNESAERN
3325 MAEBIAETAENEZE
FIRHIER(MIFE36) ©

RE B 2024 2 2023F 12 A31 B I 5
B AEEBETCMAER S HEAERKR

MABRE -

TEMEAEEEFBRERG LT Y
BER

All of the Group’s joint ventures are private companies and here are
no quoted market prices available for such equity interests.

The commitments relating to the Group’s interests in joint ventures
are presented in note 33 and the Group provided guarantees for
certain joint ventures on their borrowings (note 36).

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no joint ventures is

considered to be material to the Group individually.

The following table summarizes financial information of the Group’s
individually immaterial joint ventures:

M12831H
As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR%T T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BIFHIEEARALERMAE  Aggregate carrying amount of individually
immaterial joint ventures 10,648,135 11,714,732
AREEERATN4A%E Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:
B (8E), /A8 (Loss)/Profit from continuing operations (302,001) 840,158
2HE(EER) W iesE Total comprehensive (loss)/income (302,001) 840,158
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

1M1 REFE T 2EMTH

11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

AREEEFET T The Group holds the following financial instruments:
M12H831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
SREE Financial assets RMB’000 RMB’000
BBEN AT E 2 EE Assets at amortised cost
Z 5 R HMEWFIE(M:T16)  Trade and other receivables (note 16) 33,641,382 37,791,767
HHER AT 22 & MEE Financial assets at amortised cost
(FF5E13) (note 13) 95,310 436,821
RekBE2EEY(HE18) Cash and cash equivalents (note 18) 6,914,613 13,225,030
ZPRHIR S (FIEE18) Restricted cash (note 18) 3,703,679 6,274,884
44,354,984 57,728,502
BARBEFEZEE Assets at fair value
AR EBESSEEEES A Financial assets at FVOCI (note 12)
E2EKENEmERE
(M7E12) 93,805 148,608
AARBETEH8 EEEET A Financial assets at FVPL (note 12)
EHEENeREEME12) 671,558 637,693
765,363 786,301
45,120,347 58,514,803
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET AREFIT
LREE Financial liabilities RMB’000 RMB’000
HBEN AT E BB Liabilities at amortised cost
Z 5 R HMENZIE(MzI21)  Trade and other payables (note 21) 82,302,536 86,187,949
B (FfI3E20) Borrowings (note 20) 57,733,115 63,169,600
HEBEMES) Lease liabilities (note 6) 1,325,095 1,379,259
141,360,746 150,736,808
$%@ﬁﬁma’j SRMTEEBNIRRRE The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
HBIEESR EAiﬁt‘:H)q REEHEAEE instruments is discussed in note 3. The maximum exposure to credit

2 MTJJ:L SHReRMEEMNKRAE -

risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each

class of financial assets mentioned above.
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

12 UAABESEBHZEH s A 12 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
EHER Htt2EWENS PROFIT OR LOSS/OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
mMEE INCOME
(@) AAAREBEEFTEEHEEHFTA (a) Financial assets at FVPL

EHEZNSHEE
BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERHEE Non-current assets 304,684 366,989
mENEE Current assets 366,874 270,704
671,558 637,693

(b) AR REEFTEBEEBETTA

(b) Financial assets at FVOCI

Hit2HKENEMEE
i) ADAEETEBEHEHFAHE (i) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI:
fEHBENEMEEZDHE !
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENVEE Current assets 93,805 148,608
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

12U AREBEsEEHEEE T A 12 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
EHER HEEWENS PROFIT OR LOSS/OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

PEE(E) INCOME (continued)
b) AR AREBEEFEBHBH A (b) Financial assets at FVOCI (continued)
Hth2HEHKWENERMEE (&)
(i) REMZEKZERZSE (i) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
FRUTER) IREREAM During the year, the following (losses)/gains were recognised
2HEKRER in other comprehensive income:

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
LARBEEEBHES)E  Fair value losses on equity investments
AHEAM 2R RO AR  at FVOCI
BEnnBEEE (764) (10,533)
AR R BETE BASE)ET  Fair value gains/(losses) on debt
AHMEEWROEBLL  instruments at FVOCI
AnnEAEKES(EER) 8,780 (192,144)
(iii) RErRRRIUREAAEBENE (iii) Impairment and risk exposure and fair value
measurement
EBEAEBEEEERRRNER Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk is
BN EE31.1 - BEEEAAE provided in note 3.1.1. For information about the methods
ERFRBNERBRRHER and assumptions used in determining fair value please
BTS2 - BENURARBE refer to note 3.2. For information about the impairment of
SAEREEHFAEMEERKZE financial assets at FVOCI please refer to note 3.1.2.
ZEREERENER - B2H
MizE3.1.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

13 RN AT EZEREE 13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COSTS
(i) HBEREAEZEREESD () Classification of financial assets at amortised
] costs
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARKET T ARMBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JEMENEE Non-current assets - 267,411
MENEE Current assets 95,310 169,410
95,310 436,821
(i) BE K E (i) Impairment and risk exposure
MiFES 128 % B e mE ERERA Note 3.1.2 sets out information about the impairment of financial
SEERNEERBRIER - assets and the Group’s exposure to credit risk.
(i) B E AT ECEREEN (iii) Fair value of financial assets at amortised costs
AREE
M2024F12 A31 8 » I# ik A& As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of financial assets at
MemEEMNA AR EEELREER amortised costs approximate their carrying amounts.
% o
14 HE T FENRIE 14 PREPAYMENTS FOR LEASEHOLD LAND
KEBR2024F 12 A31 BEN AR The Group made prepayments of RMB1,875,460,000 for the
1,875,460,0007C BB B S + 1 (2023 acquisition of leasehold land as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
F : AR¥2,095,610,0007T) ° RMB2,095,610,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

15 R THHERNTRIEEYWHE 15 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE
M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& F R BRI TR E i Leasehold land to be developed 2,823,484 3,156,338
TEEEEYSE Properties under development for sale 74,844,884 120,349,513
TLAEME Properties held for sale 30,919,249 31,881,905

108,587,617 155,387,756
B REEERE Less: Provision for impairment loss (11,557,767) (12,856,346)

97,029,850 142,531,410

TIFENTEEEEWESNATE - The properties held or under development for sale are all located in
the PRC.

HE2024F12A31HIEFE » RIEEH Financing costs capitalised in properties under development
EMENTIFEMERE RN LG E for sale and held for sale for the year ended 31 December
A4 B AR #803,541,0007T @ B IEE 2024 were approximately RMB803,541,000 which include
MAE (20235 - BEERFBEARE interest on borrowings (2023: include interest on borrowings of
1,379,029,000 Tt KA A BB RERK D A RMB1,379,029,000 and financing component of contract liabilities of
R#428,874,0007L) ° RMB428,874,000).

HZE2024F12A31BILFE - BRER(E The capitalisation rate of borrowings was 6.13% for the year ended
R 56.13%(20234F : 6.34%) ° 31 December 2024 (2023: 6.34%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

15 TR TLFENTEHEWHE(E) 15 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER DEVELOPMENT

R2024F 12 A31H  EEREAAR
& 37,837,692,000 7T (2023 F : A R ¥
56,213,153,0007T ) WY FE TRFE ST iR SHE
P B IREA S B RME R (M
20) °

HZE2024F12A31HILFE - ERAEMAX
MEr AMEHEER AN T THEEWEKAE
B AR67,126,986,0007T (20234 A
R#92,401,039,0007T ) * 8 %55 B B 5 15
@ A R#2 933,599,0007T (20234 : AR
#2,049,261,0007T ) BT A E SHERA -

R2024F12A31H  EEREAAR
#511,734,512,000 7T (2023 F : A R #
40,119,328,0007T ) B 1T 12 §K & 1) 5 51 78 Hf
TER—FRNETHYMEIEE A - Y
EEEEETHSEWE - AR THED
HEIHBITER—FRATI - TLHE
NI EEEMENEMERTEFT AN —F

FOR SALE (continued)

Properties held or under development for sale with a total carrying
amount of RMB37,837,692,000 (2023: RMB56,213,153,000) as
at 31 December 2024 were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowing (note 20).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of properties held
for sale recognised as expense and included in cost of property sales
amounted to RMB67,126,986,000 (2023: RMB92,401,039,000),
accompanying by reversal of provision for impairment of
RMB2,933,599,000 (2023: RMB2,049,261,000) credited to cost of
property sales.

As at 31 December 2024, properties under development for
sale with a total carrying amount of RMB11,734,512,000 (2023:
RMB40,119,328,000) were related to property projects which were
not scheduled to complete within one year although pre-sales of
some of these properties may occur. All the leasehold land to be
developed were not scheduled to complete within one year. The
other balances in properties held or under development for sale were
expected to be recovered within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

16 E5 R EMEWSFBLLRTENR 16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

h1g PREPAYMENTS
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 EWGRIA Trade receivables 608,433 710,778
FEW = Notes receivables 250 53,108
608,683 763,886
B OREEE Less: Impairment losses (15,635) (16,021)
5 GRIE — 558 Trade receivables — net 593,048 747,865
TERFIE Prepayments
—JEATFRSRE 2 e {ER (@ - Prepaid income tax and land appreciate
tax (a) 2,403,215 4,547,409
— TG ER ([EEF ) & — Prepaid value-added tax (“VAT”) and
15 F 40k 2 IR IZE R (D) input VAT to be deducted (b) 5,208,941 7,153,663
—FERHFE ANE R E b B 1A — Prepaid surcharges and other taxes 195,162 344,547
—FEfT R A — Prepayments for construction costs 196,998 308,034
—Hfth — Others 721,679 784,162
8,725,995 13,137,815
H At BRI Other receivables
— FEURBR AT FERE B BB SR IR — Receivables from government related bodies 2,246,962 3,656,110
— FEY A& 7 kI (I 5E36) — Due from related parties (note 36) 10,490,223 10,565,812
—JEYE &R RIE(C) — Receivables from joint ventures partners (c) 808,781 1,172,837
— B F R RIBEERR - Receivables from non-controlling
A& FIE (o) shareholders of subsidiaries (c) 17,649,073 20,082,123
— H b3z & 0 FEUGRIE - Receivables from other deposits 1,589,277 1,021,935
—Hfth — Others 2,937,112 2,631,416
35,721,428 39,130,233
B OREEE Less: Impairment losses (2,673,094) (2,086,331)
33,048,334 37,043,902
B 5 K E MU EIE A & Trade and other receivables and
FETFRTE — F 58 prepayments — net 42,367,377 50,929,582
B FEBNERER > Less: Non-current portion (653) (639)
ENEAER Current portion 42,366,724 50,928,943
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F 12831 B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

16 E5 R EMEWEEBLLRTESN 16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

IE (%)

BIRUKIATEREMEHE - KEY
FHEREMRIEER - WRHENIF
FE—RRBFHBEEERRR=EAR
YWE - MY FMENHES —RIBTUE -
BB EHE S —RERI0REIX
MEEH] -

(@) MAKEYEIBYEFFAE - £ih
BERERIOHRAR TR R
R A RS A Z AR IEN RIAR
BR o SN o RHE R ERA WA B AT AR
B P IAUGRHI5% E15% 8 (ERM B =
GETA - TN P B AR BN
TR

(b) B2016F581HE » KEEHEY
EABMBET o RRBAGER N
& REBBRLIRES BENI%HY I
B (BE2018F5 1 H=Z=201943 A
31HAE10%) - BFfEERNERR
1HE - BIR2016F 4 A30 8 3k 2 Al
THIEE REESEERME @ 1%
HERERS% TR - AR #E 18
B - AEBTEWETAWEF AR
3% SR TEMIEER - BFERE M
WAZR ZENFIREMEERT
B - HTERER EFZREFAEMA -
I A] 1% BR iR AR A (B R oA B S 1B 1 (E
FRIKEY o

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables are mainly arisen from sales of properties, leases
of investment properties and other services businesses. Proceeds in
respect of properties sold are normally received within three months
after signing of related sales and purchase agreements, and rentals
in respect of leased properties are generally received in advance.
Customers of other services businesses are generally granted a
credit term of 30 days to 90 days.

(@ Land appreciation tax is provisionally levied based on rates
required by the local tax bureaus when the Group receives
advances from customers, which are recorded as prepayments
before the relevant revenue is recognised. In addition, a deemed
profit of 5% to 15% of advances received from the customers
is added to the accounting income when calculating taxable
income and the prepaid income tax is similarly recorded as
prepayments.

(b) Effective from 1 May 2016, the Group’s sale of properties are
subject to value-added tax. Under general VAT method, the
Group is subject to 9% (10% from 1 May 2018 to 31 March
2019) VAT on value added amount. Qualified old construction
projects, which are those with construction commenced
on or before 30 April 2016, however, has an alternative to
elect a simplified VAT method, which is 5% on sales with no
deduction of input VAT. The Group prepays VAT at 3% or 5%
when receiving advances from customers and such payment
is recorded as prepaid VAT before the relevant revenue is
recognised. Input VAT arises mainly from development costs
and can be offset against the output VAT under general VAT
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

16 E5 R EMEWSFBLLRTENR 16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

IE(48)
€ ZEEWFIEAEER 2EREE
MN2024F 202312 A31H - BEFEWK

AR EERBEERERLANHREA Y
HRRERINT ¢

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Such receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have
no fixed repayment terms.

The ageing of trade account receivables and notes receivables
based on the date of invoice or demand note as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥ET T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FNKN Less than 1 year 419,962 714,098
—FEMF Between 1 and 2 years 179,674 43,623
MEE=F Between 2 and 3 years 3,223 6,165
= Over 3 years 5,824 -
608,683 763,886

MN20244F 2023 12 A31 HE R M & A
BRIk A I SIEEKRGIBEREE

MR2024F N2023F 12 A31H  BF & H
HERFIEN AR BEEERIERS °

MN2024E }2023E 12 A31H » B5 R E
fth FE UL FRIB LA R FEA SRR BREE E Z A
ANRMEEHE -

BRAE S MEMREHIERE LA EE
EERAEERR - F2HME312-

i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2024 and
2023 is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned
above.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of trade and other
receivables approximate their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
and other receivables and prepayments are primarily denominated in
RMB.

Please refer to note 3.1.2 for the impairment of trade and other
receivables and the Group’s exposure to credit risk.
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

17 +2AH]

M2024F 2023512 A31H » AEEF
NAREAEBERERTFRARRMOHF
B MIFE40 ©

(a) EXRRH

R 1718 © A R % 10,265,700,000 7T
(20234 : AR #18,953,297,0007T)
BHRBEANMFRRREE - WX EME
HAEHIRBIFTARRR - 5% 5 & o0& %
FIRGIETRAE ERE L& & (WIHBB
EERE)RIBRH) o

(b) ERFZRERS

202412 A31 B Y FEIE RS a5
A ARB40,435,935,0007T (20234 :
AR #44,637,346,0007T) © HEh AR
#40,548,690,0007T (20234 : AR
44,752,046,0007T ) B N ARR 2 B #Ik
PR o

BERFEREENFLAMKESR
M=

AT EINFEH A REBEARIFE
P M RTIE IR IS AR R -

17 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 and shares of subsidiaries pledged for the Group’s
borrowings are set out in note 40.

(a) Significant restrictions

Cash at bank of RMB10,265,700,000 (2023: RMB18,953,297,000)
are held by subsidiaries in Mainland China and are subject to
local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the
country, other than through normal dividends.

(b) Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2024
was RMB40,435,935,000 (2023: RMB44,637,346,000), among
which RMB40,548,690,000 (2023: RMB44,752,046,000) was
for Seazen Holdings, the A share company.

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests

Set out below are the summarised financial information for

Seazen Holdings, which has non-controlling interests that are
material to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

17 727 (&)
(b) EAR IR AR ()

17 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

222

AR R R E Summarised statement of financial position
M12H831H
As at 31 December
IR IE AR FTRAE IR
Seazen Seazen
Holdings Holdings
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE Current
BE Assets 152,678,327 217,456,545
afm Liabilities (167,745,263)  (235,249,231)
BrREFAEFE Total current net liabilities (15,066,936) (17,792,686)
FERE Non-current
BE Assets 154,514,460 156,652,245
afE Liabilities (56,774,804) (52,456,150)
BIERENEEFE Total non-current net assets 97,739,656 104,196,095
BEFAE Net assets 82,672,720 86,403,409
TH&SEIEEEFE Net assets attributable to
— AR RE RS A A — Equity holders of Seazen Holdings 60,868,608 60,077,890
— FEfE R - Non-controlling interests* 21,804,112 26,325,519
82,672,720 86,403,409

* JR2024F 12 B 31 B #T IR AR Y JEIE
P HEE 25 8 7 = 1) B 2 1 0 8 A 45 A
[ &2 a8 A R%1,143,375,000 7T
(2023%F : AR#1,212,711,0007T) °

i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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Non-controlling interests of Seazen Holdings included

RMB1,143,375,000 (2023: RMB1,212,711,000) from fellow
subsidiaries of Seazen Holdings controlled by the Group as at 31

December 2024.
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

17 77 (&)
(b) EARFZIRAER ()

17 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

EHERERYPE Summarised statement of comprehensive income
M12A831H
As at 31 December
IR IE AR AR
Seazen Seazen
Holdings Holdings
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEE Revenue 88,998,583 119,174,278
BIREME AR BEREM  Profit before fair value loss on investment
8% B BT Ay F) properties and income tax expense 4,145,936 6,028,930
REWMEARBERBE Fair value losses on investment properties (11,547) (13,087)
FTefif 2 Income tax expense (3,414,347) (5,456,240)
St albEd Post-tax profit 720,042 559,603
HEh 2 ER Other comprehensive income (1,639) (87,442)
2ER BT Total comprehensive income 718,403 472 161
DB E FEIE R Y Total comprehensive income allocated to
ZHEWERE non-controlling interests (32,350) (177,500)
BE 22 oAb, Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 654,371 1,642,202

WA ERF#5 &R T3 B R 2 RIAR R &Y ¥R
SRR — B R BRRR -

The above financial information was prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies.
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

17 727 (&)

(b) EAR IR AR ()

17 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

RERERYUE Summarised statement of cash flows
M12H831H
As at 31 December
IR 1E AR TR RR
Seazen Seazen
Holdings Holdings
202445 2023%F
2024 2023
AR%T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ESEE(FTA) /P54 Net cash (used in)/generated from
R operating activities (2,427,879) 5,464,674
WEREFIFREFE Net cash generated from investing activities 1,827,446 1,447,742
MEEBIAE S FER Net cash used in financing activities (5,625,245) (15,672,547)
Re MIRLEBYWHAEEE  Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,225,678) (8,760,131)
FYRe LB Cash and cash equivalents
ZEY at beginning of the year 12,821,639 21,574,514
ReEkBeEEMNER Net exchange gains on cash and
W z5 558 cash equivalents 147 7,256
FRNIBE LIRS EED Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6,596,108 12,821,639

BRERREHEEEARRER HH

&R °

transactions elimination.

224 i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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The information above is

the amount before intra-group
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

18 EERESCEEYILURZR4S 18CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

Re RESTRICTED CASH
MA12831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ReERRSFEBMAR Cash and cash equivalents and
ZREIER S restricted cash
UARESHE Denominated in RMB 10,316,937 19,385,340
LAZETTEHE Denominated in USD 207,224 97,652
LA TTEHE Denominated in HKD 94,131 16,922
10,618,292 19,499,914
AEEREMRSEEMEETNOT ¢ Cash and cash equivalents of the Group were determined as follows:
M12H831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITRFERS Cash at bank and on hand 10,618,292 19,499,914
o XRHRE Less: Restricted cash (3,703,679) (6,274,884)
6,914,613 13,225,030
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

18 RERBFEEEEBEYWURZMRE 18CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

HE(]) RESTRICTED CASH (continued)
NEFBNZRESIVSBIENATRIA - Restricted cash of the Group comprised of the following:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T AREBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

KEMEBEMERENT RS Restricted cash from property pre-sale
He@ BEELBERREZE  proceeds (a), deposits as security for property
S RIEAERRBRFZRREKA  purchasers’ mortgage loans and deposits

RESE for letters of guarantee issued for project
construction, etc. 3,703,679 6,274,884
@ ZEHRETEEN2024F12H3187F (@ The balance mainly represented unreleased guarantee deposits
WEEERITERPPFUAREEED for construction of pre-sale properties denominated in RMB
REERBR IR B TE S W E AR RARTE placed in designated bank accounts as at 31 December 2024,
- BIREE TREREEREERR and will be released in accordance with certain construction
PR ) o progress milestones.
19 BRA 19 SHARE CAPITAL
(a) EFERA (a) Authorised capital
EERAEE
Number of
authorised shares
BTG
HKS$ share
72023F1 818 ~ 20234F As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and
12 4318 &2024F12A31H 31 December 2024 (par at HK$0.001)
(FRMEE0.00147T) 10,000,000,000
(b) EEITREBEZRE (b) Issued and fully paid shares
ERITROEE EBER
Number of Ordinary
issued shares shares
£1£0.00178 T ARBT T
HK$0.001 each RMB’000
20231 H1H « 20234 As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
12 A31H K&2024%F12 A31H and 31 December 2024 7,065,741,521 5,822
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

20 &

20 BORROWINGS

MA12831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JEBNHR - BIEA Non-current, secured:
—SRITRIEIRT T B IE R — Loans from banks and non-bank
B3 financial institutions 36,443,227 35,947,092
— R HAEE — Middle term notes 7,620,000 3,000,000
—BEERE — Senior notes 2,154,205 3,887,205
—BH L THRE — Financing under securitization
(FF5E) arrangements (Note) 2,021,751 2,045,822
48,239,183 44,880,119
JERNHR - MRIKH Non-current, unsecured:
—SRTT M IEIRT T B IE Y — Loans from banks and non-bank
B3 financial institutions 1,056,546 2,208,817
— R EIEEIR — Middle term notes = 2,940,000
—EESF — Corporate bonds 1,100,000 1,100,000
—BEEE — Senior notes 5,046,126 8,139,829
7,202,672 14,388,646
B REBE A BDEREE Less: Current portion of long-term borrowings (13,780,132) (20,854,893)
41,661,723 38,413,872
BNES - B - Current, secured:
—SR1TMIEIRTT & BB Y — Loans from banks and non-bank
B3 financial institutions 1,852,050 2,299,755
BNER - EE4K4R - Current, unsecured:
—iR1T M IEER 1T BB Y — Loans from banks and non-bank
B financial institutions 30,000 352,875
—(BEEE — Senior notes = 708,270
30,000 1,061,145
AR FE ST FILE Interest payable of short-term borrowings 48,683 45,711
REERREE D Current portion of long-term borrowings 13,780,132 20,854,893
REIEZRERTE Interest payable of long-term borrowings 360,527 494 224
16,071,392 24,755,728
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

20

22

B (8)

AEEBZEFRBHATIEREFECEER
o

20 BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group’s borrowings were secured by assets with the following
net book values:

M12A31H

As at 31 December
202445 2023
2024 2023
ARET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
VI - B MR Property, plant and equipment 1,537,573 1,198,155
WEWE Investment properties 101,649,948 78,614,504
T ILFENEEIEEME Property held or under development for sale 37,837,692 56,213,153
TREEE Right-of-use assets 838,406 517,149

Lo - NEBR20245F 12 A31 H 2 &
A R # 26,398,070,000 7T (2023 4F :
A R #17,922,535,000 7T ) B AN A &) #&
REBAEBRE T FRE 2 RERKE
(FI7E40) - REE 2024 F12 A31H
2 & 7 A R ¥ 7,620,000,000 7T ( 2023
£ AR #4,700,000,000 7T ) M T
EERTEFHGERERMERAA
R o REFEMN2024F12 A31 B 2 &5
A R ¥ 400,000,000 7 (20234F : AR
400,000,0007T) HEAT B BB I 8v & (=
ABEEREBERAFER -

i AEBHEE=FTREREBTIINEE
BHREAREANBFHRLCLLHE TR
L BREEBEEFERFIHFARE
2,021,751,000 7t (2023 F : A R #
2,045,822,00070) * HAKEE TIEE
MENAS WA ERR - 255
FEFTHIEARIER -

MN2024F12 3318 » AIEIER ARG A%E A
AR #15,662,182,0007T (2023 : AR
#0204 215,793,0007T) ©

i 8% R 2 IR 5 IR 2 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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In addition, the Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2024 of
RMB26,398,070,000 (2023: RMB17,922,535,000) were guaranteed
by the Company and secured by the Group’s equity interests in
certain subsidiaries (note 40). The Group’s borrowings as at 31
December 2024 of RMB7,620,000,000 (2023: RMB4,700,000,000)
which were guaranteed by a government owned entity China Bond
Insurance Co., Ltd. The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December
2024 of RMB400,000,000 (2023: RMB400,000,000) which were
guaranteed by a government owned entity Jiangsu Credit Re-
guarantee Group Co., Ltd.

Note: The Group entered into financing under securitisation arrangements
with third-party financial institutions in the form of asset securitisation.
These include the commercial mortgage backed securities amounted
to RMB2,021,751,000 (2023: RMB2,045,822,000) which are secured
by the rights of the Group’s certain investment properties’ rental
income. These securities are guaranteed by Seazen Holdings.

The aggregate principal of the current borrowings as at 31 December
2024 are RMB15,662,182,000 (2023: RMB24,215,793,000).
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20 7 (48) 20 BORROWINGS (continued)
20244 [ 2023512 8318 » 3EREE The maturity of the non-current borrowings as at 31 December 2024
KB BB RN T ¢ and 2023 are as follows:
M12831H
As at 31 December
202445 2023%F
2024 2023
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FEMF Between 1 and 2 years 9,911,088 14,199,399
MEERF Between 2 and 5 years 12,272,702 13,985,194
FFUE Over 5 years 19,477,933 10,229,279
41,661,723 38,413,872
R2024F 12 A31H » REBERARED The weighted average effective rates for the Group’s total borrowings
N F 15 E B F X 55.88% (2023 F - was 5.88% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 6.15%).
6.15%) °
20244 2 2023F 12 4318 » IEREE The carrying amounts of non-current borrowings as at 31 December
FERREENT 2024 and 2023 are as follows:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITMIERTITE RMEIER Loans from banks and non-bank
=8¢ financial institutions 31,757,257 23,490,729
BRERE Senior notes 2,894,715 7,077,321
FBECLTHTRRE Financing under securitisation arrangements 1,989,751 2,045,822
i EAZE Middle term notes 4,620,000 4,700,000
hEES Corporate bonds 400,000 1,100,000
41,661,723 38,413,872
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

20 B (4&) 20 BORROWINGS (continued)
REBEZINFNEZEHREB LR ASNENT The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes
BEHFNHE(UAREEAE)WOT : and the contractual repricing dates or maturity whichever is the

earlier date is as follows:

~MER RE

gHA A -ZEF  EFNL A%
6 months 6-12 1-5 Over

orless months years 5years Total

ARBTR ARWTR AR®TR ARWTR ARMTR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

FAEREEENER Borrowings included in non-current liabilties
F2024%12 A31H As at 31 December 2024 8,521,601 6,926,946 15,628,085 10,585,091 41,661,723
#2023F12 4318 As at 31 December 2023 1,402,440 9,521,310 21435953 6,004,169 38,413,872
SARBARMER Borrowings included in current liabilities
20245124318 As at 31 December 2024 5,741,226 10,330,166 - - 16,071,392
12023412 431H As at 31 December 2023 10,677,163 14,078,565 - - 24,755,728
MR2024F 12 4318 « ZETEF X ER As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate principal of borrowings
BRA L BEE A ARM37,475,295,0007T amounted to RMB37,475,295,000 are at fixed interest rates (2023:
(20234 : AR¥42,168,359,0007T) ° RMB42,168,359,000).
NEFBEZZERBENTYE®E - The carrying values of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in

the following currencies:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 50,174,820 50,039,894
EIH uss$ 7,358,137 12,907,043
BT HK$ 200,158 222,663

57,733,115 63,169,600
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

21 EZ R EMEMNFIE

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

M12831H
As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANES Notes payable 422,023 1,758,865
2 ZEMNHIE Trade payables 45,291,326 46,702,494
e A 5 5138 (i 5E36)(c) Payables to related parties (note 36) (c) 22,607,088 23,804,082
FEA N A EERER Output VAT on contract liabilities to be transferred 4,712,076 9,280,293
ERIIRREES R Deposits for construction biddings and
HERS rental deposits 2,784,656 4,231,985
FERFREIFEIERRAR R A Advances from non-controlling shareholders
&K (a) of subsidiaries (a) 3,625,608 2,831,358
EstF X Accrued expenses 2,806,240 2,493,627
VIR BERE Amounts received for potential investments
Fris &5 (b) in property projects (b) 980,699 935,453
BE AR TR Value-added tax and other taxes payable 1,439,060 870,343
st E Accrued payroll 542,020 876,694
FENWETF AR - A%40%¥R  Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries,
Bt N A F0E joint ventures and associates 104,670 125,969
EAh, Others 3,680,226 3,304,116
88,995,692 97,215,279
B FERNEREE Less: Non-current portion (193,970) -
BERER 9> Current portion 88,801,722 97,215,279
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

21 ESREMENTIE(E) 21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(@) M2024%F K2023F12A31H - a4
BERTMERAEREAEEREFARX
MEEZERBREER - ZBREERE
B EIKH R G EE B ER -

b) ZEFEBR L FHAKRREERE
HELHBHEAKINBERT - 1ER/ZE
HALHAREHFKILFRAHAE
LBEENEEAR - ZEFA/EE
- B REETEERIR

(©) M2024F 12 A31H » Wh&EHBIE
M—2EEFBAFEERARE
193,970,000 7T ° 72 2024 F 12 H 31
H - BREAEAARY1,106,962,000
TTHIR EMECRIFIEAZERAIE
R o

MN20244E ] 2023E 12 A31H » B S ER
FIENMENEEANEEZSANEEE 2 A

(@)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, included in the balance is
non-controlling shareholders’ loans to the Group’s subsidiaries
for payment of land use rights. The shareholders’ loans are non-
interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms.

These amounts will either be returned upon unsuccessful land
biddings or be treated as the other parties’ contribution to new
subsidiaries or joint venture of the Group for successful land
biddings. They are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no
fixed repayment terms.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the balance is an amount
of RMB193,970,000 which represents interest-bearing loans
from a related party. Investment properties with a total carrying
amount of RMB1,106,962,000 as at 31 December 2024 were
pledged as collateral for the loan.

The ageing analysis of trade payables and notes payable based on
the date of invoice or demand note as at 31 December 2024 and

BRERIR D ATIO T ¢ 2023 are as follows:
M128318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—F R Less than 1 year 40,011,136 42,901,330
—FERA Between 1 and 2 years 5,702,213 5,560,029
45,713,349 48,461,359

MR2024F N 2023F12A31H » BF & H
HERNFIEN AR BEEERIDERS -

MN20244E 202312 A31H » BH R E
oM RIEMBREE T ZUAREE -
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 IEFEFTIBM 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
MA12831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR%T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEFTSTHEE Deferred income tax assets
1P 1 216 A R ] To be recovered within 12 months 2,467,086 3,431,194
SRR B 1 21E A % Uk (Bl To be recovered after more than 12 months 6,284,583 6,072,542
8,751,669 9,503,736
IR SH 4R E K 85 Set-off deferred tax assets pursuant to
RIETRIEE E set-off provisions (2,626,574) (2,896,160)
RIERIEEERE Net deferred tax assets 6,125,095 6,607,576
EEFTERAE Deferred income tax liabilities
#1218 A Rk [E To be recovered within 12 months 25,120 161,828
A HIB12ME A &Ik To be recovered after more than 12 months 10,186,102 10,922,591

10,211,222 11,084,419

IRIBR I S5 35 E K 85 Set-off deferred tax liabilities pursuant to
REFRITEEE set-off provisions (2,626,574) (2,896,160)
EIETIR B EF5E Net deferred tax liabilities 7,584,648 8,188,259
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 IEEFREH (&) 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
RIS FEE B AFESHI R T - The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

BZ12A318ILEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
F1 At the beginning of the year (1,580,683) (71,850)
B (X AEH Credited/(Charged) to the consolidated
BmEA(MEE28) statement of profit or loss (note 28) 127,794 (1,298,823)
HETRF Disposal of subsidiaries (47,296) (218,352)
W B+~ A (MI3E31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) 40,632 8,342
FR At the end of the year (1,459,553) (1,580,683)
R2024F12 318 » AR¥2,626,574,000 As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax assets and deferred
70 (20234 : AR #2,896,160,0007T ) AY income tax liabilities amounted to RMB2,626,574,000 were offset
FEEMSHEEMEEMSHAEERE (2023: RMB2,896,160,000).
i o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 IRIEFTER (48) 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
RE, 22024 F K 2023F 12 A31 H IEF The gross movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
B BEEAERMEENEBERBEESH(CRE for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, without taking
ZEEHER -G AR A& VIR into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
AN jurisdiction, are as follows:
RIEFFERERE Deferred income tax assets
BER
HEER HEFR EER fEEE  LuEER At
Provisions and Land
impairment Lease  appreciation
Tax losses losses Accruals liabilities tax Total

ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  AREFR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

R0A4E151R At1 January 2024 4,994,898 2,223,487 733,642 344,002 1,207,707 9,503,736
B2/ (S AAH Creditedl{chargec] to the consoldated

BREN statement of proft or loss 051709 (21859 594,140 (14824 (45513  (136,4%9)
HETFAT Disposal of subsiclaries (67,843) - - - - (67,843)
WEET LA (H231) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) 52,271 - - - - 52,011
#2024%128318 At 31 December 2024 4,627,623 2,004,892 1,321,782 329,178 462,194 8,751,669
H2023%1A1A At 1 January 2023 5,209,994 2,740,937 704,232 - 1,730,169 10,475,332
it/ () Aaft Credtecl{chargec] to the consolidated

BEER statement of profit or loss (268,716 (617,450) 29410 344,002 (622,462) (925,216)
HEFAT Disposal of subsiciaries (57,489) - - - - (57,488)
W T RE(ME1) Acquistion of subsiciaries (note 31) 11,108 - - - - 11,108
R2023%12A31A At 31 December 2023 4,994,898 2,023,487 733,642 344,002 1,207,707 9,508,736
BEFBEVER AR - BEEBRAI&EED In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
FLARSEARRERBAE - WEBFTEHE be carried forward for a period of five years to offset against its future
ARSHEHREHRIEEESA - BIER taxable profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses
ISR AR BEENRERIEEE © are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 RSB (4F)
EEFTSBIEE ()

REEW AN 2024F 12 A31HEEAA
R #17,157,283,0007T (2023 F : AR
11,381,574,0007T ) & % 755 /&5 18 T fR IR &
FriS#i & &= A R #3,556,707,0007T (2023
F: AR¥2195,237,0007T) °

REBRARERRILEFSHEEN AR
EEARIA T FE R -

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
Deferred income tax assets (continued)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
RMB3,556,707,000 (2023: RMB2,195,237,000) in respect of tax
losses amounting to RMB17,157,283,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB11,381,574,000).

The deductible loss of the Group’s unrecognised deferred income
tax assets will mature in the following years:

M12H31H
As at 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR%ET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
20244 2024 - 327,339
20254 2025 586,768 422 223
20264 2026 1,491,537 962,520
20274 2027 1,780,765 791,012
20284 2028 2,835,954 1,229,584
20294 2029 1,843,272 -
20290 £ 5k 8 B EIE A After 2029 or without expiry date 8,618,987 7,648,896
17,157,283 11,381,574
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 JEAEFEHL ()

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

EEFEHAE Deferred income tax liabilities
G AKBE  wETLAN
MEBRKE  BREEE  WBTAE  RASBER BAZE  AARAE  RENERE At
Unsold
property cost Undistributed ~ Depreciation
Fairvalue  Rightofuse ~ Acquisition of allocation  Differencein  profits of PRC  of investment
gains assets  subsidiaries differences  contractcost  subsidiaries properties Total
ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR  AREfn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(i)
(note (a))
202451 51A At 1 January 2024 4,201,586 340,576 161,628 2,818,219 654,157 590,797 2,317,256 11,084,419
s/ (ERAAN Charged/{credited)to the
B consoidated statement of income 25,817 (48819) (136,708) (800,434 (637,575) (384349) 1,417,779 (864,289)
HEFAT Disposal of subsidiares - - (20,547) - - - (20547)
YR IR (st Acquistion of subsidlaries (note 31) - - - 11,639 - g 11,63
HRAE12A31A At 31 December 2024 4,227,408 291,757 25,120 1,997,238 28,21 206,448 3435085 10,211,222
202351 51A At1 January 2023 4129534 - 214,706 3,148,335 767215 562,489 1724908 10547182
3/ (B AAB Charged/[credited) to the
HiEx consolidated statement of income 72,052 340,576 (52878) (332,882) (113,08) 28308 431,489 373,607
HETRR Disposal of subsiciaries - - - - - - 160,864 160,864
WETRA(NS) Acquistion of subsidiaries (note 31) - - - 2766 - - - 2766
R2023E123318 At 31 December 2023 4,201,586 340,576 161,828 2818219 654,157 590,797 2317256 11,084,419

(@ MR2024%F12A31H » KEE D P
BIRIMEEE (R E THEFREE
53 7K B 1 P] 93 R 1 7E B ) B R S A
MENRERECAEHEBEAR
# 206,448,000 7T (2023 F : AR
590,797,0007T) °

(@ As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities

of RMB206,448,000 (2023: RMB590,797,000) have been
recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable upon
remittance, in respect of a portion of the unremitted distributable
profits of certain PRC subsidiaries attributable to the investors
outside PRC.
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23 EXH

(a) 2HFREFFEHIHEA

23 REVENUE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contract with
customer

AEBHBARER —BREBALR
R-BHHEEERLRY  T2E

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and
services over time and at a point in time in the following major

FELATR 5@ - line:
BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEREEK Continuing operations
R— A2 R R G Revenue from contract with customers
BEEAKHIRA recognised at a point in time
/N A share company
—HEWHE — Sales of properties 76,041,007 107,336,376
— Bt R — Others services 481,028 462,469
JEARE A A Non-A share companies
— A AR - Others services 156,100 176,280
76,678,135 107,975,125
BE s R RERR 2R B Revenue from contract with customers
BEEAKKIRA recognised over time
iYe/NC A share company
ES7ES — Commercial property management
BERE services 5,476,774 4,865,086
— B A AR — Others services 447,430 744,170
IEARE A A Non-A share companies
— H AR — Others services 68,031 181,690
5,992,235 5,790,946
HaelwA Rental income
AR A R] A share company 6,549,422 5,691,963
FEARR A F] Non-A share companies 6,728 5,496
6,556,150 5,697,459
89,226,520 119,463,530
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

23 EXEH(E) 23 REVENUE (continued)

(b) BERFENEEANEERER

AEECHER TIETF S HHEEN

(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities

BEERBE: related to contracts with customers:
M12831H
As at 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
X)) EET 7N Contract costs 1,475,183 3,336,978
SHBRE Contract liabilities 55,308,646 106,091,241

() EHNEENEXRES

HRAKEEE TR BHAH
BERD -

(i) FRASHAEENCSERKA

TRINRIE A & R A UL
APEZLEEEBANAGERR -

(ii)

Significant changes in contract liabilities

Contract liabilities decreased due to decline of the Group’s
pre-sale.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue

recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities.

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR%T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SFABHAEERN Revenue recognised that was included in
ERERUMA the contract liabilities
FHIR LR Balance at the beginning of the year
—HEME — Sales of properties 76,041,007 107,336,376
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23 EXEFE(E) 23 REVENUE (continued)
b) EEESNHBNEERER (b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with

(%) customers (continued)

(i) RETHENERT (iii) Unsatisfied performance obligation
TERYIRERZELRIEERERE The following table shows the contracted amounts to be
HROELDEE - recognised in future resulting from property development

and sales.
BZ12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEET 20254 & Expected to be recognised between
20264/ 2024F year 2025 and 2026/2024 and

2025 [E 1R 2025 58,317,400 110,839,950

(iv) EHEBRA (iv) Contract costs
REFEDBRA-BEIREGENE The Group has recognised an asset in relation to costs
EREEXRAEENEE(WETE directly attributable to obtaining a contract such as stamp
HEREEMES) - #F2024F12 duty and sales commissions. As of 31 December 2024,
A81H ' BHBMERE &M A contract costs balance is RMB1,475,183,000 (31 December
A R #1,475,183,000 7T ( 2023 F 2023: RMB3,336,978,000).
12H31H : AR#3,336,978,000
TT) °
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24 Httg A HtBExx Hitt (& 24 OTHER INCOME/OTHER EXPENSES/OTHER

18) /% — B
(a) EAEA

(a) Other income

(LOSSES)/GAINS - NET

HZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234

2024 2023

AR%T T AREBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

IEgER G Government grants 61,170 134,080
Bt NTI RS SRR B Interest income from fundings to associates

WA (K 5E36(0)) and joint ventures (note 36(b)) 20,135 26,460

& B A Dividend income - 378

81,305 160,918

(b) HAbBIX

(b) Other expenses

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

AR¥T T AREETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

B Donations (3,688) (10,037)

(c) Hftt(&18), st — FEE

(c) Other (losses)/gains — net

HZE12A318LLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HETFRAREANFER Net losses from disposal of subsidiaries
(Ff5E38) (note 38) (47,488) (63,222)
HEME - BB REE - (Losses)/Gains on disposal of property,
mILEERMEREEEES Y plant and equipment, intangible assets
(E518), W= and right-of-use assets (2,092) 428,574
BUHES A ER 2 FE Compensation for cancellation of sales
contracts 4,711 31,485
SEPERBENTE AT AT Remeasurement gains/(losses) on equity
M EE =t EW (F1E)  interestsin joint ventures and associates
(FF5ES1) converted into subsidiaries (note 31) 9,628 (63,960)
EAh, Others (90,582) 96,448
(125,823) 439,325
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25 M EEI DX 25 EXPENSES BY NATURE

HASERRBAA - SEREERAR
TR P AT T -

Expenses included in cost of sales and services, selling and
marketing expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as
follows:

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e JDIN Construction costs 41,175,629 51,716,408
b FARERC AR Land use rights costs 23,395,605 35,054,596
BAREFE Capitalised interest 5,489,351 7,679,296
TIFENERHEME Provision for impairment of properties held or
S ERE under development for sale 1,635,020 5,348,186
8 TRA(MIF27) Staff costs (note 27) 4,390,644 4,670,165
HEMS Sales commission 2,224,613 2,448,001
EBEEREEER Advertising and publicity costs 995,052 1,472,591
He LM mE Tax and surcharges 1,088,135 1,267,759
EHEEEH Professional fees 331,304 407,485
ME - MEMEEITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 193,639 368,906
RITFEE Bank charges 161,035 188,229
EIRE Travelling expenses 130,999 166,298
FREEER Amortisation of right-of-use assets and
A A intangible assets 65,400 117,226
HBEE Entertainment expenses 72,535 97,876
ZEEN I & Auditors’ remuneration
—AEBENFER — annual audit of the Group 1,200 2,100
— AR R BIZ B AN — annual audit of the A share company
EANGIESESEE S5y charged by its auditor 3,180 6,000
— JEERETARTS — non-audit services 870 2,270
KEENEHEE Rental expenses of low-value and short-term
e (FI3E6(0)) leases (note 6(b)) 1,823 3,608
HEMREY Other expenses 111,857 1,637,732
SHE RRIEAA - SHER Total cost of sales and services, selling and
BN R TR S st marketing expenses and administrative
expenses 81,467,891 112,654,732
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

26 B AR @& KA 26 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234F
2024 2023
AREET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE KA Finance costs
—EFNERTEEASLMEAR - Interest on borrowings and significant
BEELD financing component of
pre-sale contracts (3,581,526) (4,797,325)
— ST FENTHEE&®ER - Interest and finance charges paid/payable
FEREEE A (MF6(0)) for lease liabilities (note 6(b)) (60,172) (50,177)
— + BEMEFE (K36 - — Less: Interest capitalised (note 6,
B RE7 M fiEE15) note 7 and note 15) 880,013 2,244,005
(2,761,685) (2,603,497)
— [ H B 1R 5 5 - Net foreign exchange losses (220,469) (432,199)
BEK AN AERE Total finance costs (2,982,154) (3,035,696)
TSI A Finance income
— RITIF T BUA — Interest income on bank deposits 78,269 297,430
BEKA —FE Net finance costs (2,903,885) (2,738,266)
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

27 EIRA(BEESME)

27 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS)
BZ12A318ILEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEMFH S Wages and salaries 3,720,951 4,448,422
BAKRE Pension 368,807 405,032
Hib @ Other welfare benefit expenses 628,788 671,925
4,718,546 5,525,379
BEmFNR(M:E25) Charged to statement of profit or loss (note 25) 4,390,644 4,670,165
BEA T T FES Capitalised to properties held or under
EEEHEME development for sale 327,902 855,214
EE&H Number of employees 20,243 22 361

REB B FAE T B A& 8 2 00 i BUT #
BRYNEENERETER LSRR
g pREEE  BE EEREMBENE
g - REEW EEMBAB T RAAE -

REBEEBRT  AEEZEE TEAEN
—ELLHIBETBBRE LRAOER &
ERBREREMNMHR - XREFMH
SIREHEER -

(a) BIkE — EFEHARETE
HE2024F12A31HIEFE » K&

(5] 3 4 I RO U SO A AR AR T AR
(20234 : 47) o
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All mainland China employees of the Group participate in defined
contribution employee social security plans, including pension,
medical, housing and other welfare benefits, organised and
administered by the governmental authorities. The Group has no
other substantial commitments to employees.

According to the relevant regulations, the premiums and welfare
benefit contributions that should be borne by the Group are
calculated based on percentages of the total salary of employees,
subject to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the labour and social
welfare authorities.

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited

contributions were utilized by the Group to reduce its
contributions for the current year (2023: Nil).
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

27 ETHA(BEEEMS) (&)

(b) EERFETRAENME

EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

BB ETARA - 2RI 383(1) &
RARI(KBESNBZER)RPIE 2
MREERBENEERTETHABH

27 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

(b) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Companies Ordinance
and part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about

SR Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
HER g\
ik A2 Eage HE 5 &i
Salaries  Performance Retirement
and other related scheme
BEHA Name of director Fees allowances bonus  contributions Total
ARETR ARETR ARETTL ARETR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HZ2024%512AALEE  Yearended 31 December 2024
EZR Chairman
TER Wang Xiaosong - 3,640 - 158 3,798
yEs Executive directors
aE Lv Xiaoping - 3,571 910 - 4,481
PR Lu Zhongming - 3,209 - 158 3,367
FATES Non-executive director
ECE] Zhang Shengman - 5,497 458 - 5,955
BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors
it Zhu Zengjin 350 - - - 350
BE Zhong Wei 350 - - - 350
R0 WuKe {) 175 - - - 175
RER(i) Chen Huakang {i) 175 - - - 175
1,050 15,917 1,368 316 18,651
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

27 ETRE(BEEEME) (&) 27 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

L EERTETHAENME (b) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(%) (continued)
BIE EWRA - 2 AMEHIE383(1) 15 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant
RARI(BEESFZER)RFIE 2 to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Companies Ordinance
HREWENEE L TETHRASH and part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about
ST ¢ (F) Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: (continued)
#eR Br WRbA

e Hf2eh Enge SRS ERmEM ait
Salaries  Performance  Retirement
and other related scheme  Share-based
3% Name of director Fees  allowances bonus  contributions payment Total
AREBTT  ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HZ22023512A31BLEE  Year ended 31 December 2023

EER Chairman
TER Wang Xiaosong - 4,320 - 156 - 4476
YiES Executive directors
g/ Lv Xiaoping - 3,584 1,875 - - 5,459
gl Lu Zhongming - 3,236 1,798 156 - 5,190
FHITES Non-executive directors
E58 Zhang Shengman - 5,437 453 - - 5,890
EEE(i Qu Deun i - 78 - 153 - %9
BUFHITES Independent non-executive directors
P Zhu Zengjin 350 - - - - 350
BE Zhong Wei 350 - - - - 350
RER() Chen Huakang (i) 350 - - - - 350
1050 1736 4128 465 - 3004
) REZLEN2024F6A28BEZ TS ) Ms. Wu Ke appointed as an independent non-executive director
BYIFRTES - and on 28 June 2024.
(i) PREERT LA 2024F6 A28 HIR T (i) Mr. Chen Huakang retired from office as an independent non-
SIFERITESE - executive director on 28 June 2024,
(i) EHEELER2023F2 A 16 HEHIIE (i) Mr. Qu Dejun resigned as the non-executive director and vice-
WTEFREFSIESTR - chairman of the Board on 16 February 2023.
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

27 ETHA(BEEEMS) (&)

(c)

EERIKER

HE2024F12A31B ILFE » fiEE
= Y BR ok 8 Ui B A {A] 3R R A& F1) (2023
Fom) o

(d) EEREBER

(e)

(f)

HE2024F12A31B ILFE - fiEE
=5 Uk B B LA B ] el B AR R (2023
Fom) o

RESEERBEMAE =X
FHIE

HE2024F12A31BIEFE » KAAF]
MERESEERSMEEMNE=S
SARE (20234 : &) ©

BRLES ESHMEFNE
ENEESAEHERAZHE
ANER  BUERKRHEMR
ZHER

RERKF RN EBE RTINS
FOEEMESIENREESTEMH
BERARBANER - BUERK
HAith32 5 (20234 : &) -

(0 EERNRE  REHENFH

EXRER

RERSRE E20245F12 A31H IEFE
EAEMAERE - SEFT SRS EE
BMEBEANRS « BHHEL -
HPARRB ATz —BRRAE
EREFEEZESEEREERAES
(20234 : 4£) -

27 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(c) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

(d) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

(e) Consideration provided to third parties for

(f)

making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors, bodies
corporate controlled by or entities connected
with directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings were made available in
favour of directors, bodies corporate controlled by and entities
connected with directors subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2023: Nil).

(g) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

27 ETRA(BEESE#ME) (&)

(h) EEE&EEFAL

HZE2024F12831BILFE » A&
ERfasaimA LT eEN%E (2023
FOR)EF BELHEERLEX
EIMA TR R - FREMHT—
% (20235 « —H)ATHMEWT -

27 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(h) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 include
four directors (2023: four) whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented above. The emoluments payable to the
remaining one (2023: one) individuals during the year are as
follows:

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December
202445 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EAXF e - FHEM - Basic salaries, housing allowances,
FERRRE - HAnRRE R share options, other allowances and
EWEF benefits in kind 3,384 1,328
RIRFHEI R Retirement scheme contributions = -
EiEs Performance related bonus — -
3,384 1,328

%% (2023%F + —H) ALHBET)
FTHIHE

The emoluments to the one individual (2023: one) fell within the
following band:

HZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023

B < & [E Emoluments band
1,000,001/ 7C 21,500,000 7T HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 = 1
3,500,001 7T 24,000,000/ 7T HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 1 -
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

27 ETRER(BEEEMSE) (E) 27 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(i) #=2024% 202312 A31 B 1L (i) During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
B BEEEIENARERHFAL director or any of the five highest paid individuals received any
[\ A & B W EVE R B & 1B A DN BE s 1 emolument from the Group as an inducement to join, upon
MBS EEFA AN E B RS AV B S fE ARk joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss
BE AEEFATERTENE= of office. Also, the Group did not pay consideration to any third
AERARAE - ERESE KRB (2023 parties for making available directors’ services during the year
Fom)o (2023: Nil).

28 FTEHFA X 28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(a) FRIEBiREX (a) Income tax expense

BZ12A31HLLFE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR%T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BVEAFT1S AR Current income tax
— AR B B (M) - PRC land appreciation tax (Note) 1,227,922 1,443,826
— B ETER — PRC corporate income tax 2,411,720 2,744,056
3,639,642 4,187,882
BIEFTS A (FRE22) Deferred income tax (note 22) (127,794) 1,298,823
FEH T PTET 4258 Total income tax charged for the year 3,511,848 5,486,705
Mzt : B E2024F 12831 HIFEEM L Note: Land appreciation tax for the year ended 31 December
3% (E B B N RE R W) 25 2024 includes the amount of land appreciation tax of
EWAMTHIBETRSEARE RMB1,359,487,000 (2023: RMB2,060,813,000) on property
1,359,487,0007T (20234 : AR sales revenue recognised during the year; and a reversal of the
2,060,813,0007T ) RIA AR E E 27 & previously accrued land appreciation tax of RMB131,565,000
TEB (20234 : 34EBH )R BB (2023: RMB616,987,000) upon the clearance of 27 projects
MEEREREMN I 2518 it (2028: 34 projects) with relevant tax bureaus during the year.

BEF AR 131,565,0007T (2023
F : ARM616,987,0007T) ©
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

28 FTiS B (&) 28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(a) PRSHBE (&) (a) Income tax expense (continued)
REBEKRTEHRAFMBEOFTEHA R The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
PAME R AR B FE T & A B FTfE B 28 {6 from the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted
MR ENIEmEE - ZHHIWT ¢ tax rate of the home country of the companies within the Group
as follows:

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R PRAS BAT A Profit before income tax 4,193,946 5,019,671
FR BT+ 3 3B R PRC land appreciation tax (1,227,922) (1,443,826)
2,966,024 3,575,845
LB ETEMMEETER Income tax calculated at statutory rate
Fi5H of 25% 741,506 893,961
A FIFA A 2 Non-deductible expenses 598,297 236,984
FERTLUIA() Non-taxable income (i) (103,513) (395,088)
AERRGERORGTE  Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 1,361,470 3,137,423
TR EBHRAERE Differences caused by different tax rates 88,791 143,554
BEFERIEFE Prior year tax adjustments (18,276) (2,2693)
Yokl PRC withholding tax (384,349) 28,308
AR £ M (E R PRC land appreciation tax 1,227,922 1,443,826
PS5 H: 6 S 4858 Total income tax expense 3,511,848 5,486,705
BIRE - Note:
() FERMUWAZZBRIEEEEEATR ()  Non-taxable income includes mainly share of results of associates
BEMERE - and joint ventures.
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

28 FiEBiF > (%)
(b) FREHEREH

28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b) Cayman Islands income tax

RRBIRREAEFHERRDEANHZ
BHEEMRINERRERAA
It BEHRHANFESREMEN -

HKEBELEHERER

REXBEZEE(RBEZHE])
RITEENEBRLEEMENR - &
PIR B L B S M LE TR A
PEEINEY Yok Eaail VA
RAFIFRBRLESRERIAOM
BERE -HME - HE - HFFEER
g fESKEMTIE  ANIFERE
BREBHEERIZENEBRLES
M F AR EM KD - &%
EHREMELFBERNEAEARR
& B R EEE LS MER D
THMBERE - I ZEBERES
TEHRMNRBREZESTARM
BATRAS BB TR -

(d) FEFEH

REBNRARFEETBIGERR G
R BUIE16.5% K E 8 RIS B 1E 3
(20234 : 16.5%) °

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman Islands income tax.

(c) British Virgin Islands income tax

British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax under the current laws
of BVI, our subsidiaries incorporated in BVI and all dividends,
interest, rents, royalties, compensation and other amounts paid
by such subsidiaries incorporated in the BVI to persons who
are not resident in the BVI and any capital gains realised with
respect to any shares, debt obligations, or other securities of
such subsidiaries incorporated in the BVI by persons who are
not resident in the BVI are exempt from all provisions of the
Income Tax Ordinance in the BVI. In addition, upon payments of
dividends by our BVI subsidiaries to us, no BVI withholding tax is
imposed.

(d) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at 16.5% as the Group
has assessable profits in Hong Kong during the year (2023:
16.5%).
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

28 FriSHiBE < (&)
(e) PEIHEFTEH

(f)

252

REFBEERAESHRA(EEMEH
B ARERFEAMEH T RRE
FH RS ER25% °

EBREREE AR RE
ERMAER2008F1 A1HREER
AR AEFEEINYFEETER A BR
TR B BBAN10%MTEF - MR
200841 A1 HBIEAR KD REF A
B RBMNZIANT o RIBFEHES
BEI TR E e - BEEER
RAEIRAES - AIEARIERS%TE
M E - HE2024F12A31H 1F
FE AKEBEFEEEEEANE
10 BRI 5% H T R 5HR P B TR 07
o AEEREIEHZETARMNERE
BRI EEERABETERA EARRE
DIRRE D ZERF

+ I E B

B 4 b B LA L (B (BN & 1)
¥MBRERETIRAL(BE L
wEREREERALAEMEREH
)N F30% 2 60% H) 2 3 7 R &
U R ABHEZE R RTIER ST
3‘20

i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(e) PRC corporate income tax

(f)

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “CIT
Law”), the CIT rate applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries
located in mainland China is 25%.

The CIT Law and its implementation rules impose a withholding
tax at 10% for dividends distributed by a PRC-resident
enterprise to its immediate holding company outside PRC for
earnings generated beginning 1 January 2008 and undistributed
earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempted from
such withholding tax. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be
applied when the immediate holding companies are established
in Hong Kong according to the tax treaty arrangement between
the PRC and Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group accrued for PRC withholding tax based on
the tax rate of 5% on a portion of the earnings generated by
its PRC entities. The Group controls the dividend policies of
these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that a majority of these earnings will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

Land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including lease charges for land use rights and all property
development expenditures, and is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as income tax expense.
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

20 FREF (FE) 29 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
FRNEREARF (BB EAAREDR Basic earnings/(loss) per share for the year is calculated by dividing
BEARGAREERNE,(EBE)BRIAEA the profit/(loss) of the Group attributable to equity holders of the
BEITE @R MEFIHEE - Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 2023%F
2024 2023
KARERTE ABGLIFE Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations
e FIE, (BER) attributable to equity holders of the
(ARBTFT) Company (RMB’000) 491,312 (366,785)
NATREREHA ABED KL Profit from discontinued operation attributable
s TIE(ARETIT) to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) - 1,246,081
491,312 879,296
R ESRERRET], Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(E518) L @ I paE - 15 X for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) per
(TH%) share ('000) 7,043,583 7,043,583
FRERNL#ESERT(EB) Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
(AR®TT) share (RMB)
REFELEER From continuing operations 0.07 (0.05)
REDKRIEEEET From discontinued operation = 0.17
0.07 0.12
B E2024F N2023F 12 A31BHIEFE - For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted earnings
AR AS B AR ERD - Bt B per share equals to the basic earnings per share as the Group does
SERNEENGIRERERT not have any dilutive shares.
30 lRE 30 DIVIDENDS
FRIES RS (2023F © FRI No interim dividend was declared during the year (2023: no interim
BERPEHRE) © dividend was declared during the year).
R2025F3A28ARITHNESE SR L - At a Board meeting held on 28 March 2025, the Board did
EEeMEIREEIREE2024F12A31H not propose to declare the final dividend for the year ended 31
LIEFERREIARE (20234 « ££) ° December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Fi 3% R 2R B PR 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 253
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




BB R R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

3 WEFAT(EBESHREEWKR 31 ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (BUSINESS
8B COMBINATION AND ASSET ACQUISITIONS)

FARBTFAREYAEKEHATERE
WEEZMERE AR - WIBELERNFE
ENAABECHEEBI HESE - BF
2024 2 2023F 12 A31BILFE © %5
BUEE R R UEE B 85 2 B 75 & g it 4

Acquisition of subsidiaries during the year were all business
combinations and mainly include the acquisitions of a number of
property development companies. Fair value of net assets arising
from the acquisition has been determined by management’s
assessment. The financial information of these acquired companies

T~ on the acquisition dates for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are summarized as follows:
BZ12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 84,282 8,888
TIFENTEEEEYE Properties held or under development for sale 193,143 56,424
Y%~ BB KR Property, plant and equipment 17,516 -
B NEMREWFRIA K Trade and other receivables and prepayments
FafIRIA 2,131,026 1,357,608
EEFTIS T E E Deferred income tax assets 52,271 11,108
BHBE Contract liabilities (186,073) (13,811)
B 5 NMEMER IR Trade and other payables (1,432,590) (1,344,162)
EIEFTSTAaE Deferred income tax liabilities (11,639) (2,766)
IR Non-controlling interest (125,194) -
WA EETEE Total acquired net assets 722,742 73,289
WHERIFTIE A ASENRME  Equity interest in joint ventures previously held
before acquisition 452,801 87,269
WEERTFTS B MBS AT  Equity interest in associates previously held
before acquisition 121,377 -
NN E Y NS Bl Remeasurement gains/(losses) of equity interest
AT RARRRREENTE upon conversion from joint ventures and
Wzt (EE) associates to subsidiaries 9,628 (63,960)
[=ENEEE Cash paid - 49,980
WEEHIEIR SR E Non-cash consideration for acquisition 138,936 -
BRE Total consideration 722,742 73,289
BHEBAENRSR Cash inflow on acquisitions
ERBREeRE Cash consideration paid = 49,980
B BlETFRARIZRER Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries
BEHEY acquired (84,282) (8,888)
HINBEEANRESRIELSEEY Net (inflow)/outflow of cash and
GRA) /b R 5 cash equivalents on acquisitions* (84,282) 41,092
* BT AREED * Included in investing activities
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

R2HRETREEHR
(a) REFRABERE

32 INFORMATION OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash generated from operations

HE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
KBTI EIBEIBRTLRTH Profit before income tax from
— B - Continuing operations 4,193,946 5,019,671
s - Discontinued operation - 1,415,095
BRATISTAIAE - BRI Profit before income tax including
BT discontinued operation 4,193,946 6,434,766
NSl E Adjustments for:
—IE — Depreciation 193,639 519,207
— i — Amortisation 65,400 118,890
—HEME  BENMEEAR ~ Losses/(Gains) on disposal of property,
EREEEYZER/ plant and equipment and intangible
(Mezs) (it E24) assets (note 24) 2,092 (428,574)
- HETFTRRIELZER/ - Losses/(Gains) from disposal of
(M) (BEE24 - 38) subsidiaries (notes 24, 38) 47,488 (1,173,492)
—ARETERBEARNHA — Remeasurement (gains)/losses on equity
FRAMBESHTE interests in joint ventures and associates
(Uezs),/ BB (FiE24) converted into subsidiaries (note 24) (9,628) 63,960
—HEBENREIE - Losses on disposal of associates - 23,258
—REBERAIFSHA - Interest income from associates - (7,592)
—REEERENFEHRA — Interest income from joint ventures (20,135) (18,868)
—REMELARBEESE/ — Fair value losses/(gains) on investment
(Mezs) (B EE7) properties (note 7) 39,030 (23,353)
—URnEEFEAEE — Fair value gains on financial instruments
AAEHEENERIA at FVPL
NREERE 65,917 -
—EIFENERHEEE — Provision for impairment of properties held or
BB (H5E25) under development for sale (note 25) 1,635,020 5,348,186
—REBE N RESRE ~ Impairment loss on investment in associates 175,222 148,596
-BERESE — Impairment loss on goodwil 777 -
—EREERERBE(NES) — Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 8) 210,525 -
— S REEREBERTE — Net impairment losses on financial assets 908,136 1,200,332
—SIFE(NAEEHEE)WE - Reversal of provision for properties held
B EEE (or under development) for sale (2,933,599) (2,049,260)
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

N2 REREEH(E)
(a) EEEBRERE(E)

32 INFORMATION OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a) Cash generated from operations (continued)

BZ12B31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
— BB A R 24 (FTRE9) — Share of results of associates (note 9) (636,575) (692,825)
—BiEA B EEE (1) — Share of results of joint ventures (note 10) 302,001 (840,158)
—BEURABEGFEEESE - Losses/(Gains) on disposal of
ATAEHBENeREES financial assets at FVPL
18/ () 24,516 (170,482)
—HEURABENZHHZE - Losses on disposal of financial assets at
FTAE MR R FVOCI
TREEER 20,554 -
— B ERATRAA R BIE — Gains on financial assets at fair value at
SrEMEREENE amortized cost (269,201) -
— IR BHA (P 5E24) - Dividend income (note 24) - (378)
—mE KA (i EE26) - Finance costs (note 26) 2,761,685 2,604,835
— [N 558 - Net foreign exchange 75,629 61,889
—F A (M 3E26) - Interest income (note 26) (78,269) (298,077)
BEEGE Changes in working capital
— B E B RRI R SRR - Restricted cash relating to operating
Be activities 2,571,205 3,742,985
—HE T IENFE — Prepayments for leasehold land 220,150 402,974
—RIFERERHEEYE - Properties held or under development
(TBEEAREFS) for sale (excluding capitalised interest) 46,475,132 59,167,696
—E S REMBERTIEAR — Trade and other receivables and
FERFIA prepayments 2,913,615 709,132
— B HBUSAA — Contract cost 1,861,795 452,233
—AHaERTEREMEAFIE — Contract liabilities and advances from
lessees (50,938,253) (567,057,601)
—E 5 MEMENZIE - Trade and other payables (6,003,047) (5,810,325)
KEEBFSRS Cash generated from operations 3,874,767 12,427,954
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

N2 HEREER(E) 32 INFORMATION OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) MEFBEEZRE

(b) Liabilities from financing activities

METHEEZEE
Liabilities from financing activities
EREBES
LS HESE ;IiE ast
Amount due to
Borrowings Lease liabilities related parties Total
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
#2024F1 18 257535 Net debt as at 1 January 2024 (63,169,600 (1,379,259) - (64,548,859)
RengE Cash flows 5,497,763 77,968 (193,970) 5,381,761
BE H =% Foreign exchange differences (114,560) - - (114,560)
RN AR Currency translation differences (52,919) (413) - (53,332)
H A Bh() Other changes () 130,725 - - 130,725
TERRERER Amortisation of discount and premium
FETHL and inception of new lease (24,524) (23,391) - (47,915)
#2024F12A318 2 Net debt as at
BEHRFE 31 December 2024 (57,733,115) (1,325,095) (193,970) (59,252,180)
R2023F1 18 2 EH)F58 Net debt as at 1 January 2023 (79,537,554) (680,142) - (80,217,696)
Renz Cash flows 16,525,963 (135,018) - 16,390,945
[ =58 Foreign exchange differences (65,913) - - (65,913)
EHERES Currency translation differences (216,135) - - (216,135)
Hi B 5)() Other changes () 174,171 - - 174,171
mElaEHEER Amortisation of discount and premium
FEAL and inception of new lease (50,132) (564,099) - (614,231)
M2023F12A3182 Net debt as at
BEFHE 31 December 2023 (63,169,600) (1,379,259) - (64,548,859)

H B eErRe#s  aENX )
NEBERSRERITRELERSR
BRSNS -

Other changes include non-cash movements, including accrued
interest expense which will be presented as operating cash flows in
the statement of cash flow when paid.
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

33 &iE
(a) FEE L3 AIE

R20245F [22023F12 A31H » HAZ
HEEEELAEMEE T HINT

33 COMMITMENTS
(a) Leasehold land commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, leasehold land committed
but not yet incurred are as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEENEESE] Contracted but not provided for 1,328,534 1,548,687
(b) RE&IE (b) Investment commitments
R2024F N 2023F 12 A31H » &% As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, committed investments are
ENT - as follows:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®F T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt N IR B R Committed investments in associates 1,397,627 1,664,853
BEDERERIE Committed investments in joint ventures 820,799 816,369
2,218,426 2,481,222
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

33 &IE (&)
(c) K&HERWHES
20244 202312 8318 » gt

SRS AT ARG L HERH T
E A B R R A AR AR & R A RR A 10 A

33 COMMITMENTS (continued)
(c) Operating lease rentals receivable
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the future aggregate

minimum rental receipts under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of land and buildings are receivable in the following

TEARI YR : periods:
HZE12HA31HLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FR Within 1 year 10,598,702 9,900,493
—ZRF 1to 5 years 14,746,471 15,495,000
hF% After 5 years 5,892,181 6,755,871
31,237,354 32,151,364

(d) EFEHERE-FERFEEA

K& AR - SHEENHEERE

(d) Operating lease commitments - as lessee

At the end of the reporting date, the lease commitments for

wm short-term lease are as follows:
M12H831H
As at 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FA Within 1 year 1,694 47
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

34 BB ERREIAEE 34 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES

(a) RIBBERER

(a) Guarantees on mortgage facilities

26

M12H31H
As at 31 December
202445 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REAEEDNEETERN Guarantees in respect of mortgage
IZIE R E e BRI TER facilities for certain purchasers of the

Group’s properties 21,775,253 33,026,298

AEBERAKRENEETERLY
RITAE - AR BERNERETIRM
ER - ZFERBETIINREER
1E (VB HE T A HERE BT RRF 3
TER  WE-REERELTKIE
FHME=FA - LEIRIBRTER
BrEH - RMEBEFIFERIBER

AT o

REBEFRER  EXFEFIERIZE
BN AREARBERRTEER
HMERBROEHAREERIBALER
FERTFIEREIE  MAKREAEERE
HEAMEAEEREN AR - A%
BRI B LIRS A RS -
E=ZAREFHRN R AIRENEM/ )

i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
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The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties and provided guarantees to secure
obligations of such purchaser for repayments. Such guarantees
will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issue of the real estate
ownership certificate by government authorities to the purchaser
which will generally occur within an average period of two to
three years from the completion of the guarantee registration
and submitted to the mortgage bank; or (i) the satisfaction of
mortgage loans by the purchasers of the properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
together with accrued interest and penalties owed by the
defaulting purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to
take over the legal title and possession of the related properties.
The Group’s guarantee period starts from the date of grant of
mortgage. The directors consider that the likelihood of default of
payments by the purchasers is minimal.
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34 B ERRSAEE(E) 34 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) A RIER

(b) Corporate guarantees

20244 [ 2023F12 A31H » ~AEE
RFRRIBMEFMERESE TAGE
R-EERRBSTREIBRAUBKE
TREEER -

MR2024%F12A31H » AEBREAE
ENBERNRIREARE2, 75288
L2023 12 A31H : AR¥S3,142
BETT)ZER - A - AEBEFE
ZEBEANEEDRLIERER -
AEBRY B ZEHE S EEHE
BREE REEZEBEINE
BERE M ERERNEER &S
RAEMRN R Z AJEEET NERX -

R2024F 128318 - AEBLUEFER
BEAZEAECENBEARNE

PR E R (FIEE40()) ©

(c) ARIREFR

R2024F 128318 AEBBEZ R
RIRFED - REZZEHFDF » —RE=
FEAEETRBEBRMNFTMAIES X
BRAB([E&IMEIEDRBFDR - 5
FitEEMNaENARK10168E
TR SRS HR - ZE=F
EEHMAE - EMARE=FRS
—ME=ZFRE 2B OEE
BEY MAEBARER NE_FH
REEZFEERHZ IR - R202145F
127 Fills = 5 HERN Bl EIR B EF
o B S ERA R
BEEDZNLEME=ZTET » R20224F
128 - BEEREDE il 5 = Bk
FAFESR o 20236 A - AEE U
ERERRREHR - FIE=FE
B ER - B2023F 128 + LilE=
FEREEMNBIERBRD - BRER
MEIER S —BE=ZFAFHEREE
AREE200BE T ° 1R2024F 127 -
AEBUE—ZFHR - HSEMNEIE
FE-—EEZA ARSI MEEARE
1I31BET - AEEDRE —FHAMRE
RAAAEETETEESFERIE - [
B AEEEREMIHEASRAR
TEBRIRRR _EAF o SRIREER AT ©

There are certain corporate guarantees provided by the Group’s
subsidiaries for each other in respect of borrowings as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. The directors consider that the
subsidiaries are able to sufficiently financially resourced to settle
their obligations.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantee with
the amount of RMB2,752 million (as at 31 December 2023:
RMB3,142 million) for its joint ventures and associates to
obtain borrowings after assessing the credit history and pledge
information of these related parties. The Group closely monitors
the repayment progress of the relevant borrowings by these
related parties. After considering the credit history of these
related parties and the assets being pledged for the borrowings,
the directors consider that the likelihood of default in payments is
not material.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group provided pledge guarantee
for the borrowings of such joint ventures and associates with
equity held by the Group (note 40(i).

(c) Pending litigation

The Group has a number of pending litigations as at 31
December 2024. Among such litigations, a third Person initiated
litigation against the Group’s subsidiary, Suzhou Future Land
Chuangjia Property Co., Ltd (“Suzhou Chuangjia”) regarding
a share transfer dispute of about RMB1,016 million against
Suzhou Chuangjia, in which the third party claimed that the
share transfer agreements among Suzhou Chuangjia, five other
third parties and another third party company were invalid,
and the people’s court of second-instance judgment for the
transfer agreements was rendered invalid. In December 2021,
the aforesaid third party instituted litigation against Suzhou
Chuangjia, claiming that the relevant equity interests held by
each of the above defendants were registered in the name of
the aforesaid third party. In December 2022, the court dismissed
the claim of the aforesaid third party. The Group received a
civil judgment rendered by a court in June 2023. The aforesaid
third party withdrew the claim. In December 2023, the aforesaid
third party instituted litigation against Suzhou Chuangjia again,
claiming to require Suzhou Chuangjia and another third party
company to jointly pay an indemnity of RMB200 million. In
December 2024, the Group received the first-instance judgment
ordering Suzhou Chuangjia and another third-party company
to pay compensation of RMB131 million, and the Group has
recognized relevant compensation with proper accounting
treatment in accordance with the first-instance judgment. At the
same time, the Group has appealed to the Jiangsu Provincial
High People’s Court in accordance with the law. The final result is
still uncertain.
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

R ER 35 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(i) R () Description
202349 A26H - $’§I§Tiﬂj’§ On 26 September 2023, the Group entered into the
WE M- REZHFEHEE2ETA disposal agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest
BHIEESHRERARA 7(3FAH§ in a wholly-owned subsidiary named Changzhou Hengxuan
Alz—  [BMNEEH )2 - R Consulting Management Co., Ltd. (one of the Non-A share
B A AR1,367,037,0007C ° #ZX 5 companies, “Changzhou Hengxuan”) for the consideration
B2023% 11 A21HREK » HEFEM of RMB1,367,037,000 to a third party. The transaction was
B LM ERIEARIERESER completed on 21 November 2023. The sale of the business
N operated by Changzhou Hengxuan is accounted for as

discontinued operation.

(i) ¥BERBERBEESHREER (ii) Financial performance and cash flow information
AR ERIELBEESREER The financial performance and cash flow information presented
ThEBE £2023F11 5218 [EEAR are for the period ended 21 November 2023 (2023 column).

(20234FH4) -

20234

2023

ARETIT

RMB’000

e Revenue 1,347,353

SHE R Cost of sales (1,125,118)

HR Other expenses (33,853)

B Fr 8% B K58 Profit before income tax 188,382

TSt X Income tax expense (26,885)

RILREERNBRFTSHE B Profit after income tax of discontinued operation 161,497

RETISIIEHE W Gain on sale after income tax 1,090,109

REK I REERNRE Profit from discontinued operation 1,251,606
RERIEEERNEMMZ2EKZE  Other comprehensive income from

discontinued operation -

IRESEEPTSIR S TR AERE Net cash inflow from operating activities 435,108
WEREFIFREMAFE Net cash inflow from investing activities

(BREEFRRAIRA (includes the inflow of RMB1,158,489,000 from

AR #&1,158,489,0007T) the sale of the subsidiary) 999,528

A EBEIES L FE Net cash outflow from financing activities (240,223)

ZFARFEEBRSNIENERE Net increase in cash generated by the subsidiary 1,194,413
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

n\\ Iﬁf-(t( Fé%ﬁ& ( lnﬁ)
(iii) HEF A RNFE

35 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

(iii) Details of the sale of the subsidiary

20234
2023
ARBTIT
RMB’000
Bk I ARE - Consideration received or receivable:
Re-PERERSE Cash - total disposal consideration 1,367,037
ARAREEAELHEHEFEEN Carrying amount of net assets sold attributable to
IRMEE owners of the Company (118,842)
R Transaction cost (21,482)
BRFr SR AT S B W aR Gain on sale before income tax 1,226,713
W FrS R = Income tax expense on gain (136,604)
BRErSR B HEE WS Gain on sale after income tax 1,090,109
P E BHEI(2023F 11 A21H)WEE The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of
FEeEREER sale (21 November 2023) were:
2023F11 B21H
21 November
2023
ARBET T
RMB’000
EE Assets
IERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BB NERE Property, plant and equipment 986,924
HMIERBEE Other non-current assets 29,092
MENVEE Current assets
HE RIS ZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 50,463
HEMmehEE Other current assets 391,607
EELE Total assets 1,458,086
=i Liabilities
HipmEh ek Other current liabilities (1,309,504)
FEE Net assets 148,582
A S IR e Less: Non-controlling interest disposed of (29,740)
118,842
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6HEEIRS 36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) BAEERART AT

(a) Ultimate controlling shareholder and subsidiaries

ARAR B ERELE (T RBZERR
RDEREEES -

The Company is ultimately controlled by Mr. Wang Zhenhua (the
“Ultimate Controlling Shareholder”).

NEZ EREAMIFE7 © Interests in subsidiaries are set in note 17.

(b) EBREF 2R B

(b) Transaction with related parties

RELE2024F12 A31HILFE » K&
BETTUATEEARS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has the
following related party transactions:

BZE12A31HLEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEES BN Fundings to related parties:
—aEhE — Joint ventures 2,269,935 3,501,136
B /NG — Associates 3,575,302 2,428,558
—BE LA EE — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 2,229 -
5,847,466 5,929,694
EEEE A T ERR Interest-bearing fundings to related
parties:
— a5 hE - Joint ventures - 20,593
ik NE] — Associates - 2,327
- 22,920
REBESHNFEWA : Interest income from related parties:
—AEE - Joint ventures 20,135 18,868
— BN E) — Associates - 7,592
20,135 26,460
HEHEBRER Repayment of fundings to related
parties:
—aEhE — Joint ventures 2,867,096 3,080,091
— B E QA — Associates 3,827,812 4,440,238
—ARELRAE 2B — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 2,229 40,161
6,697,137 7,560,490
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HZE2024F12AG1HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

36 BELRZ (&)
(b) SEEBET 2R 5 (&)

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transaction with related parties (continued)

BE12A31BLEFE
Year ended 31 December

20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥T R ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BESEAGTERR Interest-bearing fundings
from related parties:
—HEPE — Joint ventures = 17,750
B NG — Associates = 391,172
— A E AT T — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 193,970 -
193,970 408,922
BEEFTREBR Payment made on behalf of related
parties:
—aEE — Joint ventures 450,183 191,554
- VNC] — Associates 240,693 1,330,180
== [ S vh o 2k 1 = - — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang - 40,161
690,876 1,561,895
MEEERBEEEZ Services fees incurred for property
REERE : management services from
—HELREES B E — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 343,145 597,638
BYERRKEELEZBXKE . Expenses incurred for accepting
construction services from:
—HEDPE — Joint ventures 49,320 3,720
. VNG - Associates 70,017 120,280
119,337 124,000
HEEERBFWARE : Project management service
income from:
—aEhE — Joint ventures 21,033 35,277
— BN A — Associates 84,011 147,979
105,044 183,256
BHRERARE : Consulting service income from:
—AE{E — Joint ventures 65,907 70,922
WG] - Associates 102,793 123,581
—BEEEEH 2 EE — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 26 -
168,726 194,503
AEWARE : Rental income from:
—HELELEE TR — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 4,216 4,035
BAREYERE : Purchases of investment property from:
—HE A E — Associates 838,113 -
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36 BEEFRS (&) 36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) EEEEEHM (c) Key management compensation

BZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FehEMEHEERT Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 22,035 24,332
(d) BEEFRAMAER (d) Guarantees provided to related parties
M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e EPEER Guarantee to joint ventures 887,389 1,109,895
B AN RIER Guarantee to associates 1,864,195 2,032,080
2,751,584 3,141,975

(e) BEAES BRI IR E K I (B (e) Investment pledged for their borrowings of
#F40(i)) related parties (note 40(i))
M12H31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB B IR Shares pledged for joint ventures 547,168 509,210
BE SN Rl IR AR Shares pledged for associates 1,013,151 1,235,997
1,560,319 1,745,207
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36 BELRZ (&)
() BAER&ER

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(f) Related-party balances

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR%T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEASERE 5 A (H5E16) Amounts due from related parties (note 16)

— A - Joint ventures 5,295,787 5,285,088
- VNGl - Associates 5,194,436 5,280,724

10,490,223 10,565,812

FEf R FE (FisE21)

Amounts due to related parties (note 21)

— A — Joint ventures 11,419,391 13,470,272
VNl - Associates 10,587,360 10,333,810
—H AT 2B — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 600,337 -

22,607,088 23,804,082
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BREEFRXS(F) 36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
() BERER(E) () Related-party balances (continued)
M12831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

KEBELNE S EWREIE Trade receivables from related parties

—AEE — Joint ventures 42,332 22,462
/NS — Associates 114,631 88,415
156,963 110,877

KERMESNE S EMNZRIE Trade payables to related parties

—AEE — Joint ventures 4,393 -
VNl - Associates 22,275 25,203
— B REEHCEEE — Entities controlled by Mr. Wang 831,458 784,648
858,126 809,851
20249 [ 2023F12 A31H » KMt As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, except for the amount due
21(c)FTIR PR FE S BB & 75 FIASN - FT to related parties disclosed in note 21(c), all due from and due
JEUR Ko FE < B 28 7 NI Y A IR to related parties are unsecured, non-interested bearing and
BB RIBILERKIEE - repayable on demand.
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

37 HIEREZNRS

REZE2024F12 A31BILFE - REEIL
ERAE AREA1,076,899,0007T (20234
AR#1,711,561,00070) WEEHE T 7R 7]
RIRESMER o AEEERIEERRF ER
#8585 > A R #1,103,755,000 7T ( 2023
F . AR¥1,658,863,0007T ) KD i B
#hn A R # 26,856,000 7T (20234 : 4
AR#52,698,0007T) °

38 HEFRARIRER
NE E 20245 % 2023FE 12 A31 B IF &

B ARBEHESTTAR - ARLEF
ICLANNE

37 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has acquired
addition interests in certain subsidiaries for total consideration
of RMB1,076,899,000 (2023: RMB1,711,561,000). The Group
recognised a decrease in total non-controlling interests of
RMB1,1083,755,000 (2023: RMB1,658,863,000) and an increase
in share premium of RMB26,856,000 (2023: decreased by
RMB52,698,000).

38 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
disposed certain subsidiaries. Details of the disposals are as follows:

BZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERE Disposal consideration
—HAHEEFTFARMIESE - Cash and cash equivalents received from
LIREEEY disposal of certain subsidiaries 283,900 257,620
—RAEHEETFAFN — Non-cash consideration from disposal of
FERERE certain subsidiaries 1,094,981 -
1,378,881 257,620
HETARZ BEFRELR Total net assets of subsidiaries disposed of 2,239,833 339,019
k=12 F Less: Non-controlling interest disposed of (759,250) (28,177)
B~ A TRERERE Y Less: Fair value of interests retained in an
NREBE associate (54,214) -
1,426,369 310,842
HEEE Losses on disposal (47,488) (53,222)
KEHEZREPFRIE Cash proceeds from disposal 283,900 257,620
B THEFATZIRE RIS Less: Cash and cash equivalents in the
ZEY subsidiaries disposed of (36,274) (13,351)
HERSMAFE Net cash inflow on disposal 247,626 244,269
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39 AR A BEMRRR R FEEH 39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
RBEE Non-current assets
Wz - BE KB Property, plant and equipment 11 11
HEFRFA Investments in subsidiaries 500,348 500,348
RS AT E SRMEE Financial assets at amortised costs - 267,410
500,359 767,769
RBEE Current assets
BB AT E SMEE Financial assets at amortised costs 6,625 -
B 5 & H M EW T E Trade and other receivables 12,939,124 13,819,142
WERIRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 158,625 79,126
13,104,374 13,898,268
EEHAT Total assets 13,604,733 14,666,037
xS EQUITY
RATEREEAEEREAR Capital and reserves attributable to
s equity holders of the Company
f&7s - A Share capital: nominal value 5,822 5,822
(o) Reserves (a) 9,780,292 9,662,201
RERBE Total equity 9,786,114 9,668,023
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
B Borrowings - 2,118,400
RBERE Current liabilities
B 5 R EAEN IR Trade and other payables 1,620,436 1,110,809
7N Borrowings 2,198,183 1,768,805
3,818,619 2,879,614
E BB Total liabilities 3,818,619 4,998,014
EEREEEE Total equity and liabilities 13,604,733 14,666,037
AT BARRFZER2025FE3 A28 HE The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
EEeHE THTHBEEARETSR by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and was signed on its
= . behalf by:
FEEMR B S8R
Wang Xiaosong Lu Zhongming
EE EE
Director Director
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39 R NFMBRRNEXREESE 39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
(& RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(a) XA FREEE (a) Reserve movements of the Company
REVEE Hiti EFR REER o

Share Other Treasury Retained
premium reserves stock earnings Total

ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TRT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

N20245E1 818 M%&8  Balance at 1 January 2024 3,074,902 34,990 (113,816) 6,666,125 9,662,201

FRFERZEKEELE Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year - - - 118,091 118,091
M2024512 831 B Y4EE% Balance at 31 December 2024 3,074,902 34,990 (113,816) 6,784,216 9,780,292
M2023E1H1A %8 Balance at 1 January 2023 3,074,902 34,990 (118,816) 6,977,501 9,973,577

FEFBREZHEEFEASE Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - - (311,376) (311,376)

7M2023F 12831 A Y46 Balance at 31 December 2023 3,074,902 34,990 (113,816) 6,666,125 9,662,201
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40 EEF QAT ZHE 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AREBFETRAAIR2024F12 A31 HHEE Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31
EEHFIAT ¢ December 2024 are as follows:

BT/ ] Bk 23R

1R HIAH HfER e EitRERA 33
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

AEBTT  ARETR  a0dE  O%E
RMBOOO  RMBOQO 2024 2023

TAREERRERAA () 1990E6R14R 2255608 2255623 6720%  67.0%  MERERME
Seazen Holdings Co., Ltd. {f 14 June 1996 Development and sale of properties
BEEABRERDAD 01088 A30A 301,800 301800 10000%  10000% REAF
Hong Kong Achievement Development Limited (o) 30 August 2010 Investment company
BALRERARLA D 201088A30H - - 10000%  10000% KEAR
Hong Kong Prosperity Development Limited (b) 30 August 2010 Investment company
ERERERARAAD) 0145105168 - - 10000%  10000% BEAR
Hong Kong Hengyi Development Limited (o) 16 October 2014 Investment company
THERAR (B%) RRAAD 201656418 8547 8547 10000%  10000% HRELH
Future Land Development Capital (Hong Kong) Limited (o) 1June 2016 Investment company
TERRERRAT 15838168 1160000 1160000 10000%  10000%  KEAF
Future Land Development Investment Co., Ltd. 16 March 2015 Investment company
BHEERERERAA ) 20138728H 2000 2000 10000%  10000%  FEEEE
Changzhou Derun Consuttancy Co., Ltd. () 28 August 2013 Consulting
FMelEERERARAT g 2014597258 2,000 - 10000%  10000% - RE
Changzhou Chuangyu Consultancy Menagement Co., Ltd. (g) 25 September 2014 Consulting, investment
B EEHERERAA ) NI5E5E258 1101000 1100000 100.00%  10000%  #E#HKE
Changzhou Yuesheng Gonsultancy Management Co., Lid. (g) 25 May 2015 Consulting, investment
LEMIBRLRERARAA 201066A128 10,000 10000 10000%  10000% KEAF
Shanghal Future Land Wansheng Business Management Co., Ltd. 12 June 2010 Investment company
EHRREERERLA() 02E4A07H 301,800 01800 10000%  10000%  KEAT
Changzhou Wealthzone Development Co., Ltd. (g) 27 April 2002 Investment company
FhS Ay L ERRNERAT 1557A31A 1710000 1705000 10000%  10000%  SEHE
Changzhou Duogimiao Business Management Consuttancy Co., Lid. 31 July 2015 Chioren entertainment
HEs 2R RERARDA A2NE9R14E 1,000,000 500000 10000%  10000%  EREEERIRE
Shanghai Haizhiging Energy Development Co., Lid. (g) 14 September 2021 Emerging energy technology
development
THEELHEAERLA ) 2015537248 817 817 T000%  T000%  REERAR
Seazen Resources Capital Group Limited (b) 24 March 2015 Investment holding company
FHERATREEEARAT b) 2012585308 - WIE% 0% T000%  REZRRERRE
Seazen Resources Capital Investment Management Limited (o) 30 August 2012 Investment holding and management
senice
FHBERERRRA b 01767150 - 16718 7000%  7000% HEARAT
Seazen Resources Investment Limited (o) 15 Jung 2017 Investment holding company
PNEEEERARRAT 09E105268 Iy Q00000 6436%  6436%  MERELBE
Changzhou Junde Investment Co,, Ltd. 26 October 2009 Development and sale of properties
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40 EEF QR ZFEE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA

DR HIRH g HERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

B IREERE AR 207£2/68 20,000 0000 6442% 6442  WEREREE

Changzhou Wanfang Future Land Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 February 2007 Development and sale of properties
FMRERERRAT 108F4F%68 1100500 1100500  6435%  6435%  EREREE

Changzhou Future Land Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 April 1998 Development and sale of properties
BISHEHERSARLA @) 0 N0E6F2H 1000000 1000000 6676%  3404%  WERELEE

Kunshan Hongjun Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (a) (c) 2 Jung 2020 Development and sale of properties
HE AR ERRAT 201451 A26R 850,000 850000 5340%  S3d0%  MIERERHE

Nantong Future Land Chuangzhi Real Estate Co., Lid. 26 January 2014 Development and sale of properties
ARENRNEREERRAON 0175108278 160,097 100007 2263%  2263%  MEFEREE

Qidong Bihe Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c) () 27 Qctober 2017 Development and sale of properties
LESERHERIRRAT ANEHABA 1345000 1345000 B5ET% 55T MERRREE

Shanghai Hongyun Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 26 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
LERRRHERARAT 201451 A9R 1800 18000 6676%  6676% MIEMERHE

Shanghai Jiading Huarui Real Estate Co., Lid. 9 January 2014 Development and sale of properties
HERHREERARLT 2015567238 586,000 58000 67.20%  6T0%  KEAF

Shanghal Jiamu Investment Management Co,, Ltd. 23 June 2015 Investment company
LR ERRAR () 2011855108 20,000 000  6676% 6676k MEREREE

Shanghai Future Land Chuangyu Real Estate Co., Ltd. (g) 10 May 2011 Development and sale of properties
DEIEERERRAA 20035 3A19R 90,000 0240 6676%  66T6%  HEREREE

Shanghai Future Land Wanjia Real Estate Co., Lid. 19 March 2003 Development and sale of properties
MY RUERERRAT 22051A28 3997 4800 665%%  e6AYn  MEMERREE

Shong Yuezhang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 2 January 2020 Development and sale of properties
ERRERHERIRRLA 20057R6A 1000000 00000 6435%  6A3%  MERELEE

Wuxi Hongyu Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
BEMIEARNERRLA () 201857A30R 600,000 600000 3802%  3802% MEEEREE

Sugian Future Land Yisheng Real Estate Co., Lid. (¢) 30 July 2018 Development and sale of properties
FHERRERERAA () N0F8ABE 2400000 - W% 3 MEREREE

Xuzhou Jinchenhui Real Estate Co., Ltd. (c) 26 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
PHERFERERAA 0058A6R 1400000 - A% 0% NEFEREE

Xuzhou Jinchensheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (¢) 6 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
BREHRHERERRLA 0175107268 50,000 50000 6676%  6676%  MEREREE

Chongain Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 26 October 2017 Development and sale of properties
B2 (E) HENRERLT (@ () NNFE1FE 2540772 J0000 9% BU%  DEEERHE

Honghao (Nantong) Education Technology Co., Ltd. (a) (c) 3 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
EEMISRBERERRAT 20E11 5138 50,000 - 6396%  K0T0%  MERELEE

Sugian Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 13 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
FMERRERSERLA () 200512878 590,000 38 861%  d861%  MEREREE

Changzhou Hongxin Real Estate Management Co., Ltd. (¢) 7 December 2020 Development and sale of properties

Fi 3% R 2R B PR 5] SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED 273
20244 F 5 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




B Ot R EE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
i/ tEd  BEAR M2A31R
PEET HIAH ifER R EitRERA IEEH
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities
ARETT  ABETT 2mE o0
RMB'000 RVB'000 2024 202
LEREESARAT 2018254108 110,000 0000 67.14%  6r1%  FE
Shanghai Yupu Trading Co., Ltd. 10 May 2018 Retal
RENVERRHEREARDA () 220F11 7247 859,650 L4804 6653%  665%%  ERERME
Dongying Future Land Hongy Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3) 24 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
e REREERLA ) 20F10A308 5,500 - 6633%  6633%  MERELEE
Fengxian Future Land Hongyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (@) 30 October 2020 Development and sale of properties
HRIEERERRAT 20059A9R 120,000 120000 6463%  G4B%  MERERHE
Nanjing Future Land Chuangzhi Real Estate Co., Lid. 9 September 2002 Development and sale of properties
AEIEN R ERE AR 201757A%A 44,000 M000  66IT%  eeIT%  EREREE
Hefel Future Land Wuyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 25 July 2017 Development and sale of properties
RETHAR AR EREERAR 201956768 43,000 8000 6690%  6600%  EREREE
Tianchang Future Land Yuexin Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 June 2019 Development and sale of properties
ZER BRI AR ERAA (@ 200564298 100,000 - 668%  6653% MERERHE
Anyang Future Land Hongoj Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (3) 29 June 2020 Development and sale of properties
BTEIREERNEREARAT 2018558308 66,860 66860  5389%  5380%  MEREREE
Xuzhou Jiawang Yirui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 30 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
RSB ERERRAR 202037168 44440 Mu  BA%6%  66.0%  EREREE
Xuzhou Future Land Hongmao Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 16 March 2020 Development and sale of properties
AR ERE AR 201959838 95,000 %00 6688%  6688%  MERELEE
Yangzhong Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3 September 2019 Development and sale of properties
AR ERRARAR 2016577258 37,12 0414 6633%  66.33%  MEMEREE
Yangzhou Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 25 July 2016 Development and sale of properties
FRTSARMEREERRA ) 0028278 10,000 10000 6688%  6688% MEMEREE
Xintal Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (a) 27 February 2020 Development and sale of properties
BREEEZRRAA A0E11FUR 914300 0428 6653%  6653%  MEMERGE
Rizhao Hongjin Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 24 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
MEEREHERTARLAN MNFSAVE 1273469 179800 665%  6653%  MEEERHE
Siyang Honglu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (n) 29 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
BIGTIREEEREERAT ) 2019547168 652810 @0 6647%  5380%  MERERHEE
Lianshui Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. () 16 Aprl 2019 Development and sale of properties
EEIERAEREERAA ) 200056A30R 487900 W48 6668% 6668k  MEMERHE
Zibo Future Land Hongtuo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (3) 30June 2020 Development and sale of properties
BT RARHERERRAR @) 020F6A98 171,007 - GB6T% oot MERERHE
Binzhou Future Land Hongrui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (@) 9 June 2020 Development and sale of properties
Eatie RERERHEREERAT ) 205115238 49579 7000 665%% 6653 MERRREE
Yantal Znfu Hongjing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3) 23 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
TR RRHEREARAT 20057 A28 722,790 102000 6653%  665%% MERRREE
Xuyi Hongyi Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 2 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
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40 EEF QR ZFEE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA

DR HIRH g HERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

AR HER SR 200056818 85,000 800 6661%  6661%  MEMEREE

Feicheng Future Land Hongtai Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 1June 2020 Development and sale of properties
SRR EREERAT 2018565298 20,000 0000  6435%  6435%  DERIREE

Fuyang Yo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 June 2018 Development and sale of properties
HEEHREERARAT 201458728 10,000 10000 6653%  6653% KEAE

Shanghai Injoy Investment Management Co., Lid. 22 August 2014 Investment company
MAREEAFERERAT 201658A19A 202,000 0000 6653%  6653%  MEMERGE

Future Land Holdings Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 19 August 2016 Development and sale of properties
RRERAR () 2017534108 - - 665%  6653%  RELT

New Metro Global Limited (o) 10 March 2017 Investment company
SEREIE N B EREERAA 202047158 100,000 100000 6676%  6676% MERERGE

Urumaj Future Land Hongyue Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 15 April 2020 Development and sale of properties
AR EREERAT 2019574158 3,560 B0 6116%  6Ti6%  MEREREE

Datong Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 15duly 2019 Development and sale of properties
RETTHERRNEREARLA @ M7ESANE 20,000 - 6% 6o MERERHE

Tianjin Future Land Wanho Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3] 11 May 2017 Development and sale of properties
AEERE L EREERAT ) 17E3527R 500,000 - 6698%  6664%  MERELEE

Taiyuan Future Land Kattuo Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (8) 27 March 2017 Development and sale of properties
ARHHEERHEREARAT 17%8A2R 10,000 - I8 oTeM%  MERERHE

Taiyuan Future Land Shenghua Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 2 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
CREERRHERERRAT 20055148 85,000 B0 6676%  6676% MEREREE

Ankang Hongjing Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 14 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
AR ERE R 201953A21A 110,000 10000 5389%  5380% MEREREE

Cangzhou Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 21 March 2019 Development and sale of properties
BERNFHERSRRAT 2020267298 100,000 - 66S%%  6653%  MEREREE

Xining Hongyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 June 2020 Development and sale of properties
BLIIE BRI EREERAT 201765198 264,000 B4000  6655%  6655%  MIEMEREE

X'an Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 19 June 2017 Development and sale of properties
BT RERERRAT 0055278 85,000 - 6666%  6666% WEREREE

Yuncheng Future Land Hongyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 27 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
ERENRMEERARLD () N15E10A198 1000000 1000000 3% NM NFFEREE

Yiwu Wuyue Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (c) 19 October 2015 Development and sale of properties
BB EREERAT 20005 12R3A 155,556 - 6654%  6ods%  MEREREE

Yunfu Future Land Hongxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
RISERHERSRRAT 2020F27268 40,000 0000 6653%  6653%  MEFEREE

Baoshan Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 26 February 2020 Development and sale of properties
BERREHERERRAA 2020297288 566,616 80000 67.03%  67.00%  MERELEE

Nanchang Hongchen Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 28 September 2020 Development and sale of properties
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40 TEF QR ZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A

DaEH HIRH g HERA EfEREAMY TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

EEMIERRERE AR 20059A21A 55,000 - B631%  6B31%  MERERHE
Yichang Future Land Hongehen Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 21 September 2020 Development and sale of properties
RHBEBXE2ERERAA () 201558A29R 780,000 - 66S%%  6e53%  MEMEREE
Shengzhou Shunjia Commercial Management Co, Ltd (g) 29 August 2015 Development and sale of properties
BB AR ERAT 20E125168 50,000 - 6653%  6653%  MERELEE
Changde Future Land Honglong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 16 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
TEEHRAERSARLA () 00F12848 1,000000 - 2% R325%  DERELHEE
Pingtan Hongxin Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (c) 4 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
BRAmEERERRAT 200F981R 56,556 - 6629%  6628%  MERIREE
(Guang'an Future Land Hongxin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 11 September 2020 Development and sale of properties
RRRENIER R HEREERAT 20058A31A 150,000 B5451  6653%  6653%  MEREREE
Kunming Anning Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3] 31 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
ERNRRAERSARLA ) 201967218 106,000 105000 6688%  66.88% MEREREE
Kunming Yuechen Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (a) 21 June 2019 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERRERE AR 201951478 44,000 M000  6631%  6631%  EREREE
Kunming Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 7 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
PRRBREREARAT 1859A4R 585,082 58503 5389%  5380%  MEREREE
Znaotong Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 4 September 2018 Development and sale of properties
BN EAEREERAA (0 2019%12A16R 980,000 80000 4006%  4006% MIEREERHE
Huzhou Future Land Yuean Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (c) 16 December 2019 Development and sale of properties
ERRRRIERLARAT 2018%F4A9R 206,400 06400  5389%  5380%  MEREREE
Zhaoging Yiho Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. 9 April 2018 Development and sale of properties
EEIIERRERTARAT 201859A3R 779,850 779850 5389%  5380%  MEREREE
Xangyang Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 3 September 2018 Development and sale of properties
ENEIEERAEREERAA ) 200056A187 50,000 00 6653% 665  MERELEE
Guizhou Future Land Hongjia Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (3) 18 June 2020 Development and sale of properties
BEREEREERLA [0 N0F9H4A 1,600,000 - Mm% 0% MEREREE
Guizhou Future Land Hongyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (g} (c) 4 September 2020 Development and sale of properties
IEEERERRAT 2000%11 748 3,556 - 6628%  6628% MEREREE
Ezhou Future Land Honglong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 4 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
ERMIARMISERNEREARAT 2000295148 504,836 2176 6653%  6653%  MERERHE
Chongaing Jiangjin District Future Land Hongdla Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 14 September 2020 Development and sale of properties
B e 20057R27R 44,000 M000  6631%  6631%  EREREE
Chongaing Future Land Hongrun Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 27 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
ERRERHERSARLA R 202087198 50,000 0000 6LA7%  6T0%  DEREREE
Chongging Hongsu Real Estate Development Co, Lid. (a) 19 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
RERERHEREARAA 0E12A168 1,100,000 - BET%  B36Th  MERELEE
Taicang Hongfu Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 16 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
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40 EEF QR ZFEE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA

DR HIRH g HERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

KR EERHER SRR 201751A2AR 10,000 000 6720%  eTA0%  MEREREE

Bejjng Future Land Wanlong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 22 January 2017 Development and sale of properties
e AFHERSRRAT 016511 524R 10,000 10000 6556%  6556% MEREREE

Hebei Future Land Jinjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 24 November 2016 Development and sale of properties
RREFEERERERRRA A0 2020%58H 666,000 393040 4449% A% MEREREE

Shijezhuang Future Land Hongze Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (a) (0 8 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
HBRERHERSARAA 2018%F3A9R 56,000 - LM% 6TM%  MEREREE

Handan Yilong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 9 March 2018 Development and sale of properties
BRIERRERRAT 2010815138 811,000 000 6443%  64d3%  MEREREE

Nanjing Future Land Wanjia Real Estate Co., Ltd. 13 January 2010 Development and sale of properties
AR ERE AR 20057 A21A 9,039 BN 644% 64N MERELEE

Nanjing Future Land Hongtuo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 21 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
HREERAEERDA () 16F8A208 1500000 1500000  2191%  2191%  MEFEREE

Nanjing Hulong Real Estate Co., Lid. (¢) 29 August 2016 Development and sale of properties
ERBERHEREARAR (O M0FEMAR 1,150,000 0000 2629%  629%  NEEEREE

Nanjing Hongxu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c) 9 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
EUMIETRERTERLT N1GE8AUA 1000000 1000000  5155%  5155%  MEREREE

Znenjiang Future Land Yinong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 24 August 2018 Development and sale of properties
BERARHEREARAT 2185758 50,500 - 668%%  6653%  MEREREE

Nanchang Yituo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 5July 2018 Development and sale of properties
REIEERNEREERAT MIGEI0R17E 1010000 1010000 6653%  665%%  MEREREE

Tianjin Future Land Wanjia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 17 October 2016 Development and sale of properties
REFHLEREREARAT 2019517108 130,000 190000 5389%  5380% MERRREE

Tianjin Future Land Yueheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 10 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
R RARHEREERAT 2019547298 233820 TABN  BAA2%  6442%  WEREREE

Tianjin Future Land Yuerong Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 29 Apri 2019 Development and sale of properties
REIEREREERAT 201954A28R 477,40 - BABI%  bABT%  MEREREE

Tianjin Future Land Yuelong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 28 April 2019 Development and sale of properties
RETSAEHEREERAA ANF4FABA 1600000 1600000 3B%4%  BY%  NEHEREE

Tianjin Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (¢) 23 Aprl 2020 Development and sale of properties
REMISEEIEREERAT A0EGASH 1300000 1300000 3992% 9%  MEREREE

Tianjn Future Land Hongjin Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (¢) 8 Jung 2020 Development and sale of properties
ENRERRHERERRAR () 0E1253H 4857 - GIX% 3ae%  MERERME

Cangzhou Future Land Hongtal Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (¢) 3 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
ERRABERERRAT 201837168 20500 50 6556% 6556 MERRREE

Ningbo Future Land Yisheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 16 March 2018 Development and sale of properties
BLSEEHERRA N17E28108 LM 1000000 6429% 6408  MEREREE

Foshan Dingyu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 10 February 2017 Development and sale of properties
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40 TEF QR ZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A

DaEH HIRH g HERA EfEREAMY TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

ENSERIEERAT 016%10A11R 10500 1050  6400%  6400%  MERERHE

Guangzhou Dingjia Real Estate Co., Lid. 11 October 2016 Development and sale of properties
BNEREZERLA ) N1E5A17A 400,000 400000 5120%  5120%  ERERHE

Huizhou Junan Industrial Co., Ltd. (a) 17 May 2011 Development and sale of properties

AT S BREREERAA 2017E45208 10,500 N0 6400%  6e00%  MERRREE

Chengau Changxin Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 20 Aprl 2017 Development and sale of properties

TN EE R EREARAT 201359A27R 61,000 0000 6119%  6Ti9%  MERERHE

Hangzhou Future Land Chuanghong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 27 September 2013 Development and sale of properties

AT R HERSRRAT NNETRIE 1142730 1142730 4T08%  47.08%  DEREREE

Hangzhou Future Land Yingguan Hongxuan Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (c) 1July 2020 Development and sale of properties

ISR ERE AR 20135 10A8A 356,500 B6S0  67A1% 6% MEREREE

Hangzhou Future Land Dinghong Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 8 October 2013 Development and sale of properties

SEDIEHREREERRA 200056198 650,000 650000 67.A9%  d031%  MERERHE

Jinhua Future Land Honghan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (¢) 19 June 2020 Development and sale of properties

RERERHERSRRAT 201852827R 320,000 00000 SM% 5% DERRREE

Wuhan Guanxin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 21 February 2018 Development and sale of properties

REMIEAEERERLA (@ 2014E981R 42,000 10500 6400%  6400% MERELEE

Wuhan Future Land Chuangznhi Property Co., Ltd. (3) 11 September 2014 Development and sale of properties

EisnERaRAT 1759R4R 760,000 BO000  6148%  66T6%  MERERHE

Qihe Kunxin Property Co., Lid. 4 September 2017 Development and sale of properties

EEAREAEREERAA 2020%56R48 800,000 80000 ST0%  ST00%  MEREREE

Wenling Future Land Hongxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c) 4 June 2020 Development and sale of properties

RS B ERERRAR 202045298 10,000 10000 6170%  6170%  DERELEE

Wenzhou Future Land Hongyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 April 2020 Development and sale of properties

REMEHERERRLA N14E7A2E 10,000 10000 4800%  4800% MEREREE

Dongguan Xingchengj Investment Co., Ltd. (c) 23 July 2014 Development and sale of properties

BEE R RHERYRRAA 201552A11R 11,111 10000 6228%  6665% MEREREE

Haffeng Zhenye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 11 February 2015 Development and sale of properties

RIENERRAT 2012857168 231,290 08160 6653%  670%  MERELEE

Wujiang Hengli Real Estate Co., Ltd. 16 May 2012 Development and sale of properties

RSB ERERRAR 2011567208 177,780 100000 6740%  67A0%  MERERHE

Kunshan Future Land Chuanghong Real Estate Co., Lid. 20 June 2011 Development and sale of properties
FFRERERARAT 04E3A1R 2000 000  6686%  6686% MEREREE

Taizhou Motor City Development Co., Ltd. 11 March 2004 Development and sale of properties

BNREERELIARAA () W1757A7R 600,000 G400 2% A% FHRE

Suzhou Shengbo Real Estate Consultancy Co., Ltd. (¢) 7 July 2017 Consulting

BIEEEE AR A07E10A11R 200,200 0200 6743%  6T1%  MEREREE

Suzhou Future Land Chuangjia Property Co., Lid. 11 October 2007 Development and sale of properties
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 EE¥/\12H$ ri(mﬁ)

AAER

Company name

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA
HiAH HRER HRRA EibRER DN B

Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

BNZEEHERSARLA

Suzhou Yusheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (a)

EHEERAERRARAD ()

Suzhou Hongpu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c)

NGNS RIEREERAR [

Liupanshui Future Land Yuejia Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (a)

IR ENEREERAT )

Znengzhou Shunjie Future Land Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (a)

DHESERFHERLERAR (o

Zhengzhou Longcheng Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c)

BRIBELRERARAA

Chongaing Wanjia Enterprise Management Co., Lid.
ROFHERESARLT

Changsha Future Land Wanbo Property Co,, Ltd.

RYBCEMERERRAD ()

Changsha Hongren Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c)

ROBREAEREARAD ()

Changsha Hongshang Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (c)

RYERRAERSERLA ()

Changsha Hongtuo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (c)

RYERENEREERAD [

Changsha Hongyao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (a)

ErERRIEREARAD ()

Yantal Yiteng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (¢)

EEBABRERARLT

Qingdao Wanji Sunshine Property Co., Lid.

EEMBNERARLA

Qingdao Lizhou Property Co., Ltd.

BEMNEIBRNERRAR

Qingdao Future Land Chuangzhi Real Estate Co,, Lid.

ESRIRHERSERLA QO

Qingdao Techeng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. (g) (0)

B EREEERARAT

Changzhou Future Land Honghao Commercial Management Co., Ltd.

FFIEAEEERERA

Changzhou Future Land Wansheng Commercial Management Co,, Ltd. g)

AGEREZELERARAA @

Danyang Wanbo Commercial Management Co., Ltd. (a)

20165108208 600,000 00000 6442%  440%  MIEREEERHE

20 October 2016 Development and sale of properties
20005452098 862,750 W00 2% A% DEREREE
29 April 2020 Development and sale of properties
N17E12A308 2,02 0000  6676%  6651%  DERELEE
30 December 2017 Development and sale of properties
019E3A68 1,000,000 - 60M%  60T%  MERERHEE
6 March 2019 Development and sale of properties
0165127198 150,000 150000 33%4%  3394%  NEHRREE
19 December 2016 Development and sale of properties
17577318 10,500 - 6A00%  6400% AEELRER
31 July 2017 Asset operation and management
011E3528R 420500 Q0000 6645%  66d5%  MERELHE
28 March 2011 Development and sale of properties
004528 917,653 507653 3389% 3380  MEMERHE
22 April 2020 Development and sale of properties
202087 11R 10,000 10000 2038%  2033% DERELEE
11 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
N2%7A8E 250,000 B0000  2033%  033%  MERELEE
8 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
202085108 710,000 10000 5316%  5316%  MEREREE
10 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
2018597128 310,000 30000 4700%  4700%  ERELEE
12 September 2018 Development and sale of properties
011E12A7R 50,000 0000 BT%  B3TM%  ERELEE
7 December 2011 Development and sale of properties
201059A27R 52,800 50000 61A5%  6Ti5%  EREREE
27 September 2010 Development and sale of properties
2014857158 600,500 600500 67.45%  67.15%  MERELEE
15 May 2014 Development and sale of properties
17E8R17R 700,000 00000 4700%  4700%  EREREE
17 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
N14F1285A 1632000 1632000  665%%  665Y%  AEEERER
5 December 2014 Asset operation and menagement
0181528 450,000 50000 6653%  6653% AEEERER
22 January 2013 Asset operation and management
165127138 199,985 10000 6653%  6653% AEEERER
13 December 2016 Asset operation and management
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

LAER

Company name

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A
kel HRER HRRA EibRERDM B

Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

PleBEREENEERARLA

Changzhou Jintan Wanbo Real Estate Management Co., Lid.
BRI ERARAT ()

Changzhou Future Land Hongxing Business Menagement Co,, Lid. (a)
B NEEREERARDA (@ (0 ()

Liyang Future Land Hongyue Real Estate Management Co., Lid. (8) ¢} (g
ETERENARILERERDA

Znenjiang Wanbo Injoy Business Management Co., Lid. (3)
AR AR ERRARAR

Yangzhou Future Land Yuebo Real Estate Development Co., Lid.
TR RRERRERERLT

Huaian Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Management Co., Ltd.
EERRARAERARLT

Baoying Hongchen Commercial Management Co., Ltd.
LEEHERERERARAA

Shanghal Diyu Business Management Co., Ltd. (3)
FNERANARILERERNA

Suzhou Longsheng Injoy Business Management Co., Ltd. (q)
NREIERHELEERLA )

Rugao Chuangjun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (g)

MR ERRELERARAT

Qidong Yuebo Commercial Management Co., Lid

TR REREERARAT

Anging Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Management Co,, Ltd.
EERnEERERRAT

Huainan Future Land Yuexin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
BEiIAREER R ERARLT

X'an Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Management Co., Lid.
REREEZERERAA )

Chengalu Hongja Business Management Co., Ltd. (g
BIERALERARLA )

Jinjiang Wanbo Commercial Management Co., Ltd. (3)

BT BRERLARAA

Ruian Yueho Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
alEssl AR REERARAA

Taizhou Future Land Hongyue Commercial Management Co,, Ltd.
ERENEZECERARLA

Ningbo Injoy Business Management Co,, Ltd. (a)
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17E10A13R 10,000 0000 665%  6653%  MERERME

13 October 2017 Development and sale of properties
20057288 519,340 030 6653% 6653 HEEERER
28 May 2020 Asset operation and management
20206718 10,118 1013 6653%  4658%  MEMEREE
11 June 2020 Development and sale of properties
2018510R8A 10,341 1460 665%%  665%% HEEERER
8 October 2018 Asset operation and management
201957817R 69,586 60586  665%%  6653% MEREREE
17 July 2019 Development and sale of properties
2020F45208 5,400 4800 6661%  e6s1%  MERRREE
20 April 2020 Development and sale of properties
20057188 105,000 105000 5389%  5389% AEEERER
18 May 2020 Asset operation and management
0155107288 531,820 W00 6587%  6587%  EEEHARER
28 Qctober 2015 Asset operation and management
016511 A2A 264,185 10000 66.53% B650% AEEEREE
2 November 2016 Asset operation and management
20185 11A1A 10,000 1000  6653%  6653% AEEERER
1 November 2018 Asset operation and management
019511 £ 158 50,000 - 64T 645%% AEELRER
15 November 2019 Asset operation and management
201859A25H 10,000 10000 66.53% B650% AEEEREE
25 September 2018 Asset operation and management
201957 A25R 26,600 U0 6660%  6660%  MERERHE
25 July 2019 Development and sale of properties
200058f58 74000 A0 6653% 6653  MEREREE
5 August 2020 Development and sale of properties
220F3A19R 52,000 5000  6653% B650% AEEERER
19 March 2020 Asset operation and management
18E107 168 10,000 1000  6653%  6653% AEEERER
16 October 2018 Asset operation and management
20195107288 33520 M350 6653%  6653%  MEMEREE
28 October 2019 Development and sale of properties
020F5A208 132,000 132000 66.58% B650% AEEERER
20 May 2020 Asset operation and management
18E10F 158 187,525 10000 6653%  6653% AEEERER
15 October 2018 Asset operation and management
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HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEFRRIZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA

DR HIRH g HERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

ERREEHERSRRAA 2019510R9R 74290 40 6653% 6653  MEMELEE
Civi Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 9 October 2019 Development and sale of properties
R R R ERRERAT 2019598208 5,500 5A00  6653%  6653%  MIEREREE
Kunming Future Land Yuean Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 20 September 2019 Development and sale of properties
RERREFFARICERARLT 20005498 176,359 553  6653%  6653% AEBERER
Changchun Hongsheng Commercial Complex Management Co., Lid. 9 April 2020 Asset operation and management
BB RRELEERERLA () 2017597208 10000 10000 6653%  6653% MIEMEREE
Halkou Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Management Co,, Ltd. (a) 20 September 2017 Development and sale of properties
HENERUERTRRAT 20195998 7510 7510 6653%  6653%  MIEREREE
Nanning Yueze Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 9 September 2019 Development and sale of properties
ETERARERARA @ 20055/ 13000 13000 6653% 6653 AEEERER
Guiin Future Land Hongsheng Business Management Co., Ltd. (a) 22 May 2020 Asset operation and management
RONEEZAEERERAT 2019597238 2340 - 66S%% 605  AEEERER
Changsha Yueshun Commercial Management Co., Lid. 23 September 2019 Asset operation and management
ROBABREREREREMLT 202055138 133,000 133000 5380%  5380% AEEHERER
Changsha Hongtuo Commercial Management Co., Ltd. 13 May 2020 Asset operation and management
BT EER AR ERARAT 20195972 5,000 5000 6653%  6653% AEBERER
Linyi Yuehong Business Management Co., Ltd. 25 September 2019 Asset operation and management
BEHTERIEARAA ) 018E9A21E 143820 9284 6653%  65%% AEEMRER
Nanchang Chuanghong Commercial Management Co,, Ltd. (g) 21 September 2018 Asset operation and management
BENERHEREARAR 01959258 120,004 5300 6658%  6658%  MEEEREE
Nanchang Yuelong Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. () 25 September 2019 Development and sale of properties
T RAREARERARLT 019511 A14R 25,000 200 6662% 6662 HEREREE
Shangrao Yixuan Management Co., Lid. 14 November 2019 Development and sale of properties
A RRE e AR 20055A208 147,880 47800 5389% 538U MEMELEE
Yancheng Future Land Hongbo Real Estate Management Co., Lid. 20 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
B EEREREERAT 201515158 156,500 - 6530%  6633%  MEMEREE
Yingshang Future Land Hengjia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 15 January 2021 Development and sale of properties
BEEERHERGARLA () 0151278 50,000 50000 6653%  6653%  WEREREE
Shangaiu Hengze Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (a) 27 January 2021 Development and sale of properties
ENBECEERERDA ([ (0 AE3A6A 1008571 110851 %406%  R66%  MEREREE
Guangzhou Hengyao Enterprise Management Co., Lid. (a) (c) 16 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
ELBREAERZARAT @ () A21F3A2%E 50,000 - B6S6% W% MERERHEE
Tangshan Hengtuo Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. (g) (0) 26 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
REIERFAEREERAT @ 0 221E3A%08 50,000 0000 38%4%  33%4%  DERELEE
Tianjin Future Land Hengsheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (8) (c) 30 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
AR EESEERERRAT 2021%3A19R 560,000 - 3% 031%  NEEEREE
Hangzhou Future Land Junhong Hengjin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c) 19 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
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EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
i/ tEd  BEAR M2A31R
PEET HIAH ifER R EitRERA IEEH
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities
ARETT  ABETT 2mE o0
RMB'000 RVB'000 2024 2023
A EREERR AR 2021 E3A31 R 1,000 - B33%  633%  MERERHE
Xuzhou Future Land Hengyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 31 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
R EN R ERE AR 200154528 55,556 - 668%  6628%  MEREREE
Daye Future Land Hengyue Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 2 April 2021 Development and sale of properties
RNFAZERRAT @ (0 20145208 100,000 100000 2859%  2850% MERERGE
Wenzhou Kaicheng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (8) c) 20 April 2021 Development and sale of properties
SN EERERL AR 21 EA1TR 55,556 B56  6628%  6628%  MERELEE
Loudi Future Land Hengye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 17 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
REFHEREHERERRAA A1E5A2E 800,000 80000 9792 79 MEEERHE
Tianjin Future Land Hengtai Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (c) 26 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
R EREEREERAT 20155248 620,000 620000 %092%  3090% MERELEE
Tianjin Future Land Hengmao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c) 24 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
BMFHESERERAT () 2021557268 814,000 814000 4523% 2% MEREREE
Fuzhou Future Land Hengzhuo Real Estate Co., Ltd. (c) 26 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
EZfERHERAARAT 200155824R 200,000 - A% 6A0%  MEREREE
Yibin Hengren Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 24 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
FNEERHERSARLA () 20156428 50,000 0000 6653%  6653%  MEREREE
Zhangzhou Hengyu Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. (a) 2 June 2021 Development and sale of properties
I EERHERERRAR 2021%6A1R 156,556 - 522% 6%  MERERHE
Xantao Hengjun Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 1June 2021 Development and sale of properties
AR EERAEREARDA () ANELABE 1,220,100 - 205%  2605%  MERIRME
Nanjing Future Land Hengbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (c) 25 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
HREERHERSARAA () 201558250 900,000 - RO %BET%  NEREREE
Nanjing Henghao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (¢) 25 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
I RRAEREERAA @) 2021567108 250000 %0000 6616%  6616%  MEMEREE
Yancheng Future Land Henghong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (a) 10 June 2021 Development and sale of properties
AN ESERELERARLA () A1E6A11E 15,000 15000  6653%  6653% AEELRER
Jingzhou Future Land Hengxun Commercial Operation Management Co., Ltd. (a) 11 June 2021 Asset operation and management
ETEEERERRAO NN E5A7H 10,000 - TM% % DERRRHE
Xingping Hengfeng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (¢) (d) 27 May 2021 Development and sale of properties
ATEIRI B AR R I ERERDT 200156A287 56,000 56000 5389% 5380  HEEERER
Xuzhou Jiawang District Future Land Hengxing Commercial Management Co., Lid. 28 June 2021 Asset operation and management
BT EREHEREARAR @) A1ETAE 652,759 196930 6653%  G6SY%  MEMERHE
Lianshui Future Land Hengrong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3) 30 July 2021 Development and sale of properties
BIEREFERERAA () 2021%8R6R 8,000 8000 5389%  5380% AEBERER
Tangshan Hengrong Business Management Co., Ltd. () 6 August 2021 Asset operation and management
RERATEGAROEERERLA A1 FBA5H 17,600 17600 6596%  6596% AEELRER
Changehun Hongeheng Commercial Complex Management Co, Lid. (g) 5 August 2021 Asset operation and management
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40 EEF QR ZFEE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA

DR HIRH g HERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

ATHHEREEREERARAT ) 202158128 10472 1419 5389%  5380% EEBERER
Dongtai Future Land Hengrong Real Estate Management Co,, Ltd. () 12 August 2021 Asset operation and management
IRAEARZALEEARAR A21F8A13E 60,000 60000 5389%  E380% AEERER
Nanjing Future Land Hengsheng Commercial Management Co., Ltd. (@) 13 August 2021 Asset operation and management
BN AR ERERLT 2021587128 80,000 80000 5389% 5380 AEELLER
Huzhou Future Land Hengjia Gommercial Management Co., Lid. 12 August 2021 Asset operation and management
FRERERAERARAA B 200159A28R 10,000 1000 5389%  5380% AEEERERE
Tai'an Hengtai Commercial Management Co., Lid. (3) 28 September 2021 Asset operation and management
EENBIEEEARLA 20037158 10,340 10340 665%  665%% BEBERER
Shenyang Xusheng Operation Management Co., Ltd. (a) 15 March 2022 Asset operation and management
B RAXERARAT 20025518R 10000 1000  67.20%  6T0% AEEERER
Yinchuan Future Land Xuheo Commercial Management Co., Lid. 18 May 2022 Asset operation and management
BRI RA e RARLA 0EA1TR 120,000 120000 6653%  6653% AEBERER
Nanjing Future Land Xusheng Commercial Management Co., Ltd. 17 May 2022 Asset operation and management
BNEEEFREREEEARR G 2002558 19A 60,000 60000  6653%  6653% AEEELER
Wenzhou Future Land Hengze Commercial Real Estate Management Co., Ltd. (3) 19 May 2022 Asset operation and management
R ARXERARAT 200011 A29R 80,000 0000 5443%  sAAY%  EEELLER
Tianjin Future Land Xusheng Gommercial Management Co., Lid. 29 November 2022 Asset operation and management
SEABRIRREF R RERREARLA 200312A20R 15,000 15000 6676%  6676% EEEERER
Urumaj Future Land Xutai Commercial Gomplex Management Senvice Co., Lid 20 December 2023 Asset operation and management
BMIELEE ERARAT 20235125288 20,000 0000  6668%  6668% AEELRER
Lanzhou Future Land Shunhong Commercial Management Co., Ltd 28 December 2023 Asset operation and management
HERARHERSRRAT 007E5831R 11,200 1000 994%  0M%  MEREREE
Shanghai Dongjun Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 31 May 2007 Development and sale of properties

LR EERAT 201858718 10,000 - 990%%  10000%  wRRERE - AEAEE
Shanghai Yisong Energy Equipment Co,, Ltd. 1 August 2018 Installation, repair and rental of energy

equipment

HERRERARAT 017E352R 11,000 - 0A0%  wi0%  DEREREE
Shanghai Pinyi Real Estate Co., Ltd. 23 March 2017 Development and sale of properties
HERRRHERSRRAT 015512738 8,000 8000 9908%  908% MEREREE
Shanghai Tuoyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3 December 2015 Development and sale of properties
LEERRHERRAT 20035 3A19R 90,000 18216 9934% 0% HEEEREE
Shanghai Future Land Wanjia Real Estate Co., Lid. 19 March 2003 Development and sale of properties
LEMIBELRERARAT 0145158 11,000 - 10000%  10000% R
Shanghai Future Land Hengye Business Management Co., Ltd. 15 April 2021 Consulting
DERIRELXERARAA A2E10F13R 5,000 - 05% w51 AEEERER
Shanghai Future Land Xuja Business Management Co., Ltd. 13 October 2022 Asset operation and management
LEREESARAT 201858108 100,000 100000 %991% %1% FE
Shanghai Yupu Trading Co., Ltd. 10 May 2018 Retal
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40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

LAER

Company name

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A
kel HRER HRRA EibRERDM B

Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

LEEEAFERARAT

Shanghai Yudi Business Management Co., Ltd.

R RERERAT

Shanghal Yuyi Business Management Co,, Ltd.
HEEIFERARAT

Shanghai Yuzheng Business Management Co., Lid.
LEREEERRAT

Shanghai Hongyi Industry Co., Lid.

LEEERHERSRRAT

Shanghai Honglu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd.
LETIEN R EREERAT

Shangrao Future Land Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Lid.
RATHANEEAEREARAT

Dongtal Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
REMESRRERRAT

Dongguan Xingchengj Investment Co., Ltd.
AEHEEENESRARAT

Danyang Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid.
EHREERARAT

Yunnan Tongze Real Estate Co., Lid.

B ERAERERRAT

Xanju Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid.
NEERRHERERRAT

Luan Yioo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

B ERERE AR

Lanzhou Future Land Hongrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
Rl EEREREARAT

Xinghua Future Land Yiheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd.
BB ERARLY

Xinghua Future Land Hengsheng Gommercial Operation Management Co,, Ltd.
BT SR HEREARAA

Baotou Future Land Yizhuo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
AETER AR ERAT

Baotou Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Lid.
FRIEERNERERRAT

Beijing Future Land Chuangzhi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
IR ERE AR ERAA

Bejjng Future Land Hengyue Real Estate Development Co., Lid.

284 i B R IZR AR D ") SEAZEN GROUP LIMITED
20244F G 3} 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

2024E9819R 50,000 - 9950% - BEEESE
19 September 2024 Business management consulting
224F9A19R 50,000 - 99.50% - hEERRE
19 September 2024 Business management consulting
2024E9520R 50,000 - 0048% - hEEER
20 September 2024 Business management consulting
NNESANE 1028800 - TO8T% TOST%  MERERHE
21 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
20510528 1,000 - 0%  093%  DERIREE
22 Qctober 2020 Development and sale of properties
201767268 31,111 - 0% W% DERELEE
26 June 2017 Development and sale of properties
201954728 29% 23 8020% % NEFEREE
2 April 2019 Development and sale of properties
201457 A23A 7,500 A0 TIA% TI4%  MEREREE
23 July 2014 Development and sale of properties
2013511358 1,000 W 98I% o81%  MERRREE
5 November 2013 Development and sale of properties
201837158 72500 80000 9860%  9860%  MERERHME
15 March 2018 Development and sale of properties
17E7A1A 40,600 BOW % 011%  NEREREE
11 July 2017 Development and sale of properties
0185128278 526,850 6850 WAT%  WIT%  ERELEE
27 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
202065248 189,680 190680 9920%  900.20% MEFERHE
24 June 2020 Development and sale of properties
0185105238 20,000 000 901%  901% HERRREE
23 October 2018 Development and sale of properties
201%6A28R 40,000 - 001% w0  AEELRER
28 June 2021 Asset operation and management
201857 A25R 40,000 0000 9% 0% NEEEREE
25 July 2018 Development and sale of properties
201853A16R 30,000 0000 9M%  0U%  NEREREE
16 March 2018 Development and sale of properties
2016567238 20,000 0000 9756%  o7se%  EREREE
23 June 2016 Development and sale of properties
200154A27R 1,000 - 10000%  10000% MERERHE
27 Aprl 2021 Development and sale of properties



B OB R EE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEFRRIZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BEAR M2A3MA

DR HIRH g HERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2E
RMB000 RMB000 2024 223

BRERAFERARLT 201857 A26R 300,000 00000 4890%  490% AEEREH

Nanjing Yiyue Business Management Co., Ltd. 26 July 2018 Business management consuting
DREBRUERERRAT 2017528288 {8270 A0 959%  950%  EREREE

Jurong Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 28 February 2017 Development and sale of properties
HRERRNEREERAT 0175328 110,000 10000 9B70%  9870% MEFRREE

Nanjing Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 2 March 2017 Development and sale of properties
HREREERRAT 201051 413R 311,000 1000 9688%  9588%  MEMERGE

Nanjing Future Land Wanja Real Estate Co,, Ltd. 13 January 2010 Development and sale of properties
BREERERRAT 14F4FUA 777,780 000 %588%  9588%  MEREREE

Nanjing Future Land Wanlong Real Estate Co., Lid. 24 April 2014 Development and sale of properties
HRE R ERRAT 201551 A16R 3330 0000 9588%  588%  MEREREE

Nanjing Future Land Wanshun Real Estate Co., Lid. 16 January 2015 Development and sale of properties
BRI AR ERE AR 201858718 3240 RA0 B0N% 8% MEREREE

Nanjing Xincheng Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 1 August 2018 Development and sale of properties
BRI SR ERRAT 0155115258 744,450 670000 9588%  9588%  MEREREE

Nanjing Future Land Chuangjin Real Estate Co., Ltd. 25 November 2015 Development and sale of properties
BRI AR ERRAT 201353A14R 2200 000 %87 %8 ERLREE

Nanjing Future Land Chuanglong Real Estate Co,, Lid. 14 March 2013 Development and sale of properties
HERARHEREARAT 2018534128 20,000 - 0995% W% MEREREE

Nanning Yituo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 12 March 2018 Development and sale of properties
HERNFHEREARAT 0185115198 555,556 50000 %990%  99.18%  MEREREE

Nanning Yiwen Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 19 November 2018 Development and sale of properties
BEMIG AR ERRARLT 201458A20R 1680 1680 9822%  082% WEREREE

Nanchang Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. 29 August 2014 Development and sale of properties
BECEEZARAT 01152A23R 1200 1200 765%%  T620%  MEREREE

Boluo Xinde Real Estate Co., Lid. 23 February 2011 Development and sale of properties
DREBRUERERRAT 2017527288 {8270 A0 959%  950%  MEREREE

Jurong Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 28 February 2017 Development and sale of properties
AR AR ERRLA 218%5/8H 1,000 1000 96.66% 6% MERERHE

Hefe Future Land Yirui Real Estate Co., Lid., 8 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
AR ERRERRAA 2018512478 55,000 000 %578%  %BIeh  HEREREE

Hefel Future Land Yisheng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. 7 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
AEHEREERRLY 018558238 1,000000 - BT%  BT%  DEREREE

Hefei Future Land Yirong Real Estate Co,, Lid. 23 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
ARSHATEERRAT M16511 1R 50,000 0000 958T%  %8T%  MERELEE

Hefel Future Land Chuanghong Real Estate Co, Lid. 11 November 2016 Development and sale of properties
ARIER R ERRAA 17524158 110,000 100000 %956%  9056% MEFEREE

Hefel Future Land Chuangsheng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. 15 February 2017 Development and sale of properties
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEF QR ZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A

DaEH HIRH g HERA EfEREAMY TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

A AR ERE AR 17E10A18R 400,000 00000 98T TN MERERHE
Hefel Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 18 October 2017 Development and sale of properties
HETIERE AR ERAT 201751768 07,778 - 0005%  %905% ERIREE
Qidong Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 January 2017 Development and sale of properties
BRREHERSRRAT 201857298 8,100 8100 8019%  f019%  MERERHE
Tangshan Yimao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
BAH AR ERE AR 019512A13A 10000 - W01% 0% MEREREE
Tangshan Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 13 December 2019 Development and sale of properties
BUBREHERSRRAT WIENRITR 10000 - 0TE%  000%  MEREREE
Tangshan Juncheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 17 November 2017 Development and sale of properties
RETREREREARAT 200456718 121,660 21860 6111% 6% MERRREE
Tianjin Xielian Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 11 June 2004 Development and sale of properties
REmHEAAEHENEREARAT 201654A27A 300,000 00000 901%  w01%  HEEEREE
Tianjn Jinnan Future Land Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 27 April 2016 Development and sale of properties
REMRSHRIEREREERAT 2019528278 81,000 81000 BL00%  B100% MEREREE
Tianjn Binhal Future Land Yuexin Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 21 February 2019 Development and sale of properties
RENHRERENERERRAT 2018511788 330,000 W00 %900%  sAde%  MERELEE
Tianjin Future land Yija Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 8 November 2018 Development and sale of properties
R ETRNEREERT 018511 A13A 50,000 - W01% 0% MEREREE
Tianjn Future Land Yihong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 13 November 2018 Development and sale of properties
REMYEERHEREARAT 01951A3R 800,000 600000 9900%  BAd5%  MEREREE
Tianjin Future Land Yiheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
REHEEEHERERRAR 17E3514R 50,000 50000 901% 0%  EREREE
Tianjin Future Land Chuanghong Real Estate Development Co. Lid. 24 March 2017 Development and sale of properties
REIEERERE AR 201754A2%68 50,000 - W01% 0% MEREREE
Tianjin Future Land Chuangheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 26 Aprl 2017 Development and sale of properties
RENHEERERERRAT 20165125268 110,000 - %955%  9955%  MERIREE
Tianjin Future Land Chuangzhi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 December 2016 Development and sale of properties
R TEEEERAT A1E4R2R 456,000 B0 5643%  5A3%  MERELEE
Tianjin Xincheng Hongshun Real Estate Co., Lid. 22 April 2021 Development and sale of properties
R EERNERE AR 2A21%3A1R 30,000 000 H050%  5050%  MEREREE
Tianjin Future Land Hengrui Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 1 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
R ERRERE AR 20015382 30,000 - 0% 0% MEREREE
Tianjin Future Land Hengdling Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 22 March 2021 Development and sale of properties
RERABHERERRAR 1954A9R 50,000 50000 901%  001%  DEREREE
Tianjin Future Land Yuexin Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 9 Aprl 2019 Development and sale of properties
R ERNERE AR 2019558278 30,000 - 001% W% NEEEREE
Tianjin Future Land Yueda Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 27 May 2019 Development and sale of properties
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 EEF QR ZFEE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AL/ tEd  BEAR 28318
PEEE HIAH ifER  HRRA EitRER A IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities
ARETT  ARETT  2mE o0
RMB'000 RMB'000 202 2023
REI SRR EREERAT WIOFLA%E 1205150 5000 AN 94 MERERE
Tianjn Future Land Yuejin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 Apri 2019 Development and sale of properties
B REEREERAT 201955788 66,667 66667 9901%  W01%  EREREE
Tianjin Future Land Yueding Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 8 May 2019 Development and sale of properties
RENHENEHERERRAT 201747268 50,000 - 0% w0t%  DERELEE
Tianjin Future Land Jinjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 Aprl 2017 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERE AR 0E12A15R 28,800 VBB BAA%  5A4e%  MEREREE
Tianjn Future Land Hongshang Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 15 December 2020 Development and sale of properties
RERREEREERAT 200054A21A 50,000 50000 901%  901%  EREREE
Tianjin Future Land Hongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 21 April 2020 Development and sale of properties
mETRREHERRLT NIBEBA4A 1500000 1500000  9580%  9580%  MEREREE
Rugao Yisheng Real Estate Co., Lid. 14 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
EATHARERSARAA 2019554308 84,000 84000 995%% 9953  MEREREE
Ningxiang Yuenong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 30 May 2019 Development and sale of properties
ERIARERRARAT 20155982 10,000 10000 9802%  980% MEREREE
Ningbo Kaituo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 22 September 2015 Development and sale of properties
ERERBHELRARAT 1558A3E 280,000 80000 W% W11%  DERELEE
Ningbo Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3 August 2015 Development and sale of properties
EREIRHERERRLA 200E7A158 100,000 100000 0758%  oAgn  MERERREE
Ningbo Hongsong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 15July 2020 Development and sale of properties
EREEFUERTARAT 21853758 16,200 18200 8020%  80.20% MEREREE
Baoying Yisheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 5 March 2018 Development and sale of properties
BB EREERAT 201787188 % 0 90% 00k NEFRRREE
Baoji Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 18 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
EENEEXERAT 200945278 5,560 - A% oAd5%  MERELBE
Sugian Lida Real Estate Co., Ltd. 27 Apri 2009 Development and sale of properties
BEMNENEHERRAR 1756728 55,560 50000 9588%  58s%  MEREREE
Sugjan Future Land Hengli Real Estate Co., Lid. 2 June 2017 Development and sale of properties
BRI EERRAA 20191298 100,000 10000 9%562%  6601%  MEFRREE
Sugian Future Land Yuehong Real Estate Co., Ltd. 9 December 2019 Development and sale of properties
PMER RN ERE AR 207£2A6R 20,000 0000 9%B8T%  B8T%  MERELEE
Changzhou Wanfang Future Land Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 February 2007 Development and sale of properties
PN AR EERARA 201355158 1,000 1000 9B52% 5% EREREE
Changzhou Znuosheng Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. 15 May 2013 Development and sale of properties
BN R B ERAT 201855218 1,000 1000 9875%  T0M%  EREREE
Changzhou Future Land Yirui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 21 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
BT ERE AR N17E9ATR 22 000  %B76%  %BIeh  NEREREE
Changzhou Future Land Chuanghong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 7 September 2017 Development and sale of properties
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEF QR ZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A

DaEH HIRH g HERA EfEREAMY TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

FIIRERE AR 1008F4A%6 1054300 1084300 9576%  O576%  MEREREE
Changzhou Future Land Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 April 1998 Development and sale of properties
PSR ERRERA 201751A2R 1,000 1000 9901%  9901%  EREREE
Changzhou Future Land Zidong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 2 November 2017 Development and sale of properties
BN BEHERRAR 2009597118 47,780 780 9%A8%  o618%  MEREREE
Changzhou Future Land Jinjun Real Estate Co, Lid. 11 September 2009 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERE AR 200558208 500,000 0000 %76%  %T6%  MERERHE
Changzhou Future Land Hongsong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 20 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERLERAT 200558208 1,000 - %T6%  5T6%  MEREREE
Changzhou Future Land Hongxuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 20 May 2020 Development and sale of properties
PHEERHERERRAT 20E105138 450,000 GO0 5TA6%  srde%  MERELEE
Changzhou Honghui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 13 October 2020 Development and sale of properties
TE AL AR 2016512728 44,600 e 9901% W% NEEEREE
Pinghu Future Land Wanbo Commercial Development Co., Ltd. 26 December 2016 Development and sale of properties
EMEELXERERAT 2018585248 202 - W4%  B29% AEELRER
Guangzhou Yichang Business Management Co., Lid. 24 August 2018 Asset operation and management
BHsREERERRAT 202151768 1,000 - W6T%  %520%  MERELEE
Guangzhou Future Land Honghui Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 January 2021 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERE AR 200151 A6R 1,000 - 06T% %20%  MERERHE
Guangzhou Future Land Hongchen Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 6 January 2021 Development and sale of properties
ENSHEHERRAT 201758A%0R 10,000 10000 %B67% %% NEREREE
Guangzhou Dingyue Real Estate Co,, Ltd. 30 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
EETEAR BREHEREERAT 2018517238 91 o 004%  00%  MERELEE
Yan'an Baota Yiho Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 23 January 2018 Development and sale of properties
BATEIRRERNERLARAT 2018558308 54,157 BT 8020%  800%  MERERHE
Xuzhou Jiawang Yirui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 30 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
R R ERERRAR NIBEIIA0E 1338800 1205000 O446%  O4de%  EREREE
Xuzhou Future Land Yiheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 November 2018 Development and sale of properties
BB ERRAR 2017512798 30,500 N0 W% 3% DERRREE
Xuzhou Future Land Chuangyu Real Estate Co., Lid. 9 December 2017 Development and sale of properties
BB ERRERE AR 2019514108 80,000 80000 9901% W% NEEEREE
Deyang Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. 10 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
BRI BHERERRAT 201755168 205,710 5710 W% W91%  DEREREE
Civi Future Land Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 16 May 2017 Development and sale of properties
RANEREREARAT 2019%7A2R 100,000 - 025% 5% EREREE
Chengau Yuekai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 2 July 2019 Development and sale of properties
REMERRHEREARAT 201654 78R 48,000 000 9B64% 086N  MERERHE
Chengdu Future Land Wanho Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 8 April 2015 Development and sale of properties
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 EEF QR ZFEE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AL/ iRg  BRAR 28318
DR HIAH g fRERA EfEREAAY IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities
ARETT  ARETT  2mE o0
RMB'000 RMB'000 202 2023
MHERERERT 200851 54R 800,000 00000 %901%  901%  MEREREE
Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Co,, Lid. 24 January 2008 Development and sale of properties
THEE (BM) REERARAT 095125288 2000 0000 9869%  9860%  MEREREE
Future Land Construction Management (Changzhou) Business 28 December 2009 Development and sale of properties
Management Co, Lid.
TIEREEA R ERERAA 2016587197 200,000 0000 901%  901%  DEREREE
Future Land Holdings Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 19 August 2016 Development and sale of properties
TR EERARARLA 2016538308 100,000 - 10000%  10000% @ WEREREE
Future Land Holdings Industrial Development Co., Lid. 30 March 2016 Development and sale of properties
B RERNEREARAT 057R6E 1,000,000 00000 9576% 9576k MERERHEE
Wuxi Hongyu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 6 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
BRIERRERRERDT 201851 A28 14000 0000 986T%  9B6T%  MERERHEE
Kunming Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 2 January 2018 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERRERE AR 18F2A28 2,02 - 5% 5% MEREREE
Kunming Future Land Yisheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 2 February 2018 Development and sale of properties
NGRS ARRAT 201955108 5,556 - 0998%  9008%  MEARE
Hangzhou Yuejing Real Estate Consultancy Co., Ltd. 10 May 2019 Properties consulting service
NG E R ERE AR MGEIF2E 50,000 0000 9987%  W8T%  MERELEE
Hangzhou Future Land Chuangjia Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 22 Qctober 2015 Development and sale of properties
MM EE R ERE AR 201358A29R 30,000 0000 9999%  09% NEFEREE
Hangzhou Future Land Chuanghong Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 29 August 2013 Development and sale of properties
R R EREERAR 2013511968 100000 100000 9999%  999% MEFEREE
Hangzhou Future Land Chuangsheng Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 6 November 2013 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERE AR 01652728 20,000 0000 9B8%  881%  EREREE
Hangzhou Future Land Dejia Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 2 February 2016 Development and sale of properties
MR ERERE AR N17F9A26A 1650000 1650000  9999%  9099%  MEHEREE
Hangzhou Future Land Mejia Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 26 September 2017 Development and sale of properties
B RREREARAR N17E12A258 37,000 000 %006%  9868%  MEREREE
Gulin Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 25 December 2017 Development and sale of properties
R EEHERRARAA 201657 A8R 63,500 63500 9BA4%  9Bu%  HEREREE
Tongxiang Zhuosheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 8.July 2015 Development and sale of properties
REMIERRERE AR A0F1A11E 10,000 - 2% 2% MEREREE
Wuhan Future Land Hongfu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 11 November 2020 Development and sale of properties
REIBHSERARAT 2016%5A98 202 02 BMh  BA%  NEFLRHEE
Wuhan Jiangnan Yinxiang Real Estate Co., Lid. 9 May 2016 Development and sale of properties
ERERRERERRAT N17E10A128 70200 0000 9905%  9905% HEREREE
Hanzhong Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 12 Qctober 2017 Development and sale of properties
THREREREARLT 200954278 33,300 0000 BET% BT NEREREE
Jiangsu Lanhua Investment Development Co., Lid. 27 May 2009 Development and sale of properties
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HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEF QR ZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ P BEAR M2A3MA

DEEH HIRH g HERA EftREAM Y TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

B RERHERLARLA 20185127208 39,660 - 0% W90%  NEREREE
Shenyang Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 20 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
B ESEERERERRAR 2017588178 10,000 10000 901%  W01%  DEREREE
Cangzhou Haoming Chuangzhi Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 17 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
FETETRHERSARAT 1458A1R 20,000 0000  949%  04%  NEREREE
Taixing Qianyuan Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 1 August 2014 Development and sale of properties
FEIERRNEREART 1751 4R %09 09 W% 7% MEREREE
Taixing Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 4 January 2017 Development and sale of properties
R AR ERE AR 2019518308 16,200 16200 8020%  8020% MEREREE
Taian Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 30 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
FNESRHERIRRAT 0ETA14R 1,000 - 000%  W090%  ERELEE
Taizhou Honghan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 14 July 2020 Development and sale of properties
BRR KGRI ERE AR 2015568258 20,000 0000 992%  09%  NEFEREE
Jinan Tianhong Yongyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 25 June 2015 Development and sale of properties
EEIEEREREARAT 20165458 50,000 50000 901%  W01%  NEREREE
Jinan Future Land Chuangzhi Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 5 April 2016 Development and sale of properties
BEIAE AR 201955/ 85,000 8000 995%% 095 NEREREE
Jiing Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Co., Lid. 22 May 2019 Development and sale of properties
BRIIERRERRARDT 201651 A58 90,000 - 906% 0868k MERERHE
Halkou Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 5 January 2015 Development and sale of properties
RERRRHERLARAT 0185125188 65,000 65000 9904%  9004% EREREE
Haiyan Yiho Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 18 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
L EH R ERE AR 201851758 31430 3430 986%%  9869%  MERERHE
Hualoei Future Land Yixuan Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 5 January 2018 Development and sale of properties
R ERRNERE AR 201851728 15,200 - BM% WT%  NEREREE
Huaian Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 22 January 2018 Development and sale of properties
ELRESZARAT 20107828 20,000 0000 9%586%  686%  NEREREE
Huaian Rongajeo Real Estate Co., Lid. 2July 2010 Development and sale of properties
M R ERE R AT 2016577298 8283 N0 9940% 5% DERRREE
Shenzhen Xinyu Chuangjia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 July 2016 Development and sale of properties
BNERAFERARAT NIBENAITE 761111 1585000 9182%  9180%  EEELRER
Wenzhou Yihao Business Management Co., Lid. 17 October 2018 Asset operation and management
B EREERE AR 201851A29R 5000 - W% 0ot MEREREE
Wenzhou Future Land Yirui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 January 2018 Development and sale of properties
BN ERHERIRRAT 201935138 60,000 60000 026%  3026% EFEREE
Hunan Yueze Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 13 March 2019 Development and sale of properties
BN AR ERE AR WI8ETAIBE 1055556 - 08%  09%  MERERHE
Huzhou Future Land Yituo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 16 July 2018 Development and sale of properties
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HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 EEF QT ZHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AL/ tEd  BEAR M2A318
PEEE HIAH ifER  HRRA EitRER A IZER
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities
ARETT  ARETT  mE o0
RMB'000 RVB'000 2024 2023
W SRR ERE AR NIGELFABA AL 1000000 9998%  009%%  MEREREE
Huzhou Future Land Yirui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 26 Aprl 2018 Development and sale of properties
BN EE R EREERAT 2018585138 458,385 5838 8020%  8020% MEREREE
Huzhou Future Land Yikuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 13 August 2018 Development and sale of properties
AR EREARAT 17575208 5,556 0000 9981%  081%  DERELEE
Huzhou Future Land Dingjia Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 20 July 2017 Development and sale of properties
RN AR ERE AR 2017512R4R 19,000 19000 901%  W901%  DERELEE
Liyang Injoy Chuangsheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 4 December 2017 Development and sale of properties
BN R EREARAT 2019515308 3,000 B0 995% 9053  MEREREE
Chuzhou Future Land Yueho Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 30 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
IRENBERERRAT 17E2817R 186,850 18680  901%  901% DEFRREE
Yuhuan Future Land Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 17 February 2017 Development and sale of properties
BEmENEHERSARAA 201658A5R 676,480 676480  %901%  901%  DEREREE
Li'an Injoy Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 5 August 2016 Development and sale of properties
B AR EREER SRR 0185127288 118 18 B00%  800% EREREE
Yancheng Dafeng Future Land Yixuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 28 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
B ERRHEREERLT 0185105228 30,000 0000 W% BT%  DEFEREE
Yancheng Future Land Yihong Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 22 Qctober 2018 Development and sale of properties
BB ERAT N0TE10R1R 200,000 - 000%  W90%  MERELEE
Suzhou Future Land Chuangjia Property Co., Lid. 11 October 2007 Development and sale of properties
BNRRBHELARRAT 201585128 150,000 150000 9949%  9940%  MERRREE
Suzhou Shengtian Real Estate Consulting Co., Ltd. 12 August 2015 Development and sale of properties
GNEERHERIRRAT 0165107208 600,000 600000 987T%  %8T%  MERELEE
Suzhou Yusheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 20 Qctober 2016 Development and sale of properties
MR RHEREARAT 187A9R 3,000 BOO  901%  W0%  NEFEREE
Jngzhou Yixuan Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 9 July 2018 Development and sale of properties
BEHRRBERERRAT 0185115278 550,000 0000 904%  90%  EREREE
Xining Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 27 November 2018 Development and sale of properties
BRREAFERERAT 201858A31A % 0 T% 7% AEEERER
X'an Yichun Business Management Co,, Lid. 31 August 2018 Asset operation and management
BRERLEERERAT 201884318 % 0 9% 7% BEEERER
X'an Yichao Business Management Co., Lid. 31 August 2018 Asset operation and management
B EEHERSRRAT 017578208 210000 A0000  976%  976%  MEREREE
X'an Chuangyue Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 20 July 2017 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERRERERRAT 2175678E 0,976 0076 9T6%  W76%  MEREREE
Xian Future Land Wanjia Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 8 June 2017 Development and sale of properties
BRI AR EREERA 01754A25A 26,000 BOO  904%  0M%  EREREE
X'an Future Land Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 25 Apr 2017 Development and sale of properties
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEF QR ZFHE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

HAL/ FEd BRAR M2A31A

DaEH HIRH g HERA EfEREAMY TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest
Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

NREFT  ARETR 2mE sk
RMB'000 RMB000 2024 2023

BRREEFERARLT 201954438 55,560 - 996%  069% MERERHE
X'an Yinfeng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 3 April 2019 Development and sale of properties
B EERHERSRRAT 152818 1,000 - BM% 5% MEREREE
X'an Hongoluo Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 1 February 2021 Development and sale of properties
EMEE R R EREERAT 20185115288 45,000 BO00 8% gul%  EREREE
Guizhou Qingzhen Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 28 November 2018 Development and sale of properties
ERRREHERLARAA N18E10528 38,889 B0 9906%  0868% MEREREE
(Guigang Yibo Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. 22 Qctober 2018 Development and sale of properties
BRI AR ERE AR 201855817R 20,000 - 0B w5%  NEREREE
Guiyang Future Land Yisheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 17 May 2018 Development and sale of properties
S EERNERE AR 0185125268 867,530 8750  %953% 5%  MERELEE
Guiyang Future Land Yirui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
EEARRRHERLARAT 201852888 2,000 2000 903% 03U MEREREE
Lianyungang Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 8 February 2018 Development and sale of properties
BERIERRNEREERAT 201785168 41300 HA0  901%  901%  MEREREE
Lianyungang Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 16 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
BRI ERRERLARLT W18E12R178 40,000 - 001%  w0t%  DERELEE
Zunyi Future Land Yioo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 17 December 2018 Development and sale of properties
BEMERERERERERLT 2021%5728R 10000 - W01% 0% EEBERER
Zunyi Future Land Hengsheng Commercial Management Co., Ltd. 28 May 2021 Asset operation and management
SN A BRI ERE R 201757 A28R 10,000 10000 %24% %% NEREREE
Zhengzhou Future Land Chuangheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 28 July 2017 Development and sale of properties
ERRARHERIRRAT 14512828 30,000 0000 909%  %62%  NEREREE
Chongging Dongrui Real Estate Development o, Lid. 22 December 2014 Development and sale of properties
BRI EEZARAT 20105848 50,000 - 05% 5% MEREREE
Chongaing Belu Real Estate Co., Lid. 4 May 2010 Development and sale of properties
EREHRERARRAT 017E10A2%A 50,000 0000 993% 0% NEREREE
Chongaing Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 Qctober 2017 Development and sale of properties
RN ERHERIRRAT 2019855248 50,000 - 2% 2% DERELEE
Chongaing Yuejing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 24 May 2019 Development and sale of properties
TNEIERRNERE AR 2017E8A17R 39,000 00 W06%  9Be8%  MERELEE
Qinzhou Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co, Lid. 17 August 2017 Development and sale of properties
FE AR ERE AR 2019567258 648,667 68687 %001%  W001%  DEREREE
Tonging Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co,, Lid. 25 June 2019 Development and sale of properties
BN BHERERRAT 2017865218 40,000 0000 9%4% 0% DEREREE
Yinchuan Future Land Injoy Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 21 June 2017 Development and sale of properties
REIERRNEREERIT 17E12A%A 32400 N0 BI8%  BI8%  MERELEE
Changchun Future Land Wanbo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 25 December 2017 Development and sale of properties
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE20245F12A31ALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AL/ iRg  BRAR iM28318
PEEE HIAH ifER  HRRA EitRER A TR
Dateof  Authorised Issued  Percentage of attributable
incorporation/  or registered and fully equity interest

Company name establishment capital  paid capital as at 31 December Principal activities

ARETT  ARETT  2mE o0

RMB'000 RMB'000 2024 2023
RERIARYERRARDA 201459A29R - - BI6%  wBi6%  MEREREE
Changchun Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 29 September 2014 Development and sale of properties
ROAAFHERERRAT 201765268 602210 602210 8020%  80.20% MEREREE
Changsha Kaituo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 26 June 2017 Development and sale of properties
RINEERERARLT 2017517198 10,000 - 4% 4% DEREREE
Changsha Yuean Guangsha Real Estate Co, Lid. 19 January 2017 Development and sale of properties
R ESRHEREARAT 200054168 80,000 - % % MEREREE
Changsha Hongding Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 16 April 2020 Development and sale of properties
EEMRRBERERRAT 2018565298 50,000 50000 9%576%  B6%  NEREREE
Fuyang Future Land Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 29 June 2018 Development and sale of properties
BN ER N EREERAT 2019515298 8,050 B0 B020% 8% EFEREE
Suizhou Future Land Yuebo Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 29 January 2019 Development and sale of properties
ERERUEREARAT 2022510R9R 50,000 - 04T% W4T%  MEREREE
Qingdao Xupu Real Estate Development Co., Lid. 9 October 2022 Development and sale of properties
FrelaRERAT 017528208 - - 0% w0i%  RERR
Hong Kong Chuangkun Development Limited 20 February 2017 Investment company
EREERRARAA 017E28208 - - 0% 0% RERE
Hong Kong Chuangze Development Limited 20 February 2017 Investment company
FRSHERARDA 2014515108 - - B0% 0% REL
Hong Kong Excellent Development Limited 10 January 2014 Investment company
FRENERARLT 2014598128 10,000 10000 901%  901%  FELE
Hong Kong Injoy Development Limited 12 September 2014 Investment company
ERETERARAT 201357 A16R - - B0% 0% REL
Hong Kong Perpetual Development Limited 16 July 2013 Investment company
AR AR 201556A19A - - 001% W% RELE
Hong Kong Ruisheng Development Limited 19 June 2015 Investment company
FRREARARL 2013578168 - - 0% 0% RERW
Hong Kong Flourishing Development Limited 16 July 2013 Investment company
EETI RERNERE R AT 01854A9R 243875 wIPTH  B020%  80N%  MERELEE
(Gaoyou Future Land Yioo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., 9 April 2018 Development and sale of properties
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF QA ZFHIB(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(@ H2024F 2023 12H318 » &FF (@) Certain equity interests of the subsidiaries were pledged for
NEERE DRI ERELE (M borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively
20) - BTG B2MTER (note 20). For details, please refer to the table below:

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
NGEE Company Name 2024 2023
BN S EHE Binzhou Xincheng Hongrui Real Estate
BRAF Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
FINEFHE A R LLEIR Changzhou Xincheng Hongxing Commercial
BIRATA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
RENEREmEEIEGR AR  Chengdu Hongjia Commercial Management
Co.,Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
REFHIRB R ERE Dongying Xincheng Hongyi Real Estate
BRATF Development Co.,Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
EINFHOB E AR 2 Guizhou Xincheng Hongyu Real Estate
BRATA Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
MR RE¥EE R Guilin Xincheng Hongsheng Commercial
ERAA] Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
O EREERSLEIE Haikou Xincheng Wanbo Real Estate
BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BTEEEEEEARAT  Jinjang Wanbo Commercial Management
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
ERTEIHEREMERZ  Kunming Anning Xincheng Hongsheng Real
BRAF] Estate Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BRI EREMEMZEAR AT Kunming Yuechen Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
PRI ER R EAYEIE  Nanjing Xincheng Hengsheng Commercial
BRATA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BRI EREERE Nanjing Xincheng Yibo Real Estate
ERAA] Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
RIS EmEERE Nanjing Yuesheng Wuyue Commercial
BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
ERENEELLSEIR Ningbo Wuyue Commercial Management
BRATA Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
SUBIREEEIEAR AR Qinzhou Hongyue Commercial Management
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FET QTR ZFHBE(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
@ (&) (@) (continued)
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
NIES Company Name 2024 2023
S sEENE F<E=] Shanghai Diyu Commercial Management
BRAF Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BEF A EEARR AR Shanghai Xincheng Chuangyu Real Estate
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
SEIGTBER G S EIBAMR/AT  Shenyang Xusheng Business Management
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
AFHEFECE2EMAERZ  Shiiazhuang Xincheng Hongze Real Estate
BRAF Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
EINEREMERZAR AR Suzhou Yusheng Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
FEBNEEERARAT  Tianjin Hongyue Commercial Management
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
KBNS R B B Tianjin Xincheng Hengsheng Real Estate
BRAF Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
REBIMEREMERZ  Zhangjiagang Xincheng Hengtai Real Estate
BRAF] Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
EINEEEERRZEAR /AR Zhangzhou Hengyu Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
EEBEEMERZEAR AT Chongging Hongsu Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
25 FT e B S A F B Anyang Xincheng Hongaji Real Estate
BRAF] Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
FMERERESEEESIE  Changzhou Wuyue International Plaza
BRAFR Commercial Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BN BRI EERE Changzhou Xincheng Wansheng Commercial
ERAF Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BINEBEEFR AR Guangzhou Dinghong Real Estate Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
TEOEERFBEEZAMRAR Jiangsu Xinyihui Health Industry Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
FIMFEE R ELEE  Jingzhou Xincheng Hengxun Commercial
BRAFR Operation Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE2024F12A31 B ILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

@ (&) (@) (continued)
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
NGRS Company Name 2024 2023
NREIEEMELZ AR AR Rugao Chuangjun Real Estate Management
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
NS B IR Rugao Xincheng Wuyue Commercial
BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
BN B R ¥ EEKLY  Wenzhou Xincheng Hengze Commercial Real
EBERAF Estate Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
SR HTRI B E R B Zibo Xincheng Hongtuo Real Estate
BRAH] Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 100.00%
HrGEEEgLEIE Danyang Wanbo Commercial Operation
BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BN EBEHEELLEIE  Changzhou Jintan Wanbo Real Estate
BIRATA] Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
R E IR A e IR Huainan Future Land Injoy Commercial
BRAH] Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BEFIMEERELYEIE  Jining Future Land Hengda Commercial
BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BRIl A EEMEAR AT Kunshan Future Land Chuanghong Real
Estate Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BINET AR 2B 1R Lanzhou Future Land Shunhong Commercial
BRAH] Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
EEZEMERZE AR AT Nanning Yueze Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BRI AR AR AT Pingtan Hongxin Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
T 22 T A 1B b 2 ) 3 Ruian Yuebo Real Estate Development
BRAT] Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BENIBIHEELLBR AT Suizhou Hengrui Real Estate Management
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
KETHEGHEFIMILE Tianjin Binhai Future Land Yuexin Real Estate
FHERERR QR Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
REEAEEGSABRS Changchun Hongcheng Commercial
ERERATA Complex Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BB EELEER Changsha Hongtuo Commercial
BREERTA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(58) (@) (continued)
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
NEEHE Company Name 2024 2023
OB EEEE IR Changsha Yueshun Commercial
BRAT] Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
ZEREBEMEMRZEAR AR Zhaoging Yibo Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
RAMIIEREELE Dongtai Future Land Hengrong Real Estate
EEBEERAR Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
ERHTEREELE Huaian Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate
EEERAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
MEBRIERMELERR AT Nanchang Chuanghong Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
B ERmEER Xinghua Future Land Hengsheng Commercial
EBEERAR Operation Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BERITMIEAGRELE Zunyi Future Land Hengsheng Commercial
EREERAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
EaliEEMERZE AR /AT Nanchang Yuelong Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
TEIMITEREELE Anging Future Land Yuesheng Real Estate
EBEERAR Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BARHEREELE Xi’an Future Land Hongsheng Real Estate
EREERAA Management Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BEBIEEEELE Lianyungang Hongji Real Estate Management
ERERAT] Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
BRI B ERRE Kunming Future Land Yuean Real Estate
BRAFR Development Co., Ltd. 100.00% 0.00%
TEMEHRELEER Shangrao Yixuan Management Co., Ltd.
BIRAT] 99.00% 0.00%
EREFEMERZEAMR AF Nantong Hengyu Real Estate Development
Co.,Ltd. 81.00% 81.00%
RLREREMELEER Tai'an Hengtai Commercial Management
BRAF] Co., Ltd. 81.00% 81.00%
BINEREXEFRAR Huizhou Jun’an Industrial Co., Ltd. 80.00% 0.00%
BEMERMEEIEARAT  Guangzhou Hengyao Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd. 51.00% 51.00%
W eI R R B A A B Fengxian Xincheng Hongyue Real Estate
BRAT] Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EHZE20245F12A31ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 TEFRFZFHF(HE)

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

@ (&) (@) (continued)
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
NGRS Company Name 2024 2023
B2 (FR)HARHYBER AT Honghao (Nantong) Education Technology
Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
2 BIREE H E M Nanchang Hongci Real Estate Development
AR Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
RO S B E R 2 Nanjing Xincheng Hongyu Real Estate
BRAAE Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
miREREERZ AR A Nantong Hengyao Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
HEIEEEMERZBR AT Shanggiu Hengze Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
KIFEHHR R = E R 2% Taiyuan Xincheng Hongyue Real Estate
BRAH Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
ELIEHRE#ERIBR AT Tangshan Hengtuo Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
BB LTI 22 45 B b 2 B B Tangshan Xincheng Fengrong Real Estate
BRAA Development Co.,Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
KEMHREBEMERZ  Tianjin Xincheng Wanbo Real Estate
BRAAE Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
R FTTRNB 5= 3 2 A 3 Tianjin Future Land Hongshun Real Estate
BRAH] Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
BN E =B R AT Wenzhou Kaicheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
BB IR T 1B R S D EE B Yancheng Xincheng Henghong Real Estate
BRAA Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
B FTN (B AR A B Yancheng Xincheng Yisheng Real Estate
AR AT Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
RO BB EMERZAMR AT Changsha Hongyao Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
BB N S T B2 b S A B Zhengzhou Shunjie Xincheng Real Estate
BRAA Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
KIEHH S0 = E Fa 2% Taiyuan Xincheng Kaituo Real Estate
AR AT Development Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
TR, TTRE M E R Taixing Qianyuan Real Estate Development
AR Co., Ltd. 0.00% 100.00%
EISFIHRIEEELZLEIE  Liyang Xincheng Hongyue Real Estate
BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 0.00% 70.00%
HEEREMERZAMR AT Qingdao Techeng Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. 0.00% 70.00%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F 12831 B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF AR ZFHIE (&)

(b)

ARARZET AR ERIBEEER
BtE - MFTFARREMTRARE
ERRERARE - ZFTRANE
B RBRAEFESHENEAREK
3 R AEEM T AR E R
Moo AT RAH/BRAF]
BEAKERZSEROFRER L
HENE0% » BAREE A 2% E
i WIHIARZABRAR(SAKE
FRBDERENZEEE At &
SEHZEERBEEERITEE -

AEERZ=RAEENHFTRER
20% ° AT - AEERZEFERNE
EERAARZHEM - BRBEREE
BERMAR > NEERHREELAR

ERGRIEHIZ=AEE -

FrE bt FREEBREEMAL
FRIZI B EE o

ZETFRAERERBITEBES
%E T RARITRE S BOAREM A5
BEEDLE -

ZEFRADRERBEAREM AT
SMEBREDRE -

40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(b)

(h)

The Company has direct or indirect equity interests in these
subsidiaries which have direct or indirect equity interests in the
other subsidiaries. These subsidiaries were incorporated in Hong
Kong, British Virgin Islands or the United States of America and
all the other subsidiaries were established in mainland China. Al
the subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

Although the Group’s shareholding in these entities is lower
than or equal to 50%, the Group can still control these entities,
because the A Share Company, which is a subsidiary of the
Group, directly control these entities and thus the Group has
direct control over these entities.

The Group’s shareholding in the three entities is less than 20%.
Nevertheless, the Group has majority of seats in their board of
directors and according to the relevant article of association, the
Group can control the three entities according to the terms in
their articles of association.

All the subsidiaries are operating principally in their place of
incorporation/establishment.

The subsidiaries had issued debt securities at the end of the
year.

The subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned
enterprises under PRC law.

The subsidiaries are registered as sino-foreign equity joint
venture under PRC law.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F12A31 B ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 FEF QA ZFHIB(E) 40 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

() H2024F 2023 12H31H » &1 (i) Certain equity interests of the joint ventures and associates were
ENBENRETIRES D RIER pledged for borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
ERE - BEEEES  B2HETX - respectively. For details, please refer to the table below:

M12A31H
As at 31 December
202445 20234
2024 2023
AR%ET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BILBREXBRAFR Foshan Jinhong Real Estate Co., Ltd 341,247 420,000
EEARBFHEEREMERZ Urumqgi Future Land Hongai Real Estate
BRRA] Development Co., Ltd 290,521 341,660
BMMAERREEERZ  Huizhou Fangyuan Minghong Real Estate
BIRAA] Development Co., Ltd 124,891 256,000
B R B AR AR AR  Yancheng Pudong Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd 104,989 339,997
(BN BEERABMR AT Zhengpeng (Guangzhou) Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. 442,024 -
BN FTE B A A R Wenzhou New City Hengyu Real Estate
BRAT] Development Co., Ltd. 256,647 -
A R TR 5 b B A B Nanjing Xinzhencheng Real Estate
BRAA Development Co., Ltd - 220,000
ELEEREMERZEAR AT Yantai Hengrui Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd - 130,000
BERE S B E M AR A" Chengdu Xingging Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd - 37,550
1,560,319 1,745,207
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